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Letter of Transmittal

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

RICHMOND, VIRGINIA, December 31, 2022

To the Honorable Glenn A. Youngkin

Governor of Virginia

Sir:

In accordance with § 12.1-4 of the Code of Virginia, | have the honor to transmit herewith the one
hundred twentieth Annual Report of the State Corporation Commission as of December 31 of the preceding
year, 2022.

Respectfully submitted,

Jehmal T. Hudson, Chairman
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Commissioners

The three initial Commissioners took office March 1, 1903. From 1903 to 1919 the Commissioners were appointed
by the Governor subject to confirmation by the General Assembly. Between 1919 and 1926 they were elected by popular vote.
Between 1926 and 1928 they were appointed by the Governor subject to confirmation by the General Assembly. Since 1928
they have been elected by the General Assembly.

The names and terms of office of the Commissioners:

Years
Beverley T. Crump March 1, 1903 to June 1, 1907 4
Henry C. Stuart March 1, 1903 to February 28, 1908 5
Henry Fairfax March 1, 1903 to October 1, 1905 3
Jos. E. Willard October 1, 1905 to February 18, 1910 4
Robert R. Prentis June 1, 1907 to November 17, 1916 9
Wm. F. Rhea February 28, 1908 to November 15, 1925 18
J. R. Wingfield February 18, 1910 to January 31, 1918 8
C. B. Garnett November 17, 1916 to October 28, 1918 2
Alexander Forward February 1, 1918 to December 5, 1923 5
Robert E. Williams November 12, 1918 to July 1, 1919 1
(Temporary Appointment during absence of Forward on military service)
S. L. Lupton October 28, 1918 to June 1, 1919 1
Berkley D. Adams June 12, 1919 to January 31, 1928 9
Oscar L. Shewmake December 16, 1923 to November 24, 1924 1
H. Lester Hooker November 25, 1924 to January 31, 1972 47
Louis S. Epes November 16, 1925 to November 16, 1929 4
Wm. Meade Fletcher February 1, 1928 to December 19, 1943 16
George C. Peery November 29, 1929 to April 17, 1933 3
Thos. W. Ozlin April 17, 1933 to July 14, 1944 11
Harvey B. Apperson January 31, 1944 to October 5, 1947 4
Robert O. Norris August 30, 1944 to November 20, 1944
L. McCarthy Downs December 16, 1944 to April 18, 1949 5
W. Marshall King October 7, 1947 to June 24, 1957 10
Ralph T. Catterall April 28, 1949 to January 31, 1973 24
Jesse W. Dillon July 16, 1957 to January 28, 1972 14
Preston C. Shannon March 10, 1972 to January 31, 1996 25
Junie L. Bradshaw March 10, 1972 to January 31, 1985 13
Thomas P. Harwood, Jr. February 20, 1973 to February 20, 1992 19
Elizabeth B. Lacy April 1, 1985 to December 31, 1988 4
Theodore V. Morrison, Jr. February 15, 1989 to December 31, 2007 19
Hullihen Williams Moore February 26, 1992 to January 31, 2004 13
Clinton Miller February 15, 1996 to January 31, 2006 11
James C. Dimitri September 3, 2008 to February 28, 2018 10
Patricia L. West March 1, 2019 to January 31, 2020 1
Mark C. Christie February 1, 2004 to January 4, 2021 17
Judith Williams Jagdmann February 1, 2006 to December 31, 2022 16
Angela L. Navarro February 5, 2021 to January 31, 2022 1
Jehmal T. Hudson July 6, 2020 to
From 1903 through 2022 the lines of succession were:

Years Years Years
Crump 4 Stuart 5 Fairfax 3
Prentis 9 Rhea 18 Willard 4
Garnett 2 Epes 4 Wingfield 8
Lupton 1 Peery 3 Forward 5
Adams 9 Ozlin 11 Williams 1
Fletcher 16 Norris 0 Shewmake 1
Apperson 4 Downs 5 Hooker 47
King 10 Catterall 24 Bradshaw 13
Dillon 14 Harwood 19 Lacy 4
Shannon 25 Moore 13 Morrison 19
Miller 11 Christie 17 Dimitri 10
Jagdmann 16 West 1 Hudson 3
Navarro 1
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Preface

The State Corporation Commission is vested with regulatory authority over many businesses and economic interests
in Virginia. These interests are as varied as the SCC's powers, which are derived from the Constitution of Virginia and state
statutes. The SCC's authority ranges from setting rates charged by public utilities to serving as the central filing office in
Virginia for corporate charters.

Established by the Virginia Constitution of 1902 to oversee the railroad and telephone and telegraph industries
operating in the Commonwealth, the SCC's jurisdiction now includes supervision of many businesses that have a direct impact
on Virginia consumers. The SCC is charged with administering the Virginia laws related to the regulation of public utilities,
insurance, state-chartered financial institutions, investment securities, retail franchising, and utility and railroad safety. The
SCC also is charged with establishing and administering the Virginia Health Benefit Exchange. In addition, the SCC is the
state's central filing office for Uniform Commercial Code financing statements and for documents that create corporations,
limited liability companies, business trusts, and limited partnerships.

The SCC's structure is unique. No other state has placed in a single agency such a broad array of regulatory
responsibility. Created by the state constitution as a permanent department of government, the SCC possesses legislative,
judicial, and administrative powers. The decisions of the SCC can be appealed only to the Supreme Court of Virginia.
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COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE
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CHAPTER 20

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE

PART I
GENERAL PROVISIONS.
5 VAC 5-20-10. Applicability.

The State Corporation Commission Rules of Practice and Procedure are promulgated pursuant to the authority of § 12.1-25 of the Code of Virginia
and are applicable to the regulatory and adjudicatory proceedings of the State Corporation Commission except where superseded by more specific rules for
particular types of cases or proceedings. When necessary to serve the ends of justice in a particular case, the commission may grant, upon motion or its own
initiative, a waiver or modification of any of the provisions of these rules, except 5 VAC 5-20-220, under terms and conditions and to the extent it deems
appropriate. These rules do not apply to the internal administration or organization of the commission in matters such as the procurement of goods and services,
personnel actions, and similar issues, nor to matters that are being handled administratively by a division or bureau of the commission.

5 VAC 5-20-20. Good faith pleading and practice.

Every pleading, written motion, or other document presented for filing by a party represented by an attorney shall be signed by at least one attorney
of record in the attorney's individual name, and the attorney's mailing address and telephone number, and where available, telefax number and email address,
shall be stated. An individual not represented by an attorney shall sign the individual's pleading, motion, or other document, and shall state the individual's
mailing address and telephone number. A partnership not represented by an attorney shall have a partner sign the partnership's pleading, motion, or other
document, and shall state the partnership's mailing address and telephone number. A nonlawyer may only represent the interests of another before the
commission in the presentation of facts, figures, or factual conclusions, as distinguished from legal arguments or conclusions. In the case of an individual or
entity not represented by counsel, each signature shall be that of the individual or a qualified officer or agent of the entity. Documents signed pursuant to this
rule need not be under oath unless so required by statute.

The commission allows electronic filing. Before filing electronically, the filer shall complete an electronic document filing authorization form,
establish a filer authentication password with the Clerk of the State Corporation Commission and otherwise comply with the electronic filing procedures
adopted by the commission. Upon establishment of a filer authentication password, a filer may make electronic filings in any case. All documents submitted
electronically must be capable of being printed as paper documents without loss of content or appearance.

The signature of an attorney or party constitutes a certification that (i) the attorney or party has read the pleading, motion, or other document; (ii)
to the best of the attorney's or party's knowledge, information, and belief formed after reasonable inquiry, the pleading, motion or other document is well
grounded in fact and is warranted by existing law or a good faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law; and (iii) the pleading,
motion or other document is not interposed for any improper purpose, such as to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of
litigation. A pleading, written motion, or other document will not be accepted for filing by the Clerk of the Commission if it is not signed.

An oral motion made by an attorney or party in a commission proceeding constitutes a representation that the motion (i) is well grounded in fact
and is warranted by existing law or a good faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law; and (ii) is not interposed for any improper
purpose, such as to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation.

5 VAC 5-20-30. Counsel.

Except as otherwise provided in 5 VAC 5-20-20, no person other than a properly licensed attorney at law shall file pleadings or papers or appear at
a hearing to represent the interests of another person or entity before the commission. An attorney admitted to practice in another jurisdiction, but not licensed
in Virginia, may be permitted to appear in a particular proceeding pending before the commission in association with a member of the Virginia State Bar. The
Virginia State Bar member will be counsel of record for every purpose related to the conduct and disposition of the proceeding.

In all appropriate proceedings before the Commission, the Division of Consumer Counsel, Office of the Attorney General, may appear and represent
and be heard on behalf of consumers' interests, and investigate matters relating to such appearance, and otherwise may participate to the extent reasonably
necessary to discharge its statutory duties.

5 VAC 5-20-40. Photographs and broadcasting of proceedings.

Electronic media and still photography coverage of commission hearings will be allowed at the discretion of the commission.

5 VAC 5-20-50. Consultation by parties with commissioners and hearing examiners.

No commissioner or hearing examiner shall consult with any party or any person acting on behalf of any party with respect to a pending formal
proceeding without giving adequate notice and opportunity for all parties to participate.
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5 VAC 5-20-60. Commission staff.

The commissioners and hearing examiners shall be free at all times to confer with any member of the commission staff. However, no facts nor
legal arguments likely to influence a pending formal proceeding and not of record in that proceeding shall be furnished ex parte to any commissioner or hearing
examiner by any member of the commission staff.

5 VAC 5-20-70. Informal complaints.

All correspondence and informal complaints shall be referred to the appropriate division or bureau of the commission. The head of the division or
bureau receiving this correspondence or complaint shall attempt to resolve the matter presented. Matters not resolved to the satisfaction of all participating
parties by the informal process may be reviewed by the full commission upon the proper filing of a formal proceeding in accordance with the rules by any
party to the informal process.

PART II.
COMMENCEMENT OF FORMAL PROCEEDINGS.
5 VAC 5-20-80. Regulatory proceedings.

A. Application. Except where otherwise provided by statute, rule or commission order, a person or entity seeking to engage in an industry or
business subject to the commission's regulatory authority, or to make changes in any previously authorized service, rate, facility, or other aspect of such
industry or business that, by statute or rule, must be approved by the commission, shall file an application requesting authority to do so. The application shall
contain (i) a specific statement of the action sought; (ii) a statement of the facts that the applicant is prepared to prove that would warrant the action sought;
(iii) a statement of the legal basis for such action; and (iv) any other information required by law or regulation. Any person or entity filing an application shall
be a party to that proceeding.

B. Participation as a respondent. A notice of participation as a respondent is the proper initial response to an application. A notice of participation
shall be filed within the time prescribed by the commission and shall contain (i) a precise statement of the interest of the respondent; (ii) a statement of the
specific action sought to the extent then known; and (iii) the factual and legal basis for the action. Any person or entity filing a notice of participation as a
respondent shall be a party to that proceeding.

C. Public witnesses. Any person or entity not participating in a matter pursuant to subsection A or B of this section may make known their
position in any regulatory proceeding by filing written comments in advance of the hearing if provided for by commission order or by attending the hearing,
noting an appearance in the manner prescribed by the commission, and giving oral testimony. Public witnesses may not otherwise participate in the proceeding,
be included in the service list, or be considered a party to the proceeding.

D. Commission staff. The commission staff may appear and participate in any proceeding in order to see that pertinent issues on behalf of the
general public interest are clearly presented to the commission. The staff may, inter alia, conduct investigations and discovery, evaluate the issues raised,
testify and offer exhibits, file briefs and make argument, and be subject to cross-examination when testifying. Neither the commission staff collectively nor
any individual member of the commission staff shall be considered a party to the case for any purpose by virtue of participation in a proceeding.

5 VAC 5-20-90. Adjudicatory proceedings.

A. Initiation of proceedings. Investigative, disciplinary, penal, and other adjudicatory proceedings may be initiated by motion of the commission
staff or upon the commission's own motion. Further proceedings shall be controlled by the issuance of a rule to show cause, which shall give notice to the
defendant, state the allegations against the defendant, provide for a response from the defendant and, where appropriate, set the matter for hearing. A rule to
show cause shall be served in the manner provided by § 12.1-19.1 or § 12.1-29 of the Code of Virginia. The commission staff shall prove the case by clear
and convincing evidence.

B. Answer. An answer or other responsive pleading shall be filed within 21 days of service of the rule to show cause, unless the commission shall
order otherwise. The answer shall state, in narrative form, each defendant's responses to the allegations in the rule to show cause and any affirmative defenses
asserted by the defendant. Failure to file a timely answer or other responsive pleading may result in the entry of judgment by default against the party failing
to respond.

5 VAC 5-20-100. Other proceedings.

A. Promulgation of general orders, rules, or regulations. Before promulgating a general order, rule, or regulation, the commission shall, by order
upon an application or upon its own motion, require reasonable notice of the contents of the proposed general order, rule, or regulation, including publication
in the Virginia Register of Regulations, and afford interested persons an opportunity to comment, present evidence, and be heard. A copy of each general
order, rule, and regulation adopted in final form by the commission shall be filed with the Registrar of Regulations for publication in the Virginia Register of
Regulations.

B. Petitions in other matters. Persons having a cause before the commission, whether by statute, rule, regulation, or otherwise, against a defendant,
including the commission, a commission bureau, or a commission division, shall proceed by filing a written petition containing (i) the identity of the parties;
(ii) a statement of the action sought and the legal basis for the commission's jurisdiction to take the action sought; (iii) a statement of the facts, proof of which
would warrant the action sought; (iv) a statement of the legal basis for the action; and (v) a certificate showing service upon the defendant.
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Within 21 days of service of a petition under this rule, the defendant shall file an answer or other responsive pleading containing, in narrative form,
(i) a response to each allegation of the petition and (ii) a statement of each affirmative defense asserted by the defendant. Failure to file a timely answer may
result in entry of judgment by default against the defendant failing to respond. Upon order of the commission, the commission staff may participate in any
proceeding under this rule in which it is not a defendant to the same extent as permitted by 5 VAC 5-20-80 D.

C. Declaratory judgments. Persons having no other adequate remedy may petition the commission for a declaratory judgment. The petition shall
meet the requirements of subsection B of this section and, in addition, contain a statement of the basis for concluding that an actual controversy exists. In the
proceeding, the commission shall by order provide for the necessary notice, responsive pleadings, and participation by interested parties and the commission
staff.

PART 111
PROCEDURES IN FORMAL PROCEEDINGS.

5VAC 5-20-110. Motions. Motions may be filed for the same purposes recognized by the courts of record in the Commonwealth. Unless otherwise
ordered by the commission, any response to a motion must be filed within 14 days of the filing of the motion, and any reply by the moving party must be filed
within ten days of the filing of the response.

5 VAC 5-20-120. Procedure before hearing examiners.

A. Assignment. The commission may, by order, assign a matter pending before it to a hearing examiner. Unless otherwise ordered, the hearing
examiner shall conduct all further proceedings in the matter on behalf of the commission in accordance with these rules. In the discharge of his duties, the
hearing examiner shall exercise all the adjudicatory powers possessed by the commission including, inter alia, the power to administer oaths; require the
attendance of witnesses and parties; require the production of documents; schedule and conduct pre-hearing conferences; admit or exclude evidence; grant or
deny continuances; and rule on motions, matters of law, and procedural questions. The hearing examiner shall, upon conclusion of all assigned duties, issue a
written final report and recommendation to the commission at the conclusion of the proceedings.

B. Objections and certification of issues. An objection to a ruling by the hearing examiner during a hearing shall be stated with the reasons
therefor at the time of the ruling. Any objection to a hearing examiner's ruling may be argued to the commission as part of a response to the hearing examiner's
report. A ruling by the hearing examiner that denies further participation by a party in interest or the commission staff in a proceeding that has not been
concluded may be immediately appealed to the commission by filing a written motion with the commission for review. Upon the motion of any party or the
staff, or upon the hearing examiner's own initiative, the hearing examiner may certify any other material issue to the commission for its consideration and
resolution. Pending resolution by the commission of a ruling appealed or certified, the hearing examiner shall retain procedural control of the proceeding.

C. Responses to hearing examiner reports. Unless otherwise ordered by the hearing examiner, responses supporting or objecting to the hearing
examiner's final report must be filed within 21 days of the issuance of the report. A reply to a response to the hearing examiner's report may only be filed
with leave of the commission. The commission may accept, modify, or reject the hearing examiner's recommendations in any manner consistent with law
and the evidence, notwithstanding an absence of objections to the hearing examiner's report.

5 VAC 5-20-130. Amendment of pleadings.

No amendment shall be made to any pleading after it is filed except by leave of the commission, which leave shall be liberally granted in the
furtherance of justice. The commission shall make such provision for notice and for opportunity to respond to the amended pleadings as it may deem necessary
and proper.

5 VAC 5-20-140. Filing and service.

A pleading or other document shall be considered filed with the commission upon receipt of the original and required copies by the Clerk of the
Commission no later than the time established for the closing of business of the clerk's office on the day the item is due. The original and copies shall be
stamped by the Clerk to show the time and date of receipt.

Electronic filings may be submitted at any time and will be deemed filed on the date and at the time the electronic document is received by the
commission's database; provided, that if a document is received when the clerk's office is not open for public business, the document shall be deemed filed on
the next regular business day. A filer will receive an electronic notification identifying the date and time the document was received by the commission's
database. An electronic document may be rejected if it is not submitted in compliance with these rules.

When a filing would otherwise be due on a day when the clerk's office is not open for public business during all or part of a business day, the filing
will be timely if made on the next regular business day that the office is open to the public. Except as otherwise ordered by the commission, when a period of
15 days or fewer is permitted to make a filing or take other action pursuant to commission rule or order, intervening weekends or holidays shall not be counted
in determining the due date.
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Service of a pleading, brief, or other document filed with the commission required to be served on the parties to a proceeding or upon the commission
staff, shall be effected by delivery of a true copy to the party or staff, or by deposit of a true copy into the United States mail or overnight express mail delivery
service properly addressed and postage prepaid, or via hand-delivery, on or before the date of filing. Service on a party may be made by service on the party's
counsel. Alternatively, electronic service shall be permitted on parties or staff in cases where all parties and staff have agreed to such service, or where the
commission has provided for such service by order. At the foot of a formal pleading, brief, or other document required to be served, the party making service
shall append a certificate of counsel of record that copies were mailed or delivered as required. Notices, findings of fact, opinions, decisions, orders, or other
documents to be served by the commission may be served by United States mail. However, all writs, processes, and orders of the commission, when acting in
conformity with § 12.1-27 of the Code of Virginia, shall be attested by the Clerk of the Commission and served in compliance with § 12.1-19.1 or 12.1-29 of
the Code of Virginia.

5 VAC 5-20-150. Copies and format.

Applications, petitions, motions, responsive pleadings, briefs, and other documents filed by parties must be filed in an original and 15 copies unless
otherwise directed by the commission. Except as otherwise stated in these rules, submissions filed electronically are exempt from the copy requirement. One
copy of each responsive pleading or brief must be served on each party and the commission staff counsel assigned to the matter, or, if no counsel has been
assigned, on the general counsel.

Each document must be filed on standard size white opaque paper, 8-1/2 by 11 inches in dimension, must be capable of being reproduced in copies
of archival quality, and only one side of the paper may be used. Submissions filed electronically shall be made in portable document format (PDF).

Each document shall be bound or attached on the left side and contain adequate margins. Each page following the first page shall be numbered. If
necessary, a document may be filed in consecutively numbered volumes, each of which may not exceed three inches in thickness. Submissions filed
electronically may not exceed 100 pages of printed text of 8-1/2 by 11 inches.

Each document containing more than one exhibit should have dividers separating each exhibit and should contain an index. Exhibits such as maps,
plats, and photographs not easily reduced to standard size may be filed in a different size, as necessary. Submissions filed electronically that otherwise would
incorporate large exhibits impractical for conversion to electronic format shall be identified in the filing and include a statement that the exhibit was filed in
hardcopy and is available for viewing at the commission or that a copy may be obtained from the filing party. Such exhibit shall be filed in an original and 15
copies.

All filed documents shall be fully collated and assembled into complete and proper sets ready for distribution and use, without the need for further
assembly, sorting, or rearrangement.

The Clerk of the Commission may reject the filing of any document not conforming to the requirements of this rule.
5 VAC 5-20-160. Memorandum of completeness.

With respect to the filing of a rate application or an application seeking actions, that by statute or rule must be completed within a certain number
of days, a memorandum shall be filed by an appropriate member of the commission staff within ten days of the filing of the application stating whether all
necessary requirements imposed by statute or rule for filing the application have been met and all required information has been filed. If the requirements
have not been met, the memorandum shall state with specificity the remaining items to be filed. The Clerk of the Commission immediately shall serve a copy
of the memorandum on the filing party. The first day of the period within which action on the application must be concluded shall be set forth in the
memorandum and shall be the initial date of filing of applications that are found to be complete upon filing. Applications found to require supplementation
shall be complete upon the date of filing of the last item identified in the staff memorandum. Applications shall be deemed complete upon filing if the
memorandum of completeness is not timely filed.

5 VAC 5-20-170. Confidential information.

A person who proposes in good faith in a formal proceeding that information to be filed with or delivered to the commission be withheld from
public disclosure on the ground that it contains trade secrets, privileged, or confidential commercial or financial information shall file this information under
seal with the Clerk of the Commission, or otherwise deliver the information under seal to the commission staff, or both, as may be required. Items filed or
delivered under seal shall be securely sealed in an opaque container that is clearly labeled "UNDER SEAL," and, if filed, shall meet the other requirements for
filing contained in these rules. An original and 15 copies of all such information shall be filed with the clerk. One additional copy of all such information shall
also be delivered under seal to the commission staff counsel assigned to the matter, or, where no counsel has been assigned, to the general counsel who, until
ordered otherwise by the commission, shall disclose the information only to the members of the commission staff directly assigned to the matter as necessary
in the discharge of their duties. Staff counsel and all members of the commission staff, until otherwise ordered by the commission, shall maintain the
information in strict confidence and shall not disclose its contents to members of the public, or to other staff members not assigned to the matter. The
commission staff or any party may object to the proposed withholding of the information.

When an application (including supporting documents and prefiled testimony) contains information that the applicant claims to be confidential, the
filing shall be made under seal and accompanied by a motion for protective order or other confidential treatment. The provision to a party of information
claimed to be trade secrets, privileged, or confidential commercial or financial information shall be governed by a protective order or other individual
arrangements for confidential treatment.

On every document filed or delivered under seal, the producing party shall mark each individual page of the document that contains confidential
information, and on each such page shall clearly indicate the specific information requested to be treated as confidential by use of highlighting, underscoring,
bracketing or other appropriate marking. All remaining materials on each page of the document shall be treated as nonconfidential and available for public use
and review. If an entire document is confidential, or if all information provided in electronic format under Part IV of these rules is confidential, a marking
prominently displayed on the first page of such document or at the beginning of any information provided in electronic format, indicating that the entire
document is confidential shall suffice.
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Upon challenge, the information shall be treated as confidential pursuant to these rules only where the party requesting confidential treatment can
demonstrate to the satisfaction of the commission that the risk of harm of publicly disclosing the information outweighs the presumption in favor of public
disclosure. If the commission determines that the information should be withheld from public disclosure, it may nevertheless require the information to be
disclosed to parties to a proceeding under appropriate protective order.

Whenever a document is filed with the clerk under seal, an original and one copy of an expurgated or redacted version of the document deemed by
the filing party or determined by the commission to be confidential shall be filed with the clerk for use and review by the public. A document containing
confidential information shall not be submitted electronically. An expurgated or redacted version of the document may be filed electronically. Documents
containing confidential information must be filed in hardcopy and in accordance with all requirements of these rules. Upon a determination by the commission
or a hearing examiner that all or portions of any materials filed under seal are not entitled to confidential treatment, the filing party shall file one original and
one copy of the expurgated or redacted version of the document reflecting the ruling.

When the information at issue is not required to be filed or made a part of the record, a party who wishes to withhold confidential information from
filing or production may move the commission for a protective order without filing the materials. In considering such a motion, the commission may require
production of the confidential materials for inspection in camera, if necessary.

A party may request additional protection for extraordinarily sensitive information by motion filed pursuant to 5 VAC 5-20-110, and filing the
information with the Clerk of the Commission under seal and delivering a copy of the information to commission staff counsel under seal as directed above.
Whenever such treatment has been requested under Part IV of these rules, the commission may make such orders as necessary to permit parties to challenge
the requested additional protection.

The commission, hearing examiners, any party and the commission staff may make use of confidential material in orders, filing pleadings,
testimony, or other documents, as directed by order of the commission. When a party or commission staff uses confidential material in a filed pleading,
testimony, or other document, the party or commission staff must file both confidential and nonconfidential versions of the pleading, testimony, or other
document. Confidential versions of filed pleadings, testimony, or other documents shall clearly indicate the confidential material contained within by
highlighting, underscoring, bracketing or other appropriate marking. When filing confidential pleadings, testimony, or other documents, parties must submit
the confidential version to the Clerk of the Commission securely sealed in an opaque container that is clearly labeled "UNDER SEAL." Nonconfidential
versions of filed pleadings, testimony, or other documents shall expurgate, redact, or otherwise omit all references to confidential material.

The commission may issue such order as it deems necessary to prevent the use of confidentiality claims for the purpose of delay or obstruction of
the proceeding.

A person who proposes in good faith that information to be delivered to the commission staff outside of a formal proceeding be withheld from
public disclosure on the ground that it contains trade secrets, privileged, or confidential commercial or financial information may deliver the information under
seal to the commission staff, subject to the same protections afforded confidential information in formal proceedings.

5 VAC 5-20-180. Official transcript of hearing.

The official transcript of a hearing before the commission or a hearing examiner shall be that prepared by the court reporters retained by the
commission and certified by the court reporter as a true and correct transcript of the proceeding. Transcripts of proceedings shall not be prepared except in
cases assigned to a hearing examiner, when directed by the commission, or when requested by a party desiring to purchase a copy. Parties desiring to purchase
copies of the transcript shall make arrangement for purchase with the court reporter. When a transcript is prepared, a copy thereof shall be made available for
public inspection in the clerk's office. If the transcript includes confidential information, an expurgated or redacted version of the transcript shall be made
available for public inspection in the clerk's office. Only the parties who have executed an agreement to adhere to a protective order or other arrangement for
access to confidential treatment in such proceeding and the commission staff shall be entitled to access to an unexpurgated or unredacted version of the
transcript. By agreement of the parties, or as the commission may by order provide, corrections may be made to the transcript.

5 VAC 5-20-190. Rules of evidence.

In proceedings under 5 VAC 5-20-90, and all other proceedings in which the commission shall be called upon to decide or render judgment only
in its capacity as a court of record, the common law and statutory rules of evidence shall be as observed and administered by the courts of record of the
Commonwealth. In other proceedings, evidentiary rules shall not be unreasonably used to prevent the receipt of evidence having substantial probative effect.

5 VAC 5-20-200. Briefs.

Written briefs may be authorized at the discretion of the commission, except in proceedings under 5 VAC 5-20-100 A, where briefs may be filed
by right. The time for filing briefs and reply briefs, if authorized, shall be set at the time they are authorized. The commission may limit the length of a brief.
The commission may by order provide for the electronic filing or service of briefs.

5 VAC 5-20-210. Oral argument.

The commission may authorize oral argument, limited as the commission may direct, on any pertinent matter at any time during the course of the
proceeding.

5 VAC 5-20-220. Petition for rehearing or reconsideration.

Final judgments, orders, and decrees of the commission, except judgments prescribed by § 12.1-36 of the Code of Virginia, and except as provided
in 88 13.1-614 and 13.1-813 of the Code of Virginia, shall remain under the control of the commission and subject to modification or vacation for 21 days
after the date of entry. Except for good cause shown, a petition for rehearing or reconsideration must be filed not later than 20 days after the date of entry of
the judgment, order, or decree. The filing of a petition will not suspend the execution of the judgment, order, or decree, nor extend the time for taking an
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appeal, unless the commission, within the 21-day period following entry of the final judgment, order or decree, shall provide for a suspension in an order or
decree granting the petition. A petition for rehearing or reconsideration must be served on all parties and delivered to commission staff counsel on or before
the day on which it is filed. The commission will not entertain responses to, or requests for oral argument on, a petition. An order granting a rehearing or
reconsideration will be served on all parties and commission staff counsel by the Clerk of the Commission.

5 VAC 5-20-230. Extension of time.

The commission may, at its discretion, grant a continuance, postponement, or extension of time for the filing of a document or the taking of an
action required or permitted by these rules, except for petitions for rehearing or reconsideration filed pursuant to 5 VAC 5-20-220. Except for good cause
shown, motions for extensions shall be made in writing, served on all parties and commission staff counsel, and filed with the commission at least three days
prior to the date the action sought to be extended is due.

PART IV.
DISCOVERY AND HEARING PREPARATION PROCEDURES.
5 VAC 5-20-240. Prepared testimony and exhibits.

Following the filing of an application dependent upon complicated or technical proof, the commission may direct the applicant to prepare and file
the testimony and exhibits by which the applicant expects to establish its case. In all proceedings in which an applicant is required to file testimony, respondents
shall be permitted and may be directed by the commission or hearing examiner to file, on or before a date certain, testimony and exhibits by which they expect
to establish their case. Any respondent that chooses not to file testimony and exhibits by that date may not thereafter present testimony or exhibits except by
leave of the commission, but may otherwise fully participate in the proceeding and engage in cross-examination of the testimony and exhibits of commission
staff and other parties. The commission staff also shall file testimony and exhibits when directed to do so by the commission. Failure to comply with the
directions of the commission, without good cause shown, may result in rejection of the testimony and exhibits by the commission. With leave of the commission
and unless a timely objection is made, the commission staff or a party may correct or supplement any prepared testimony and exhibits before or during the
hearing. In all proceedings, all evidence must be verified by the witness before introduction into the record, and the admissibility of the evidence shall be
subject to the same standards as if the testimony were offered orally at hearing, unless, with the consent of the commission, the staff and all parties stipulate
the introduction of testimony without need for verification. An original and 15 copies of prepared testimony and exhibits shall be filed unless otherwise
specified in the commission's scheduling order and public notice, or unless the testimony and exhibits are filed electronically and otherwise comply with these
rules. Documents of unusual bulk or weight and physical exhibits other than documents need not be filed in advance, but shall be described and made available
for pretrial examination.

5 VAC 5-20-250. Process, witnesses, and production of documents and things.

A. Subpoenas. Commission staff and any party to a proceeding shall be entitled to process, to convene parties, to compel the attendance of
witnesses, and to compel the production of books, papers, documents, or things provided in this rule.

B. Commission issuance and enforcement of other regulatory agency subpoenas. Upon motion by commission staff counsel, the commission
may issue and enforce subpoenas at the request of a regulatory agency of another jurisdiction if the activity for which the information is sought by the other
agency, if occurring in the Commonwealth, would be a violation of the laws of the Commonwealth that are administered by the commission.

A motion requesting the issuance of a commission subpoena shall include:

1. A copy of the original subpoena issued by the regulatory agency to the named defendant;

2. An affidavit of the requesting agency administrator stating the basis for the issuance of the subpoena under that state's laws; and

3. A memorandum from the commission's corresponding division director providing the basis for the issuance of the commission subpoena.

C. Document subpoenas. In a pending proceeding, at the request of commission staff or any party, the Clerk of the Commission shall issue a
subpoena. When a matter is under investigation by commission staff, before a formal proceeding has been established, whenever it appears to the commission
by affidavit filed with the Clerk of the Commission by the commission staff or an individual, that a book, writing, document, or thing sufficiently described in
the affidavit, is in the possession, or under the control, of an identified person and is material and proper to be produced, the commission may order the Clerk
of the Commission to issue a subpoena and to have the subpoena duly served, together with an attested copy of the commission's order compelling production
at a reasonable place and time as described in the commission's order.

D. Witness subpoenas. In a pending proceeding, at the request of commission staff or any party, the Clerk of the Commission shall issue a
subpoena.

5 VAC 5-20-260. Interrogatories or requests for production of documents and things.

The commission staff and any party in a formal proceeding before the commission, other than a proceeding under 5VAC5-20-100 A, may serve
written interrogatories or requests for production of documents upon a party, to be answered by the party served, or if the party served is an entity, by an officer
or agent of the entity, who shall furnish to the staff or requesting party information as is known. Interrogatories or requests for production of documents,
including workpapers pursuant to 5VAC5-20-270, that cannot be timely answered before the scheduled hearing date may be served only with leave of the
commission for good cause shown and upon such conditions as the commission may prescribe. Such otherwise untimely interrogatories or requests for
production of documents, including workpapers pursuant to 5VAC5-20-270, may not be served until such leave is granted. Interrogatories or requests for
production of documents may be served upon a member of the commission staff, or an expert or consultant filing testimony on behalf of the commission staff,
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in a proceeding under 5 VAC 5-20-80 to discover: (i) factual information that supports the workpapers submitted by the staff pursuant to 5VAC5-20-270,
including electronic spreadsheets that include underlying formulas and assumptions; (ii) any other documents relied upon as a basis for recommendations or
assertions in prefiled testimony, staff reports or exhibits filed by staff, or by an expert or consultant filing testimony on behalf of the staff; or (iii) the identity
of other formal proceedings in which an expert or consultant filing testimony on behalf of the staff testified regarding the same or a substantially similar subject
matter. The disclosure of communications within the commission shall not be required and, except for good cause shown, no interrogatories or requests for
production of documents may be served upon a member of the commission staff, or an expert or consultant filing testimony on behalf of the staff, prior to the
filing of staff's testimony. All interrogatories and requests for production of documents shall be filed with the Clerk of the Commission. Responses to
interrogatories and requests for production of documents shall not be filed with the Clerk of the Commission.

The response to each interrogatory or document request shall identify by name the person making the response. Any objection to an interrogatory
or document request shall identify the interrogatory or document request to which the objection is raised, and shall state with specificity the basis and supporting
legal theory for the objection. Objections shall be served with the list of responses or in such manner as the commission may designate by order. Responses
and objections to interrogatories or requests for production of documents shall be served within 10 days of receipt, unless otherwise ordered by the commission.
Upon motion promptly made and accompanied by a copy of the interrogatory or document request and the response or objection that is subject to the motion,
the commission will rule upon the validity of the objection; the objection otherwise will be considered sustained.

Interrogatories or requests for production of documents may relate to any matter not privileged, which is relevant to the subject matter involved,
including the existence, description, nature, custody, condition, and location of any books, documents, or other tangible things, and the identity and location
of persons having knowledge of evidentiary value. It is not grounds for objection that the information sought will be inadmissible at the hearing if the
information appears reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

Where the response to an interrogatory or document request may only be derived or ascertained from the business records of the party questioned,
from an examination, audit, or inspection of business records, or from a compilation, abstract, or summary of business records, and the burden of deriving or
ascertaining the response is substantially the same for one entity as for the other, a response is sufficient if it (i) identifies by name and location all records
from which the response may be derived or ascertained; and (ii) tenders to the inquiring party reasonable opportunity to examine, audit, or inspect the records
subject to objection as to their proprietary or confidential nature. The inquiring party bears the expense of making copies, compilations, abstracts, or summaries.

5 VAC 5-20-270. Hearing preparation.

In a formal proceeding, a party or the commission staff may serve on a party a request to examine the workpapers supporting the testimony or
exhibits of a witness whose prepared testimony has been filed in accordance with 5 VAC 5-20-240. The movant may request abstracts or summaries of the
workpapers, and may request copies of the workpapers upon payment of the reasonable cost of duplication or reproduction. Copies requested by the commission
staff shall be furnished without payment of copying costs. In actions pursuant to 5 VAC 5-20-80 A, the commission staff shall, upon the filing of its testimony,
exhibits, or report, provide (in either paper or electronic format) a copy of any workpapers that support the recommendations made in its testimony or report
to any party upon request and may additionally file a copy of such workpapers with the Clerk of the Commission. The Clerk of the Commission shall make
any filed workpapers available for public inspection and copying during regular business hours.

5 VAC 5-20-280. Discovery applicable only to 5 VAC 5-20-90 proceedings.

This rule applies only to a proceeding in which a defendant is subject to a monetary penalty or injunction, or revocation, cancellation, or curtailment
of a license, certificate of authority, registration, or similar authority previously issued by the commission to the defendant:

1. Discovery of material in possession of the commission staff. Upon written motion of the defendant, the commission shall permit the defendant
to inspect and, at the defendant's expense, copy or photograph (exclusive of investigative notes): (i) any relevant written or recorded statements, the existence
of which is known, after reasonable inquiry, by the commission staff counsel assigned to the matter to be within the custody, possession, or control of
commission staff, made by (a) the defendant, or representatives or agents of the defendant if the defendant is other than an individual, or (b) any witness whom
the commission staff intends, or does not intend, to call to testify at the hearing, to a commission staff member or law enforcement officer; (ii) designated
books, tangible objects, papers, documents, or copies or portions thereof, that are within the custody, possession, or control of commission staff and that
commission staff intends to introduce into evidence at the hearing or that the commission staff obtained for the purpose of the instant proceeding; and (iii) the
list of the witnesses that commission staff intends to call to testify at the hearing. Upon good cause shown to protect the identity of persons not named as a
defendant, the commission or hearing examiner may direct the commission staff to withhold disclosure of material requested under this rule. The term
"statement" as used in relation to any witness (other than a defendant) described in clause (i) of this subdivision includes a written statement made by said
witness and signed or otherwise adopted or approved by him, and verbatim transcriptions or recordings of a witness' statement that are made contemporaneously
with the statement by the witness.

A motion by the defendant or staff under this rule shall be filed and served at least 30 days before the hearing date. The motion shall include all
relief sought. A subsequent motion may be made only upon a showing of cause as to why the motion would be in the interest of justice. An order or ruling
granting relief under this rule shall specify the time, place, and manner of making discovery and inspection permitted, and may prescribe such terms and
conditions as the commission may determine.

Upon written motion of the commission staff, staff may also obtain the list of witnesses that the defendant intends to call to testify at the
hearing, and inspect, copy, and photograph, at commission staff's expense, the evidence that the defendant intends to introduce into evidence at the
hearing.

The commission staff and the defendant shall be required to produce the information described above as directed by the commission or
hearing examiner, but not later than 10 days prior to the scheduled hearing; and the admission of any additional evidence not provided in accordance
herewith shall not be denied solely on the basis that it was not produced timely, provided the additional evidence was produced to commission staff
or the defendant as soon as practicable prior to the hearing, or prior to the introduction of such evidence at the hearing. The requirement to produce
the information described in this section shall be in addition to any requirement by commission staff or the defendant to timely respond to an
interrogatory or document request made pursuant to 5VVAC5-20-260.
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Nothing in this rule shall require the disclosure of any information, the disclosure of which is prohibited by statute or other legal privilege.
The disclosure of the results of a commission staff investigation or work product of commission staff counsel shall not be required.

2. Depositions. After commencement of a proceeding to which this rule applies, the commission staff or a party may take the testimony of (i) a
party, or (ii) a person not a party for good cause shown to the commission or hearing examiner, other than a member of the commission staff, by deposition
on oral examination or by written questions. Depositions may be used for any purpose for which they may be used in the courts of record of the Commonwealth.
Except where the commission or hearing examiner finds that an emergency exists, no deposition may be taken later than 10 days in advance of the formal
hearing. The attendance of witnesses at depositions may be compelled by subpoena. Examination and cross-examination of the witness shall be as at hearing.
Depositions may be taken in the City of Richmond or in the town, city, or county in which the deposed person resides, is employed, or does business. The
parties and the commission staff, by agreement, may designate another place for the taking of the deposition. Reasonable notice of the intent to take a deposition
must be given in writing to the commission staff counsel and to each party to the action, stating the time and place where the deposition is to be taken. A
deposition may be taken before any person (the "officer") authorized to administer oaths by the laws of the jurisdiction in which the deposition is to be taken.
The officer shall certify his authorization in writing, administer the oath to the deponent, record or cause to be recorded the testimony given, and note any
objections raised. In lieu of participating in the oral examination, a party or the commission staff may deliver sealed written questions to the officer, who shall
propound the questions to the witness. The officer may terminate the deposition if convinced that the examination is being conducted in bad faith or in an
unreasonable manner. Costs of the deposition shall be borne by the party noticing the deposition, unless otherwise ordered by the commission.

3. Requests for admissions. The commission staff or a party to a proceeding may serve upon a party written requests for admission. Each matter on
which an admission is requested shall be stated separately. A matter shall be deemed admitted unless within 21 days of the service of the request, or some
other period the commission may designate, the party to whom the request is directed serves upon the requesting party a written answer addressing or objecting
to the request. The response shall set forth in specific terms a denial of the matter set forth or an explanation as to the reasons the responding party cannot
truthfully admit or deny the matter set forth. Requests for admission shall be filed with the Clerk of the Commission and simultaneously served on commission
staff counsel and on all parties to the proceeding.

Adopted: September 1, 1974

Revised: May 1, 1985 by Case No. CLK850262

Revised: August 1, 1986 by Case No. CLK860572 and Repealed June 1, 2001 by Case No. CLK000311
Adopted: June 1, 2001 by Case No. CLK000311

Revised: January 15, 2008 by Case No. CLK-2007-00005

Revised: February 24, 2009 by Case No. CLK-2008-00002

Revised: August 9, 2011 by Case No. CLK-2011-00001
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LEADING MATTERS DISPOSED OF BY FORMAL ORDERS

BUREAU OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

CASE NO. BAN20210104

APPLICATION OF MARCH 3, 2022

PACIFIC DEBT, INC.

For a license to engage in business as a debt settlement services provider

ORDER GRANTING A LICENSE

Pacific Debt, Inc. ("Applicant"), a California corporation, has filed an application (“Application™) with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission"), pursuant to § 6.2-2028 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), for a license to engage in business as a debt settlement services provider from
750 B Street, Suite 1700, San Diego, California 92101. The Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the Application.
The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner"): (i) provided the results of the Bureau's investigation to the Commission; (ii) opined
that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 20.1 of Title 6.2 of the Code ("Chapter 20.1") for the issuance of a debt settlement services provider
license; and (iii) recommended that the Commission enter an order approving the Application.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter
20.1 and should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the Application is APPROVED provided that: (i) the Applicant begins business within one (1) year

from the date of this Order; and (ii) within twenty (20) days of beginning business, the Applicant gives written notice to the Bureau stating the date it began
such business.

CASE NO. BAN20210105
MARCH 31, 2022

APPLICATION OF
JGW DEBT SETTLEMENT, LLC, D/B/A J.G. WENTWORTH

For a license to engage in business as a debt settlement services provider

ORDER GRANTING A LICENSE

JGW Debt Settlement, LLC, d/b/a J.G. Wentworth ("Applicant"), a Nevada limited liability company, has filed an application ("Application")
with the State Corporation Commission ("Commission"), pursuant to § 6.2-2028 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), for a license to engage in business as a
debt settlement services provider from 1200 Morris Drive, Suite 300, Chesterbrook, Pennsylvania 19087. The Commission's Bureau of Financial
Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the Application. The Commissioner of Financial Institutions: (i) provided the results of the Bureau's investigation to the
Commission; (ii) opined that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 20.1 of Title 6.2 of the Code ("Chapter 20.1") for the issuance of a debt settlement
services provider license; and (iii) recommended that the Commission enter an order approving the Application.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 20.1
and should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the Application is APPROVED provided that: (i) the Applicant begins business within one (1) year

from the date of this Order; and (ii) within twenty (20) days of beginning business, the Applicant gives written notice to the Bureau stating the date it began
such business.

CASE NO. BAN20210112
MARCH 18, 2022

APPLICATION OF
GRT FINANCIAL, INC.

For a license to engage in business as a debt settlement services provider

ORDER GRANTING A LICENSE

GRT Financial, Inc. ("Applicant"), a Michigan corporation, has filed an application ("Application”) with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission"), pursuant to § 6.2-2028 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), for a license to engage in business as a debt settlement services provider from
26711 Northwestern Highway, Suite 375, Southfield, Michigan 48033. The Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the
Application. The Commissioner of Financial Institutions: (i) provided the results of the Bureau's investigation to the Commission; (ii) opined that the
Application meets the criteria in Chapter 20.1 of Title 6.2 of the Code ("Chapter 20.1") for the issuance of a debt settlement services provider license; and
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(iii) recommended that the Commission enter an order approving the Application.
NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 20.1
and should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the Application is APPROVED provided that: (i) the Applicant begins business within one (1) year

from the date of this Order; and (ii) within twenty (20) days of beginning business, the Applicant gives written notice to the Bureau stating the date it began
such business.

CASE_NO. BAN20210113
SEPTEMBER 7, 2022

APPLICATION OF
CONSUMER DEBT HELP ASSOCIATION LLC

For a license to engage in business as a debt settlement services provider

ORDER GRANTING A LICENSE

Consumer Debt Help Association LLC ("Applicant™), a Florida limited liability company, has filed an application ("Application") with the State
Corporation Commission (“"Commission"), pursuant to § 6.2-2028 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), for a license to engage in business as a debt settlement
services provider from 516 N Dixie Highway, Lantana, Florida 33462. The Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the
Application. The Commissioner of Financial Institutions: (i) provided the results of the Bureau's investigation to the Commission; (ii) opined that the
Application meets the criteria in Chapter 20.1 of Title 6.2 of the Code ("Chapter 20.1") for the issuance of a debt settlement services provider license; and
(iii) recommended that the Commission enter an order approving the Application.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 20.1
and should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the Application is APPROVED provided that: (i) the Applicant begins business within one (1) year

from the date of this Order; and (ii) within twenty (20) days of beginning business, the Applicant gives written notice to the Bureau stating the date it began
such business.

CASE NO. BAN20210114
JULY 7, 2022

APPLICATION OF
NATIONAL DEBT RELIEF LLC

For a license to engage in business as a debt settlement services provider

ORDER GRANTING A LICENSE

National Debt Relief LLC ("Applicant"), a New York limited liability company, has filed an application ("Application") with the State
Corporation Commission (“Commission™), pursuant to § 6.2-2028 of the Code of Virginia (“Code"), for a license to engage in business as a debt settlement
services provider from 180 Maiden Lane, 30" Floor, New York, New York 10038. The Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau")
investigated the Application. The Commissioner of Financial Institutions: (i) provided the results of the Bureau's investigation to the Commission;
(ii) opined that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 20.1 of Title 6.2 of the Code ("Chapter 20.1") for the issuance of a debt settlement services
provider license; and (iii) recommended that the Commission enter an order approving the Application.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 20.1
and should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the Application is APPROVED provided that: (i) the Applicant begins business within one (1) year
from the date of this Order; and (ii) within twenty (20) days of beginning business, the Applicant gives written notice to the Bureau stating the date it began
such business.
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CASE NO. BAN20210182
MARCH 28, 2022

REQUEST BY
HABITAT FOR HUMANITY, INC. OF THE NEW RIVER VALLEY

To be designated as a bona fide nonprofit organization

ORDER GRANTING DESIGNATION

Habitat for Humanity, Inc. of the New River Valley, a Virginia corporation, has submitted a request ("Request”) to the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) for designation as a bona fide nonprofit organization pursuant to § 6.2-1701.1 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") and
10 VAC 5-161-75 of the Commission's rules governing Mortgage Loan Originators, 10 VAC 5-161-10 et seq. ("Rules"). The Commission's Bureau of
Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the Request. The Commissioner of Financial Institutions: (i) provided the results of the Bureau's investigation
to the Commission; (ii) opined that the Request meets the criteria in § 6.2-1701.1 of the Code and Rule 10 VAC 5-161-75; and (iii) recommended that the
Commission enter an order approving the Request.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Request meets the criteria in § 6.2-1701.1 of the
Code and Rule 10 VAC 5-161-75 and should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the Request is APPROVED, and Habitat for Humanity, Inc. of the New River Valley is hereby designated
as a bona fide nonprofit organization for purposes of Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code and the Commission's Rules.

CASE NO. BAN20220004
FEBRUARY 24, 2022

APPLICATIONS OF

LEE MERGER SUB, INC., CASE NUMBERS: BAN20220004
LEE BANK & TRUST COMPANY, and BAN20220005
LEE BANKSHARES, INC. BAN20220006

ORDER REDUCING FEES

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission”) that: (i) Lee
Merger Sub, Inc., a proposed interim Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed an application with the Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau™) pursuant to
§ 6.2-816 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") for a certificate of authority to conduct a banking business, and the fee incident to such application is Ten
Thousand Dollars ($10,000); (ii) Lee Bank & Trust Company, a Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed an application with the Bureau pursuant to § 6.2-822
of the Code to merge into it Lee Merger Sub, Inc., and the fee incident to such application is Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($7,500); and (iii) Lee
Bankshares, Inc., a proposed Virginia financial institution holding company, has filed an application with the Bureau pursuant to § 6.2-704 A of the Code to
acquire control of Lee Bank & Trust Company, and the fee incident to such application is Seven Thousand Dollars ($7,000).

The Commissioner has also reported to the Commission that the total fees incident to the applications as prescribed by §§ 6.2-704 A and
6.2-908 B of the Code and the Commission's October 25, 1990 Administrative Order* and April 5, 2016 Clarifying Order? would be Twenty-Four Thousand
Five Hundred Dollars ($24,500); and that Lee Merger Sub, Inc., Lee Bank & Trust Company, and Lee Bankshares, Inc. have requested that the Commission
reduce the total fees owed.

The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission reduce the total fees by Fourteen Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($14,500) pursuant
to the Commission's authority under § 6.2-908 C of the Code. The Commissioner further reported to the Commission that the requested reduction in fees is
reasonable because the proposed reorganization is essentially a single transaction. Moreover, the reduction in fees for these applications would not be
detrimental to the Bureau's effectiveness. Accordingly, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission grant the requested reduction in fees.

NOW THE COMMISSION, is of the opinion and concludes that a reasonable basis having been shown, and the Bureau having represented that
the reduction in fees would not be detrimental to the effectiveness of the Bureau, the total fees payable by Lee Merger Sub, Inc., Lee Bank & Trust
Company, and Lee Bankshares, Inc. in connection with the above-referenced applications is hereby reduced to Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000).
Notwithstanding this reduction, the Commission's October 25, 1990 Administrative Order and April 5, 2016 Clarifying Order shall remain in full force and
effect.

Commissioner Patricia L. West participated in this matter.

Commissioner Judith Williams Jagdmann did not participate in this matter.

1 Relating to fees to be charged in connection with certain applications. Case No. BFI-1990-00386, Administrative Order (October 25, 1990).

2 Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation Commission, Ex Parte: In re: fees to be charged in connection with certain applications. Case No.
BFI-2016-00013, Clarifying Order (April 5, 2016).
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CASE NO. BAN20220004
MARCH 30, 2022

APPLICATION OF
LEE MERGER SUB, INC.

For a certificate of authority to begin business as a bank from 41371 West Morgan Avenue, Pennington Gap, Lee County, Virginia

ORDER GRANTING AUTHORITY

Lee Merger Sub, Inc. ("Applicant"), a Virginia corporation, has filed an application ("Application™) with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™), pursuant to § 6.2-816 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), for a certificate of authority to begin business as a Virginia state-chartered bank
from 41371 West Morgan Avenue, Pennington Gap, Lee County, Virginia. The Commission's approval of the Application would facilitate the merger of the
Applicant into Lee Bank & Trust Company, a Virginia state-chartered bank. The Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the
Application. The Commissioner of Financial Institutions: (i) provided the results of the Bureau's investigation to the Commission; (ii) opined that the
Application meets the criteria in Chapter 8 of Title 6.2 of the Code ("Chapter 8") for a certificate of authority; and (iii) recommended that the Commission
enter an order approving the Application.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 8 and
should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT a certificate of authority for Lee Merger Sub, Inc. to begin business as a Virginia state-chartered bank
from the specified location is GRANTED, provided that the Applicant shall not engage in banking business prior to merging with and into Lee Bank &
Trust Company, as approved by the Commission in Case No. BAN20220005. If the Applicant does not merge into Lee Bank & Trust Company within one
(1) year from the date of this Order, the authority granted herein shall expire unless extended by Commission order prior to the expiration date.

Commissioner Patricia L. West participated in this matter.

Commissioner Judith Williams Jagdmann did not participate in this matter.

CASE NO. BAN20220005
FEBRUARY 24, 2022

APPLICATIONS OF

LEE MERGER SUB, INC,, CASE NUMBERS: BAN20220004
LEE BANK & TRUST COMPANY, and BAN20220005
LEE BANKSHARES, INC. BAN20220006

ORDER REDUCING FEES

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“"Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) that: (i) Lee
Merger Sub, Inc., a proposed interim Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed an application with the Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau™) pursuant to
§ 6.2-816 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") for a certificate of authority to conduct a banking business, and the fee incident to such application is Ten
Thousand Dollars ($10,000); (ii) Lee Bank & Trust Company, a Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed an application with the Bureau pursuant to § 6.2-822
of the Code to merge into it Lee Merger Sub, Inc., and the fee incident to such application is Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($7,500); and (iii) Lee
Bankshares, Inc., a proposed Virginia financial institution holding company, has filed an application with the Bureau pursuant to § 6.2-704 A of the Code to
acquire control of Lee Bank & Trust Company, and the fee incident to such application is Seven Thousand Dollars ($7,000).

The Commissioner has also reported to the Commission that the total fees incident to the applications as prescribed by 8§ 6.2-704 A and
6.2-908 B of the Code and the Commission's October 25, 1990 Administrative Order* and April 5, 2016 Clarifying Order? would be Twenty-Four Thousand
Five Hundred Dollars ($24,500); and that Lee Merger Sub, Inc., Lee Bank & Trust Company, and Lee Bankshares, Inc. have requested that the Commission
reduce the total fees owed.

The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission reduce the total fees by Fourteen Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($14,500) pursuant
to the Commission's authority under § 6.2-908 C of the Code. The Commissioner further reported to the Commission that the requested reduction in fees is
reasonable because the proposed reorganization is essentially a single transaction. Moreover, the reduction in fees for these applications would not be
detrimental to the Bureau's effectiveness. Accordingly, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission grant the requested reduction in fees.

1 Relating to fees to be charged in connection with certain applications. Case No. BFI-1990-00386, Administrative Order (October 25, 1990).

2 Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation Commission, Ex Parte: In re: fees to be charged in connection with certain applications. Case No.
BFI-2016-00013, Clarifying Order (April 5, 2016).
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NOW THE COMMISSION, is of the opinion and concludes that a reasonable basis having been shown, and the Bureau having represented that
the reduction in fees would not be detrimental to the effectiveness of the Bureau, the total fees payable by Lee Merger Sub, Inc., Lee Bank & Trust
Company, and Lee Bankshares, Inc. in connection with the above-referenced applications is hereby reduced to Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000).
Notwithstanding this reduction, the Commission's October 25, 1990 Administrative Order and April 5, 2016 Clarifying Order shall remain in full force and
effect.

Commissioner Patricia L. West participated in this matter.

Commissioner Judith Williams Jagdmann did not participate in this matter.

CASE NO. BAN20220005
MARCH 30, 2022

APPLICATION OF
LEE BANK & TRUST COMPANY

For a certificate of authority to conduct a banking business following a merger with Lee Merger Sub, Inc. and for authority to operate the offices
of the merging banks

ORDER GRANTING AUTHORITY

Lee Bank & Trust Company, a Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed an application ("Application") with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission"), pursuant to § 6.2-822 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), for a certificate of authority to conduct a banking business following a merger with
Lee Merger Sub, Inc., a Virginia state-chartered bank. Lee Bank & Trust Company proposes to be the surviving bank in the merger and seeks authority to
operate all of the currently authorized offices of the merging banks. The Commission's approval of the Application would facilitate the acquisition of Lee
Bank & Trust Company by Lee Bankshares, Inc. The Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions (“Bureau") investigated the Application. The
Commissioner of Financial Institutions: (i) provided the results of the Bureau's investigation to the Commission; (ii) opined that the Application meets the
criteria in Chapter 8 of Title 6.2 of the Code (“Chapter 8") for a certificate of authority; and (iii) recommended that the Commission enter an order approving
the Application.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 8 and
should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the proposed merger of Lee Merger Sub, Inc. into Lee Bank & Trust Company is APPROVED and a
certificate of authority to conduct a banking business is GRANTED to Lee Bank & Trust Company, effective upon the issuance by the Clerk of the
Commission of a certificate of merger in the proposed transaction. The resulting bank is authorized to operate a main office from 41371 West Morgan
Avenue, Pennington Gap, Lee County, Virginia, and is authorized to maintain and operate its current offices and facilities. The Commission shall retain
jurisdiction over this matter pending consummation of the transaction. The authority granted herein shall expire one (1) year from the date of this Order
unless extended by Commission order prior to the expiration date.

Commissioner Patricia L. West participated in this matter.

Commissioner Judith Williams Jagdmann did not participate in this matter.

CASE NO. BAN20220006
FEBRUARY 24, 2022

APPLICATIONS OF

LEE MERGER SUB, INC., CASE NUMBERS: BAN20220004
LEE BANK & TRUST COMPANY, and BAN20220005
LEE BANKSHARES, INC. BAN20220006

ORDER REDUCING FEES

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) that: (i) Lee
Merger Sub, Inc., a proposed interim Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed an application with the Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") pursuant to
§ 6.2-816 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") for a certificate of authority to conduct a banking business, and the fee incident to such application is Ten
Thousand Dollars ($10,000); (ii) Lee Bank & Trust Company, a Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed an application with the Bureau pursuant to § 6.2-822
of the Code to merge into it Lee Merger Sub, Inc., and the fee incident to such application is Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($7,500); and (iii) Lee
Bankshares, Inc., a proposed Virginia financial institution holding company, has filed an application with the Bureau pursuant to § 6.2-704 A of the Code to
acquire control of Lee Bank & Trust Company, and the fee incident to such application is Seven Thousand Dollars ($7,000).
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The Commissioner has also reported to the Commission that the total fees incident to the applications as prescribed by 8§ 6.2-704 A and
6.2-908 B of the Code and the Commission's October 25, 1990 Administrative Order* and April 5, 2016 Clarifying Order? would be Twenty-Four Thousand
Five Hundred Dollars ($24,500); and that Lee Merger Sub, Inc., Lee Bank & Trust Company, and Lee Bankshares, Inc. have requested that the Commission
reduce the total fees owed.

The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission reduce the total fees by Fourteen Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($14,500) pursuant
to the Commission's authority under § 6.2-908 C of the Code. The Commissioner further reported to the Commission that the requested reduction in fees is
reasonable because the proposed reorganization is essentially a single transaction. Moreover, the reduction in fees for these applications would not be
detrimental to the Bureau's effectiveness. Accordingly, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission grant the requested reduction in fees.

NOW THE COMMISSION, is of the opinion and concludes that a reasonable basis having been shown, and the Bureau having represented that
the reduction in fees would not be detrimental to the effectiveness of the Bureau, the total fees payable by Lee Merger Sub, Inc., Lee Bank & Trust
Company, and Lee Bankshares, Inc. in connection with the above-referenced applications is hereby reduced to Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000).
Notwithstanding this reduction, the Commission's October 25, 1990 Administrative Order and April 5, 2016 Clarifying Order shall remain in full force and
effect.

Commissioner Patricia L. West participated in this matter.

Commissioner Judith Williams Jagdmann did not participate in this matter.

1 Relating to fees to be charged in connection with certain applications. Case No. BFI-1990-00386, Administrative Order (October 25, 1990).

2 Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation Commission, Ex Parte: In re: fees to be charged in connection with certain applications. Case No.
BFI-2016-00013, Clarifying Order (April 5, 2016).

CASE NO: BAN20220006
MARCH 30, 2022

APPLICATION OF
LEE BANKSHARES, INC.

To acquire control of Lee Bank & Trust Company

ORDER OF APPROVAL

Lee Bankshares, Inc., a Virginia corporation, has filed an application (“"Application") with the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™),
pursuant to § 6.2-704 A of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), to acquire control of Lee Bank & Trust Company, a Virginia state-chartered bank. The
Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the Application pursuant to § 6.2-705 of the Code. The Commissioner of Financial
Institutions: (i) provided the results of the Bureau's investigation to the Commission; (ii) opined that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 7 of Title
6.2 of the Code (“"Chapter 7*) to acquire control of a Virginia financial institution; and (iii) recommended that the Commission enter an order approving the
Application.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 7 and
should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the proposed acquisition of Lee Bank & Trust Company by Lee Bankshares, Inc. is APPROVED,
provided that: (i) the authority granted herein shall expire one (1) year from the date of this Order unless extended by Commission order prior to the
expiration date; and (ii) Lee Bankshares, Inc. notifies the Bureau of the effective date of the transaction within ten (10) days thereof. The Commission shall
retain jurisdiction over this matter pending consummation of the transaction.

Commissioner Patricia L. West participated in this matter.

Commissioner Judith Williams Jagdmann did not participate in this matter.
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CASE NO. BAN20220014
MARCH 31, 2022

APPLICATION OF
DEBT SETTLEMENT GROUP, INC., D/B/A DEBTRX

For a license to engage in business as a debt settlement services provider

ORDER GRANTING A LICENSE

Debt Settlement Group, Inc., d/b/a DebtRx ("Applicant"), a Maryland corporation, has filed an application (“Application") with the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission™), pursuant to § 6.2-2028 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), for a license to engage in business as a debt settlement
services provider from 5257 Buckeystown Pike #127, Frederick, Maryland 21704. The Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions (“Bureau")
investigated the Application. The Commissioner of Financial Institutions: (i) provided the results of the Bureau's investigation to the Commission;
(ii) opined that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 20.1 of Title 6.2 of the Code ("Chapter 20.1") for the issuance of a debt settlement services
provider license; and (iii) recommended that the Commission enter an order approving the Application.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 20.1
and should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the Application is APPROVED provided that: (i) the Applicant begins business within one (1) year from the date
of this Order; and (ii) within twenty (20) days of beginning business, the Applicant gives written notice to the Bureau stating the date it began such business.

CASE NO. BAN20220020
JUNE 27, 2022

APPLICATION OF
OCEANFIRST FINANCIAL CORP.

To acquire control of Virginia Partners Bank

ORDER OF APPROVAL

OceanFirst Financial Corp., a Delaware corporation, has filed an application (“Application") with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission"), pursuant to § 6.2-704 C of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), to acquire control of Virginia Partners Bank, a Virginia state-chartered bank.
The Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the Application pursuant to § 6.2-705 of the Code. The Commissioner of
Financial Institutions: (i) provided the results of the Bureau's investigation to the Commission; (ii) opined that the Application satisfies the provisions of
§ 6.2-705 of the Code; and (iii) recommended that the Commission enter an order approving the Application.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Application satisfies the provisions of § 6.2-705
of the Code and should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the proposed acquisition of Virginia Partners Bank by OceanFirst Financial Corp. is APPROVED,
provided that: (i) the authority granted herein shall expire one (1) year from the date of this Order unless extended by Commission order prior to the

expiration date; and (ii) OceanFirst Financial Corp. notifies the Bureau of the effective date of the transaction within ten (10) days thereof. The Commission
shall retain jurisdiction over this matter pending consummation of the transaction.

CASE NO. BAN20220035
JUNE 9, 2022

APPLICATION OF
ODNB FINANCIAL CORPORATION

To acquire control of Old Dominion National Bank

ORDER OF APPROVAL

ODNB Financial Corporation, a Virginia corporation, has applied to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™), pursuant to 6.2-704 A
of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), to acquire control of Old Dominion National Bank, a Virginia financial institution. The Commissioner of Financial
Institutions has recommended that the Commission enter an order approving the application.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, finds that the application meets the requirements in Chapter 7 of Title 6.2 of the
Code and should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the proposed acquisition of Old Dominion National Bank by ODNB Financial Corporation is
APPROVED, provided that: (i) the authority granted herein shall expire one (1) year from the date of this Order unless extended by Commission order prior
to the expiration date; and (ii) ODNB Financial Corporation notifies the Bureau of Financial Institutions of the effective date of the transaction within ten
(10) days thereof. The Commission shall retain jurisdiction over this matter pending consummation of the transaction.



22
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

CASE NO. BAN20220048
JULY 13, 2022

APPLICATION OF
CORNERSTONE BANK

For a certificate of authority to engage in business as a state-chartered bank upon the conversion of CornerStone Bank, N.A.

ORDER GRANTING AUTHORITY

CornerStone Bank, a Virginia corporation, has filed an application ("Application™) with the State Corporation Commission (“Commission"),
pursuant to 88 6.2-816 and 6.2-823 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), for a certificate of authority to engage in business as a Virginia state-chartered bank.
CornerStone Bank was formed to be the successor to CornerStone Bank, N.A., which has its main office at 54 S. Main Street, City of Lexington, Virginia
and operates three branches (see attached Exhibit A for branch locations). The Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the
Application. The Commissioner of Financial Institutions: (i) provided the results of the Bureau's investigation to the Commission; (ii) opined that the
Application meets the criteria in Chapter 8 of Title 6.2 of the Code for a certificate of authority; and (iii) recommended that the Commission enter an order
granting a certificate of authority.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the Application and the results of the Bureau's investigation, finds that the requirements of
§8 6.2-816 and 6.2-823 of the Code have been met, and that a certificate of authority should be granted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT a certificate of authority for CornerStone Bank to begin business as a Virginia state-chartered bank
from the specified main office location and the branch locations in Exhibit A is GRANTED, provided the following conditions are met before CornerStone
Bank commences business as a state-chartered bank:

(1) The sum of CornerStone Bank 's equity capital accounts shall be not less than $18 million, including capital stock of not less than $5,472,875
and surplus of not less than $5,812,532;

(2) CornerStone Bank shall obtain insurance of its accounts by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation; and
(3) CornerStone Bank shall notify the Bureau of the date on which it will commence business as a state-chartered bank.
The authority granted herein shall expire one (1) year from the date of this Order unless extended by the Commission prior to the expiration date.

NOTE: A copy of the attachment entitled "Exhibit A" is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document
Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. BAN20220070
AUGUST 10, 2022

APPLICATIONS OF

B&H SUBSIDIARY, INC., BURKE & HERBERT BANK & TRUST COMPANY, CASE NUMBERS: BAN20220070
AND BURKE & HERBERT FINANCIAL SERVICES CORP. BAN20220071
BAN20220072

ORDER REDUCING FEES

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") that: (i) B&H
Subsidiary, Inc., a proposed interim Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed an application with the Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") pursuant to
§ 6.2-816 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") for a certificate of authority to conduct a banking business, and the fee incident to such application is Ten
Thousand Dollars ($10,000); (ii) Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company, a Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed an application with the Bureau pursuant
to § 6.2-822 of the Code to merge into it B&H Subsidiary, Inc., and the fee incident to such application is Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($7,500);
and (iii) Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp., a proposed Virginia financial institution holding company, has filed an application with the Bureau
pursuant to § 6.2-704 A of the Code to acquire control of Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company, and the fee incident to such application is Seven
Thousand Dollars ($7,000).

The Commissioner has also reported to the Commission that the total fees incident to the applications as prescribed by 8§ 6.2-704 A and
6.2-908 B of the Code and the Commission's October 25, 1990 Administrative Order* and April 5, 2016 Clarifying Order? would be Twenty-Four Thousand
Five Hundred Dollars ($24,500); and that B&H Subsidiary, Inc., Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company, and Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp.,
have requested that the Commission reduce the total fees owed.

The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission reduce the total fees by Fourteen Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($14,500) pursuant
to the Commission's authority under § 6.2-908 C of the Code. The Commissioner further reported to the Commission that the requested reduction in fees is
reasonable because the proposed reorganization is essentially a single transaction. Moreover, the reduction in fees for these applications would not be
detrimental to the Bureau's effectiveness. Accordingly, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission grant the requested reduction in fees.

! Relating to fees to be charged in connection with certain applications. Case No. BFI-1990-00386, Administrative Order (October 25, 1990).

2 Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation Commission, Ex Parte: In re: fees to be charged in connection with certain applications. Case No.
BFI-2016-00013, Clarifying Order (April 5, 2016).
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NOW THE COMMISSION, is of the opinion and concludes that a reasonable basis having been shown, and the Bureau having represented that
the reduction in fees would not be detrimental to the effectiveness of the Bureau, the total fees payable by B&H Subsidiary, Inc., Burke & Herbert Bank &
Trust Company, and Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp. in connection with the above-referenced applications is hereby reduced to Ten Thousand
Dollars ($10,000). Notwithstanding this reduction, the Commission's October 25, 1990 Administrative Order and April 5, 2016 Clarifying Order shall
remain in full force and effect.

CASE NO. BAN20220070
AUGUST 31, 2022

APPLICATION OF
B&H SUBSIDIARY, INC.

For a certificate of authority to begin business as a bank from 100 South Fairfax Street, City of Alexandria, Virginia

ORDER GRANTING AUTHORITY

B&H Subsidiary, Inc. ("Applicant™), a Virginia corporation, has filed an application ("Application™) with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission"), pursuant to § 6.2-816 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), for a certificate of authority to begin business as a Virginia state-chartered bank
from 100 South Fairfax Street, City of Alexandria, Virginia. The Commission's approval of the Application would facilitate the merger of the Applicant into
Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company, a Virginia state-chartered bank. The Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the
Application. The Commissioner of Financial Institutions: (i) provided the results of the Bureau's investigation to the Commission; (ii) opined that the
Application meets the criteria in Chapter 8 of Title 6.2 of the Code ("Chapter 8") for a certificate of authority; and (iii) recommended that the Commission
enter an order approving the Application.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 8 and
should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT a certificate of authority for B&H Subsidiary, Inc. to begin business as a Virginia state-chartered bank
from the specified location is GRANTED, provided that the Applicant shall not engage in banking business prior to merging with and into Burke & Herbert
Bank & Trust Company, as approved by the Commission in Case No. BAN20220071. If the Applicant does not merge into Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust
Company within one (1) year from the date of this Order, the authority granted herein shall expire unless extended by Commission order prior to the
expiration date.

CASE NO. BAN20220071
AUGUST 10, 2022

APPLICATIONS OF

B&H SUBSIDIARY, INC., BURKE & HERBERT BANK & TRUST COMPANY, CASE NUMBERS: BAN20220070
AND BURKE & HERBERT FINANCIAL SERVICES CORP. BAN20220071
BAN20220072

ORDER REDUCING FEES

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission”) that: (i) B&H
Subsidiary, Inc., a proposed interim Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed an application with the Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau™) pursuant to
§ 6.2-816 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") for a certificate of authority to conduct a banking business, and the fee incident to such application is Ten
Thousand Dollars ($10,000); (ii) Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company, a Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed an application with the Bureau pursuant
to § 6.2-822 of the Code to merge into it B&H Subsidiary, Inc., and the fee incident to such application is Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($7,500);
and (iii) Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp., a proposed Virginia financial institution holding company, has filed an application with the Bureau
pursuant to § 6.2-704 A of the Code to acquire control of Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company, and the fee incident to such application is Seven
Thousand Dollars ($7,000).

The Commissioner has also reported to the Commission that the total fees incident to the applications as prescribed by 8§ 6.2-704 A and
6.2-908 B of the Code and the Commission's October 25, 1990 Administrative Order® and April 5, 2016 Clarifying Order? would be Twenty-Four Thousand
Five Hundred Dollars ($24,500); and that B&H Subsidiary, Inc., Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company, and Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp.,
have requested that the Commission reduce the total fees owed.

The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission reduce the total fees by Fourteen Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($14,500) pursuant
to the Commission's authority under § 6.2-908 C of the Code. The Commissioner further reported to the Commission that the requested reduction in fees is
reasonable because the proposed reorganization is essentially a single transaction. Moreover, the reduction in fees for these applications would not be
detrimental to the Bureau's effectiveness. Accordingly, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission grant the requested reduction in fees.

1 Relating to fees to be charged in connection with certain applications. Case No. BFI-1990-00386, Administrative Order (October 25, 1990).

2 Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation Commission, Ex Parte: In re: fees to be charged in connection with certain applications. Case No.
BFI-2016-00013, Clarifying Order (April 5, 2016).
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NOW THE COMMISSION, is of the opinion and concludes that a reasonable basis having been shown, and the Bureau having represented that
the reduction in fees would not be detrimental to the effectiveness of the Bureau, the total fees payable by B&H Subsidiary, Inc., Burke & Herbert Bank &
Trust Company, and Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp. in connection with the above-referenced applications is hereby reduced to Ten Thousand
Dollars ($10,000). Notwithstanding this reduction, the Commission's October 25, 1990 Administrative Order and April 5, 2016 Clarifying Order shall
remain in full force and effect.

CASE NO. BAN20220071
AUGUST 31, 2022

APPLICATION OF
BURKE & HERBERT BANK & TRUST COMPANY

For a certificate of authority to conduct a banking and trust business following a merger with B&H Subsidiary, Inc. and for authority to operate
the offices of the merging banks

ORDER GRANTING AUTHORITY

Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company, a Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed an application ("Application™) with the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission"), pursuant to § 6.2-822 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), for a certificate of authority to conduct a banking and trust business
following a merger with B&H Subsidiary, Inc., a Virginia state-chartered bank. Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company proposes to be the surviving bank
in the merger and seeks authority to operate all of the currently authorized offices of the merging banks. The Commission's approval of the Application
would facilitate the acquisition of Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company by Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp. The Commission's Bureau of
Financial Institutions (“Bureau") investigated the Application. The Commissioner of Financial Institutions: (i) provided the results of the Bureau's
investigation to the Commission; (ii) opined that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 8 of Title 6.2 of the Code (“Chapter 8") for a certificate of
authority; and (iii) recommended that the Commission enter an order approving the Application.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 8 and
should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the proposed merger of B&H Subsidiary, Inc. into Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company is
APPROVED and a certificate of authority to conduct a banking and trust business is GRANTED to Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company, effective
upon the issuance by the Clerk of the Commission of a certificate of merger in the proposed transaction. The resulting bank is authorized to operate a main
office from 100 South Fairfax Street, City of Alexandria, Virginia, and is authorized to maintain and operate its current offices and facilities. The
Commission shall retain jurisdiction over this matter pending consummation of the transaction. The authority granted herein shall expire one (1) year from
the date of this Order unless extended by Commission order prior to the expiration date.

CASE NO. BAN20220072
AUGUST 10, 2022

APPLICATIONS OF

B&H SUBSIDIARY, INC., BURKE & HERBERT BANK & TRUST COMPANY, CASE NUMBERS: BAN20220070
AND BURKE & HERBERT FINANCIAL SERVICES CORP. BAN20220071
BAN20220072

ORDER REDUCING FEES

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") that: (i) B&H
Subsidiary, Inc., a proposed interim Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed an application with the Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau™) pursuant to
§ 6.2-816 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") for a certificate of authority to conduct a banking business, and the fee incident to such application is Ten
Thousand Dollars ($10,000); (ii) Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company, a Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed an application with the Bureau pursuant
to § 6.2-822 of the Code to merge into it B&H Subsidiary, Inc., and the fee incident to such application is Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($7,500);
and (iii) Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp., a proposed Virginia financial institution holding company, has filed an application with the Bureau
pursuant to § 6.2-704 A of the Code to acquire control of Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company, and the fee incident to such application is Seven
Thousand Dollars ($7,000).

The Commissioner has also reported to the Commission that the total fees incident to the applications as prescribed by §§ 6.2-704 A and
6.2-908 B of the Code and the Commission's October 25, 1990 Administrative Order* and April 5, 2016 Clarifying Order? would be Twenty-Four Thousand
Five Hundred Dollars ($24,500); and that B&H Subsidiary, Inc., Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company, and Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp.,
have requested that the Commission reduce the total fees owed.

1 Relating to fees to be charged in connection with certain applications. Case No. BFI-1990-00386, Administrative Order (October 25, 1990).

2 Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation Commission, Ex Parte: In re: fees to be charged in connection with certain applications. Case No.
BFI-2016-00013, Clarifying Order (April 5, 2016).
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The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission reduce the total fees by Fourteen Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($14,500) pursuant
to the Commission's authority under § 6.2-908 C of the Code. The Commissioner further reported to the Commission that the requested reduction in fees is
reasonable because the proposed reorganization is essentially a single transaction. Moreover, the reduction in fees for these applications would not be
detrimental to the Bureau's effectiveness. Accordingly, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission grant the requested reduction in fees.

NOW THE COMMISSION, is of the opinion and concludes that a reasonable basis having been shown, and the Bureau having represented that
the reduction in fees would not be detrimental to the effectiveness of the Bureau, the total fees payable by B&H Subsidiary, Inc., Burke & Herbert Bank &
Trust Company, and Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp. in connection with the above-referenced applications is hereby reduced to Ten Thousand
Dollars ($10,000). Notwithstanding this reduction, the Commission's October 25, 1990 Administrative Order and April 5, 2016 Clarifying Order shall
remain in full force and effect.

CASE NO. BAN20220072
AUGUST 31, 2022

APPLICATION OF
BURKE & HERBERT FINANCIAL SERVICES CORP.

To acquire control of Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company

ORDER OF APPROVAL

Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp., a Virginia corporation, has filed an application (“Application™) with the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission"), pursuant to § 6.2-704 A of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), to acquire control of Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company, a
Virginia state-chartered bank. The Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the Application pursuant to § 6.2-705 of the Code.
The Commissioner of Financial Institutions: (i) provided the results of the Bureau's investigation to the Commission; (ii) opined that the Application meets
the criteria in Chapter 7 of Title 6.2 of the Code (“"Chapter 7") for approval to acquire control of a Virginia financial institution; and (iii) recommended that
the Commission enter an order approving the Application.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 7 and
should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the proposed acquisition of Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Company by Burke & Herbert Financial
Services Corp. is APPROVED, provided that: (i) the authority granted herein shall expire one (1) year from the date of this Order unless extended by

Commission order prior to the expiration date; and (ii) Burke & Herbert Financial Services Corp. notifies the Bureau of the effective date of the transaction
within ten (10) days thereafter. The Commission shall retain jurisdiction over this matter pending consummation of the transaction.

CASE NO. BAN20220075
AUGUST 12, 2022

REQUEST BY
HABITAT FOR HUMANITY OF WASHINGTON, D.C. & NORTHERN VIRGINIA, INC.

To be designated as a bona fide nonprofit organization

ORDER GRANTING DESIGNATION

Habitat for Humanity of Washington, D.C. & Northern Virginia, Inc., a District of Columbia corporation, has submitted a request ("Request") to
the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) for designation as a bona fide nonprofit organization pursuant to § 6.2-1701.1 of the Code of Virginia
("Code™) and Rule 10 VAC 5-161-75 of the Commission's rules governing Mortgage Loan Originators, 10 VAC 5-161-10 et seq. The Commission's Bureau
of Financial Institutions (“Bureau") investigated the Request. The Commissioner of Financial Institutions: (i) provided the results of the Bureau's
investigation to the Commission; (ii) opined that the Request meets the criteria in § 6.2-1701.1 of the Code and Rule 10 VAC 5-161-75; and
(iii) recommended that the Commission enter an order approving the Request.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Request meets the criteria in § 6.2-1701.1 of the
Code and Rule 10 VAC 5-161-75 and should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the Request is APPROVED. Habitat for Humanity of Washington, D.C. & Northern Virginia, Inc. is
hereby designated as a bona fide nonprofit organization pursuant to § 6.2-1701.1 of the Code and Rule 10 VAC 5-161-75.
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CASE NO. BAN20220141
DECEMBER 12, 2022

APPLICATION OF
FARMERS BANKSHARES, INC.

For a certificate of authority to begin business as a bank from 50 East Windsor Boulevard, Windsor, Isle of Wight County, Virginia

ORDER GRANTING AUTHORITY

Farmers Bankshares, Inc. ("Applicant"), a Virginia corporation, has filed an application ("Application™) with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™), pursuant to § 6.2-816 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), for a certificate of authority to begin business as a Virginia state-chartered bank
from 50 East Windsor Boulevard, Windsor, Isle of Wight County, Virginia. The Commission's approval of the Application would facilitate the merger of
the Applicant into TowneBank, a Virginia state-chartered bank. The Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the Application.
The Commissioner of Financial Institutions: (i) provided the results of the Bureau's investigation to the Commission; (ii) opined that the Application meets
the criteria in Chapter 8 of Title 6.2 of the Code ("Chapter 8") for a certificate of authority; and (iii) recommended that the Commission enter an order
approving the Application.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Application meets the criteria in Chapter 8 and
should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT a certificate of authority for Farmers Bankshares, Inc. to begin business as a Virginia state-chartered
bank from the specified location is GRANTED, provided that the Applicant shall not engage in banking business prior to merging with and into
TowneBank, as approved by the Commission in Case No. BAN20220142. If the Applicant does not merge into TowneBank within one (1) year from the
date of this Order, the authority granted herein shall expire unless extended by Commission order prior to the expiration date.

CASE_NO. BAN20220142
OCTOBER 26, 2022

APPLICATIONS OF
TOWNE BANK CASE NUMBERS: BAN20220142
BAN20220143

ORDER REDUCING FEES

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“"Commissioner™) has reported to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) that Towne
Bank, a Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed two applications with the Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") pursuant to § 6.2-822 of the Code of
Virginia ("Code") to merge into it Farmers Bankshares, Inc. and Farmers Bank, Windsor, Virginia and that the fee incident to each application is Seven
Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($7,500).

The Commissioner has also reported to the Commission that the total fees incident to the applications as prescribed by § 6.2-908 B of the Code
would be Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000) and that Towne Bank has requested that the Commission reduce the total fees by Seven Thousand Five
Hundred Dollars ($7,500). The Commissioner has further reported to the Commission that the requested reduction in fees is reasonable because the
proposed mergers of Farmers Bankshares, Inc. and Farmers Bank, Windsor, Virginia into Towne Bank will be accomplished through a single transaction
pursuant to the same plan of merger. Moreover, the reduction in fees for these applications would not be detrimental to the Bureau's effectiveness.
Accordingly, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission grant the requested reduction in fees.

GOOD CAUSE having been shown, the total fees to be paid by Towne Bank in connection with the above-referenced applications are hereby
reduced to Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($7,500).
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CASE NO. BAN20220142
DECEMBER 12, 2022

APPLICATIONS OF
TOWNEBANK CASE NUMBER: BAN20220142
BAN20220143

For a certificate of authority to conduct a banking and trust business following mergers with Farmers Bank, Windsor, Virginia and Farmers
Bankshares, Inc. and for authority to operate the offices of the merging banks

ORDER GRANTING AUTHORITY

TowneBank, a Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed applications (“Applications") with the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™),
pursuant to § 6.2-822 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), for a certificate of authority to conduct a banking and trust business following mergers with Farmers
Bank, Windsor, Virginia, a Virginia state-chartered bank, and its parent, Farmers Bankshares, Inc. TowneBank proposes to be the surviving bank in the
mergers and seeks authority to operate, in addition to its current offices and facilities, the authorized and opened offices of Farmers Bank, Windsor, Virginia.
The Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the Applications. The Commissioner of Financial Institutions: (i) provided the
results of the Bureau's investigation to the Commission; (ii) opined that the Applications meet the criteria in Chapter 8 of Title 6.2 of the Code ("Chapter 8")
for a certificate of authority; and (iii) recommended that the Commission enter an order approving the Applications.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Applications meet the criteria in Chapter 8 and
should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the proposed mergers of Farmers Bank, Windsor, Virginia and Farmers Bankshares, Inc. into
TowneBank are APPROVED and a certificate of authority to conduct a banking and trust business is GRANTED to TowneBank, effective upon the
issuance by the Clerk of the Commission of certificates of merger in the proposed transactions. The resulting bank is authorized to operate a main office
from 5716 High Street, City of Portsmouth, Virginia, and is authorized to maintain and operate, in addition to its current offices and facilities, the authorized
and opened offices of Farmers Bank, Windsor, Virginia listed in Attachment A. The Commission shall retain jurisdiction over this matter pending
consummation of the transactions. The authority granted herein shall expire one (1) year from the date of this Order unless extended by Commission order
prior to the expiration date.

NOTE: A copy of the attachment entitled "Attachment A" is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document
Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE_NO. BAN20220143
OCTOBER 26, 2022

APPLICATIONS OF
TOWNE BANK CASE NUMBERS: BAN20220142
BAN20220143

ORDER REDUCING FEES

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission”) that Towne
Bank, a Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed two applications with the Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau™) pursuant to § 6.2-822 of the Code of
Virginia ("Code") to merge into it Farmers Bankshares, Inc. and Farmers Bank, Windsor, Virginia and that the fee incident to each application is Seven
Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($7,500).

The Commissioner has also reported to the Commission that the total fees incident to the applications as prescribed by § 6.2-908 B of the Code
would be Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000) and that Towne Bank has requested that the Commission reduce the total fees by Seven Thousand Five
Hundred Dollars ($7,500). The Commissioner has further reported to the Commission that the requested reduction in fees is reasonable because the
proposed mergers of Farmers Bankshares, Inc. and Farmers Bank, Windsor, Virginia into Towne Bank will be accomplished through a single transaction
pursuant to the same plan of merger. Moreover, the reduction in fees for these applications would not be detrimental to the Bureau's effectiveness.
Accordingly, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission grant the requested reduction in fees.

GOOD CAUSE having been shown, the total fees to be paid by Towne Bank in connection with the above-referenced applications are hereby
reduced to Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($7,500).
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CASE NO. BAN20220143
DECEMBER 12, 2022

APPLICATIONS OF
TOWNEBANK CASE NUMBER: BAN20220142
BAN20220143

For a certificate of authority to conduct a banking and trust business following mergers with Farmers Bank, Windsor, Virginia and Farmers
Bankshares, Inc. and for authority to operate the offices of the merging banks

ORDER GRANTING AUTHORITY

TowneBank, a Virginia state-chartered bank, has filed applications (“Applications") with the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™),
pursuant to § 6.2-822 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), for a certificate of authority to conduct a banking and trust business following mergers with Farmers
Bank, Windsor, Virginia, a Virginia state-chartered bank, and its parent, Farmers Bankshares, Inc. TowneBank proposes to be the surviving bank in the
mergers and seeks authority to operate, in addition to its current offices and facilities, the authorized and opened offices of Farmers Bank, Windsor, Virginia.
The Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") investigated the Applications. The Commissioner of Financial Institutions: (i) provided the
results of the Bureau's investigation to the Commission; (ii) opined that the Applications meet the criteria in Chapter 8 of Title 6.2 of the Code ("Chapter 8")
for a certificate of authority; and (iii) recommended that the Commission enter an order approving the Applications.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Applications meet the criteria in Chapter 8 and
should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the proposed mergers of Farmers Bank, Windsor, Virginia and Farmers Bankshares, Inc. into
TowneBank are APPROVED and a certificate of authority to conduct a banking and trust business is GRANTED to TowneBank, effective upon the
issuance by the Clerk of the Commission of certificates of merger in the proposed transactions. The resulting bank is authorized to operate a main office
from 5716 High Street, City of Portsmouth, Virginia, and is authorized to maintain and operate, in addition to its current offices and facilities, the authorized
and opened offices of Farmers Bank, Windsor, Virginia listed in Attachment A. The Commission shall retain jurisdiction over this matter pending
consummation of the transactions. The authority granted herein shall expire one (1) year from the date of this Order unless extended by Commission order
prior to the expiration date.

NOTE: A copy of the attachment entitled "Attachment A" is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document
Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. BFI-2019-00049
AUGUST 3, 2022

VIRGINIA BANKERS ASSOCIATION, FARMERS BANK, AMERICAN NATIONAL BANK & TRUST COMPANY,
FIRST BANK & TRUST COMPANY, FIRST NATIONAL BANK, CHESAPEAKE BANK,
THE BANK OF CHARLOTTE COUNTY, and BLUE RIDGE BANK, N.A.,

Petitioners,
V.
VIRGINIA CREDIT UNION, INC., and COMMISSIONER OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS, E. JOSEPH FACE, JR.,
Respondents.

EINAL ORDER

Sections 6.2-1327 and 6.2-1328 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") require the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) to make certain
findings attendant to credit union field of membership expansions. As permitted by Code 88 12.1-13 and 12.1-16, the Commission has previously
"delegated to the Commissioner of Financial Institutions the authority to exercise its powers and to act for it in the following matters: ... To make such
findings as are required by 8§ 6.2-1327 and 6.2-1328 of the Code of Virginia relating to fields of membership of credit unions and the expansion of such
fields of membership."* Such delegation, however, is not absolute. Rather, "[a]ll actions taken by the Commissioner of Financial Institutions pursuant to the
authority granted here are subject to review by the commission in accordance with the Rules of Practice and Procedure of the State Corporation
Commission."?

Virginia Credit Union, Inc. ("VACU") sought an expansion of its field of membership, under Code 8§ 6.2-1327 and 6.2-1328, to include The
Medical Society of Virginia ("MSV"). After the Commissioner of Financial Institutions exercised the delegated authority noted above, the Virginia Bankers
Association and seven banks from across the Commonwealth (collectively, "Petitioners”) sought the Commission's review in accordance with
10 VAC 5-10-10(C) and the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure.®

110 VAC 5-10-10(A)(22).
210 VAC 5-10-10(C).

% As noted above, the Commission has delegated to the Commissioner of Financial Institutions its authority to make findings under Code 8§ 6.2-1327 and
6.2-1328. In addition, Code § 6.2-1323 requires the Commissioner of Financial Institutions to approve or disapprove, within 60 days, proposed changes to
VACU's bylaws that include an amendment to expand the field of membership. This authority, however, does not supplant the Commission's explicit
authority to make findings under Code 88 6.2-1327 and 6.2-1328. As set forth in 10 VAC 5-10-10(C), all actions taken by the Commissioner of Financial
Institutions pursuant to delegated authority are subject to the Commission's review.
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The Commission directed its Office of Hearing Examiners to convene full evidentiary proceedings wherein VACU shall have the burden to prove
compliance with the applicable legal standards in this matter.* At the conclusion of such proceedings, the Commission's Chief Hearing Examiner issued a
Report in this matter ("Report™). Comments to the Report were timely filed by the following parties to this case: VACU; Petitioners; MSV; Virginia Credit
Union League (“League"); and Virginia Association of Community Banks.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that VACU's request to expand its field of
membership to include MSV is denied.’

As an initial matter, VACU and Petitioners agree that it is VACU's burden to prove compliance with the applicable legal standards.® The
Commission finds, as set forth below, that VACU has not met that burden.

The Commission acts through the authority granted to it under the laws of the Commonwealth, and this case is no exception. The General
Assembly has long expressed a clear directive when it states, in the very first sentence of Code § 6.2-1328, that: "When practicable and consistent with
reasonable safety-and-soundness standards, the Commission shall encourage the formation of a separately chartered credit union instead of adding a new
group to the field of membership of an existing credit union."”

Code § 6.2-1328 then prescribes: "If the Commission finds that the formation of a separate credit union by a group desiring such services is not
practicable, or is not consistent with reasonable safety-and-soundness standards, it may authorize the group to be included in the field of membership of a
state credit union[.]"® Thus, VACU must first establish that "the formation of a separate credit union by [MSV] is not practicable, or is not consistent with
reasonable safety-and-soundness standards" before the Commission "may" authorize MSV to be included in VACU's field of membership.

The Commission finds that VACU has not met its burden to show that "the formation of a separate credit union by [MSV] is not practicable, or is
not consistent with reasonable safety-and-soundness standards[.]" This finding is supported by evidence regarding a variety of factors specific to this case,
each of which is addressed in turn.®

MSV Assets & Inherent Value

Petitioners' witness, Dr. Christine Chmura, prepared the only economic analysis of MSV's ability to form its own credit union in the record. Dr.
Chmura's conclusion that MSV could establish a $35 million credit union based on the National Credit Union Administration's projections, with $3.51
million in start-up capital, was uncontested.’® Also uncontested was Dr. Chmura's finding in support of this conclusion that more than 2,900, or 29%, of
MSV members would likely join an MSV start-up credit union within the first five years, building assets slightly over $35 million.™

VACU did not establish that MSV's assets and inherent value are insufficient, such that formation of a new MSV credit union "is not practicable,
or is not consistent with reasonable safety-and-soundness standards[.]" The record reflects that MSV has at least three sources of assets from which to fund
the formation of a new MSV credit union. For example:

e MSV has more than $3.52 million in securities that could help fund a new MSV credit union.*?

e  Based on county property tax assessments, MSV has over $1 million in equity in its MSV Building, which could also be leveraged to
help fund a new MSV credit union.®®

. MSYV receives rental income from the MSV Building, a portion of which could potentially fund a new MSV credit union.*

4 See Dec. 29, 2020, Order Remanding in the instant docket.

® The Commission denies the Petitioners' outstanding motions to strike. Considering the items the Petitioners want stricken does not change the
Commission's findings in this proceeding.

6 See, e.g., VACU Post Hearing Brief at 2, 4; Petitioners' Post Hearing Brief at 1.
" This language has remained unchanged since 1999.

8 In addition, Code § 6.2-1328 requires the Commission to make a series of findings about the credit union proposed to be expanded prior to authorizing a
new group to be included in its field of membership.

® The Commission has fully considered the evidence and arguments in the record. See also Board of Supervisors of Loudoun County v. State Corp. Comm'n,
292 Va. 444, 454 n.10 (2016) ("We note that even in the absence of this representation by the Commission, pursuant to our governing standard of review, the
Commission's decision comes to us with a presumption that it considered all of the evidence of record.") (citation omitted).

10 See, e.g., DN-55 (Dr. Chmura's "Economic Research Related to VBA Petition” March 18, 2020) at 28; Petitioners' Comments at 20.

1 See, e.g., DN-55 (Dr. Chmura's "Economic Research Related to VBA Petition" March 18, 2020) at 28; Petitioners' Post Hearing Brief at 19-20, 39-40;
Petitioners' Comments at 12.

12 See, e.g., Petitioners' Post Hearing Brief at 9; DN-17 (Davis Direct) at 10; Tr. 677-678. In addition, while MSV claimed it needs investment to generate
annual income to contribute to MSV programs to make up for operating losses and for a rainy-day fund, the record does not sufficiently quantify how much
MSYV currently needs for such items. See, e.g., Report at 44.

13 See, e.g., Petitioners' Post Hearing Brief at 10-11 citing DN-17 (Davis Direct) at 12.

14 See, e.g., Petitioners' Comments at 10-11.



30

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

While the total value of these assets alone surpasses the uncontested $3.51 million in estimated capital costs necessary to form a MSV credit
union, the record reflects that MSV could also benefit from additional sources of value from within its own organization. For example:

Sponsorship

MSV and MSV Insurance Agency benefit from shared resources.’® Using the MSV Building, the MSV Insurance Agency customer
base, office equipment and IT infrastructure for the MSV credit union could decrease the start-up contribution costs necessary to form
a MSV credit union.*®

MSV has its own marketing team.’” The same dedicated marketing services could be deployed on behalf of a newly formed MSV
credit union.®

Melina Davis, MSV's Chief Executive Officer, could provide valuable expertise to a MSV credit union.'® Ms. Davis has experience in
credit union operations from her service on the VACU Board of Directors.?

VACU further did not establish that, should MSV's assets and inherent value prove insufficient, MSV would be precluded from seeking
sponsorship to form its own credit union. For example, MSV conducted no survey to determine the extent of potential additional financial support that MSV
could achieve through a capital campaign, nor did MSV claim a well-run capital campaign would be ineffective.> MSV likewise made no effort to raise
money from the 90 hospitals in Virginia and six medical and osteopathic schools, nor did MSV conduct any survey of such institutions or otherwise
demonstrate that they would be unwilling to contribute to a capital campaign.?2. MSV acknowledged that "we haven't pursued forming a credit union and we
haven't asked anybody to donate to such an endeavor."?

Management

VACU did not establish that a new MSV credit union would be unable to hire competent staff.?* The evidence in the record reflects that:

The funds required to bring the experienced and dedicated management team necessary to create a MSV credit union on board are
included in the MSV credit union start-up costs of $3.51 million.?

The Richmond area, where MSV is, and a new MSV credit union would be headquartered, constitutes a "finance cluster" where ample
education and training for workers exists.?

MSV has a track record of successfully organizing and operating a non-medical business of interest to physicians, the MSV Insurance
Agency. While there are differences in the two types of businesses, the fact that MSV has already organized and operated a
non-medical business successfully, is an indication that it could do so again.?

MSV could draw on its long history of attracting a diverse group of individuals to serve on the board of its insurance agency to
assemble a group of qualified individuals to serve on the board of a MSV credit union.?

While VACU showed that MSV is likely to need to engage outside expertise to assist with the process of chartering a new credit
union, MSV did not survey its members to determine their interest in a credit union.?

15 See, e.g., id. at 10-12.

16 See, e.g., id. at 11, 37.

17 See, e.g., DN-38 (Whitehurst Direct) at Exhibit B, PE-7 (Excerpts from MSV Insurance Agency Website).

18 See, e.g., Petitioners' Post Hearing Brief at 15 citing DN-36 (Whitehurst Direct) at Exhibit B, PE-7 (Excerpts from MSV Insurance Agency Website).

19 See, e.g., Tr. 676; Petitioners' Post Hearing Brief at 14-15.

2 See, e.g., DN-56 (Chmura Rebuttal) at 4; Petitioners' Comments at 38.

2 See, e.g., Petitioners' Post Hearing Brief at 24; Petitioners' Comments at 9-10, 36.

22 See, e.g., Petitioners' Comments at 35-36, 41-42, 51-52.

2 Tr. 692.

2 See, e.g., Report at 45-46; see also Petitioners' Comments at 38-40.

% petitioners' Post Hearing Brief at 26-27 citing DN-36 (Whitehurst Direct) Exhibit B, PE-8 (May 2, 2019 letter from VACU to BFI) at 4.

% See, e.g., Petitioners' Post Hearing Brief at 27 citing DN-54 (Chmura Direct) at 3.

7 See, e.g., Petitioners' Post-Hearing Brief at 13-14; DN-36 (Whitehurst Direct) at Exhibit B, PE-7 (Excerpts from MSV Insurance Agency Website).

2 See, e.g., DN-56 (Chmura Rebuttal) at 5-6; Petitioners' Post Hearing Brief at 12-13.

2 See, e.g., Petitioners' Post Hearing Brief at 25.
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An anticipated $35.1 million MSV credit union would be smaller than VACU. While the record contains evidence that smaller credit unions may
not benefit from the economies of scale of larger credit unions such as VACU, we agree with Petitioners: whether formation of a separate credit union is
practicable or consistent with reasonable safety-and-soundness standards is not determined only by size. For example:

The League cites the "2020 Virginia Credit Union Profile" which reported that over two thirds (71.8%) of credit unions with less than
$20 million in assets are profitable.®

It is uncontested that a MSV credit union is estimated to have $35 million in assets after five years, nearly twice the size of these small
credit unions.®

Several state-chartered credit unions that had less than $50 million in assets in 2010 grew organically (i.e., without a merger) over the
last decade - both in terms of assets and equity.*

When the two top CAMEL scores (which rate risks) - Ratings 1 and 2 - are added together, 72.9% of credit unions with assets under
$50 million have very positive CAMEL ratings.>

In addition, the evidence showed that shared service opportunities exist for Virginia's smaller credit unions:

Conclusion

Any credit union can participate in the Shared Branching Network. A credit union does not have to become a shareholder of the
service corporation to participate.®*

VACU provided no cost figures establishing that the Shared Branching would be cost prohibitive.®
Small credit unions in Virginia already take advantage of the Shared Branching Network. %

Credit unions typically outsource many facets of their operations to credit union service organizations, which may provide a wide
range of services, including, but not limited to, those listed under 10 VAC5-40-60(G)(1)-(17).%

Based on the foregoing, we find VACU has not established that "formation of a separate credit union by [MSV] is not practicable, or is not
consistent with reasonable safety-and-soundness standards[.]* As such, pursuant to Code § 6.2-1328, we do not authorize MSV to join VACU's field of
membership.® VACU's request is denied.

Accordingly, IT IS SO ORDERED, and this matter is DISMISSED.

% DN-41 (Miles Direct) at 19 citing 3 Quarter of the 2020 Virginia Credit Union Profile; see also DN-42 (Miles Direct Exhibits) at Exhibit 21
(2019 Virginia Credit Union Profile).

31 See, e.g., Petitioners' Post Hearing Brief at 1, 37.

32 petitioners' Comments at 14-15 citing DN-45 (2010, 2014, 2019, 2020 BFI Annual Reports, "Selected Data for Virginia State Chartered Credit Unions").

3 See, e.g., Petitioners' Comments at 13.

34 petitioners' Post Hearing Brief at 31 citing Tr. 353, DN-5 (VACU Shared Branching) at 8.

% See, e.g., Petitioners' Post Hearing Brief at 31.

% Petitioners' Comments at 19 citing DN-10 (CO-OP Shared Branching for Credit Unions —Virginia).

37 petitioners' Post-Hearing Brief at 32; Petitioners' Comments at 19-20 citing Tr. 829-833.

% Having found that VACU has not met its burden under Code § 6.2-1328, the Commission need not address the separate field of membership limitations
encompassed within Code § 6.2-1327.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00047
MARCH 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
NEWTOWN ROAD CHECK CASHERS, INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") that Newtown
Road Check Cashers, Inc. ("Defendant") is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code");
that the Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's
registration for failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As
of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order
revoking the Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00051
MARCH 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

SHREE OHMKAR, INC., D/B/A MARKET PLACE #3,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) that Shree
Ohmkar, Inc., d/b/a Market Place #3 ("Defendant™), is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of
Virginia ("Code"); that the Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner,
pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of
Defendant's registration for failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before
November 18, 2021. As of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the
Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00052
MARCH 7, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

ROUND HILL SHOPPING CENTER, INC. ,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) that Round
Hill Shopping Center, Inc. ("Defendant™) is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia
("Code"); that the Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to
delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's
registration for failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As
of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order
revoking the Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00053
MARCH 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
J&H OH INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") that J&H Oh
Inc. ("Defendant") is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"); that the Defendant
failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written
notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's registration for failure to pay its
annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As of the date of this Order, the
Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00054
MARCH 7, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
IBTISAM, INC., D/B/A MR FOOD MART,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) that Ibtisam,
Inc., d/b/a Mr Food Mart ("Defendant™), is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code");
that the Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's
registration for failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As
of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order
revoking the Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00055
MARCH 7, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

LORENA ROJAS GONZALEZ, D/B/A LA JALICIENSE,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“*Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) that Lorena
Rojas Gonzalez, d/b/a La Jaliciense ("Defendant™), is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia
("Code"); that the Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to
delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's
registration for failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As
of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order
revoking the Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00057
MARCH 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

GAIL TEMPLE RHODES, D/B/A SOUTHSIDE M & S LAUNDRY,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission”) that Gail
Temple Rhodes, d/b/a Southside M & S Laundry ("Defendant™), is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the
Code of Virginia ("Code"); that the Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the
Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to
recommend revocation of Defendant's registration for failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a
hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has
recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00058
MARCH 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
UNITED GROCERY, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") that United
Grocery, LLC ("Defendant™) is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"); that the
Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority,
gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's registration for
failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As of the date of
this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the
Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00059
MARCH 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

LA BODEGUITA HISPANA, INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“"Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) that
("Defendant™) is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"); that the Defendant failed
to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written
notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's registration for failure to pay its
annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As of the date of this Order, the
Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00061
MARCH 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
VISION 2036, INC., D/B/A MILLER'S MARKET,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission”) that Vision
2036, Inc., d/b/a Miller's Market ("Defendant™), is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia
("Code"); that the Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to
delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's
registration for failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As
of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order
revoking the Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00062
MARCH 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

ARCO IRIS LATINO MARKET Ill, INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) that Arco Iris
Latino Market 111, Inc. ("Defendant") is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code");
that the Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's
registration for failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As
of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order
revoking the Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00065
MARCH 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
JEFFERSON CONVENIENCE MARKET INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) that Jefferson
Convenience Market Inc. ("Defendant™) is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code");
that the Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's
registration for failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As
of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order
revoking the Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00068
MARCH 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
EL RINCON HISPANO, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) that El Rincon
Hispano, LLC ("Defendant") is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"); that the
Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority,
gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's registration for
failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As of the date of
this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the
Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00069
MARCH 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
SANDRA VALENCIA, D/B/A EL MERCADITO,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“Commissioner™) has reported to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) that Sandra
Valencia, d/b/a El Mercadito ("Defendant"), is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia
("Code"); that the Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to
delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's
registration for failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As
of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order
revoking the Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00071
MARCH 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
GAGAN JOT INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") that Gagan Jot
Inc. ("Defendant") is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"); that the Defendant
failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written
notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's registration for failure to pay its
annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As of the date of this Order, the
Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00075
MARCH 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

ARMANDO FLORES, D/B/A MAYA'S LATIN STORE,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") that Armando
Flores, d/b/a Maya's Latin Store ("Defendant™), is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia
("Code"); that the Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to
delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's
registration for failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As
of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order
revoking the Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT :
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00076
MARCH 7, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
SIMARM INC., D/B/A HIGH UP FOOD MART,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") that Simarm
Inc., d/b/a High Up Food Mart ("Defendant"), is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia
("Code"); that the Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to
delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's
registration for failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As
of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order
revoking the Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00078
MARCH 7, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
RADHEY INVESTMENT LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission”) that Radhey
Investment LLC ("Defendant™) is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"); that the
Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority,
gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's registration for
failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As of the date of
this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the
Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00079
MARCH 7, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

LA CASITA LATINO MARKET INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") that La Casita
Latino Market Inc. ("Defendant™) is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"); that
the Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's
registration for failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As
of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order
revoking the Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00083
MARCH 7, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
Z. A. GORAYA LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“Commissioner™) has reported to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) that Z. A.
Goraya LLC ("Defendant") is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"); that the
Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority,
gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's registration for
failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As of the date of
this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the
Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00088
MARCH 7, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
SANGHAVI BROS., INC,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") that Sanghavi
Bros., Inc. ("Defendant") is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"); that the
Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority,
gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's registration for
failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As of the date of
this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the
Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00091
MARCH 7, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
ATHAN & CANDY LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") that Athan &
Candy LLC ("Defendant") is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"); that the
Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority,
gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's registration for
failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As of the date of
this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the
Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00094
MARCH 7, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

EMMANUEL INVESTMENT, LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") that Emmanuel
Investment, LLC ("Defendant") is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"); that the
Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority,
gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's registration for
failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As of the date of
this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the
Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00097
MARCH 7, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
CAIRO MART LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") that Cairo
Mart LLC ("Defendant™) is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"); that the
Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority,
gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's registration for
failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As of the date of
this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the
Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00098
MARCH 7, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

WONG PINEDA BY BANSY LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING REGISTRATION

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“"Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) that Wong
Pineda by Bansy LLC ("Defendant") is registered to engage in business as a check casher under Chapter 21 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code");
that the Defendant failed to pay its 2021 annual registration fee, as required by § 6.2-2103 of the Code; and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated
authority, gave written notice to the Defendant on October 18, 2021 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of Defendant's
registration for failure to pay its annual registration fee; and (2) the requirement to file any written request for a hearing on or before November 18, 2021. As
of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order
revoking the Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to pay its annual registration
fee as required by law and that Defendant's registration should be, and is hereby revoked.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's registration to engage in business as a check casher is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. BFI1-2021-00102
APRIL 5, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

LEMONBREW TECHNOLOGIES CORP.,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner”) has reported to the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") that
LemonBrew Technologies Corp. ("Defendant") acquired 25% or more of the ownership of LemonBrew Lending Corp., d/b/a SD Capital Funding, a
licensed mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), without prior Commission approval in violation of
§ 6.2-1608 of the Code; and that upon receiving notice of the Commissioner's intent to recommend the imposition of a fine, the Defendant offered to
settle this case by paying a fine in the sum of Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000), tendered said sum to the Commonwealth of Virginia, and waived any right
to a hearing in this case. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendant's offer of settlement pursuant to the
authority granted under § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant's settlement offer should be
accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's offer is accepted.
(2) This case is dismissed.

NOTE: A copy of the Admission and Consent is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control
Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00108
MARCH 10, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
HOME MORTGAGE ALLIANCE CORPORATION,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“"Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) that Home
Mortgage Alliance Corporation ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.2 of
the Code of Virginia ("Code"); and that the Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") alleges that the Defendant: (i) operated from an unapproved address,
in violation of § 6.2-1607 of the Code; (ii) used names in its advertisements other than the name set forth in its license and failed to disclose required
information in its advertisements, in violation of 10 VAC 5-160-60 A 1, A 2, F, and H of the Rules Governing Mortgage Lenders and Brokers,
10 VAC 5-160-10 et seq. ("Rules"); (iii) failed to disclose the estimated processing time in writing to loan applicant(s), in violation of § 6.2-406 A 2 of the
Code; (iv) failed to provide the Bureau with access to records, in violation of § 6.2-1611 of the Code; (v) failed to respond to Bureau requests in a timely
manner, in violation of Rule 10 VAC 5-160-50 B; and (vi) failed to file mortgage call reports in a timely manner, in violation of Rule 10 VAC5-160-90 B.

Upon receiving notice of the Commissioner's intent to recommend the imposition of a civil penalty against the Defendant pursuant to § 6.2-1624
of the Code, the Defendant offered to settle this case by paying acivil penalty in the sum of Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000), tendered said sum to the
Commonwealth of Virginia, and waived any right to a hearing in this case.

The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendant's offer of settlement pursuant to the authority granted under
§ 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant's settlement offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Defendant's settlement offer is accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.
NOTE: A copy of the Admission and Consent is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control
Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00109
APRIL 29, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
TITAN MUTUAL LENDING INC. d/b/a ENTRUST FUNDING,

Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) that Titan
Mutual Lending Inc. d/b/a Entrust Funding (“"Defendant"), is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage lender and mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of
Title 6.2 (§ 6.2-1600 et seq.) of the Code of Virginia ("Code"); and that the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") received complaints
against the Defendant regarding its advertisesments. The Bureau alleged in correspondence to the Defendant that the Defendant violated § 6.2-1614 (8)(a) of
the Code and 10 VAC 5-160-60 A 1, A 2, A3, A4, C 1 D, F, and G of the Commission's Rules Governing Mortgage Lenders and Brokers,
10 VAC 5-160-10 et seq.

Upon receiving notice that the Commissioner intended to recommend the imposition of a civil penalty pursuant to § 6.2-1624 of the Code, the
Defendant offered to settle this case by paying a civil penalty in the sum of Twenty-two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($22,500), tendered said sum to the
Commonwealth of Virginia, and waived any right to a hearing in this case. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission accept the
Defendant's offer of settlement pursuant to the authority granted under § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant's settlement offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Defendant's settlement offer is accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

NOTE: A copy of the Admission and Consent is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control
Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00111
MARCH 4, 2022

APPLICATION OF
SOUTHERN BANCSHARES (N.C.), INC.

To acquire more than five percent of the voting shares of Old Point Financial Corporation
ORDER

On September 20, 2021, Southern BancShares (N.C.), Inc. ("Southern™), a North Carolina bank holding company, filed an application with the
Virginia State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to acquire more than 5% percent of the Outstanding Voting Common Stock (“Common Stock") of
Old Point Financial Corporation ("Old Point™),! a Virginia bank holding company ("Application™), pursuant to § 6.2-704 of the Code of Virginia ("Code").2

Section 6.2-704 of the Code provides that Southern's proposed acquisition could only occur if "the Commission does not disapprove the
application" after conducting an investigation and making certain determinations pursuant to § 6.2-705 of the Code. As part of this investigation, the
Commission must determine whether:

(1) The proposed acquisition would be detrimental to the safety and soundness of the applicant or of the Virginia financial institution or Virginia
financial institution holding company that the applicant seeks to control or the stock of which is to be acquired;

(2) The applicant, its directors and officers, if applicable, and any proposed new directors and officers of the Virginia financial institution or
Virginia financial institution holding company that the applicant seeks to control or the stock of which is to be acquired, are qualified by character,
experience, and financial responsibility to control and operate a Virginia financial institution;

(3) The proposed acquisition would be prejudicial to the interests of the depositors, creditors, beneficiaries of fiduciary accounts, or shareholders
of the applicant or of the Virginia financial institution holding company or any Virginia financial institution that the applicant seeks to control or the stock of
which is to be acquired; and

(4) The acquisition is in the public interest.®

On November 19, 2021, the Commission issued an Order disapproving the Application ("Disapproval Order"), stating that "[b]ased on the
information and assertions submitted by Southern and Old Point at this time, the Commission finds that the 'proposed acquisition would be prejudicial to the
interests of the depositors, creditors, beneficiaries of fiduciary accounts, or shareholders of . . . any Virginia financial institution that the applicant seeks to
control or the stock of which is to be acquired."*

On December 9, 2021, Southern filed a Petition for Reconsideration (“Petition for Reconsideration™ or "Petition™)® seeking reconsideration of the
Disapproval Order.® On January 14, 2022, the Commission entered an Order ("January 14 Order") providing Old Point and other interested entities” an
opportunity to be joined as respondents and respond to the Petition and directing the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions (“Bureau®) to file a
report ("Report") setting forth its position. The January 14 Order also allowed Southern to file a reply to any response to the Petition or the Bureau's Report.
As such, Old Point filed a response to the Petition ("Response™) on January 26, 2022, the Bureau filed its Report on February 2, 2022, and Southern filed its
reply on February 9, 2022 ("Reply," with the Petition, Response, Report, and Reply collectively being the "Pleadings").® Each of the Pleadings attached
exhibits that were also submitted into the record in this matter without objection.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon reconsideration of this matter, finds that the Application satisfies the provisions of § 6.2-705 of the Code if
approval thereof is subject to specific limiting conditions, to which Southern expressly committed and requested as part of its Petition for Reconsideration.

Specifically, Southern represented and committed that:

(a) Southern's proposed investment in Old Point is passive;

1 Southern also sought approval of its proposed acquisition from the Federal Reserve Board. See 86 Fed. Reg. 53,056 (September 24, 2021).

2 See Case No. BAN20210165.

¥ Va. Code § 6.2-705 A.

4 November 19, 2021 Disapproval Order, Matter No. BAN20210165. Pursuant to Code § 6.2-705, the Commission had 60 days to rule on the Application.

5 See Petition, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 211220056. The Petition also sought suspension of the Disapproval Order pending its reconsideration. The
Commission's December 10, 2021 Order in this matter (“Suspension Order") suspended the Disapproval Order. See Suspension Order, Doc. Con. Cen. No.
211220105.

® See Case No. BAN20210165.

” No other individuals or entities asked to be joined as respondents in this matter.

8 On February 9, 2022, the North Carolina Commissioner of Banks, Katherine M.R. Bosken, filed a Motion for Leave to File Comment ("Comments") with

the Commission. See Doc. Con. Cen. No. 220220064. The Commission will allow those Comments to be submitted and accepted into the record.
However, the Commission has not relied upon the Comments as a basis for its analysis herein.
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(b) Southern wishes to acquire and hold the Old Point stock for investment purposes — just as it holds shares of other financial
institutions;
(c) Southern has no plans to seek to influence or impede the management, operations, or policies of Old Point; and

(d) Southern has no current plans to seek to elect a director of Old Point or Old Point National Bank ("Old Point Bank"); to influence
the management or policies of Old Point or Old Point Bank, or to seek to acquire Old Point.®

Importantly, Southern further argued that, pursuant to Code § 6.2-705, the Commission may condition any approval on such commitments, which
also would require Southern to file a new application with the Commission if it subsequently seeks to modify those commitments.’® Based on these
considerations, the Commission finds that the Application satisfies the statute if approval is made subject to the requirements ordered herein.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Disapproval Order is hereby vacated.

(2) The Application is approved pursuant to Code 8§ 6.2-704 and 6.2-705, subject to the requirements ordered herein.

(3) Southern shall comply with the following commitments:

(@)  Southern's investment in Old Point shall be passive;
(b)  Southern shall acquire and hold the Old Point stock for investment purposes;

(c)  Southern shall not seek to influence or impede the management, operations, or policies of Old Point; and

(d)  Southern shall not seek to elect a director of Old Point or Old Point Bank, and shall not seek to influence the management or policies
of Old Point or Old Point Bank, or to seek to acquire Old Point.

(4) Southern shall file an appropriate application with, and receive approval from, the Commission prior to modifying any of the above ordered
commitments.

(5) This case is dismissed.

® Petition at 12. See also Reply at 5.

10 petition at 13. See also Reply at 6.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00112
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Jonathan Cave

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Jonathan Cave, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the time
he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize the
Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Jonathan Cave shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00113
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Anthony Corkill

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner™) has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order ("Agreement"), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Anthony Corkill, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Anthony Corkill shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00114
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Danyelle Drenk

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Danyelle Drenk, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time she entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Danyelle Drenk shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00115
JANUARY 25, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Timothy Matthews

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner™) has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order ("Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Timothy Matthews, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time the conduct addressed in the Agreement occurred. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement,
and (ii) authorize the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Timothy Matthews shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00116
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Kimberly Rojas

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Kimberly Rojas, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time she entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Kimberly Rojas shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00117
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
Ex Parte: In re: Britney Velasquez

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Britney Velasquez, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time she entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Britney Velasquez shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00118
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Timothy Williams

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Timothy Williams, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Timothy Williams shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00119
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Erik Board

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Erik Board, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the time he
entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize the
Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Erik Board shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00120
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Peter DiFerdinand

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner™) has requested that the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Peter DiFerdinand, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Peter DiFerdinand shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00121
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Robert Drenk

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner™) has requested that the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order ("Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Robert Drenk, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the time
he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize the
Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Robert Drenk shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.

CASE NO. BFI-2021-00122
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: James Kott

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“"Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and James Kott, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the time he
entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize the
Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) James Kaott shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.
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CASE NO. BFI-2021-00123
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Samuel Stamper

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner™) has requested that the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order ("Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Samuel Stamper, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Samuel Stamper shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.

CASE NO. BFI-2022-00001
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Rodrigo Ballon

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Rodrigo Ballon, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Rodrigo Ballon shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.
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CASE NO. BFI-2022-00002
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Ali Borazjani

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner™) has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order ("Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Ali Borazjani, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the time
he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize the
Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Ali Borazjani shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.

CASE NO. BFI1-2022-00003
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Christoffer Groves

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Christoffer Groves, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Christoffer Groves shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.



55
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

CASE NO. BFI-2022-00004
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Michael Hamalak

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner™) has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order ("Agreement"), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Michael Hamalak, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Michael Hamalak shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.

CASE NO. BFI1-2022-00005
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Kevin Heckemeyer

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Kevin Heckemeyer, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Kevin Heckemeyer shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.
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CASE NO. BFI-2022-00006
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Vance Hivoral

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order ("Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Vance Hivoral, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the time
he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize the
Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Vance Hivoral shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.

CASE NO. BFI1-2022-00007
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Gregory Kaczmarski

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Gregory Kaczmarski, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at
the time he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and
(ii) authorize the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Gregory Kaczmarski shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.
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CASE NO. BFI-2022-00008
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Xuan Duy Nguyen

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner™) has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order ("Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Xuan Duy Nguyen, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Xuan Duy Nguyen shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.

CASE NO. BFI1-2022-00009
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Casey Peek

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Casey Peek, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the time he
entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize the
Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Casey Peek shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.
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CASE NO. BFI-2022-00010
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Larry Resnik

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner™) has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order ("Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Larry Resnik, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the time
he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize the
Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Larry Resnik shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.

CASE NO. BFI-2022-00011
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Brian Santos

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner™) has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order ("Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Brian Santos, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the time
he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize the
Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Brian Santos shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.
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CASE NO. BFI-2022-00012
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Kelly Schaar

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner™) has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement"), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Kelly Schaar, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the time
she entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize the
Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Kelly Schaar shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.

CASE NO. BFI-2022-00013
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Joseph Shalaby

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order ("Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Joseph Shalaby, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Joseph Shalaby shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.
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CASE NO. BFI-2022-00014
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Montee Skorich

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner™) has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement"), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Montee Skorich, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Montee Skorich shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.

CASE NO. BFI-2022-00015
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Jason Soldati

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Jason Soldati, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the time
he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize the
Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Jason Soldati shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.
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CASE NO. BFI-2022-00016
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Michael Barrios

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner™) has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order ("Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Michael Barrios, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its

terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.
(2) Michael Barrios shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.

CASE NO. BFI1-2022-00017
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Brian Brown

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (“Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Brian Brown, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the time
he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize the
Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Brian Brown shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.
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CASE NO. BFI-2022-00018
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Robert Hostetler

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner™) has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order ("Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Robert Hostetler, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Robert Hostetler shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.

CASE NO. BFI-2022-00019
JANUARY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Nathan Kowarsky

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (*Commissioner") has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order ("Agreement™), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Nathan Kowarsky, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the
time he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize
the Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Nathan Kowarsky shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.
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CASE NO. BFI-2022-00022
JANUARY 31, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In re: Chad Baker

ORDER APPROVING SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner™) has requested that the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) approve and
accept a multi-state Settlement Agreement and Consent Order ("Agreement"), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, by and between
regulatory agencies of various states and Chad Baker, a licensed mortgage loan originator under Chapter 17 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia at the time
he entered into the Agreement. The Commissioner has recommended that the Commission: (i) approve and accept the Agreement, and (ii) authorize the
Commissioner to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Agreement should be approved, accepted, and its
terms incorporated herein. The Commission further finds that the Commissioner should be authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement
necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and acceptance.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Agreement is approved and accepted, and the terms of the Agreement are incorporated herein.

(2) Chad Baker shall abide by the terms of the Agreement as incorporated herein.

(3) The Commissioner is authorized to execute any documents attendant to the Agreement necessary to evidence the Commission's approval and
acceptance.

CASE NO. BFI-2022-00025
MARCH 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: Inre: annual fees paid by debt settlement services providers under Chapter 20.1 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia
ORDER

Section 6.2-2038 A of the Code of Virginia (“Code") provides that to defray the costs of their examination, supervision, and regulation, every
debt settlement services provider that is licensed under Chapter 20.1 of Title 6.2 of the Code ("licensee") shall pay an annual fee calculated in accordance
with a schedule set by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™). The Commission has prescribed a schedule for the assessment of annual fees,
which became effective on December 15, 2021, and is set forth in 10 VAC 5-230-40 of the Commission's rules governing Debt Settlement Services
Providers, 10 VAC 5-230-10 et seq. ("Rules").

Based on the costs incurred by the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions in connection with its examination, supervision, and regulation
of licensees through December 31, 2021,* the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner”) has recommended that the Commission exercise its
discretion under Rule 10 VAC 5-230-80 to waive the schedule of annual fees in Rule 10 VAC 5-230-40 for the 2022 annual assessment only. The
Commissioner has further recommended that all licensees pay an annual fee of zero dollars ($0) for the 2022 annual assessment.?

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the Commissioner's recommendation and certain financial and operating information offered in
support of such recommendation, is of the opinion and finds that the proposed waiver should be approved and that all licensees should pay an annual fee of
zero dollars ($0) for the 2022 annual assessment only.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Pursuant to Rule 10 VAC 5-230-80, the schedule of annual fees prescribed in Rule 10 VAC 5-230-40 is waived for the 2022 annual
assessment.

(2) Every licensee shall pay an annual fee of zero dollars ($0) for the 2022 annual assessment.

(3) Notwithstanding the waiver authorized herein, Rule 10 VAC 5-230-40 shall remain in full force and effect.

1 Chapter 20.1 of Title 6.2 of the Code became effective on July 1, 2021.

2 Annual fees owed pursuant to the 2022 annual assessment are due by July 1, 2022. This is the first assessment year since Chapter 20.1 of Title 6.2 of the
Code went into effect.
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CASE NO. BFI-2022-00026
MARCH 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: Inre: annual fees paid by qualified education loan servicers under Chapter 26 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia
ORDER

Section 6.2-2614 A of the Code of Virginia ("Code™) provides that to defray the costs of their examination, supervision, and regulation, every
qualified education loan servicer that is licensed under Chapter 26 of Title 6.2 of the Code ("licensee™) shall pay an annual fee calculated in accordance with
a schedule set by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™). The Commission has prescribed a schedule for the assessment of annual fees, which
became effective on October 1, 2021, and is set forth in 10 VAC 5-220-80 of the Commission's rules governing Qualified Education Loan Servicers,
10 VAC 5-220-10 et seq. ("Rules").

Based on the costs incurred by the Commission's Bureau of Financial Institutions in connection with its examination, supervision, and regulation
of licensees through December 31, 2021,' the Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has recommended that the Commission exercise its
discretion under Rule 10 VAC 5-220-90 to waive the schedule of annual fees in Rule 10 VAC 5-220-80 for the 2022 annual assessment only. The
Commissioner has further recommended that all licensees pay an annual fee of zero dollars ($0) for the 2022 annual assessment.?

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the Commissioner's recommendation and certain financial and operating information offered in
support of such recommendation, is of the opinion and finds that the proposed waiver should be approved and that all licensees should pay an annual fee of
zero dollars ($0) for the 2022 annual assessment only.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Pursuant to Rule 10 VAC 5-220-90, the schedule of annual fees prescribed in Rule 10 VAC 5-220-80 is waived for the 2022 annual
assessment.

(2) Every licensee shall pay an annual fee of zero dollars ($0) for the 2022 annual assessment.

(3) Notwithstanding the waiver authorized herein, Rule 10 VAC 5-220-80 shall remain in full force and effect.

1 Chapter 26 of Title 6.2 of the Code became effective on July 1, 2021.

2 Annual fees owed pursuant to the 2022 annual assessment are due by May 1, 2022. This is the first assessment year since Chapter 26 of Title 6.2 of the
Code went into effect.

CASE NO. BFI-2022-00029
MAY 10, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
EFFORTLESS HOLDINGS, INC.,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") that Effortless
Holdings, Inc. ("Defendant") acquired 25% or more of the ownership of Princeton Mortgage Corporation, a licensed mortgage lender under Chapter 16 of
Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), without prior Commission approval in violation of § 6.2-1608 of the Code; and that upon receiving notice of the
Commissioner's intent to recommend the imposition of a fine, the Defendant offered to settle this case by paying a fine in the sum of Five Thousand Dollars
($5,000), tendered said sum to the Commonwealth of Virginia, and waived any right to a hearing in this case. The Commissioner has recommended that the
Commission accept the Defendant's offer of settlement pursuant to the authority granted under § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant's settlement offer should be accepted.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Defendant's offer is accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

NOTE: A copy of the Admission and Consent is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control
Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.
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CASE NO. BFI-2022-00035
MAY 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the Matter of Adopting Regulations Governing Sales-Based Financing under Chapter 22.1 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

Chapter 516 of the 2022 Virginia Acts of Assembly amends the Code of Virginia ("Code") by adding Chapter 22.1 to Title 6.2
(8 6.2-2228 et seq.) ("Chapter 22.1"). Chapter 22.1 requires, among other things, certain sales-based financing providers and sales-based financing brokers
to register with the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) in accordance with procedures established by the Commission, and requires sales-based
financing providers subject to Chapter 22.1 to furnish certain disclosures to recipients of sales-based financing in accordance with formatting prescribed by
the Commission. Chapter 22.1 will become effective on July 1, 2022, and the deadline for registering with the Commission is November 1, 2022. Section
6.2-2237 of the Code authorizes the Commission to adopt such regulations as it deems appropriate to effect the purposes of Chapter 22.1.

The Bureau of Financial Institutions ("Bureau") has submitted to the Commission proposed regulations pursuant to § 6.2-2237 of the Code that
define certain terms, require sales-based financing providers and sales-based financing brokers to register with the Commission in accordance with
procedures established by the Commissioner of Financial Institutions, and effectuate the disclosure requirements of § 6.2-2231 of the Code. The proposal
also contains the disclosure form that sales-based financing providers will be required to use.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the Bureau's proposal, is of the opinion and finds that reasonable notice of the proposed
regulations should be given, interested parties should be afforded an opportunity to be heard in accordance with the Commission's Rules of Practice and
Procedure, 5 VAC 5-20-10 et seq., and the proposed regulations should be considered for adoption with a proposed effective date of July 1, 2022.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The proposed regulations and disclosure form are attached hereto and made a part hereof.

(2) Comments or requests for a hearing on the proposed regulations or disclosure form must be submitted in writing to the Clerk of the
Commission, State Corporation Commission, c/o Document Control Center, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218, on or before June 6, 2022.
Requests for a hearing shall state why a hearing is necessary and why the issues cannot be adequately addressed in written comments. All correspondence
shall contain a reference to Case No. BFI-2022-00035. Interested persons desiring to submit comments or request a hearing electronically may do so by
following the instructions available at the Commission's website: scc.virginia.gov/casecomments/Submit-Public-Comments.

(3) The Bureau shall file its response to any comments filed pursuant to Ordering Paragraph 2 on or before June 15, 2022.

(4) This Order, along with the attached proposed regulations and disclosure form, shall be made available on the Commission's website:
scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

(5) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall provide a copy of this Order, the proposed regulations, and the disclosure form to
the Virginia Registrar of Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations.

NOTE: A copy of the attachment entitled "Chapter 240 Sales Based Financing" is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission,
Clerk’s Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. BFI-2022-00035
JUNE 30, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the Matter of Adopting Regulations Governing Sales-Based Financing under Chapter 22.1 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia
ORDER

On May 4, 2022, the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) entered an Order to Take Notice of a proposal by the Bureau of Financial
Institutions ("Bureau™) to adopt regulations pursuant to Chapter 22.1 of Title 6.2 (§ 6.2-2228 et seq.) of the Code of Virginia ("Chapter 22.1"). The proposal
also contained proposed formatting for a disclosure form that sales-based financing providers would be required to give to sales-based financing recipients
pursuant to § 6.2-2231 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"). Chapter 22.1 will become effective on July 1, 2022.

The Order to Take Notice, proposed regulations, and proposed formatting for the disclosure form were published in the Virginia Register of
Regulations on May 23, 2022, posted on the Commission's website, and sent to all known interested persons. The Order to Take Notice invited all interested
persons to participate and required that any comments or requests for a hearing on the proposed regulations or disclosure form be submitted in writing on or
before June 6, 2022. The Order to Take Notice also required the Bureau to file its response to any comments filed on or before June 15, 2022.

Comments on the proposed regulations and disclosure form were timely filed by the Small Business Finance Association, the Revenue Based
Finance Coalition, the Electronic Transactions Association, Forward Financing LLC, and PayPal, Inc. The Commission did not receive any requests for a
hearing.
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On June 15, 2022, the Bureau filed an Initial Response to Comments (“Initial Response™) with the Clerk of the Commission. In its Initial
Response, the Bureau responded only to the comments pertaining to the proposed effective date of the regulations and the formatting for the disclosure form.
The Bureau recommended, among other things, that the Commission temporarily authorize sales-based financing providers to use either the disclosure form
that was appended to the Order to Take Notice or any disclosure form of their choosing provided that it contains all of the information specified in
§ 6.2-2231 of the Code and otherwise complies with Chapter 22.1.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, finds that the adoption of the proposed regulations should be postponed. The
Commission also finds that sales-based financing providers should be permitted temporarily to use either the proposed formatting for the disclosure form
that was appended to the Order to Take Notice or any formatting of the disclosure form of their choosing provided that it contains all of the information
specified in § 6.2-2231 of the Code and otherwise complies with Chapter 22.1.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The adoption of the proposed regulations is postponed, pending further order of the Commission.

(2) Pending further order of the Commission, sales-based financing providers may use either the formatting for the disclosure form that was

appended to the Order to Take Notice or any formatting for the disclosure form of their choosing provided that it contains all of the information specified
in § 6.2-2231 of the Code and otherwise complies with Chapter 22.1.

CASE NO. BFI-2022-00035
SEPTEMBER 21, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the Matter of Adopting Regulations Governing Sales-Based Financing under Chapter 22.1 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia

ORDER ADOPTING REGULATIONS

On May 4, 2022, the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) entered an Order to Take Notice of a proposal by the Bureau of Financial
Institutions ("Bureau™) to adopt regulations pursuant to Chapter 22.1 of Title 6.2 (§ 6.2-2228 et seq.) of the Code of Virginia ("Chapter 22.1"). The Bureau's
proposal also contained proposed formatting for a disclosure form (“Disclosure Form") that sales-based financing providers are required to give to
sales-based financing recipients pursuant to § 6.2-2231 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"). Chapter 22.1 establishes registration and other requirements for
sales-based financing providers and sales-based financing brokers. Chapter 22.1 became effective on July 1, 2022, and the deadline for registering with the
Commission is November 1, 2022. The instant regulations implement Chapter 22.1 by, among other things, defining certain terms and effectuating the
disclosure requirements of § 6.2-2231 of the Code.

The Order to Take Notice, proposed regulations, and Disclosure Form were published in the Virginia Register of Regulations on May 23, 2022,
posted on the Commission's website, and sent to interested persons. The Order to Take Notice invited all interested persons to participate and required that
any comments or requests for a hearing on the proposed regulations or Disclosure Form be submitted in writing on or before June 6, 2022.

Comments on the proposed regulations and Disclosure Form were timely filed by the Small Business Finance Association; the Revenue Based
Finance Coalition; the Electronic Transactions Association; Forward Financing LLC; and PayPal, Inc. The Commission did not receive any requests for a
hearing.

On June 15, 2022, the Bureau filed an Initial Response to Comments in which it recommended that the Commission: (1) temporarily postpone
the adoption of the proposed regulations; (2) temporarily authorize sales-based financing providers to use either the Disclosure Form or any disclosure form
of their choosing provided that it contained all of the information specified in § 6.2-2231 of the Code and otherwise complied with Chapter 22.1; and
(3) permit the Bureau to file a supplemental response to the comments by July 27, 2022. Through its June 30, 2022 and July 26, 2022 Orders,* the
Commission: postponed the adoption of the regulations; authorized sales-based financing providers, pending further Commission order, to use either the
formatting for the disclosure form that was appended to the Order to Take Notice or any formatting for the disclosure form of their choosing provided that it
contained all of the information specified in § 6.2-2231 of the Code and otherwise complied with Chapter 22.1; and permitted the Bureau to file a
supplemental response to comments by July 27, 2022.

On July 27, 2022, the Bureau filed its Supplemental Response to Comments (“Supplemental Response"). In its Supplemental Response, the
Bureau further responded to the filed comments and also recommended that the Commission amend various sections of the proposed regulations and the
proposed formatting for the Disclosure Form.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, finds that the proposed regulations and proposed formatting for the Disclosure
Form should be amended to incorporate the specific changes the Bureau recommended in its Supplemental Response, with one exception. We decline to
fully adopt the Bureau's recommended definition of the term "sales-based financing broker" or "broker" in proposed Rule 10 VAC 5-240-10 A. Rather, to
make clear that the Rule seeks only to clarify the statutory definition of “sales-based financing broker" or "broker," the Bureau's proposed addition to Rule
10 VAC 5-240-10 A shall be modified by changing "except" to "with clarification." The Commission finds that the modified proposed regulations should be
adopted effective October 1, 2022.

1 See Doc. Con. Cen. Nos. 220660030 and 220730153.
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Further, sales-based financing providers should be required to use the formatting for the Disclosure Form, as modified herein and attached hereto
("Modified Disclosure Form"), beginning one-hundred and twenty (120) days from the date of entry of this Order. In the interim, sales-based financing
providers should be permitted to use either the formatting for the Modified Disclosure Form attached hereto or any formatting for the disclosure form of their
choosing provided that it contains all of the information specified in § 6.2-2231 of the Code and otherwise complies with Chapter 22.1. The Commission
expresses appreciation to all those who submitted written comments.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The proposed regulations, as modified herein and attached hereto, are adopted effective October 1, 2022.

(2) Sales-based financing providers shall use the formatting for the Modified Disclosure Form attached hereto beginning one-hundred and twenty
(120) days from the date of entry of this Order. In the interim, sales-based financing providers may use either the formatting for the Modified Disclosure
Form or any formatting for the disclosure form of their choosing provided that it contains all of the information specified in § 6.2-2231 of the Code and
otherwise complies with Chapter 22.1.

(3) This Order, the attached regulations, and the attached Modified Disclosure Form shall be made available on the Commission's website:
scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

(4) The Commission's Office of General Counsel shall provide a copy of this Order, the regulations, and the Modified Disclosure Form to the
Virginia Registrar of Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations.

(5) This case is dismissed.

NOTE: A copy of the attachment entitled "Chapter 240 Sales-Based Financing" is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission,
Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. BFI1-2022-00066
JULY 29, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
BGW MORTGAGE LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) that BGW
Mortgage LLC ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"); that the
Defendant has repeatedly failed to deliver records, information, and documentation that the Bureau of Financial Institutions (“Bureau™) has requested in
order to conduct examinations of the Defendant, in violation of 10 VAC 5-160-50 B of the Commission's Rules Governing Mortgage Lenders and Brokers,
10 VAC 5-160-10 et seq. ("Rules"); and that the Defendant has repeatedly refused to permit examinations by the Commission, which is a ground for license
revocation under § 6.2-1619 A 10 of the Code.

The Commissioner has further reported that the Defendant has failed to file at least a dozen of its quarterly mortgage call reports as well as its
2020 Annual Standard Financial Condition report by the required due dates for these reports, in violation of 10 VAC 5-160-90 B of the Commission's Rules;
and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on June 10, 2022 of: (1) the
Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of the Defendant's license, and (2) the requirement to submit a written request for a hearing, if desired,
on or before July 11, 2022. As of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing in this matter. Therefore, the Commissioner has
recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's license to engage in business as a mortgage broker.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that: (i) the Defendant has repeatedly failed to deliver
records, information, and documentation that the Bureau has requested in order to conduct examinations of the Defendant, in violation of
10 VAC 5-160-50 B of the Commission's Rules; (ii) the Defendant has repeatedly refused to permit examinations by the Commission, which is a ground for
license revocation under § 6.2-1619 A 10 of the Code; and (iii) the Defendant has failed to file at least a dozen of its quarterly mortgage call reports as well
as its 2020 Annual Standard Financial Condition report by the required due dates for these reports, in violation of 10 VAC 5-160-90 B of the Commission's
Rules.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's license to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed
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CASE NO. BFI-2022-00067
DECEMBER 12, 2022

PWC EMPLOYEES CREDIT UNION,
Petitioner,
V.

VIRGINIA BUREAU OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS and E. JOSEPH FACE, JR., COMMISSIONER OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS,
Respondents.

SETTLEMENT ORDER

On June 8, 2022, P.W.C. Employees Credit Union ("PWC" or "Petitioner") filed a Petition for Declaratory Judgment and Other Relief
("Petition™)! in the Office of the Clerk pursuant to the State Corporation Commission's ("Commission”) Rules of Practice and Procedure,
5 VAC 5-20-10 et seq. ("Rules"), 5 VAC 5-20-100 B and 100 C, naming the Virginia Bureau of Financial Institutions and Commissioner of Financial
Institutions, E. Joseph Face, Jr. (collectively, the "Bureau") as respondents.

PWC is a state-chartered credit union, operating under Virginia law,? including Chapter 13 of Title 6.2, § 6.2-1300 et seq. ("Chapter 13") of the
Code of Virginia ("Code"). Following the Bureau's examination of PWC pursuant to § 6.2-1309 of the Code and the resulting May 3, 2021 Report of
Examination, the Bureau found that PWC's purchase of certain investments ("Investments™) was impermissible and violated § 6.2-1376 of the Code.® The
Investments at issue included: (a) corporate stock; (b) corporate bonds; and (c) bank notes. Though PWC sold the corporate stock in or around May 2021,
the Bureau directed PWC to sell the remaining Investments by June 30, 2022 and December 30, 2022 ("Bureau Directive™).*

In its Petition, PWC asserts that the Bureau erroneously determined that the Investments were impermissible under Chapter 13° and that PWC
would be harmed if required to sell the Investments by June 30, 2022 and December 30, 2022, pursuant to the Bureau Directive.® Accordingly, among other
relief, PWC asks the Commission to grant declaratory judgment that PWC is not required to sell the Investments by June 30, 2022 and December 30, 2022,
as referenced in the Bureau Directive, and to allow PWC to hold the Investments until maturity.

On June 27, 2022, the Commission issued an Order that, among other things, ruled that PWC was not required to divest the Investments on
June 30, 2022, or thereafter, pending further order of the Commission to the contrary.” On September 29, 2022, the Commission issued a subsequent Order
that, among other things, assigned the matter to a Hearing Examiner to conduct further proceedings, including to convene a hearing, and to issue a final
report containing the Hearing Examiner's findings and recommendations.®

On December 5, 2022, the Bureau filed a Motion for Ruling Recommending Entry of Settlement Order and to Cancel Hearing Date ("Motion").®
The Bureau indicates in its Motion that the Petitioner has made an offer to settle the issues raised by the Petition and the Bureau's directives to divest the
remaining Investments. The terms of the settlement reached between the Bureau and PWC are summarized in a proposed Settlement Order (“Proposed
Order") attached to the Motion. The Motion also includes a Consent to Settlement, executed by the Petitioner's representative.

On December 7, 2022, the Hearing Examiner issued the Report of A. Ann Berkebile, Senior Hearing Examiner ("Report™).*° In the Report, the
Hearing Examiner finds that the Motion should be granted, cancels the hearing, and recommends that the Commission enter an order adopting the terms of
the Proposed Order. Given the proposed settlement, the Hearing Examiner did not provide an opportunity for comments to the Report.

The Proposed Order contains the following settlement terms. As a proposal to resolve the issues raised by the Petition, and to address the
Bureau's concerns regarding the Investments, PWC has made an offer of settlement to the Commission encompassing the following terms:

(1) PWC acknowledges that corporate bonds, corporate stock, bank notes and other investments not expressly enumerated by § 6.2-1376 of the
Code are impermissible investments for it, as a state-chartered credit union, to purchase, hold, or maintain, unless prior written approval is obtained from the
Commissioner of Financial Institutions for the purchase of such investments.

1 Doc. Con. Cen. No. 220620003 (public version).

2 See Petition 1 1. PWC was formed in 1971 by employees in Prince William County, Virginia. See www.pwcecu.org.
3 See Petition {15, 24.

4 See Petition 115 and 26 and p. 12. See also Petition p. 5, fn 1.

® See Petition 11 21-23.

® See Petition {1 5, 20, 24.

" Doc. Con. Cen. No. 220650022.

8 Doc. Con. Cen. No. 220930209.

® Doc. Con. Cen. No. 221210142.

10 Doc. Con. Cen. No. 221210206.
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(2) PWC shall be allowed to hold until maturity any currently held Investment! that is designated as of the date of this Order with a Standard
and Poor's ("S&P") rating of A- or higher, as long as such Investment maintains its S&P rating of A- or higher. PWC shall also be allowed to hold until
maturity any currently held Investment that is designated as of the date of this Order with a S&P rating of BBB, as long as such Investment maintains a S&P
rating of BBB or higher. PWC shall provide the Bureau with a monthly report by the third business day of every month identifying every Investment in its
portfolio and the most recent S&P rating for each Investment. PWC shall be required to divest itself of any Investment that falls below the applicable S&P
rating identified above within 7 calendar days of when the Investment ceases to meet this threshold. Nothing herein shall require PWC to hold any
Investment until maturity, nor be deemed an admission by the Bureau, the Commissioner of Financial Institutions or the Commission that the Investments
were or are permissible pursuant to § 6.2-1376 of the Code.

(3) PWC will retain an independent third-party compliance consultant ("Compliance Consultant"). The selection of the Compliance Consultant,
as well as the terms of the agreement between PWC and the Compliance Consultant, shall be subject to approval by the Bureau in advance of the
Compliance Consultant's engagement. PWC shall provide the name of its proposed Compliance Consultant to the Bureau no later than 14 calendar days
after the entry of this Order.

(4) PWC, with input from the Compliance Consultant, will review its current investment and investment strategy compliance program(s) and
procedures and revise such program(s) and procedures so that they are reasonably designed to ensure compliance with the requirements of § 6.2-1376 of the
Code. As part of this process, PWC, with input from the Compliance Consultant, will implement an investment compliance program (“Program"), which
will include the following requirements:

(a) The Program shall be developed within 45 days of the later of the Bureau's approval of the Compliance Consultant or the entry of
this Order, and then remain in effect for the entire period during which PWC holds any Investment identified in paragraph (2) (and
its related footnote) above. The Program also shall be revised, modified or updated as appropriate in consultation with the
Compliance Consultant. During this period, PWC shall provide the Bureau with the reports identified in paragraph (2) above, as
well as any and all report(s) prepared for PWC by any third-party professional, including but not limited to, investment advisors,
accountants or other advisors, regarding or relating to PWC's investments pursuant to or compliance with § 6.2-1376 of the Code.

(b) The Program shall address PWC's internal investment policies and procedures, its strategic plan and budget with respect to
investment goals and objectives, and anticipated revenues, projected income and expenses related to its investment goals. The
Program shall encompass compliance with § 6.2-1376 of the Code and also address any risk factors related to PWC's investment
portfolio and financial projections.

(c) PWC will require its Compliance Consultant to conduct and prepare an initial written assessment of PWC and its policies and
procedures addressing the matters identified in paragraph (4)(b) above, which must be completed within 45 days of the later of the
Bureau's approval of the Compliance Consultant or the entry of this Order. Subsequently, the Compliance Consultant will conduct
a quarterly review of PWC's progress in addressing the matters identified in paragraph (4)(b) above pursuant to an agreed-upon plan
of review approved in advance by the Bureau. At the conclusion of each quarter, the Compliance Consultant will prepare an
appropriate quarterly review report detailing the following: (i) PWC's compliance with the matters identified in paragraph
(4)(b) above, (ii) actions taken by PWC to promote compliance with these matters, (iii) any concerns with PWC's compliance with
these matters, (iv) any corrective action recommended or taken, and (v) any other information specified by the Bureau. It is PWC's
responsibility to ensure that the reports are submitted to the Bureau within 15 business days after the conclusion of the
related quarter.

(d) In each quarterly review report, the Compliance Consultant will identify any deficiencies found (whether initially found by the
Compliance Consultant or by PWC) and recommend a resolution for the deficiency and a time frame in which any such
deficiency should be remediated. PWC will remediate any deficiency identified in a quarterly review report within the
recommended time frame. If PWC does not believe it can remediate the deficiency within the recommended time frame, it shall
propose an alternative time frame to the Compliance Consultant and Bureau, which must ultimately be approved by the Bureau in
consultation with the Compliance Consultant.

(e) At the end of the time period identified in paragraph (4)(a) above, the Compliance Consultant will prepare a final report
summarizing its findings and recommendations. It is PWC's responsibility to ensure that the final report is submitted to the
Bureau within 15 business days after the end of the time period identified in paragraph (4)(a) above.

(f) PWC shall promptly provide the Compliance Consultant access to all information and data in the possession or control of PWC or
its agents, board members, and other professional consultants (i.e., financial advisors, accountants, etc.) that the Compliance
Consultant deems necessary. PWC will cooperate and consult with the Compliance Consultant as deemed necessary by the
Compliance Consultant.

(9) During the time the Program is in place, PWC shall not be required to seek and obtain approval from the Bureau to purchase
certificates of deposit or obligations backed by the federal government, the Commonwealth of Virginia, or any political subdivision
thereof. However, PWC shall be required to seek and obtain prior written approval from the Bureau to purchase any other
investment, regardless of whether such approval is otherwise required by § 6.2-1376 of the Code.

(5) Nothing in this Order shall be construed as a waiver of, or restriction upon, the authority of the Bureau, the Commissioner of Financial
Institutions, or the Commission to regulate and supervise PWC in accordance with Title 6.2 of the Code.

1 The Commission understands that PWC has provided the Bureau with a listing of the Investments at issue and for which PWC sought relief pursuant to the
Petition.
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(6) If PWC fails to comply with any of the foregoing terms and undertakings, or violates any provisions of Title 6.2 of the Code or other laws
applicable to the conduct of its business, the Commission reserves the right to take whatever action it deems appropriate to the extent permitted by law,
including, but not limited to, instituting a show cause proceeding under § 12.1-33 of the Code, or invoking other remedies authorized or supported by Title
6.2 of the Code based upon such failure to comply with this Order, Title 6.2 of the Code, or applicable other laws.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept PWC's offer of settlement.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the terms of PWC's settlement offer, as set forth
herein, should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) PWC's offer of settlement is hereby accepted.

(2) PWC shall fully comply with the aforesaid terms and undertakings of this settlement.

(3) The Commission shall retain jurisdiction in this matter for all purposes, including the institution of a show cause proceeding, or taking such
other action it deems appropriate, on account of PWC's failure to comply with any of the terms and undertakings of this settlement or any provision of Titles

6.2 or 12.1 of the Code.

NOTE: A copy of the Admission and Consent is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control
Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. BFI-2022-00069
OCTOBER 3, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
EXTRAORDINARY MORTGAGE COMPANY,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") that
Extraordinary Mortgage Company (“Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.2 of the Code of
Virginia ("Code"); that the Defendant repeatedly failed to deliver records, information, and documentation that the Bureau of Financial Institutions
("Bureau™) requested in order to conduct an examination of the Defendant, in violation of 10 VAC 5-160-50 B of the Commission's Rules Governing
Mortgage Lenders and Brokers, 10 VAC 5-160-10 et seq. ("Rules"); and that the Defendant failed to pay its 2022 annual fee, which was due on or before
May 25, 2022, in violation of § 6.2-1612 B of the Code.

The Commissioner has further reported that the Defendant failed to file three of its 2021 quarterly mortgage call reports as well as its 2021
Annual Standard Financial Condition report by the required due dates for these reports, in violation of 10 VAC 5-160-90 B of the Commission's Rules; and
that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written notice to the Defendant by certified mail on July 28, 2022, of: (1) the Commissioner's
intention to recommend revocation of the Defendant's license, and (2) the requirement to submit a written request for a hearing, if desired, on or before
August 29, 2022. As of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing in this matter. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended
that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's license to engage in business as a mortgage broker.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that: (i) the Defendant repeatedly failed to deliver
records, information, and documentation that the Bureau requested in order to conduct an examination of the Defendant, in violation of 10 VAC 5-160-50 B
of the Commission's Rules; (ii) the Defendant failed to pay its 2022 annual fee, which was due on or before May 25, 2022, in violation of § 6.2-1612 B of
the Code; and (iii) the Defendant failed to file three of its 2021 quarterly mortgage call reports as well as its 2021 Annual Standard Financial Condition
report by the required due dates for these reports, in violation of 10 VAC 5-160-90 B of the Commission's Rules.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Defendant's license to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. BFI-2022-00071
OCTOBER 14, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
RELO GROUP, INC.,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions (“"Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) that Relo
Group, Inc. ("Defendant™) acquired 25% or more of the ownership of Premia Mortgage, LLC, d/b/a Premia Relocation Mortgage, a licensed mortgage lender
under Chapter 16 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), without prior Commission approval in violation of § 6.2-1608 of the Code; and that upon
receiving notice of the Commissioner's intent to recommend the imposition of a fine, the Defendant offered to settle this case by paying a fine in the sum of
Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000), tendered said sum to the Commonwealth of Virginia, and waived any right to a hearing in this case. The Commissioner has
recommended that the Commission accept the Defendant's offer of settlement pursuant to the authority granted under § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant's settlement offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Defendant's offer is accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

NOTE: A copy of the Admission and Consent is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control
Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. BFI1-2022-00072
NOVEMBER 7, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
BLACK STAG HOLDINGS LLC, D/B/A GLOBAL CAPITAL MORTGAGE GROUP,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) that Black Stag
Holdings LLC, d/b/a Global Capital Mortgage Group (“Defendant"), is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.2 of
the Code of Virginia ("Code"); that the Defendant failed to file its first quarter 2022 mortgage call report as required by the Nationwide Mortgage Licensing
System and Registry, in violation of 10 VAC 5-160-90 B of the Commission's Rules Governing Mortgage Lenders and Brokers, 10 VAC 5-160-10 et seq.
("Rules"); and that the Defendant failed to pay its 2022 annual fee, which was due on or before May 25, 2022, in violation of § 6.2-1612 B of the Code.

The Commissioner further reported to the Commission that, pursuant to delegated authority, the Commissioner gave written notice to the
Defendant on August 1, 2022 of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of the Defendant's license; and (2) the requirement to file any
written request for a hearing, if desired, on or before August 26, 2022. As of the date of this Order, the Defendant has not requested a hearing. Therefore,
the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's license to engage in business as a mortgage broker.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that: (i) the Defendant failed to file its first quarter 2022
mortgage call report as required by the Nationwide Mortgage Licensing System and Registry, in violation of 10 VAC 5-160-90 B of the Commission's
Rules; and (ii) the Defendant failed to pay its 2022 annual fee, which was due on or before May 25, 2022, in violation of § 6.2-1612 B of the Code.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Defendant's license to engage in business as a mortgage broker is revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. BFI-2022-00084
DECEMBER 14, 2022

VIRGINIA FINANCIAL SERVICES ASSOCIATION, ATLANTIC DISCOUNT CORP., FRANKLIN FINANCE COMPANY, INCORPORATED,
LENDMARK FINANCIAL SERVICES, LLC, MARINER FINANCE OF VIRGINIA LLC,
REGIONAL FINANCE COMPANY OF VIRGINIA, LLC, SOUTHERN FINANCE CORP., and VIRGINIA FINANCE, LLC,
Petitioners,
V.
VIRGINIA BUREAU OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS and E. JOSEPH FACE, JR., COMMISSIONER OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS,
Respondents.

ORDER

On July 22, 2022, the Virginia Financial Services Association ("VFSA"), and Atlantic Discount Corp; Franklin Finance Company, Incorporated;
Lendmark Financial Services, LLC; Mariner Finance of Virginia, LLC; Regional Finance Company of Virginia, LLC; Republic Finance Company of
Virginia, LLC; Southern Finance Corp.; and Virginia Finance LLC (collectively, "Licensees" and with VFSA, the "Petitioners"), filed a Petition for
Declaratory Judgment and Other Relief ("Petition") in the Office of the Clerk pursuant to Rules 100 B and 100 C of the State Corporation Commission's
("Commission™) Rules of Practice and Procedure, 5 VAC 5-20-10 et seq. ("Rules of Practice”), naming the Bureau of Financial Institutions and
Commissioner of Financial Institutions, E. Joseph Face, Jr. (collectively, the "Bureau"), as respondents. On August 5, 2022, VFSA and the Licensees filed
an errata copy of the Petition to correct certain errors regarding the identification of the intended Petitioners. Additionally, on September 15, 2022, the
Petitioners sought leave to strike Republic Finance Company of Virginia, LLC as a named Licensee Petitioner in this matter.

The VFSA is a trade association representing the interests of consumer finance companies licensed to do business in the Commonwealth of
Virginia ("Virginia”).?2 The Licensees are consumer finance companies licensed by the Commission,® operating under the laws of Virginia, including
§ 6.2-1500 et seq. of the Code of Virginia ("Code"). Through the Commission, the Bureau has regulatory authority to administer laws and regulations
applicable to state-licensed consumer finance companies, such as the Licensees.

In the Petition, the Petitioners assert that 10 VAC 5-60-45 F (1) of the Commission's rules governing Consumer Finance Companies,
10 VAC 5-60-5, et seq. ("Consumer Finance Rules”) is contrary to statutory law, including specifically § 6.2-1518 of the Code.* The Petitioners further
allege that the uncertainty as to their right to continue to offer a financing option for ancillary products and services has meant the Licensees have stopped
allowing their borrowers to finance ancillary products and services. The Petitioners assert that this has caused harm to the Licensees as a disruption of their
longstanding business model and a limitation on their ability to fully serve their customers.> Accordingly, the Petitioners ask the Commission, pursuant to
Rules 100 B and 100 C, to: (a) grant declaratory judgment that the Licensees are authorized to finance the costs of ancillary products and services offered
in connection with the loans they make; and, (b) grant any further or other relief deemed appropriate.®

Pursuant to the Commission's August 9, 2022 scheduling order, the Bureau filed a Motion to Dismiss and a response to the Petition. The
Petitioners filed their reply in support of the Petition and a response to the Motion to Dismiss on September 15, 2022. The Bureau submitted its reply in
support of its Motion to Dismiss, as authorized by Rules 110 and 140 of the Commission's Rules of Practice, on September 29, 2022.

On October 14, 2022, the Commission issued an order directing the filing of additional briefs. The Bureau filed its supplemental brief on
October 28, 2022. Petitioners filed their supplemental brief on November 18, 2022.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds as follows:”

First, the Commission finds that the plain language of Code § 6.2-1518 authorizes consumer finance companies to conduct other businesses, so
long as certain statutory requirements therein are met.® Because Code § 6.2-1518 does not categorically prohibit therefrom a licensee's business of financing
the costs of ancillary products and services offered in connection with the consumer finance loans they make, the Commission finds that Rule
10 VAC 5-60-45 F (1) — which prohibits all such other business in the first instance — shall be stricken from the Commission's Consumer Finance Rules.

! The Commission granted this request in its October 14, 2022 Order. See October 14, 2022 Order at 3, ftn. 7.

2 See Petition at 1.

% See id. at 2.

4 See id. at 8, 15.

% See id. at 26.

® See id. at 9.

7 In making the specific findings herein, the Commission need not reach the question of VFSA's standing.

8 For example, Petitioners recognize that "Code § 6.2-1518 A authorizes [consumer finance companies] to conduct other business — such as the financing of
other products and services sold in connection with consumer finance loans — so long as the [consumer finance company] provides the Commission 30 days'

advanced written notice and pays a $300 fee." Petitioners' Nov. 18, 2022 Response to the Brief of the Bureau of Financial Institutions and the Commissioner
of Financial Institutions at 6.
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Second, consistent with the above, the Commission further finds that the plain language of Code § 6.2-1518 requires the Licensees to follow the
express requirements therein prior to conducting such other business.® Moreover, the statute contemplates the Commission addressing any limitation or
prohibition on a licensee's other business on a case-by-case basis.!® Thus, any analysis resulting in limitation or prohibition by the Commission of such other
business, if performed, is done pursuant to the requirements of Code § 6.2-1518.

Accordingly, the Petition is granted in part and denied in part as set forth above, and this matter is dismissed.

® See, e.g., Code 88 6.2-1518 A and B.

0 3ee, e.g., Code § 6.2-1518 D.

CASE NO. BFI-2022-00111
DECEMBER 22, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
LENDINGHERO LLC,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING A LICENSE

The Commissioner of Financial Institutions ("Commissioner") has reported to the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") that
LendingHero LLC ("Defendant") is licensed to engage in business as a mortgage broker under Chapter 16 of Title 6.2 of the Code of Virginia; that the
Defendant failed to file its second quarter 2022 mortgage call report by August 14, 2022, in violation of 10 VAC 5-160-90 B of the Commission's Rules
Governing Mortgage Lenders and Brokers, 10 VAC 5-160-10 et seq. (“Rules"); and that the Commissioner, pursuant to delegated authority, gave written
notice to the Defendant by certified mail on September 28, 2022, of: (1) the Commissioner's intention to recommend revocation of the Defendant's license,
and (2) the requirement to submit a written request for a hearing, if desired, on or before October 28, 2022. As of the date of this Order, the Defendant has
not requested a hearing in this matter. Therefore, the Commissioner has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's license
to engage in business as a mortgage broker.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant failed to file its second quarter 2022
mortgage call report by August 14, 2022, in violation of 10 VAC 5-160-90 B of the Commission's Rules.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's license to engage in business as a mortgage broker is hereby revoked.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CLERK'S OFFICE

CASE NO. CLK-2021-00005
DECEMBER 12, 2022

STS. CYRIL AND METHODIUS BULGARIAN ORTHODOX MISSION,

Petitioner
V.
NADYA CHOPARINOFF and ANRIETA DRAGANOVA,
Defendants

ORDER

On December 10, 2021, Simona Assenova and Anna Ganev, on behalf of Sts. Cyril and Methodius Bulgarian Orthodox Mission (SCC ID No.
07135312), a Virginia nonstock corporation ("Petitioner" or "Corporation™), filed a Petition in the Office of the Clerk (the "Clerk") pursuant to the State
Corporation Commission's ("Commission") Rules of Practice and Procedure, 5 VAC 5-20-10 et seq. and § 13.1-813 of the Code of Virginia.

The Petitioner alleges in the Petition, among other things, that on November 23, 2021, Defendant Nadya Choparinoff (“"Choparinoff") filed
Atrticles of Dissolution and Articles of Termination (collectively, "Termination Documents") for the Corporation that Choparinoff was not authorized to file.!
The Petitioner also asserts that Defendant Anrieta Draganova ("Draganova") was involved in or otherwise assisted with filing the Termination Documents.?
Following the filing of the Termination Documents, the Commission issued a Certificate of Dissolution and Certificate of Termination, terminating the
Corporation's existence.®

The Petitioner asks that the Commission: (1) revoke the Articles of Dissolution and Articles of Termination; (2) reinstate the Corporation to
active status;* and (3) not accept any filings by Choparinoff, Draganova or other individuals who do not represent the Corporation.®

On January 26, 2022, the Commission issued a Scheduling Order, assigning this matter to a Hearing Examiner and establishing deadlines for
certain pre-hearing filings.* On March 14, 2022, the Defendants filed a pleading styled "Answer to Petition and Motion to Dismiss," asking that the Petition
be dismissed on certain procedural grounds ("Motion to Dismiss").’

On May 20, 2022, the Hearing Examiner issued a ruling, which among other things, denied the Motion to Dismiss, scheduled a
September 7, 2022 hearing in the matter ("Hearing"), and established a procedural schedule for identification and submission of anticipated witnesses and
exhibits.2 The Petitioner prefiled its direct testimony and exhibits on July 6, 2022.° On August 12, 2022, Defendant Draganova filed a document entitled
"Conclusive Evidence and Exhibits" and containing prefiled testimony and exhibits.?® Defendant Choparinoff did not submit any anticipated records or
witness testimony. On August 16, 2022, the Clerk filed a response to the Petition, and included certified business entity records from its file related to the
Corporation.!* On August 24, 2022, the Petitioner supplemented its prior filing by submitting two witness affidavits.*?

The Hearing Examiner convened a hearing on September 7, 2022, in the Commission's courtroom. The Petitioner, through counsel, presented the
testimony of Simona Assenova, Petitioner's current president. The Honorable Bernard Logan, as Clerk, also presented testimony through counsel. Neither
of the Defendants appeared at the Hearing, and thus did not present any in-person testimony or evidence.

1 See Petition, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 211220090, at 1.

2 See Petition at 2.

3 See Petition at 1 and Exhibit A.

4 0n January 13, 2022, the Corporation filed for reinstatement. The Commission entered an Order of Reinstatement, reactivating the Corporation's status as
a Virginia nonstock corporation, on January 13, 2022. See records submitted by the Clerk as Exhibit ("Ex.") 11 (and marked as bates numbers
CLKO00001-00060) during the hearing in this matter, at bates no. CLK00041.

® See Petition at 6.

6 Doc. Con. Cen. No. 220130143.

" Doc. Con. Cen. No. 220320064. Other pre-hearing motions were also addressed by the Hearing Examiner in rulings dated March 21, 2022 (Doc. Con.
Cen. No. 220330015), April 8, 2022 (Doc. Con. Cen. No. 220410154) and April 14, 2022 (Doc. Con. Cen. No. 220420063).

8 Doc. Con. Cen. No. 220530081.
® Doc. Con. Cen. No. 220710045.
1% Doc. Con. Cen. No. 220830104.
1 Doc. Con. Cen. No. 220840030.

2 Doc. Con. Cen. No. 220840223; 220840221; and 220840222.
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After considering the evidence and testimony presented on the record both before and during the Hearing and reviewing the applicable laws, the
Hearing Examiner issued a report on September 30, 2022 ("Report").** The Report contained the Hearing Examiner's comprehensive analysis of the record
as well as the Hearing Examiner's findings and recommendations for the Commission.
The Hearing Examiner found that:
(1) The Articles of Dissolution and Articles of Termination filed on November 23, 2021, for Sts. Cyril and Methodius Bulgarian Orthodox
Mission were not signed or filed by the chairman or any vice-chairman of the board of directors, the president, or any other of its officers
authorized to act on behalf of Sts. Cyril and Methodius Bulgarian Orthodox Mission;

(2) The effects of the unauthorized filings made on November 23, 2021, should be eliminated by deeming them null and void and removing them
from the Commission's publicly accessible records;*

(3) The Petition's request to reinstate Sts. Cyril and Methodius Bulgarian Orthodox Mission to active status was rendered moot by the Order of
Reinstatement that the Commission issued on January 13, 2022; and

(4) For the Clerk's Office to evaluate who represents the Corporation at a given time in the future, rather than taking representations in filings at
face value, would require a change in the Clerk's Office from its longstanding role as a repository to an active regulatory role, potentially
requiring investigative authority and capability. Additionally, there is tension between a static filing prohibition for specified persons, as
requested by the Petition, and the evolving nature of corporate leadership.®

No comments were filed on the Report.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds as follows:

After thoroughly and reasonably analyzing the law and weighing the evidence, the Hearing Examiner recommended that the Commission enter an
order that:

(1) ADOPTS the findings in this Report;

(2) DEEMS null and void the Articles of Dissolution and Articles of Termination filed on November 23, 2021, for Sts. Cyril and Methodius
Bulgarian Orthodox Mission, and DIRECTS the Clerk's Office to remove these filings from the Commission's publicly accessible records;

(3) DENIES the Petition's request that the Commission not accept any filings by Nadya Choparinoff, Anrieta Draganova, or other individuals
who do not represent Sts. Cyril and Methodius Bulgarian Orthodox Mission; and

(4) DISMISSES this case from the Commission's docket of active cases.*®

Upon consideration of this matter, the Commission finds that the Hearing Examiner's findings and recommendations contained in the Report are
supported by the law and the evidence, are reasonable, and should be adopted. Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Commission adopts the Hearing Examiner's findings and recommendations as set forth herein.
(2) The Hearing Examiner's recommendations, set forth above, are hereby ordered.

(3) This case is dismissed.

13 Doc. Con. Cen. No. 220940026.

14 As noted by the Hearing Examiner, "[a]s the Clerk's Information System is the online platform for the public to file and view the documents of business
entities, | do not find it necessary for the Clerk to physically cut the documents from the film of the pre-existing microfiche system the Clerk maintains."
Report at 15, fn. 93. The Commission agrees.

15 See Report at 16-17.

16 Report at 17.
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BUREAU OF INSURANCE
CASE NO. INS-2019-00187
JANUARY 12, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
ANTHONY SCOTT DIETRICH
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™), it is alleged that Anthony Scott Dietrich ("Dietrich” or the
"Defendant") violated 8§ 38.2-502 (1), 38.2-502 (6), 38.2-512 A, and 38.2-1831 (10) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") as described below.

Dietrich is a Virginia resident licensed agent with the following lines of authority: Life & Annuities, Health, and Variable Contracts. It is alleged
that Dietrich failed to adequately explain, in a sales presentation to the client, that the participation rate on her indexed annuity (the percentage of the index's
return the insurance company credits to the annuity) dropped from a rate of 100% in year one to 50% in year two. Dietrich provided a disclosure document
to the client stating that this feature was fully explained to her, but the client believes that his explanation of the feature in his sales presentation to the client
led to her to the mistaken belief that it was 100% in year two.

It is alleged that Dietrich also failed to adequately explain to the client the fees associated with her policy. She believed there would be no asset
fees for the indexed annuity when, in fact, the year two fees were 1.9%. There is no asset fee for the indexed annuity, that is, there is no charge for the
policyholder to pay out of his or her premium outlay or account value. There is an adjustment to the interest formula to determine the ultimate credited rate
the policy earns. The client believes that Dietrich did not properly explain this distinction to her.

The Bureau also determined that Dietrich added an income rider (along with the associated fees) to the client's indexed annuity which the client
says she did not ask for. At her request, Dietrich removed the income rider and all associated fees were refunded.

Finally, it is alleged that Dietrich failed to adequately explain to the client the indexed annuity's participation rate and associated fees, which
induced the client to surrender two variable annuities and purchase an indexed annuity policy. Dietrich provided a disclosure document to the client stating
that this feature was fully explained to her, but the client states that Dietrich failed to explain to her that the participation rates will likely be higher in the first
policy year than in subsequent policy years.

The client's understanding of these products did not match the written documentation. Although Dietrich has indicated that this was a situation of
client misunderstanding, the Bureau maintains that it was his responsibility to make sure she understood what she had purchased. Dietrich's alleged violation
of § 38.2-512 of the Code, referenced above, is also an alleged violation of a 2005 Settlement Order, entered by the Commission, whereby Dietrich agreed to
cease and desist from future violations of § 38.2-512 of the Code.

The Bureau investigated Dietrich concerning other clients, but the Bureau will not pursue allegations pertaining to those clients.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed violations of applicable insurance laws.

The Defendant has been advised of his right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission, wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Eight
Thousand Dollars ($8,000); has agreed not to violate §§ 38.2-502 (1), 38.2-502 (6), 38.2-512 A, and 38.2-1831 (10) of the Code in the future; and has
waived his right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) The Defendant has tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Eight Thousand Dollars ($8,000).

(3) The Defendant shall not violate §§ 38.2-502 (1), 38.2-502 (6), 38.2-512 A, and 38.2-1831 (10) of the Code in the future.
(4) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

NOTE: A copy of the Admission and Consent form is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control
Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.
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CASE NO. INS-2020-00161
FEBRUARY 8, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

LENORIS WENDELL JONES JR,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Lenoris Wendell Jones Jr. ("Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application
filed with the Commission when the Defendant failed to disclose a 2014 misdemeanor conviction.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated June 12, 2020 and mailed
to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's June 12, 2020 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially
incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2020-00168
JANUARY 13, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the Matter of Adopting Rules to Implement the Requirements of the Insurance Data Security Act

ORDER NUNC PRO TUNC

On May 24, 2021, the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) issued an Order Adopting Regulations ("Order"). It has been brought to
the Commission's attention that there was a typographical error in the regulations adopted by the Order (“Regulations"). Specifically, 14VAC5-430-50 C
referenced NIST SP 800-30, NIST SP 800-39* when it should have referenced NIST SP 800-53, NIST SP 800-171.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the matter, is of the opinion and finds that the erroneous reference in 14VAC5-430-50 C
should be corrected as set forth herein and attached hereto.

1 NIST SP 800-30, NIST SP 800-39 is correctly referenced in 14VAC5-430-40 B and appears to have been inadvertently repeated in 14VAC5-430-50 C.
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Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The incorrect reference in 14VAC5-430-50 C to NIST SP 800-30, NIST SP 800-39 is removed and replaced, nunc pro tunc, with
NIST SP 800-53, NIST SP 800-171.

(2) The Regulations, as corrected and attached hereto, remain in full force and effect.
(3) The Bureau shall provide notice of the correction to the Regulations to all insurers, burial societies, fraternal benefit societies, health services
plans, risk retention groups, joint underwriting associations, group self-insurance pools, and group self-insurance associations licensed by the Commission,

to qualified reinsurers in Virginia, and to all interested persons.

(4) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall cause a copy of this Order, together with the corrected Regulations, to be
forwarded to the Virginia Registrar of Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations.

(5) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall make available this Order and the attached correction to the Rules on the
Commission's website: https://scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

CASE NO. INS-2020-00229
JULY 11, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
JAY SCOTT HOWARD
Defendant

ORDER ON RECONSIDERATION

By Order Revoking License dated April 1, 2021 ("Revocation Order"), the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) revoked the license of
Jay Scott Howard ("Defendant") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (“Virginia"). The Revocation Order was based upon
allegations by the Commission's Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau") that the Defendant had violated § 38.2-1845.2 A of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by
engaging in the business of public adjusting without first obtaining a license in a manner as prescribed by the Commission; § 38.2-1845.15 of the Code by
failing to maintain sufficient records of his affairs so that the Commission may adequately ensure that the public adjuster complies with all provisions of
Chapter 18 of Title 38.2; § 38.2-1845.17 A of the Code by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of any change in his residence
or name; § 38.2-1845.18 of the Code by failing to implement a comprehensive written information security program that includes administrative, technical,
and physical safeguards for the protection of policyholder information; and § 38.2-1845.22 of the Code by failing to or refusing to permit the Commission or
any of its employees or agents to make an examination and investigate the business affairs of any person engaged or alleged to be engaged in the business of
public adjusting in Virginia.t

On April 20, 2021, the Defendant filed a Petition for Rehearing/ Reconsideration (“Petition") with the Commission in which he denied the
Bureau's claims and requested a hearing.?

On April 21, 2021, the Commission entered an Order Granting Reconsideration, which continued the Commission's jurisdiction over the matter
and suspended the Revocation Order pending the Commission's consideration of the Petition.?

On January 11, 2022, the Commission's Office of General Counsel filed a Notice of Status detailing the case status and the Bureau's numerous
unsuccessful attempts to communicate with the Defendant since April 21, 2021.4

On March 4, 2022, the Commission entered an Order Directing Additional Pleadings which, among other things, assigned the case to a Hearing
Examiner to conduct all further proceedings; ordered the Bureau to file a Statement of Allegations by March 18, 2022; and ordered the Defendant to file a
responsive pleading to the allegations by March 30, 2022.°

! Revocation Order at 1-3.

2 Petition at 2.

% Order Granting Reconsideration at 1.
4 Notice of Status at 2.

® Order Directing Additional Pleadings at 3.
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On March 18, 2022, the Commission's Office of General Counsel, on behalf of the Bureau, filed a Statement of Allegations alleging that Howard
had continued to refuse or failed to produce records or information in response to the Bureau's requests, and had made no attempt to address or resolve the
Bureau's allegations.® The Bureau asserted that Howard's continued failure to respond to or engage with the Bureau warrants reinstatement of the
Revocation Order, and the Bureau requested that the Hearing Examiner recommend such reinstatement.”

On April 25, 2022, the Commission's Office of General Counsel, on behalf of the Bureau, filed a Motion to Reinstate Revocation Order alleging
that Howard, despite being served with the Statement of Allegations through various methods, including service upon his attorney of record, had failed to
file any responsive pleading to the allegations by March 30, 2022, as required, and that the Defendant had not made an appearance in this case.® As such, the
Bureau respectfully requested that the Hearing Examiner recommend to the Commission that it reinstate the Revocation Order.°

On May 23, 2022, Senior Hearing Examiner A. Ann Berkebile issued her Report in this case wherein she concluded that the Commission's
previous revocation of the Defendant's license to conduct the business of insurance in Virginia as a public adjuster should be reinstated.!® She recommended
that the Commission enter an Order that adopts her findings, grants the Bureau's Motion to Reinstate Revocation Order, reinstates the revocation of the
Defendant's license to conduct the business of insurance in Virginia as a public adjuster, and dismisses the case.!

No comments to the Senior Hearing Examiner's Report were filed.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion that the findings and recommendations of the Senior Hearing
Examiner should be adopted and that the Revocation Order should be reinstated.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The findings and recommendations of the May 23, 2022 Report of Senior Hearing Examiner A. Ann Berkebile hereby are adopted.
(2) The relief sought in the Petition for Rehearing/Reconsideration hereby is denied.

(3) The Bureau's Motion to Reinstate Revocation Order hereby is granted.

(4) The Revocation Order hereby is reinstated and is no longer suspended.

(5) This case is dismissed.

¢ Statement of Allegations at 7.

"1d.

8 Motion to Reinstate Revocation Order at 3-4.
°1d. at 4.

10 Report at 2. The Senior Hearing Examiner directed the Clerk of the Commission to send copies of her Report both by email and by certified mail, return
receipt requested, to the Defendant's counsel. Id. at 3.

1d. at 3.
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CASE NO. INS-2021-00078
APRIL 18, 2022

PETITION OF
BARTON C. PASCO

For approval of Virginia insurance producer license
FINAL ORDER

On July 3, 2020, Barton C. Pasco ("Pasco") applied to the State Corporation Commission's (*Commission™) Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™) for a
Virginia resident producer license for Life & Annuities and Health Insurance ("Application").! The Bureau denied Pasco's Application on
November 18, 2020 ("Application Denial™), pursuant to §§ 38.2-1831 and 38.2-1832 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), based upon his felony wire fraud
conviction ("Felony Conviction") on August 16, 2013 in the United States District Court of the Eastern District of Virginia ("Eastern District").2
Specifically, § 38.2-1831 of the Code allows the Bureau to deny an insurance license to an individual convicted of a felony and § 38.2-1832 of the Code
authorizes license denial if an applicant "is not of good character or does not have a good reputation for honesty.” Pasco's conviction also barred him from
transacting the business of insurance pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1033 and the Bureau determined that he should not be granted a waiver under this provision
("1033 Waiver").?

During an informal conference on April 13, 2021, Pasco was afforded an opportunity to provide additional information in support of his
Application.* After the informal conference, Bureau of Insurance Commissioner Scott A. White ("Commissioner White™), by letter dated May 17, 2021,°
found that nothing provided during the informal conference changed the Bureau's analysis regarding the Application, and as such affirmed the Application
Denial pursuant to 8§ 38.2-1831 and 38.2-1832 of the Code. Commissioner White also restated that he did not see an appropriate basis to grant Pasco a
1033 Waiver.®

Pasco petitioned for a formal hearing, asking the Commission to review the Application Denial ("Petition™).” On June 3, 2021, the Commission
directed that a Hearing Examiner conduct further proceedings in this matter® On July 29, 2021, the Hearing Examiner set a hearing date for
October 12, 2021° and directed the Bureau and Pasco to submit a stipulation of facts (if any), exchange proposed exhibits and identify anticipated witnesses,
and to file objections to any anticipated witnesses or exhibits. Pasco and the Bureau complied with this directive.

The hearing was convened as scheduled. Pasco appeared by counsel, Michael J. Quinan, Esquire, and Steven Bulger, Esquire, Office of General
Counsel, appeared on behalf of the Bureau.'® The Hearing Examiner accepted Pasco and the Bureau's stipulated facts into evidence ("Stipulation™),** which
included among other items, an admission that Pasco had pled guilty to the Felony Conviction which stemmed from his role as trustee of family and
charitable trusts whereby he had "obtain[ed] funds to which he was not entitled to . . . for the benefit of himself . . . ."> As a result of the Felony Conviction,
Pasco was incarcerated and ordered to pay his victims $2.45 million in restitution.*®

1 See Exhibit ("Ex.") 3. Pasco had previously possessed a Virginia resident insurance producer license between July 1, 1979 and May 3, 2013. However,
Pasco surrendered this license in 2013 as a result of the Felony Conviction discussed herein. See Ex. 10.

2See Ex. 4.

% See id. 18 U.S.C. § 1033 prohibits an individual convicted of a criminal felony involving dishonesty or a breach of trust from engaging in the business of
insurance unless the individual has obtained written permission from the designated regulatory official - here the Commissioner of Insurance.

4 See EX. 2.

® See Ex. 2.

® See Ex. 2.

7 See Petition, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 210550074.

8 See Scheduling Order, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 210610088.

® Doc. Con. Cen. No. 210730128.

2 Transcript ("Tr.") p.7-8.

1 Tr. p. 20. See also Hearing Examiner's December 7, 2021 Report ("Report"), Doc. Con. Cen. No. 211210237 at 2-3. See also Ex. 1.

2 See Ex. 5 at 9-12.

13 See Stipulation, Ex. 1, Statement of Facts, Ex. 5, and Plea Agreement, Ex. 6, Consent Restitution Order, Ex. 8, Order, Ex. 9. Pasco admitted in the

Statement of Facts that he had used his fiduciary position as trustee to " obtain funds to which he was not entitled to . . . for the benefit of himself..." Ex.5
at9-12.
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In addition to the Stipulation, the Bureau introduced eleven exhibits'* and presented the testimony of Richard J. Tozer, the Bureau's manager of
agent licensing; Michael T. Beavers, the Bureau's Deputy Commissioner of agent regulation; Commissioner White (collectively "Bureau Witnesses"); and
John Pasco, 111 ("John Pasco"), Pasco's brother.*

The Bureau Witnesses testified, among other matters, that the type of financial crime Pasco committed (i.e., one involving dishonesty and breach
of trust), his abuse of his role as a fiduciary of his family's trust and his willful and knowing violation of the law, supported the Application Denial.!® The
Bureau also testified that, despite having his civil rights restored, Pasco had not provided sufficient evidence that he had been rehabilitated,'” he continuously
failed to acknowledge responsibility for his actions,'® and had made minimal restitution payments.*® Commissioner White further testified that that Pasco's
fiduciary responsibilities as a trustee of family funds was similar to the type of fiduciary duties required by persons holding insurance licenses and
interacting with consumers. 2 Commissioner White stated further that he had "grave concern™ about Pasco serving in a position of trust with members of the
public given his behavior regarding Pasco's own family members.

John Pasco testified, among other matters, that he and Pasco's other siblings had not heard from Pasco since 2013 and that he and his siblings
have received only a "minimal, miniscule" amount of the $2.45 million that his brother was ordered to pay in restitution." %

Pasco asserted that, despite his Felony Conviction and the Bureau's concerns, the Commission had the discretion to and should grant the
Application. In support of his position, Pasco presented his own testimony, as well as that of seven character witnesses.?® Pasco also introduced twelve
exhibits in support of his Petition.* Through this evidence, Pasco provided an overview of his personal, educational, and professional background and
experience and described his contributions to the insurance industry and community generally.?®> He maintained that the Felony Conviction was his only
criminal transgression and that this conviction was unrelated to the business of insurance.?® He also testified that he had served time in federal prison for his
crime, completed his probationary requirements and was a model prisoner while incarcerated.?” Pasco also asserted he was remorseful and had been fully
rehabilitated from his Felony Conviction because his civil rights had been restored after he had been released from prison,? he had taken classes and
participated in voluntary counselling while in prison, 2 and that he was committed to making full restitution as required by the Eastern District.*® Pasco
acknowledged that he had not tried to reconcile with his family,® that he had paid very little toward restitution,® and that his efforts to obtain gainful
employment were largely unsuccessful.®

14 See Exs.1-11.

15 See Report at 3.

% Tr. at 38-42. See also Ex. 7.

Tr. 42-44,

18 Tr. 53, 59.

1 Tr. 38-41, 51, 65-66.

2 Tr. 87.

2 Tr. 89.

2Ty, 76-79.

2 See Report at 8.

2 See Exs. 12-23.

% Tr, 111-131.

% Tr, 13-16, 132. See also Doc. Con. Cen. No. 211250114 ("Pasco's Comments") p. 14-27.
21 Tr. 140-142. See also Pasco's Comments p. 38-39.
% Tr. 142-143. See also Ex. 15.

2 Tr, 149-151.

% Tr. 158, 164. See also Pasco's Comments at39.

31 Tr. 135-136, 169.

32 Tr, 155.

* Tr. 155-157.
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Pasco's character witnesses testified that it was their belief that Pasco had accepted responsibility for the actions that led to the Felony
Conviction,* that they generally believed him to be of good character, * and that they would do business with Pasco if given the opportunity to do so.%

On December 7, 2021, the Commission's Hearing Examiner issued a Report,3 summarizing the procedural background and substantive evidence
in the case. The Hearing Examiner noted that, pursuant to 8§ 38.2-1831 (9) and 38.2-1832 (A) of the Code, the Commission has the discretion to deny the
Application based upon Pasco's Felony Conviction or if it finds Pasco not to be of good character or lacking a good reputation for honesty.*® The Hearing
Examiner further cited that federal law precluded Pasco from working in the insurance industry unless he received a 1033 Waiver from the Commission.*®

Based upon her review of the record and applicable law, the Hearing Examiner determined that evidence submitted by the Bureau provided the
support necessary for the Commission — in its discretion - to affirm the Bureau's Application Denial.®® The Hearing Examiner noted that the Felony
Conviction was a financial felony involving dishonesty or a breach of trust that resulted in "substantial financial harm to [Pasco's] family members and to
various charities."** The Hearing Examiner also opined that the evidence established that Pasco had not been rehabilitated and had not fully accepted
responsibility for his Felony Conviction, as the Bureau had asserted.*? The Hearing Examiner concluded that these matters casted "significant doubt on
[Pasco's] capability of serving in a position of trust and suggest[ed] a possible risk to consumers" if the Application was granted.*

Accordingly, the Hearing Examiner agreed with Commissioner White's Application Denial and recommended that the Commission: (a) adopt the
Report's findings; (b) affirm the Bureau's Application Denial and deny Pasco's Application; and, (c) dismiss the Petition from the Commission's docket.*
However, the Hearing Examiner offered that the Commission could explore whether it was appropriate to grant Pasco a conditional or probational insurance
license.*

On December 28, 2021, the Bureau and Pasco filed their respective comments to the Hearing Examiner's Report. In its comments, the Bureau
concurred with the Hearing Examiner's recommendations and asserted that the facts and circumstances of this case did not warrant that the Commission
grant Pasco a conditional or probational license.*® In his comments, Pasco argued that the record did not support denial of his license, but expressed a
willingness to accept a conditional or probational insurance license if the Commission (in its discretion) opted to consider this option.*’

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Hearing Examiner's findings and
recommendations as contained in the Report are reasonable, are supported by the evidentiary record and should be adopted. Specifically, the Commission
finds in its discretion that denial of the Application pursuant to Code 8§ 38.2-1831 (9) and 38.2-1832 (A) is warranted. The Commission also agrees that
Commissioner White's decision not to grant a 1033 Waiver to Pasco under 18 U.S.C. 1033 is supported by the record. Further, upon review of the evidence
and arguments presented in this matter, the Commission declines to consider approval of the Application with terms, conditions or other probationary
requirements.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The findings and recommendations of the December 7, 2021 Hearing Examiner's Report are hereby adopted.

(2) The Bureau's Application Denial is affirmed.

(3) Pursuant to § 38.2-1832 (A) the Code, Pasco shall not again apply for an insurance license with the Bureau until after the expiration of five
years from the date of this Final Order.

(4) The case is dismissed.

% Tr. 99-100, 175-176, 190-191, 234.

% Tr. 175, 232-233.

% Tr. 101-102, 178, 191-192, 212-213, 221-222, 235-237.
37 See Report.

% Report at 17-18.

®1d. at 17-18.

401d. at 18.

“d.

“2Tr. at 38-44, 53-59, 86-87. See also Report p. 17-18.

43 Report at 18.

“d.

“d.

6 See Doc. Con. Cen. No. 211250113 ("Bureau's Comments”) p. 1-2.

47 See Pasco's Comments p. 5-6, 38-39.
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CASE NO. INS-2021-00115
JANUARY 27, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
TE-ARIA MAHANEY,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Te-Aria Mahaney ("Defendant"), duly licensed by
the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application
filed with the Commission on January 25, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated November 5, 2021 that
was mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's November 5, 2021 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially
incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2021-00120
DECEMBER 9, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
NORTH CAROLINA MUTUAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

ORDER SUSPENDING LICENSE

Section 38.2-1040 A 3 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") provides that the Virginia State Corporation Commission ("Commission') may suspend
the license of any domestic, foreign, or alien insurer to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia whenever it finds that a licensee
is insolvent, or is in a condition that any further transaction of business in this Commonwealth is hazardous to its policyholders, creditors and the public in
this Commonwealth. Section 38.2-1041 of the Code provides that the Commission may suspend the license of any insurer on the grounds set out in Section
38.2-1040 after giving the insurer ten days' notice of the reasons for the proposed suspension and an opportunity to introduce evidence and be heard. Section
38.2-1041 provides that the required notice may be waived by the Commission and the insurer.
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On October 11, 2022, the General Court of Justice, Superior Court Division of Wake County, North Carolina entered an Order of Liquidation
against North Carolina Mutual Life Insurance Company (“NC Mutual" or "Defendant") (the "Liquidation Order"). The Liquidation Order found NC Mutual
to be insolvent.! The Liquidation Order appointed the Commissioner of Insurance of the State of North Carolina as the Receiver and Liquidator of NC
Mutual.2 The Liquidation Order also vested in the Commissioner of Insurance of the State of North Carolina the authority to "...conduct [NC Mutual's]
business and administer [NC Mutual's] assets and affairs under the general supervision of this Court" and "...to take any action relating to the licenses or
certificates of [NC Mutual] as may be required to carry out the Liquidation."

NC Mutual was initially licensed to transact the business of insurance in Virginia on February 2, 1917. On February 2, 2010, the Commission
entered a Consent Order prohibiting NC Mutual from issuing any new contracts or policies of insurance in Virginia until further Order of the Commission.*
On November 21, 2022, the Commission's Bureau of Insurance (“"Bureau") received an email from the North Carolina Department of Insurance stating that it
waives the required notice and opportunity to be heard as provided in Section 38.2-1041 of the Code and consents to the license suspension of NC Mutual.

The Bureau, given the foregoing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order suspending the Defendant's license to transact the
business of insurance in Virginia.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant's license to transact the business of
insurance in Virginia should be suspended.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Pursuant to § 38.2-1040 A 3 of the Code, the Defendant's license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia is hereby SUSPENDED.
(2) The Defendant shall continue to issue no new contracts or policies of insurance in Virginia until further order of the Commission.

(3) The appointments of the Defendant's agents to act on behalf of the Defendant in Virginia are hereby SUSPENDED.

(4) The Defendant's agents shall transact no new insurance business on behalf of the Defendant in Virginia until further order of the Commission.

(5) The Bureau of Insurance shall cause notice of the suspension of the Defendant's license to be published in the manner set forth in § 38.2-1043
of the Code.

1 Causey v. N.C. Mut. Life Ins. Co., File No. 18 CVS 14480, Order of Liquidation Against North Carolina Mutual Life Insurance Company, Granting
Injunctive Relief and Approving Service Agreement and Early Access Agreement at 7 (N.C. Super. Ct. Oct. 11, 2022) ("[North Carolina Mutual Life
Insurance Company] is hereby placed in liquidation and declared insolvent.").

21d.at4,7.

31d. at 5-6.

4 Commonwealth of Virginia ex rel. State Corp. Comm'n v. N.C. Mut. Life Ins. Co., Case No. INS-2009-00248, 2010 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 98, Consent Order
(Feb. 2, 2010).

CASE NO. INS-2021-00135
JANUARY 19, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
CENTRAL TITLE AND ESCROW INC.,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau®), it is alleged that Central Title and Escrow Inc. ("Defendant”), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), in
certain instances violated § 55.1-903 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to record and disburse settlement proceeds in its possession within two
business days of settlement; 55.1-1004 A of the Code by failing to exercise reasonable care and financial responsibility when the Defendant incorrectly
debited an out of state escrow account for a transaction regarding a Virginia property; § 55.1-1008 A of the Code by failing to handle funds in a fiduciary
manner as evidenced by the Bureau's investigation which revealed 18 outstanding disbursements held in excess of one year and by disbursing funds
associated with a Virginia property from an account outside of Virginia; § 55.1-1008 (B) (2) of the Code by failing to disburse funds pursuant to the written
instructions or agreements when the Defendant disbursed funds to a home warranty vendor that was not listed in the settlement statement; as well as
14 VAC 5-395-60 A of the Virginia Administrative Code by debiting funds associated with an out-of-state settlement from the Defendant's Virginia
fiduciary trust account.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 55.1-1015 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and revoke or suspend a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.
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The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Five Thousand
Dollars ($5,000); has agreed, within ninety (90) days of the entry of this Settlement Order, to provide verification to the Bureau that outstanding
disbursements associated with the Defendant's File Number 18-0334 have been resolved; and has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) The Commission shall retain jurisdiction in this matter for all purposes, including the institution of a show cause proceeding, or taking such
other action it deems appropriate on account of the Defendant's failure to comply with the terms and undertakings of the settlement.

CASE NO. INS-2021-00136
MAY 20, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
VISTA ABSTRACT, INC,,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the State Corporation Commission's (*Commission™) Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that
Vista Abstract, Inc. ("Vista Abstract" or "Defendant™), violated §§ 38.2-1822 (C) and 55.1-1004 (A) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by acting as an
insurance agent/agency in Virginia without the required license to do so and by failing to exercise reasonable care and comply with all applicable
requirements regarding settlement agent licensing;* § 55.1-1014 (A) of the Code by conducting eleven (11) settlements on Virginia properties from
December 12, 2020, to June 10, 2021, without being registered with the Bureau; and 14 VAC 5-395-30 of the Rules Governing Settlement Agents,
14 VAC 5-395-10 et seq., by failing, as a settlement agent, to register with the Bureau in accordance with the provisions of § 55.1-1014 of the Code.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 55.1-1015 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission, wherein the Defendant has waived the right to a hearing; has voluntarily surrendered the
authority to act as a non-resident insurance agency in Virginia effective April 26, 2022; and has agreed not to make any application to transact the business
of insurance in Virginia for a period of five (5) years from April 26, 2022.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

1 Vista Abstract is a Pennsylvania resident agent. The Defendant's Virginia Title Producer License and Title Settlement Registration terminated on
December 12, 2020. The Defendant reapplied for and was issued another Title Producer License by the Bureau on June 10, 2021. The Bureau's allegations
relate to activities that occurred during an approximately six-month period when the Defendant had no Virginia title license or registration to act as a
settlement agent in Virginia.
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CASE NO. INS-2021-00144
FEBRUARY 2, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

MANUEL L. SANABRIA, AND SANABRIA INSURANCE GROUP LLC,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Manuel L. Sanabria ("Sanabria") and Sanabria
Insurance Group LLC (collectively, the "Defendants"), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of
insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated § 38.2-518 (F) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by preparing a certificate of insurance
that contained misleading information that purported to affirmatively extend the coverage provided by a policy of insurance to which the certificate made
reference; and § 38.2-1813 (B) of the Code by failing to hold and maintain funds received from insureds in a fiduciary account separate from all other
business and personal funds.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations. The Defendants have been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendants, without
admitting or denying any violation of Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission, wherein the Defendants have tendered to the
Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500), have agreed to be placed on probation for a period of one (1) year effective
immediately upon the entry of this Settlement Order ("Order"); and have waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendants pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendants, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendants' offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendants in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.
(2) The Defendants shall be placed on probation for a period of one (1) year effective immediately upon the entry of this Order.

(3) The Commission shall retain jurisdiction in this matter for all purposes, including the institution of a show cause proceeding, or taking such
other action it deems appropriate on account of the Defendants' failure to comply with the terms and undertakings of the settlement.

CASE NO. INS-2021-00148
JANUARY 13, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
JAMES SAMUEL BEKHOR,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that James Samuel Bekhor (“"Defendant"), duly licensed
by the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in California on June 18, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated October 29, 2021 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's October 29, 2021 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.
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NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2021-00149
JANUARY 13, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
COURTNEY CHASTEN,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Courtney Chasten ("Defendant"), duly licensed by
the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application
filed with the Commission on December 21, 2020.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated October 29, 2021 that was
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's October 29, 2021 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially
incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2021-00150
JANUARY 13, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
SHAMIA M. MCNEAL,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Shamia M. McNeal (“"Defendant"), duly licensed by
the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application
filed with the Commission on August 27, 2020.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated October 29, 2021 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's October 29, 2021 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially
incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2021-00151
JANUARY 21, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
ROBERT LEWIS STEWART,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau®), it is alleged that Robert Lewis Stewart ("Defendant™), duly licensed
by the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission”) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report administrative actions taken against the
Defendant from October 2019 through August 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated October 29, 2021 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.
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The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's October 29, 2021 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2021-00152
JANUARY 19, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
ALBERT PAUL VENEGAS,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Albert Paul Venegas ("Defendant"), duly licensed
by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application
filed with the Commission on August 19, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated October 29, 2021 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's October 29, 2021 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially
incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.
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(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.
(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2021-00153
JANUARY 19, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
ZOE WEST,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Zoe West ("Defendant™), duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (*Virginia"), violated § 38.2-1826 (B) of
the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days the facts and circumstances regarding a felony
conviction; and § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any
administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report administrative actions taken against the
Defendant in Louisiana on June 8, 2021 and in Kansas on June 23, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated November 5, 2021 that
was mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's November 5, 2021 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (B) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days the facts and circumstances regarding a felony conviction; and § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report
to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2021-00154
JANUARY 27, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
DANIEL EVAN JOSSEN,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Daniel Evan Jossen ("Jossen" or "Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia™), violated
§ 38.2-502 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by misrepresenting the benefits, advantages, conditions or terms of any insurance policy when the Defendant
made sales presentations that misrepresented the benefits of a life insurance policy; and 8§ 38.2-1838 A 1 and 38.2-1838 A 2 of the Code by representing to
members of the public that the Defendant provides consulting services beyond those within the normal scope of activities of a licensed insurance agent, and
by charging a fee to consumers for insurance advice when the Defendant did not hold the appropriate license.

Jossen is a District of Columbia resident licensed with the following lines of authority: Life & Annuities, Health and Variable Contracts.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission, wherein the Defendant has waived the right to a hearing; has voluntarily surrendered the
authority to act as an insurance agent in Virginia effective December 8, 2021; and has agreed not to make any application to transact the business of
insurance in Virginia for a period of five (5) years from December 8, 2021.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00004
JANUARY 27, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
CRYSTAL MAY MARLOWE,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Crystal May Marlowe ("Marlowe" or "Defendant"),
duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"),
violated § 38.2-1813 (A) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to, in the ordinary course of business, pay funds to the insurer entitled to the payment.

Marlowe is a Virginia resident licensed with the following lines of authority: Life & Annuities, Health and Property & Casualty.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission, wherein the Defendant has waived the right to a hearing; has voluntarily surrendered the
authority to act as an insurance agent in Virginia effective January 3, 2022; and has agreed not to make any application to transact the business of insurance
in Virginia for a period of five (5) years from January 3, 2022.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.
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NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00005
JANUARY 27, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
ANDREA CAMPBELL,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau®), it is alleged that Andrea Campbell ("Defendant"), duly licensed by
the State Corporation Commission (“Commission”) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (“Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in the state of Washington on October 18, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated December 13, 2021 that
was mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's December 13, 2021 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00006
JANUARY 28, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
TODD CHARLES DANNER,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Todd Charles Danner (“Defendant™), duly licensed
by the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"™), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in lllinois on June 12, 2021; and § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially incorrect, misleading, or untrue information in the license
application filed with the Commission on August 26, 2020.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated October 29, 2021 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's October 29, 2021 letter and has also failed to respond to the Bureau's electronic correspondence on December 15, 2021.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction; and § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed
with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00007
MARCH 3, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.

UNITED SERVICES AUTOMOBILE ASSOCIATION, USAA CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY, USAA

GENERAL INDEMNITY COMPANY, and GARRISON PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct inquiry conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau"), it is alleged that United Services Automobile Association,
USAA Casualty Insurance Company, USAA General Indemnity Insurance Company, and Garrison Property and Casualty Insurance Company (collectively,
the "Defendants”), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of
Virginia ("Virginia"), in certain instances violated § 38.2-510 A 1 of the Code of Virginia ("Code™) by failing to represent facts or insurance policy
provisions relating to coverages at issue with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice; § 38.2-1318 C of the Code by failing to provide
convenient access to files, documents, and records to Commission personnel during an examination; § 38.2-1809 B of the Code by failing to retain records
relative to insurance transactions for three previous calendar years as required by statute; 88 38.2-2208 A and 38.2-2113 C of the Code by failing to retain a
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valid proof of mailing of the companies' notice to the insured of the cancellation of a policy; §§ 38.2-2114 A, 38.2-2114 C, 38.2-2212 D, and 38.2-2212 E of
the Code by failing to accurately terminate insurance policies; § 38.2-2201 D of the Code by failing to obtain a valid Assignment of Benefits from the
insured authorizing direct payment of medical expense benefits to the health care provider; § 38.2-2220 of the Code by failing to use the precise language of
standard auto forms filed and adopted by the Commission; and § 38.2-2223 of the Code by including additional provisions or more favorable coverage in
standard forms without obtaining approval from the Commission prior to use; as well as 14 VAC 5-400-70 D of the Virginia Administrative Code by failing
to offer a fair and reasonable amount as shown by the investigation of the claim.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendants have been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendants, without admitting or denying any violation
of Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendants have agreed to comply with the corrective action plan outlined
in the companies' correspondence dated September 27, 2021, and November 24, 2021; have confirmed that restitution was made to 40 consumers in the
amount of Thirty Seven Thousand Three Hundred Fifty Eight Dollars and Fifty-five Cents ($37,358.55); have tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum
of Thirty Four Thousand Dollars ($34,000); and have waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendants pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendants, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendants' offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendants in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00008
FEBRUARY 25, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
CHANGQING CHEN,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Changging Chen ("Chen" or "Defendant™), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (*Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-512 (A) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by making false representations on four insurance applications for the purpose of obtaining a commission
from an insurer.

Chen is a New York resident licensed with the following lines of authority: Life & Annuities and Health.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission, wherein the Defendant has waived the right to a hearing; has voluntarily surrendered the
authority to act as an insurance agent in Virginia effective January 20, 2022; and has agreed not to make any application to transact the business of insurance
in Virginia for a period of five (5) years from January 20, 2022.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00009
MARCH 3, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
PAMELA BROWN,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Pamela Brown (“Brown" or "Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-512 (A) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by making false representations on or relative to a document relating to the business of insurance for the
purpose of obtaining a fee, commission, money, or other benefit from any individual.

Brown is a Florida resident licensed with the following line of authority: Personal Lines.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission, wherein the Defendant has waived the right to a hearing; has voluntarily surrendered the
authority to act as an insurance agent in Virginia effective January 1, 2022; and has agreed not to make any application to transact the business of insurance
in Virginia for a period of five (5) years from January 1, 2022.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00010
FEBRUARY 18, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
VENICA BLAKELY,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Venica Blakely ("Defendant"), duly licensed by the
State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (“Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in New York on February 9, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated December 13, 2021 that
was mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's December 13, 2021 letter, and has also failed to respond to the Bureau's electronic correspondence on January 13, 2022 and January 18, 2022.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.
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NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00011
FEBRUARY 25, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
STEVEN JEAN,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Steven Jean ("Defendant"), duly licensed by the
State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in New York on June 29, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated December 13, 2021, that
was mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00012
FEBRUARY 22, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

OLVIN ROLANDO MORENO-MARTINEZ, and HISPANOS DE EXITO, LLC,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

The Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau") of the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) conducted an investigation of Olvin Rolando
Moreno-Martinez (“Moreno-Martinez") and Hispanos De Exito, LLC ("Agency") (collectively with Moreno-Martinez, the "Defendants™) pursuant to
§ 38.2-1809 of the Code of Virginia ("Code").

Summary

This Settlement Order constitutes an agreed resolution regarding the Bureau's allegations that the Defendants violated the Commonwealth of
Virginia's ("Virginia") insurance laws. Specifically, the Bureau alleges that the Defendants violated 88 38.2-1812 (B), 38.2-1822 (A), and 38.2-1822 (B) of
the Code by soliciting, negotiating and selling at least 608 Virginia personal auto policies through a carrier without first obtaining a license to do so. The
Defendants also created a fraudulent insurance company, AssuranceSiempre Insurance Company (“"AssuranceSiempre™), through which they sold consumers
fraudulent personal auto policies purportedly providing coverage through AssuranceSiempre. The Defendants also created an unlicensed entity they called
"Green Valley Insurance Agency" which they listed as the producer for the fraudulent AssuranceSiempre policies. Furthermore, the Defendants were paid
commissions by consumers for these fraudulent insurance policies.

Accordingly, as discussed in more detail below, to resolve the Bureau's current allegations, the Defendants have agreed to be permanently
enjoined from conducting the business of insurance in Virginia.

The Bureau's Allegations, The Commission's Statutory Remedies, And Proposed Settlement

The Agency is a limited liability company that has never been licensed in Virginia. Moreno-Martinez is a Virginia resident who is the Agency's
owner. The Bureau alleges that the Defendants violated § 38.2-1822 (A) of the Code, by acting as an agent and agency of an insurer licensed to transact the
business of insurance in this Commonwealth without first obtaining a license in a manner and in a form prescribed by the Commission. This was evidenced
by the fact that the Defendants solicited, negotiated and sold at least 608 Virginia personal auto policies through a licensed carrier while the Defendants were
not licensed. The unlicensed sales conducted by the Defendants resulted in at least 138 claims payments by the carrier totaling nearly $200,000.

The Bureau also alleges that the Defendants violated § 38.2-1822 (B) of the Code by acting as agents on behalf of a business entity in the
transaction of insurance in this Commonwealth without first obtaining a license in a manner and in a form prescribed by the Commission. The Defendants
sold personal auto policies to six (6) consumers that purportedly provided coverage through AssuranceSiempre Insurance Company, a fraudulent insurance
company created by the Defendants. Some of these consumers were involved in automobile accidents that were not covered by AssuranceSiempre Insurance
Company due to the fraudulent nature of the policies. Additionally, the Defendants created a fictitious unlicensed entity they called "Green Valley Insurance
Agency" which was listed as the producer for the fraudulent AssuranceSiempre policies.

The Defendants also violated § 38.2-1812 (A) of the Code by accepting valuable consideration for services as an agent and agency without
holding valid licenses as an agent and agency for the class of insurance involved. This is evidenced by the fact that the Defendants were paid by consumers
for the purchase of Virginia personal auto policies while the Defendants were unlicensed to conduct insurance transactions.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

Accordingly, in order to resolve this matter, and without admitting nor denying any violation of Virginia law, the Defendants admit to the
Commission's jurisdiction and authority to enter this Settlement Order. Having been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter, the Defendants have
made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendants agree to be permanently enjoined from transacting the business of insurance in
Virginia.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendants pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendants, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendants' offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendants in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.
(2) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

NOTE: A copy of the Admission and Consent is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control
Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00015
MAY 19, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
GINA KIDD,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

The Virginia State Corporation Commission (*Commission™), through its Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), conducted an investigation resulting
from an insurance carrier's employment termination of Gina Kidd ("Mrs. Kidd" or "Defendant") on or about April 4, 2020. Based on its investigation, the
Bureau alleged that Mrs. Kidd violated §8§ 38.2-512 (A), 38.2-512 (C), and 38.2-1831 (10) of the Code of Virginia ("Code").

The Bureau acknowledges that Mrs. Kidd has cooperated fully in the course of the investigation, including by providing records to the Bureau
upon request, by responding to questions posed by the Bureau's staff, and by participating in a virtual meeting with a Bureau investigator on May 7, 2021.
The Bureau also acknowledges that other than this matter, Mrs. Kidd has no prior disciplinary history in the insurance industry.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

Mrs. Kidd has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon, without admitting or denying any violation of Virginia law or the
Bureau's allegations, she has made an offer of settlement ("Offer") to the Commission wherein she has paid to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Six
Thousand Dollars ($6,000.00), has waived her right to a hearing, and has agreed to cease and desist from further violations of §§ 38.2-512 (A), 38.2-512 (C),
and 38.2-1831 (10) of the Code.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the Offer made by Mrs. Kidd pursuant to the authority granted the Commission in
§ 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the Defendant's Offer, and the recommendation of the Bureau, is of the
opinion that the Offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Defendant's Offer to settle the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) The Defendant will pay to the Treasurer of Virginia the amount of Six Thousand Dollars ($6,000.00).

(3) The Defendant will cease and desist from further violations of §§ 38.2-512 (A), 38.2-512 (C), and 38.2-1831 (10) of the Code.
(4) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

NOTE: A copy of the Admission and Consent is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control
Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00017
NOVEMBER 18, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
ALBERTO JOSE VARGAS
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau alleges that Alberto Jose Vargas (“Vargas" or the
"Defendant”), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia
("Virginia"), violated § 38.2-512 (A) and (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code"). Specifically, Vargas allowed an independent contractor, brought on by the
Parent Agency as an Exclusive Financial Specialist (EFS) who was not registered by the Parent Agency to sell variable products, to meet with Vargas's
customers on at least 30 occasions to discuss and sell variable products on his behalf. While VVargas met with some of the clients, he did not personally meet
with most of the clients to verify their identity or determine the suitability of the product or the transaction. He then signed as the agent of record despite, by
his own admission, not having met with all the consumers.

According to Vargas, his supervisor introduced him to the EFS/ independent contractor and was aware that the EFS/independent contractor was
unregistered as an agent. The supervisor nonetheless recommended that Vargas utilize the EFS/ independent contractor's services for the purpose of selling
variable products to Vargas's existing clients and compensate the independent contractor directly for those services.
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The Parent Agency's records reflect that although the majority of the $37,035.78 in commissions paid to Vargas were then disbursed by Vargas to
the independent contractor, Vargas still retained $2,088.52 of the money he was paid in commissions for these transactions.

The Bureau alleges that Vargas violated § 38.2-512 (A) of the Code by making false or fraudulent statements or representations on or relative to
an application or any document or communication relating to the business of insurance for the purpose of obtaining a fee, commission, money, or other
benefit from any insurer, agent, broker, premium finance company, or individual.

The Bureau further alleges that Vargas violated § 38.2-512 (C) of the Code by obtaining by false pretense the signature of consumers on
insurance applications when Vargas falsely certified that he presented and sold each applicant the life insurance policy, when, in fact, he had allowed the
EFS/ independent contractor to meet with Vargas's clients to discuss the suitability of the products and to sell variable policies to the clients.

Vargas contends that he did meet personally with many of the clients who ultimately purchased variable products after they met with the
independent contractor.

The Bureau also alleges that Vargas violated § 38.2-1831 (10) of the Code by demonstrating financial irresponsibility in the handling of
applicant, policyholder, agency, or insurance company funds by, as stated above, signing variable universal life insurance applications certifying that he had
met with the applicant to present the policy and complete the application, when he, in fact, did not. As a result the consumers were not properly informed of
the type of policy they were purchasing and of the investment risk associated with those policies.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law or the Bureau's allegations, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has agreed to tender to the Treasurer of
Virginia the sum of Twelve Thousand Dollars ($12,000); has waived the right to a hearing; and has agreed to cease and desist from further violations of
§8 38.2-512 (A), 38.2-512 (C), 38.2-1831 (10) of the Code.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) The Defendant will pay to the Treasurer of Virginia the amount of Twelve Thousand Dollars ($12,000).

(3) The Defendant will cease and desist from further violations of §§ 38.2-512 (A), 38.2-512 (C), 38.2-1831 (10) of the Code.
(4) This case is dismissed.

NOTE: A copy of the Admission and Consent is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document
Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00020
MARCH 3, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
KELLENA BROWN,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Kellena Brown ("Defendant"), duly licensed by the
State Corporation Commission (“Commission”) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (“Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in the state of New York on April 30, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated January 14, 2022 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.
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The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's January 14, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00021
MARCH 3, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
MORGAN LARI MCCALL,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™), it is alleged that Morgan Lari McCall ("Defendant™), duly licensed
by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (“Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in the state of California on August 23, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated January 14, 2022 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's January 14, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.
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(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.
(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00022
MARCH 3, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
CHRISTOPHER SCHNEIDER,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™), it is alleged that Christopher Schneider ("Defendant"), duly licensed
by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (“Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in the state of New York on July 20, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated January 14, 2022 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's January 14, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00023
MARCH 7, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of Amending Rules Governing Advertisement of Life Insurance and Annuities

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

Section 12.1-13 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") provides that the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") shall have the power to
promulgate rules and regulations in the enforcement and administration of all laws within its jurisdiction, and § 38.2-223 of the Code provides that the
Commission may issue any rules and regulations necessary or appropriate for the administration and enforcement of Title 38.2 of the Code.

The rules and regulations issued by the Commission pursuant to § 38.2-223 of the Code are set forth in Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative
Code. A copy also may be found here: https://law.lis.virginia.gov/admincodef/title14/agency5/.

The Bureau of Insurance (“"Bureau™) has undertaken a review of Chapter 41 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code, entitled "Rules
Governing Advertisement of Life Insurance and Annuities”, 14 VAC 5-41-10 et seq. ("Rules"). As stated in 14 VAC 5-41-10 A, the Rules provide
"minimum standards and guidelines to assure a full and truthful disclosure to the public of all material and relevant information in the advertising of life
insurance policies and annuity contracts." As part of its review, the Bureau has considered marketing practices in life insurance and annuity advertisesments
that employ the phrases "inexpensive," "low cost," and similar terms, and concerns that such terms may mislead consumers.

As a result of its review, the Bureau has submitted to the Commission a proposal to amend 14 VAC 5-41-80 of the Virginia Administrative Code.
These amendments are necessary to address the concern with the use of the above-referenced phrases on an industry-wide basis in Virginia and to more
closely align the Rules with guidance prepared by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners in its Advertisements of Life Insurance and
Annuities Model Regulation, which addresses the use of "inexpensive," "low cost," and similar terms.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion that the proposal to amend the Rules set forth in Chapter 41 of Title 14 in the Virginia
Administrative Code as submitted by the Bureau should be considered for adoption with a proposed effective date of September 1, 2022.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The proposed amendments to the Rules Governing Advertisement of Life Insurance and Annuities, as set out at 14 VAC 5-41-80 of the
Virginia Administrative Code, are attached hereto and made a part hereof.

(2) All interested persons who desire to comment in support of or in opposition to, or request a hearing to oppose, the adoption of the proposed
amended rules shall file such comments or hearing request on or before April 29, 2022, with the Clerk of the Commission, State Corporation Commission,
c/o Document Control Center, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218 and shall refer to Case No. INS-2022-00023. Interested persons desiring to submit
comments electronically may do so by following the instructions at the Commission's website: scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information. All comments
shall refer to Case No. INS-2022-00023.

(3) If no written request for a hearing on the adoption of the proposed amended rules as outlined in this Order is received on or before
April 29, 2022, the Commission, upon consideration of any comments submitted in support of or in opposition to the proposal, may adopt the rules as
submitted by the Bureau.

(4) The Bureau shall provide notice of the proposal to all carriers licensed in Virginia to write life insurance, annuities or variable annuities and
to all interested persons.

(5) The Commission's Office of General Counsel shall cause a copy of this Order, together with the proposal to amend the rules, to be forwarded
to the Virginia Registrar of Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations.

(6) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall make available this Order and the attached proposal on the Commission's
website: scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

(7) The Bureau shall file with the Clerk of the Commission a certificate of compliance with the notice requirements of Ordering Paragraph (4)
above.

(8) This matter is continued.

NOTE: A copy of the attachment entitled "Rules Governing Advertisement of Life Insurance and Annuities"” is on file and may be examined at the State
Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00023
MAY 12, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of Amending Rules Governing Advertisement of Life Insurance and Annuities

ORDER ADOPTING RULES

By Order to Take Notice ("Order") entered March 7, 2022, all carriers licensed in the Commonwealth of Virginia to write life insurance, annuities
or variable annuities and all interested persons were ordered to take notice that subsequent to April 29, 2022, the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") would consider the entry of an order adopting amendments to rules in Chapter 41 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code, entitled
"Rules Governing Advertisement of Life Insurance and Annuities” ("Rules"), as set out at 14 VAC 5-41-80, unless on or before April 29, 2022, any person
objecting to the adoption of the amendments to the Rules filed a request for hearing with the Clerk of the Commission ("Clerk").

The Order also required all interested persons to file their comments in support of or in opposition to the amendments to the Rules with the Clerk
on or before April 29, 2022.

Following the Commission's entry of the Order, the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau") received only one comment to the proposed amendment to
the Rules.! The Bureau responded directly to the commenter by letter and has filed that response as part of the record. No one filed a request for a hearing
with the Clerk.

The amendments to the Rules are necessary to address the Bureau's concerns with the use of the phrases "inexpensive," "low cost," and similar
terms in advertisements for life insurance policies and annuity contracts on an industry-wide basis in Virginia, and to more closely align the Rules with
guidance prepared by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners in its Advertisements of Life Insurance and Annuities Model Regulation, which
addresses the use of these terms.

The Bureau has recommended to the Commission that the amendments to the Rules be adopted.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the proposal to amend the Rules, the comment and the Bureau's response thereto, and the
recommendation of the Bureau to adopt the amendments to the Rules, is of the opinion that the attached amendments to the Rules should be adopted,
effective September 1, 2022.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The amendments to the "Rules Governing Advertisement of Life Insurance and Annuities,” as set out at 14 VAC 5-41-80 of the Virginia
Administrative Code, which are attached hereto and made part hereof, are hereby ADOPTED effective September 1, 2022.

(2) The Bureau shall provide notice of the adopted amendments to the Rules to all carriers licensed in Virginia to write life insurance, annuities
or variable annuities and to interested persons.

(3) The Commission's Office of General Counsel shall cause a copy of this Order and the amendments to the Rules to be forwarded to the
Virginia Registrar of Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations.

(4) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall make available this Order and the attached amendments to the Rules on the
Commission's website: scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

(5) The Bureau shall file with the Clerk of the Commission a certificate of compliance with the notice requirements of Ordering Paragraph (2)
above.

(6) This case is dismissed.

NOTE: A copy of the attachment entitled "Rules Governing Advertisement of Life Insurance and Annuities"” is on file and may be examined at the State
Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

! The Bureau forwarded this comment to the Clerk for entry in the case record.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00024
MARCH 22, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
SELECTIVE INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA, SELECTIVE INSURANCE COMPANY OF SOUTH CAROLINA,
SELECTIVE WAY INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct examination conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™), it is alleged that Selective Insurance Company of
America, Selective Insurance Company of South Carolina, and Selective Way Insurance Company (collectively, "Defendants"), duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (*Virginia"), in certain instances violated
§8 38.2-231 A, 32.2-2113 A, and 38.2-2114 A of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to terminate insurance policies properly; § 38.2-231 J of the Code
by failing to retain proof of mailing of cancellation notices sent to insureds; § 38.2-305 A of the Code by failing to include the required information in the
insurance policy; 88 38.2-305 B, 38.2-2124, and 38.2-2125 of the Code by failing to provide the required notices to insureds; § 38.2-317 A of the Code by
failing to obtain approval for policy forms available for use; § 38.2-510 A 1 of the Code by failing to represent pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions
relating to coverages at issue with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice; § 38.2-511 of the Code by failing to maintain a complete record
of all the written complaints received since the date of the last examination; 88 38.2-604 C, 38.2-610 A, 38.2-1905 A, 38.2-2118, 38.2-2126 A 1,
38.2-2202 A, 38.2-2202 B, and 38.2-2234 A 1 of the Code by failing to include all the required information in written notices sent to insureds;
§ 38.2-1318 C of the Code by failing to provide convenient access to files, documents, and records to Commission personnel during an examination;
§ 38.2-1822 A of the Code by allowing a business entity to act as an insurance agent in Virginia without first obtaining a license in a manner and in a form
prescribed by the Commission; § 38.2-1833 of the Code by failing to appoint a licensed agent within thirty (30) days of the date of the execution of an
insurance application; § 38.2-1906 A of the Code by failing to file with the Commission certain rate and supplementary rate information for use in Virginia
on or before the date it became effective; § 38.2-1906 D of the Code by failing to use the rate and supplementary rate information that are in effect for the
insurer; § 38.2-1906.1 of the Code by failing to have available for use a notice regarding misquoted premiums; § 38.2-2220 of the Code by using standard
automobile forms that failed to contain the precise language of the forms filed and adopted by the Commission; as well as 14 VAC 5-400-40 A of the
Commission's Rules Governing Unfair Claim Settlement Practices, 14 VAC 5-400-10 et seq. of the Virginia Administrative Code (“Rules"), by failing to
inform the insured of all coverages pertinent to the claim; Rule 14 VAC 5-400-70 D by failing to offer a fair and reasonable amount as shown by the
investigation of the claim; and Rule 14 VAC 5-400-80 D by failing to provide a copy of the repair estimate to the insured with such frequency as to indicate
a general business practice.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendants have been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendants, without admitting or denying any violation
of Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendants have agreed to comply with the corrective action plan outlined
in company correspondence dated December 15, 2020, May 14, 2021, and December 3, 2021, in addition to e-mail correspondence dated October 8, 2021;
have confirmed that restitution was made to 110 consumers in the amount of Sixty-five Thousand Twenty-six Dollars and Forty-five Cents ($65,026.45),
have tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Ninety-nine Thousand Nine Hundred Dollars ($99,900), and have waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendants pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendants, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendants' offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The offer of the Defendants in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby
accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00025
MARCH 4, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
JENNIFER ANA VILLATORO,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau"), it is alleged that Jennifer Ana Villatoro ("Villatoro" or "Defendant"),
duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"),
violated § 38.2-512 (A) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by making false or fraudulent statements or representations on or relative to a document relating to
the business of insurance for the purpose of obtaining a fee, commission, money, or other benefit from an individual; and § 38.2-1813 (A) of the Code by
failing to hold funds received from an insured in a fiduciary capacity and by failing to account for such funds. The Defendant also failed, in the ordinary
course of business, to pay the funds to the assignee, insurer, insurance premium finance company or agent entitled to the payment.

Villatoro is a Virginia resident licensed with the following line of authority: Property & Casualty.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission, wherein the Defendant has waived the right to a hearing; has voluntarily surrendered the
authority to act as an insurance agent in Virginia effective February 15, 2022; and has agreed not to make any application to transact the business of
insurance in Virginia for a period of five (5) years from February 15, 2022.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00026
JULY 29, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
AMY NICOLE SMITH,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™), it is alleged that Amy Nicole Smith ("Defendant"), duly licensed by
the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-512 (A) of the Code of Virginia ("Code™) by making fraudulent representations on or relative to an application or any document or communication
relating to the business of insurance for the purpose of obtaining a fee, commission, money, or other benefit from any insurer or individual as evidenced by
the Bureau's investigation, which revealed the Defendant electronically remitted payments from the bank account of her employer, an insurance agency, to
her and another person's insurance policies, without the agency's knowledge or consent; and § 38.2-1809 (A) of the Code by failing or refusing to respond to
the Bureau's written requests for information or documentation in connection with an investigation.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letters dated October 15, 2021,
November 10, 2021, and June 17, 2022, that were mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's letters.
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The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-512 (A) of the Code by making fraudulent
representations on or relative to an application or any document or communication relating to the business of insurance for the purpose of obtaining a fee,
commission, money, or other benefit from any insurer or individual; and § 38.2-1809 (A) of the Code by failing or refusing to respond to the Bureau's
written requests for information or documentation in connection with an investigation.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00027
APRIL 1, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
SERVICELINK, LLC,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Servicelink, LLC ("Defendant"), duly licensed by
the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (*Virginia"), in certain instances
violated § 55.1-903 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to record a deed and not disbursing the settlement proceeds within two business days of
settlement; § 55.1-1004 A of the Code by failing to exercise reasonable care regarding financial responsibility when the Defendant had insufficient funds to
record a deed; and § 55.1-1008 A 1 of the Code by failing to handle funds in connection with an escrow, settlement, or closing in a fiduciary capacity as
evidenced by the Bureau's investigation which revealed the Defendant disbursed and escheated funds to a party outside of the transaction; as well as
14 VAC 5-395-50 D of the Commission's Rules Governing Settlement Agents, 14 VAC 5-395-10 et seq. ("Rules"), by failing to comply with the annual
escheatment requirement for unclaimed property as revealed during the Bureau's review of the Defendant's November 2020 Virginia escrow accounts that
identified 88 outstanding disbursements from 2016 through 2019; and Rule 14 VAC 5-395-60 A by failing to maintain a separate fiduciary trust account for
the purpose of handling funds received in connection with escrow, closing, or settlement services involving real estate located only in Virginia when the
Defendant commingled funds with funds from real estate transactions outside of Virginia and disbursed funds related to settlements involving Virginia
properties to an account that was known to be used for settlements from various states.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 55.1-1015 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and revoke or suspend a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Five Thousand
Dollars ($5,000) and has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00030
MARCH 22, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
BMS CONSULTING GROUP, L.L.C,, etal.
Defendants

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on a review of the records of the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau"), it is alleged that the Defendants, whose names are set forth in
Attachment A, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, each of which is duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to
transact the business of insurance as an insurance agency in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), have each violated § 38.2-1820 B 2 of the Code of
Virginia ("Code") by failing to designate an employee, officer, director, manager, member, or partner to serve as the licensed producer responsible for
compliance with the insurance laws, rules, and regulations of Virginia; and § 38.2-1826 E of the Code by failing to report within thirty (30) calendar days to
the Commission the removal, for any reason, of the designated licensed producer responsible for the business entity's compliance with the insurance laws,
rules, and regulations of Virginia, along with the name of the new designated licensed producer.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendants have been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by letter dated February 10, 2022, and mailed to
the Defendants' addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendants, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, have each failed to request a hearing and have
not otherwise communicated with the Bureau.

The Bureau, upon the Defendants' failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendants'
licenses to transact business as insurance agencies in Virginia.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendants each have violated § 38.2-1820 B 2 of the Code by failing to
designate an employee, officer, director, manager, member, or partner to serve as the licensed producer responsible for compliance with the insurance laws,
rules, and regulations of Virginia; and § 38.2-1826 E of the Code by failing to report within thirty (30) calendar days to the Commission the removal, for any
reason, of the designated licensed producer responsible for the business entity's compliance with the insurance laws, rules, and regulations of Virginia, along
with the name of the new designated licensed producer.

The Commission also finds that each Defendant should be allowed the opportunity to reapply and obtain its license immediately, provided the
Defendant includes the name of the designated licensed producer on the application. Furthermore, the Commission shall vacate the Order Revoking License
as to any Defendant who reapplies and provides the required information within 20 days of the date of entry of this Order.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The licenses of the Defendants to transact business as insurance agencies in Virginia are hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said licenses are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendants shall transact no further business in Virginia as insurance agencies.

(4) The Commission shall vacate this Order as to any Defendant that elects to reapply and provides the required information on the application
within 20 days of the date of entry of this Order.

(5) The Bureau shall provide each Defendant with a copy of this Order and notify every insurance company for which the Defendants hold
appointments to act as insurance agencies.

(6) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.
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ATTACHMENT A
INS-2022-00030
FEIN NAME ADDRESS ADDRESS E-MAIL ADDRESS
54-1944170 BMS CONSULTING GROUP, | P.O.BOX 760 HARDY, VA 24101-0760 FEBAAR@CBMSBENEFITS.COM
L.LC.
54-1516121 BMS CONSULTING, INC. P.0. BOX 760 HARDY, VA 24101-0760 FEBAAR@CBMSBENEFITS.COM
14-1948464 COASTAL EQUITIES | 1201 N ORANGE ST. WILMINGTON, DE 19801 FRONK@COASTAL-ONE.COM
INSURANCE AGENCY, INC.
20-3761402 HARVEST INSURANCE | 8000 TOWERS CRESCENT | TYSONS CORNER, VA | VAOFFICE@HARVESTINSURANCE.NE
AGENCY LLC DR., SUITE 1350 22182-6236 T
81-4927728 PALADIN DATA | 1568 CAMPUS DR. BERKELEY, CA 94708 JRILEY@PALADIN.INSURE
INSURANCE CORP.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00034
MARCH 28, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

GEICO ADVANTAGE INSURANCE COMPANY, GEICO CHOICE INSURANCE COMPANY, GEICO SECURE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct investigation performed by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™), it is alleged that GEICO Advantage Insurance
Company, GEICO Choice Insurance Company, and GEICO Secure Insurance Company (collectively, the "Defendants"), duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated § 38.2-1906 D of the
Code of Virginia ("Code") by making or issuing insurance contracts or policies not in accordance with the rate and supplementary rate information in effect
for the Defendants.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendants have been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendants, without admitting or denying any violation
of Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendants have agreed to comply with the corrective action plan outlined
in the companies' electronic correspondence dated November 8, 2021, and have waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendants pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendants, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendants' offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendants in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00035
MAY 13, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

BAY COUNTY SETTLEMENTS, INC.,

Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau"), it is alleged that Bay County Settlements, Inc. ("Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission”) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), in
certain instances violated § 38.2-1820 B 2 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to designate an employee to serve as the licensed producer from
February 15, 2021 to February 25, 2021; § 55.1-903 of the Code by failing to cause recordation of a deed and the disbursement of settlement proceeds within
two business days of settlement; § 55.1-1004 A of the Code by failing to exercise reasonable care regarding financial responsibility when the Defendant
conducted a settlement without having receipt of the required funds and by failing to reconcile negative file balances; and § 55.1-1008 A of the Code by
failing to handle funds in a fiduciary capacity by failing to reconcile outstanding disbursements in a timely manner.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 55.1-1015 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and revoke or suspend a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Five Thousand
Dollars ($5,000); has agreed to provide verification to the Bureau that outstanding file disbursements associated with settlements twelve (12) months and
older have been reissued and negotiated with the identified owners and/or escheated to the Virginia Department of Treasury on or before 180 days from the
date of this Settlement Order; and has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00036
MAY 24, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
MBH SETTLEMENT GROUP LLC,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that MBH Settlement Group LLC ("Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), in
certain instances violated § 55.1-1004 A of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to exercise reasonable care regarding financial responsibility when the
Defendant had outstanding disbursements in escrow accounts for greater than one (1) year; § 55.1-1008 A of the Code by failing to handle Virginia escrow
funds in a fiduciary capacity as evidenced by the Bureau's investigation which revealed the Defendant commingled funds and failed to reissue disbursements
associated with a change in banking institutions; as well as 14 VAC 5-395-60 (A) of the Rules Governing Settlement Agents, 14 VAC 5-395-10 et seq., by
allowing other funds associated with settlement services outside of Virginia to be deposited in the Defendant's Virginia trust accounts.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 55.1-1015 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and revoke or suspend a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Five Thousand
Dollars ($5,000); has agreed to provide verification to the Bureau, within 180 days from the date of this Settlement Order, that outstanding file
disbursements associated with settlements twelve (12) months and older have been escheated to the Virginia Department of Treasury; and has waived the
right to a hearing.
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The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00037
MAY 13, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

PREMIER TITLE AND ESCROW LLC,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Premier Title and Escrow LLC ("' Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), in
certain instances violated § 38.2-1809 B of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to provide certain requested insurance records during an examination;
§ 55.1-1004 A of the Code by failing to exercise reasonable care regarding financial responsibility as evidenced by the Bureau's investigation which revealed
unreconciled balances in the Defendant's 2021 annual audit; and § 55.1-1008 A of the Code by failing to handle funds in a fiduciary capacity when the
Defendant failed to resolve balances associated with transferred funds in Virginia escrow accounts.

The Commission is authorized by §8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 55.1-1015 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and revoke or suspend a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Five Thousand
Dollars ($5,000); has agreed to provide the Bureau with the documentation requested in the Bureau's correspondence dated January 13, 2022 on or before
sixty (60) days from the date of entry of this Settlement Order; and has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00038
AUGUST 31, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
ROSHUNDA STONE,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“"Bureau"), it is alleged that Roshunda Stone ("Defendant™), duly licensed by the
State Corporation Commission (“"Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (“Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report administrative actions taken against the
Defendant in Indiana on June 14, 2021, and in Minnesota on September 20, 2021.
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The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letters dated January 14, 2022 and
April 1, 2022, that were mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's January 14, 2022 and April 1, 2022 letters.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00041
MAY 24, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
ANGEL GARZA,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Angel Garza ("Defendant"), duly licensed by the
State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated § 38.2-1831 (1)
of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the
Commission on October 14, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated March 23, 2022 that was
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's March 23, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially
incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application or any other document filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT :
(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.
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(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00042
MAY 13, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
MARQUAN HUGHES,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™), it is alleged that Marquan Hughes ("Defendant"), duly licensed by
the State Corporation Commission (“Commission”) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1822 (A) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by acting as an agent in Virginia and selling, soliciting, or negotiating contracts of insurance for the
Federally Facilitated Exchange Plan ("FFE") between September 13, 2020, and July 6, 2021, without first obtaining the required license for FFE plans in a
manner and in a form prescribed by the Commission.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated February 23, 2022, that
was mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's February 23, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1822 (A) of the Code by acting as an agent in
Virginia and selling, soliciting, or negotiating contracts of insurance without first obtaining a license in a manner and in a form prescribed by the
Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00043
MAY 24, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
KRISTEN N. JOWETT LITTLE,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Kristen N. Jowett Little (“Little" or "Defendant"),
duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"),
violated §§ 38.2-1822 (A) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by permitting a person to act as an agent of an insurer licensed to transact the business of
insurance in Virginia without first obtaining a license in a manner and in a form prescribed by the Commission.

Little is a Pennsylvania resident agent licensed with the following line of authority in Virginia: Title.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission, wherein the Defendant has waived the right to a hearing; has voluntarily surrendered the
authority to act as a non-resident insurance agent in Virginia effective April 26, 2022; and has agreed not to make any application to transact the business of
insurance in Virginia for a period of five (5) years from April 26, 2022.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00044
AUGUST 29, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
ERICA ALISON MCGILL,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Erica Alison McGill ("McGill" or "Defendant"),
duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia™),
violated § 38.2-512 (A) of the Code of Virginia ("Code™) by making or allowing to be made false or fraudulent statements or representations on or relative to
insurance applications for the purpose of obtaining a commission from an insurer; § 38.2-512 (B) of the Code by affixing or allowing to be affixed the
signature of any other person to an insurance document without the written authorization of the person whose signature appears on such document;
§ 38.2-512 (C) of the Code by obtaining or allowing to be obtained by false pretense the signature of another person or utilizing such signature for the
purpose of altering, changing or effecting the benefits, advantages, terms or conditions of any insurance contract or document; § 38.2-502 (1) of the Code by
making or knowingly allowing to be made statements that misrepresented the benefits, advantages, conditions or terms of an insurance policy; § 38.2-502 (6)
of the Code by misrepresenting material facts for the purpose of inducing or tending to induce the lapse, forfeiture, exchange, conversion, replacement, or
surrender of any insurance policy; § 38.2-1822 of the Code by acting as an agent in this Commonwealth without first obtaining an insurance license as
prescribed by the Commission; § 38.2-1831 (5) of the Code by engaging in twisting or any form thereof, where "twisting" means inducing an insured to
terminate an existing policy and purchase a new policy through misrepresentation; § 38.2-1831 (10) of the Code by using fraudulent, coercive, or dishonest
practices, or demonstrating untrustworthiness in the conduct of business in Virginia; § 38.2-1831 (12) of the Code by forging another's name to an
application for insurance or to any document related to an insurance transaction; as well as 14 VAC 5-30-40 of the Rules Governing Life Insurance and
Annuity Replacements, 14 VAC 5-30-10 et seq., by submitting insurance applications to an insurer that falsely indicated the applicant did not have any
existing policy or contract.

McGill is a Tennessee resident licensed with the following lines of authority: Life & Annuities and Health.
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The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission, wherein the Defendant has waived the right to a hearing; has voluntarily surrendered the
authority to act as an insurance agent in Virginia effective March 22, 2022; and has agreed not to make any application to transact the business of insurance
in Virginia for a period of five (5) years from March 22, 2022.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) The Defendant shall not make any application to transact the business of insurance in Virginia for a period of five (5) years from
March 22, 2022.

(3) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00046
MAY 24, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
ASIA RENEE BEARD,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Asia Renee Beard ("Defendant"), duly licensed by
the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in the state of New York on October 15, 2020.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated February 11, 2022, that
was mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's February 11, 2022 letter as well as a subsequent letter dated March 18, 2022.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.
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(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.
(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00047
AUGUST 11, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
TITLE ONE & ESCROW, INC.,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau"), it is alleged that Title One & Escrow, Inc. ("Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), in
certain instances violated § 55.1-903 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to cause recordation of a deed and the disbursement of settlement proceeds
within two business days of settlement; § 55.1-1004 A of the Code by failing to exercise reasonable care regarding financial responsibility when the
Defendant had escrow account analyses discrepancies; § 55.1-1004 C of the Code by failing to allow each title insurance company for which the Defendant
has an appointment to conduct an analysis of its escrow accounts in accordance with regulations adopted by the Commission or guidelines issued by the
Bureau of the Commission, as appropriate, at least once each consecutive 12-month period; § 55.1-1008 A of the Code by failing to handle Virginia escrow
funds in a fiduciary capacity as evidenced by the Bureau's investigation which revealed the Defendant had outstanding disbursements held in excess of one
year; as well as 14 VAC 5-395-60 A of the Commission's Rules Governing Settlement Agents, 14 VAC 5-395-10 et seq. (“Rules"), by allowing funds
associated with settlement services on real estate outside of Virginia to be commingled and deposited in the Defendant's Virginia trust account; and Rule
14 VAC 5-395-70 A and C by failing to promptly respond to the Bureau's request for escrow records in connection with the Bureau's investigation.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, 38.2-1831, and 55.1-1015 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease
and desist orders, and revoke or suspend a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant
has committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Five Thousand
Dollars ($5,000); has agreed to provide the Bureau with the most recent three-way reconciliation of all Virginia escrow accounts within ten (10) days from
the date of entry of this Settlement Order ("Order"); has agreed to provide verification to the Bureau, within 180 days from the date of entry of this Order,
that outstanding file disbursements associated with Virginia settlements 180 days and older have been disbursed to the rightful owners and/or escheated to
the Virginia Department of Treasury; and has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) Within 10 days of the date of this Order, the Defendant shall provide the Bureau with the most recent three-way reconciliation of all Virginia
escrow accounts.

(3) Within 180 days of the date of this Order, the Defendant shall provide verification to the Bureau that outstanding file disbursements
associated with Virginia settlements 180 days and older have been disbursed to the rightful owners and/or escheated to the Virginia Department of Treasury.

(4) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00049
JUNE 9, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

GERBER LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct inquiry performed by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Gerber Life Insurance Company
("Defendant™), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia
("Virginia"), in certain instances violated 8§ 38.2-316 A, 38.2-316 B and 38.2-316 C 1 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to use insurance policies
or forms on file and approved by the Commission; § 38.2-508 (1) of the Code by engaging in unfair discrimination; § 38.2-509 A 2 of the Code by offering
an inducement to a contract that is not specified in the contract; § 38.2-1812 A of the Code by paying or sharing of commissions with unlicensed or
unappointed agents; § 38.2-1822 A of the Code by failing to comply with licensed agent requirements; § 38.2-1833 A 1 of the Code by accepting new
business from agents and failing to file a notice of appointment with the Commission within thirty (30) days of execution of the first insurance application
submitted; as well as 14 VAC 5-41-30 B of the Virginia Administrative Code, 14 VAC 5-41-10 et seq, by using advertisements in which the form and
content of such advertisements were not sufficiently accurate, complete, and clear so as to avoid deception or the capacity or tendency to mislead or deceive;
Rule 14 VVAC 5-41-30 C by using advertisements that contained the omission of material information or the use of words, phrases, statements, references, or
illustrations if the omission or use had the capacity, tendency, or effect of misleading or deceiving purchasers; 14 VAC 5-41-30 E by having advertisements
that used the term "College Plan" to advertise a life insurance policy; Rule 14 VAC 5-41-40 D by failing to prominently display the limitations associated
with contestability and by failing to disclose the limitation of benefits of a life insurance policy within the first two years; and Rule 14 VAC 5-41-80 B by
using the term "affordable™ without evidence to demonstrate to whom the products would be affordable and that the advertisements were directed toward
those particular demographics.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting nor denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has agreed to comply with the corrective action plan outlined in the
Bureau's letter dated December 16, 2020; has tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Twenty-seven Thousand Six Hundred Dollars ($27,600); and
has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed, and the papers herein shall be placed in the file for ended causes.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00051

JUNE 8, 2022
COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
FARMERS INSURANCE EXCHANGE, MID-CENTURY INSURANCE COMPANY, TRUCK INSURANCE EXCHANGE,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct examination performed by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau®), it is alleged that Farmers Insurance Exchange,
Mid-Century Insurance Company and Truck Insurance Exchange (collectively, the "Defendants"), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated § 38.2-304 A of the Code of Virginia (“Code")
by using a written binder for a period exceeding sixty (60) days; § 38.2-305 B of the Code by failing to provide the required notice to insureds; § 38.2-317 A
of the Code by failing to obtain approval for policy forms available for use; § 38.2-502 (1) of the Code by misrepresenting the benefits, advantages,
conditions, or terms of an insurance policy; § 38.2-510 A 1 of the Code by failing to represent pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions relating to
coverages at issue with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice; § 38.2-511 of the Code by failing to maintain a complete record of written
complaints received by the Defendants as required by statute; § 38.2-1318 C of the Code by failing to provide Commission personnel with convenient access
to files, documents and records during an examination; §§ 38.2-1905 A and 38.2-2129 of the Code by failing to include all required information in notices
provided to insureds; § 38.2-1905 C of the Code by failing to properly assign points under the Safe Driver Insurance Plan; § 38.2-1906 A of the Code by
failing to file with the Commission all rates and supplementary rate information for use in Virginia on or before the date they became effective;
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§ 38.2-1906 D of the Code by making or issuing insurance contracts or policies not in accordance with the rate and supplementary rate information in effect
for the Defendants; 8§ 38.2-2114 A, 38.2-2114 C, 38.2-2212 D, 38.2-2212 E and 38.2-2212 F of the Code by failing to terminate insurance policies
properly; § 38.2-2220 of the Code by failing to use the precise language of standard automobile forms filed and adopted by the Commission; § 38.2-2223 of
the Code by including additional provisions or more favorable coverage in standard automobile forms without obtaining approval from the Commission
prior to use; as well as 14 VAC 5-400-40 A of the Commission's Rules Governing Unfair Claim Settlement Practices, 14 VAC 5-400-10 et seq. of the
Virginia Administrative Code by failing to fully disclose to an insured all pertinent coverages of an insurance policy under which a claim is presented; Rule
14 VAC 5-400-70 D by failing to offer to a first party claimant a fair and reasonable amount as shown by the investigation of the claim; and Rule
14 VAC 5-400-80 D by failing to provide copies of the Defendants' prepared repair estimates to the vehicle owner with such frequency as to indicate a
general business practice.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendants have been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendants, without admitting or denying any violation
of Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendants have agreed to comply with the corrective action plan outlined
in company correspondence dated June 4, 2021, November 12, 2021, and March 28, 2022; have confirmed restitution was made to 52 consumers in the
amount of Twenty-one Thousand Six Hundred Eighty-one Dollars and Eighty-three Cents ($21,681.83); have tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum
Eighty-six Thousand Four Hundred Dollars ($86,400); and have waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendants pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendants, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendants' offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendants in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00053
AUGUST 15, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
DARRYL B. GREENE, JR.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Darryl B. Greene, Jr. (“Defendant™), duly licensed
by the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in Indiana on September 29, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated April 1, 2022, that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's April 1, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
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(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.
(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00054
AUGUST 15, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
LATEEF MUHAMMAD,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Lateef Muhammad ("Defendant"), duly licensed by
the State Corporation Commission (“Commission”) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (“Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in Illinois that was effective on September 27, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated April 1, 2022, that was
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's April 1, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00055
JUNE 8, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

GABRIELLE DOMINQUE PORTIS,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Gabrielle Dominque Portis (“"Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission, within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the
matter, any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report administrative actions taken against
the Defendant in New York on July 16, 2021, and in Kansas on September 17, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated April 1, 2022, that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's April 1, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission, within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter, any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00056
JUNE 8, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
CLENDON BROWN,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau”), it is alleged that Clendon Brown ("Defendant™), duly licensed by the
State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (*Virginia"), violated § 38.2-1831 (1)
of the Code of Virginia ("Code™) by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the
Commission on June 11, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.
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The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated April 26, 2022, that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's April 26, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially
incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00057
JUNE 17, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
MICHAEL BENJAMIN BURNS,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Michael Benjamin Burns ("Burns" or "Defendant"),
licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia™), but not
registered or affiliated with an insurance company or other financial services entity, as required, to offer and sell variable contracts, violated several
provisions of Virginia insurance laws.

Specifically, the Bureau alleges that Burns violated §§ 38.2-502 (1) and 38.2-502 (6) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by issuing and providing
an illustration that misrepresented the benefits, advantages, conditions or terms of an insurance policy and by misrepresenting material facts for the purpose
of inducing or tending to induce the conversion, replacement, or surrender of an insurance policy when the Defendant provided a client with an insurance
illustration from another insurer and replaced fixed products with variable products without the knowledge, understanding or request of the insured client;
§ 38.2-512 (A) of the Code by making or allowing to be made false or fraudulent statements or representations on or relative to an insurance application for
the purpose of obtaining a benefit from an insurer when the Defendant falsely represented himself as being registered to sell variable products and sold said
products to clients; § 38.2-512 (C) of the Code by (a) utilizing the signature of another person for the purpose of altering, changing or effecting the benefits,
advantages, terms or conditions of an insurance contract or document when the Defendant falsely portrayed himself as a variable licensed and registered
agent for an insurer (when he was not registered); and, (b) obtained insureds' signatures under false pretenses by selling and replacing the insureds' current
policies with a variable product that the insureds did not understand or request; § 38.2-1812 (B) of the Code by accepting commissions or other valuable
consideration resulting from the offer and sale of variable contracts while the Defendant was not registered with an entity authorizing him to do so; and
§ 38.2-1831 (10) of the Code by using fraudulent, coercive, or dishonest practices, or demonstrating untrustworthiness in the conduct of business in Virginia
when the Defendant fraudulently portrayed himself as a registered agent of an insurer authorized to sell variable contracts, completed applications with
clients, and sold numerous variable life insurance policies to insureds when the Defendant was not registered to do so.

Burns is a Virginia resident licensed with the following lines of authority: Life & Annuities, Health, and Variable Contracts.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission, wherein the Defendant has waived the right to a hearing; has voluntarily surrendered the
authority to act as an insurance agent in Virginia effective May 23, 2022; and has agreed not to make any application to transact the business of insurance in
Virginia for a period of five (5) years from May 23, 2022.
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The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00058
JUNE 8, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
JULIA CHAVIS,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau®), it is alleged that Julia Chavis ("Defendant"), duly licensed by the
State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission, within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the
matter, any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative actions taken
against the Defendant in Indiana on May 25, 2021; in Nevada on July 30, 2021; in Washington on August 20, 2021; in Ohio on October 19, 2021; and in
California on January 2, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated April 22, 2022, that was
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's April 22, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission, within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter, any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00060
AUGUST 12, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
PICHINDA HORN LACKEY,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Pichinda Horn Lackey ("Defendant"), duly licensed
by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in Pennsylvania on February 22, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 3, 2022, that was
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's May 3, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00061
AUGUST 11, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
MORRIS PETE WINDLESS, JR.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™), it is alleged that Morris Pete Windless, Jr. ("Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia™), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in New York on October 20, 2020.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.



123
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated April 26, 2022, that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's April 26, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00062
AUGUST 29, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
LEE-ANN YOUNG,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau"), it is alleged that Lee-Ann Young (“Defendant™), duly licensed by the
State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated § 38.2-1831 (1)
of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the
Commission on September 17, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated April 26, 2022 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's April 26, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially
incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application or any other document filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.
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(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.
(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00063
OCTOBER 18, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
JERIMIE ERNEST ARCHIE,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau”), it is alleged that Jerimie Ernest Archie ("Defendant™) duly licensed
by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against him in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report administrative actions taken in Kansas on
December 20, 2021 and Louisiana on March 16, 2022; and § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue
information in the license application or any other document filed with the Commission when the Defendant failed to disclose pending felony charges from
April 30, 2020.

The Commission is authorized by 88§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has waived the right to a hearing; has agreed to the suspension of his
license for a period of ninety (90) days effective from the entry of this order; and has agreed not to transact the business of insurance in Virginia for a period
of ninety (90) days effective from the entry of this order.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby SUSPENDED for a period of
ninety (90) days.

(3) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID for a period of ninety (90) days.

(4) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent for a period of ninety (90) days.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.
(6) This case is dismissed.

NOTE: A copy of the Admission and Consent is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control
Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00064
JUNE 9, 2022

APPLICATION OF
TIME INSURANCE COMPANY

For approval of an assumption reinsurance agreement pursuant to § 38.2-136 C of the Code of Virginia

ORDER APPROVING APPLICATION

By letter application ("Application™) filed with the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") dated June 2, 2022, Time Insurance Company,
in rehabilitation ("Time" or "Applicant"), a Wisconsin-domiciled insurer, by its Rehabilitator, the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance,
requested approval of the assumption and transfer (“assumption reinsurance agreement") of 751 long-term care insurance policies from Time to John
Hancock Life Insurance Company (USA) ("John Hancock™), a Michigan-domiciled insurer, effective on July 1, 2022, pursuant to § 38.2-136 C of the Code
of Virginia ("Code").

On April 10, 2019, the Commission entered an order suspending the license of Time to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth
of Virginia.t On July 29, 2020, the Circuit Court of Dane County, Wisconsin, entered an order placing Time into rehabilitation.? John Hancock is licensed
to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia and is in good standing.

Pursuant to § 38.2-136 C of the Code, the Applicant has requested that the Commission waive the policyholder consent to this transaction
required by § 38.2-136 B of the Code because a delinquency proceeding has been instituted against Time for the purpose of rehabilitating the insurer. The
assumption reinsurance agreement represents the Rehabilitator's plan to rehabilitate Time based on its determination of the best interest of policyholders.

The Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™), having reviewed the Application to ensure that Virginia policyholders will not lose any rights or claims
afforded under their original contracts pursuant to Chapter 17 of Title 38.2 of the Code, has recommended that the Application be approved.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the Application, the recommendation of the Bureau, and the law applicable hereto, is of
the opinion and finds that the Application should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the Application of Time Insurance Company for the approval of the assumption reinsurance
agreement pursuant to § 38.2-136 C of the Code is hereby APPROVED.

1 See Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation Commission v. Time Insurance Company, Case No. INS-2019-00049, 2019 S.C.C. Ann. Rept.
78, Consent Order (April 10, 2019).

2 In re Rehab. of Time Ins. Co., No. 2020-cv-1054 (Wis. Cir. Ct. July 29, 2020), available at
https://oci.wi.gov/Documents/Companies/FinTime072920200rderForRehabilitation.pdf.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00065
AUGUST 15, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
ROBERT HOLLAND,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™), it is alleged that Robert Holland ("Defendant™), duly licensed by the
State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (“Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in Indiana on February 10, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 13, 2022, that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's May 13, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.
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NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00066
AUGUST 12, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
JEFFREY POLLARD,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Jeffrey Pollard ("Defendant"), duly licensed by the
State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report administrative actions taken against the
Defendant in New York on December 6, 2021, in South Dakota on November 9, 2021, and in Indiana on November 3, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 16, 2022, that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's May 16, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00067
AUGUST 12, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
ORLANDO VENTURA,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau”), it is alleged that Orlando Ventura ("Defendant™), duly licensed by
the State Corporation Commission ("Commission”) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in California on February 21, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 16, 2022, that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's May 16, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00068
AUGUST 12, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
RANDY MATTHEW VOJVODA,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau®), it is alleged that Randy Matthew Vojvoda ("Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report to the Commission an administrative action
taken against the Defendant in Florida on October 6, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.
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The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 16, 2022, that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's May 16, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00069
DECEMBER 19, 2022

APPLICATION OF
NATIONAL COUNCIL ON COMPENSATION INSURANCE, INC.

For revisions of advisory loss costs and assigned risk workers' compensation insurance rates
FINAL ORDER

On July 15, 2022, the National Council on Compensation Insurance, Inc. ("NCCI"), filed an application with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) for approval of certain changes applicable to voluntary market advisory loss costs and assigned risk rates and rating values for new and
renewal workers' compensation insurance policies becoming effective on or after April 1, 2023 ("Application™).> The Application consists of two separate
components: an advisory loss cost filing and an assigned risk rate filing. Both the advisory loss cost filing and the assigned risk rate filing address the same
two categories of workers' compensation classifications: (i) industrial classifications, including coal mine classifications; and (ii) federal ("F")
classifications.

With respect to advisory loss costs, NCCI proposed an overall decrease of 6.8% for industrial classifications; an overall decrease of 14.8% for the
F classifications; an overall decrease of 13.6% for the surface coal mine classification; and an overall decrease of 12.4% for the underground coal mine
classification.?

With respect to the assigned risk rates, NCCI proposed an overall decrease of 2.9% for industrial classifications; an overall decrease of 11.2% for
F classifications; an overall decrease of 15.1% for the surface coal mine classification; and an overall decrease of 13.9% for the underground coal mine
classification.®

! Exhibit ("Ex.") 2 (Application). The Commission's Order Docketing Case, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 220650023 (June 27, 2022), assigned this matter to a
hearing examiner to oversee the proceedings and established the procedural schedule for the filing of the Application and other responsive documents. The
Order Docketing Case was entered after NCCI submitted a proposed schedule for these proceedings as instructed by the Commission in ordering paragraph
(4) of its Final Order in Case No. INS-2021-00081 (Doc. Con. Cen. No. 211230103, December 17, 2021).

2 See e.g. Ex. 4 (Rosen Direct) at 2 and 17.

®1d.
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Along with its Application, NCCI filed the direct testimony and exhibits of Jay A. Rosen ("Mr. Rosen™), NCCI's actuary, and Dr. Leonard F.
Herk ("Dr. Herk"), NCCI's economist. Through these testimonies, NCCI stated that the Application generally used the methodologies approved by the
Commission or mutually agreed to by the Virginia Working Group ("Working Group™),* to calculate the advisory loss costs, assigned risk rates, and rating
values, with certain identified exceptions,® and developed a proposed profit and contingency factor ("P&C Factor") of 1.5% for use in its methodology
calculations.®

On September 16, 2022, the Commission's Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau") filed the direct testimony and exhibits of its actuary Scott J. Lefkowitz
("Mr. Lefkowitz"), and its economist, Dr. Raymond E. Spudeck ("Dr. Spudeck™). Through these testimonies, the Bureau accepted NCCI's proposed 1.5%
P&C Factor as appropriate for this proceeding, without stipulating to the methodology used by NCCI to calculate this value.” The Bureau otherwise found
the advisory loss costs and assigned risk rates proposed by NCCI in the Application to be acceptable.?

Though the Office of the Attorney General's Division of Consumer Counsel ("Consumer Counsel"), the Iron Workers Employers Association,
and the Washington Construction Employers Association (the "Associations") previously filed Notices of Participation, none filed direct testimony in
response to the Application.

On October 26, 2022, the Hearing Examiner held a virtual hearing, using the Commission's web-based video platform, to consider the
Application.® Charles H. Tenser, Esquire, appeared on behalf of NCCI; Patricia A.C. McCullagh, Esquire, appeared on behalf of the Bureau; C. Meade
Browder, Esquire, and John Farmer, Esquire, appeared on behalf of Consumer Counsel; and Fred Codding, Esquire, appeared on behalf of the Associations.
No public witnesses appeared to testify at the hearing. Further, the written direct testimonies of Mr. Rosen, Dr. Herk, Mr. Lefkowitz and Dr. Spudeck were
admitted into evidence.

During the hearing, Consumer Counsel, through its counsel, asserted that it believed the rates proposed by NCCI in the Application were
appropriate but, like the Bureau, did not stipulate to the methodologies used by NCCI to calculate the P&C Factor. The Associations did not present any
testimony and did not raise any issues concerning the advisory loss costs, assigned risk rates or P& C Factor, but did express concern regarding how
misclassification purportedly affects the premium being used by NCCI to set rates in Virginia. As such, the Associations requested that the Commission
direct the Working Group to review what the Associations characterized as a "premium fraud" issue.°

On November 17, 2022, the Hearing Examiner issued a report (“Report") recommending that the Commission enter an order:
(1) APPROVING NCCI's Application for revision of advisory loss costs and assigned risk workers' compensation insurance rates;

(2) DIRECTING the new revised loss costs and assigned risk workers' compensation insurance rates be applied to new and renewal policies
effective on and after April 1, 2023;

(3) DIRECTING the Working Group and its members to continue to meet and address any ongoing concerns regarding Virginia's workers'
compensation insurance rates, changes in workers' compensation insurance data, or any other item that could potentially impact the workers' compensation
insurance ratemaking process in Virginia; and

(4) DISMISSING this case.!t

However, the Hearing Examiner did not recommend that the premium fraud issue proffered by the Associations be subject to review by the
Working Group, as this type of investigation would fall beyond the scope of the Working Group's function.?? The Report also directed that any comments to
the Report be filed on or before December 8, 2022.

Consumer Counsel filed comments to the Report on December 8, 2022, reiterating its position that Consumer Counsel did not oppose the
advisory loss costs and assigned risk rates proposed by NCCI in the Application, that Consumer Counsel did not endorse the methodologies used to calculate
these values, and that the methodologies should be subject to ongoing review. None of the other participants filed comments to the Report.

4 The Working Group was established upon prior direction of the Commission. The Working Group is tasked with using the expertise of its members to
discuss and resolve specific actuarial or economic issues. The Working Group then presents these outcomes to the Commission with the intent to enhance
the efficiency of these proceedings.

® See Ex. 4 (Rosen Direct) at 4-17.

6 See Ex. 3 (Herk Direct) at 16 and Schedule LFH-1.

7 See Ex. 6 (Spudeck Direct) at 5 and 12. As in prior years, the Commission is not adopting NCCI's proposed methodology for calculating the P&C Factor.

8 See e.g. Ex. 7 (Lefkowitz Direct) at 3.

® See Motion to Convert to Virtual Hearing, October 3, 2022 (Doc. Con. Cen. No. 221010011) and Hearing Examiner’s Ruling, October 5, 2022 (Doc. Con.
Cen. No. 221010069).

© Ty, at 7-10, 42.
11 Report at 16-17.

21d. at 16.
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NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, concludes that the Hearing Examiner's findings and recommendations are
reasonable, supported by law and the evidence, and should be adopted herein.** The Commission thus finds and ORDERS THAT:

(1) The findings and recommendations of the Hearing Examiner are adopted as set forth herein.

(2) The Hearing Examiner's findings and recommendations, as set forth above, are hereby ordered. Therefore, the following changes applicable
to the voluntary market advisory loss costs and assigned risk rates shall be, and they are hereby, APPROVED for use with respect to new and renewal

workers' compensation insurance policies effective on or after April 1, 2023:

Advisory Loss Costs

Industrial Classes (general) 6.8 % decrease
Federal Classes 14.8 % decrease
Surface Coal (Class 1005) 13.6 % decrease
Underground Coal (Class 1016) 12.4 % decrease
Assigned Risk Rates

Industrial Classes (general) 2.9 % decrease
Federal Classes 11.2 % decrease
Surface Coal (Class 1005) 15.1 % decrease
Underground Coal (Class 1016) 13.9 % decrease

(3) Consistent with the Hearing Examiner's Report, the Working Group is directed to meet, review, and attempt to reach consensus as to the most
appropriate method to calculate Virginia voluntary market advisory loss costs and assigned risk rates for any future proceedings. However, the Working
Group is not directed to evaluate the premium fraud issue proffered by the Associations.

(4) On or before June 5, 2023, NCCI, the Bureau, Consumer Counsel, and the Associations shall recommend jointly to the Commission a
proposed schedule for any year 2024 voluntary market advisory loss costs and/or assigned risk rate revision proceeding before the Commission. The
proposed schedule shall address: (1) “pre-filing" of any discovery requests by the Bureau, Consumer Counsel, and any other parties; (2) the date on which
NCCI proposes to file with the Commission any voluntary market advisory loss costs and/or assigned risk rate revision application and its direct testimony;
(3) the date on which NCCI proposes to file its responses to pre-filed discovery requests; (4) the dates for the pre-filing of the direct testimony of the Bureau,
Consumer Counsel, and any respondents; (5) the date for filing by NCCI of its rebuttal testimony; and (6) the date(s) of any proposed hearing before the
Commission.

13 See, e.g., Report.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00070
JULY 13, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
AMERICAN MODERN HOME INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct inquiry performed by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that American Modern Home Insurance
Company ("Defendant"), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of
Virginia ("Virginia"), in certain instances violated: § 38.2-317 A of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to use an insurance policy or endorsement as of
the effective date that such policy or endorsement was filed with the Commission; and § 38.2-1906 D of the Code by making or issuing an insurance contract
or policy not in accordance with the rate and supplementary rate information filings that are in effect for the company.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has agreed to comply with the corrective action plan outlined in
company correspondence dated March 2, 2022; has confirmed restitution was made to three consumers in the amount of Eighty-nine Dollars and
Twenty-four Cents ($89.24); has tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500); and has waived the right to
a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.
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Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00071
JUNE 30, 2022

APPLICATION OF
TIME INSURANCE COMPANY

For approval of an assumption reinsurance agreement pursuant to § 38.2-136 C of the Code of Virginia

ORDER APPROVING APPLICATION

By letter application ("Application™) filed with the State Corporation Commission (“Commission”) dated June 15, 2022, Time Insurance
Company, in rehabilitation (“Time" or "Applicant"), a Wisconsin-domiciled insurer, by its Rehabilitator, the Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of
Insurance, requested approval of the assumption and transfer (“assumption reinsurance agreement™) of 1,428 life insurance and annuity policies from Time
to Talcott Resolution Life and Annuity Insurance Company (“Talcott™), a Connecticut-domiciled insurer, effective on July 1, 2022, pursuant to § 38.2-136 C
of the Code of Virginia ("Code").

On April 10, 2019, the Commission entered an order suspending the license of Time to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth
of Virginia! On July 29, 2020, the Circuit Court of Dane County, Wisconsin, entered an order placing Time into rehabilitation.? Talcott is licensed to
transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia and is in good standing.

Pursuant to § 38.2-136 C of the Code, the Applicant has requested that the Commission waive the policyholder consent to this transaction
required by § 38.2-136 B of the Code because a delinquency proceeding has been instituted against Time for the purpose of rehabilitating the insurer. The
assumption reinsurance agreement represents the Rehabilitator's plan to rehabilitate Time based on its determination of the best interest of policyholders.

The Bureau of Insurance (“"Bureau™), having reviewed the Application to ensure that Virginia policyholders will not lose any rights or claims
afforded under their original contracts pursuant to Chapter 17 of Title 38.2 of the Code, has recommended that the Application be approved.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the Application, the recommendation of the Bureau, and the law applicable hereto, is of the
opinion and finds that the Application should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the Application of Time Insurance Company for the approval of the assumption reinsurance agreement
pursuant to § 38.2-136 C of the Code is hereby APPROVED.

1 See Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation Commission v. Time Insurance Company, Case No. INS-2019-00049, 2019 S.C.C. Ann. Rept.
78, Consent Order (April 10, 2019).

2 In re Rehab. of Time Ins. Co., No. 2020-cv-1054 (Wis. Cir. Ct. July 29, 2020), available at
https://oci.wi.gov/Documents/Companies/FinTime072920200rderForRehabilitation.pdf.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00072
JULY 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of Amending Rules Governing Insurance Holding Companies

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

Section 12.1-13 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") provides that the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) shall have the power to
promulgate rules and regulations in the enforcement and administration of all laws within its jurisdiction, and 8§ 38.2-223 of the Code provides that the
Commission may issue any rules and regulations necessary or appropriate for the administration and enforcement of Title 38.2 of the Code.

The rules and regulations issued by the Commission pursuant to § 38.2-223 of the Code are set forth in Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative
Code. A copy also may be found here: law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title14/agency5/.

The Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau") has submitted to the Commission proposed revisions to the rules set forth in Chapter 260 of Title 14 of the
Virginia Administrative Code, entitled "Rules Governing Insurance Holding Companies" (“Chapter 260").
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The revisions to Chapter 260 are necessary to implement 2022 General Assembly Session amendments to § 38.2-1329 of the Code,* which
require certain insurers that are members of an insurance holding company system to file a group capital calculation in accordance with the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners ("NAIC") Group Capital Calculation Instructions. The proposed revisions to Chapter 260 establish criteria for
when the Commissioner of Insurance may: (1) exempt an insurance holding company system from filing the annual group capital calculation; and (2) accept
a limited filing or report. The proposed revisions also establish criteria for when a non-reciprocal jurisdiction is considered to recognize and accept the
group capital calculation as the worldwide group capital assessment for the U.S. insurance groups that operate in that jurisdiction. The proposed revisions
include changes to definitions to align those terms with the new, proposed criteria.

The General Assembly also amended § 38.2-1330 of the Code,? regarding provisions to ensure the continuity of essential services and functions
to an insurer in receivership as well as to further clarify ownership of data and records of the insurer. The proposed revisions to Chapter 260 clarify that the
terms of cost sharing agreements between an insurer and an affiliated entity must include terms related to the insurer's ownership of data and records; the
duty of the affiliated entity to furnish data and records in usable format in the event of seizure, conservatorship or receivership; and the continued provision
by an affiliate of essential services and systems in the event of seizure, conservatorship or receivership.

Additionally, the proposed revisions to Chapter 260 will more closely align the regulations with current guidance prepared by the NAIC in its
Insurance Holding Company System Model Regulation, which was revised most recently in August 2021.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion that the proposal to amend the rules set forth in Chapter 260 of Title 14 of the Virginia
Administrative Code as submitted by the Bureau should be considered for adoption with a proposed effective date of November 1, 2022.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The proposed amendments to the Rules Governing Insurance Holding Companies, as set out at 14VAC 5-260-30, 14VAC5-260-80 and
14VAC5-260-87 of the Virginia Administrative Code, are attached hereto and made a part hereof.

(2) All interested persons who desire to comment in support of or in opposition to, or request a hearing to oppose, the adoption of the proposed
amended rules shall file such comments or hearing request on or before September 15, 2022, with the Clerk of the Commission, State Corporation
Commission, c/o Document Control Center, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218 and shall refer to Case No. INS-2022-00072. Any request for
hearing shall state why a hearing is necessary and why the issues raised in the request for hearing cannot be addressed adequately in written comments.
Interested persons desiring to submit comments electronically may do so by following the instructions at the Commission's website:
scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information. All comments shall refer to Case No. INS-2022-00072.

(3) If no written request for a hearing on the adoption of the proposed amended rules as outlined in this Order is received on or before
September 15, 2022, the Commission, upon consideration of any comments submitted in support of or in opposition to the proposal, may adopt the rules as
submitted by the Bureau.

(4) The Bureau shall provide notice of the proposal to all carriers licensed in Virginia and to all interested persons.

(5) The Commission's Office of General Counsel shall cause a copy of this Order, together with the proposal to amend the rules, to be forwarded
to the Virginia Registrar of Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations.

(6) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall make available this Order and the attached proposal on the Commission's
website: scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

(7) The Bureau shall file with the Clerk of the Commission a certificate of compliance with the notice requirements of Ordering Paragraph (4)
above.

(8) This matter is continued.

NOTE: A copy of the attachment entitled "Rules Governing Insurance Holding Companies™ is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation
Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

! See 2022 Va. Acts Ch. 113.

2 d.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00072
SEPTEMBER 27, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of Amending Rules Governing Insurance Holding Companies

ORDER ADOPTING REGULATIONS

On July 26, 2022, the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) entered an Order to Take Notice to amend rules set forth in Chapter 260 of
Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code, 14 VAC 5-260-10 et seq., entitled "Rules Governing Insurance Holding Companies” (“Rules").



133
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

The Order to Take Notice and proposed amendments to the Rules were posted on the Commission's website, sent to all carriers licensed in
Virginia that write insurance and to all persons known to the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™) to have an interest on July 28, 2022, sent to the Virginia
Attorney General's Division of Consumer Counsel ("Consumer Counsel™), and published in the Virginia Register of Regulations on August 15, 2022.
Licensees, Consumer Counsel and other interested parties were afforded the opportunity to file written comments or request a hearing on or before
September 15, 2022.

No comments were filed, and no request for a hearing was made, with the Clerk of the Commission.

The amendments to the Rules are necessary to implement amendments to § 38.2-1329 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"),* which require certain
insurers that are members of an insurance holding company system to file a group capital calculation in accordance with the National Association of
Insurance Commissioners Group Capital Calculation Instructions. The proposed amendments to the Rules establish criteria for when the Commissioner of
Insurance may: (1) exempt an insurance holding company system from filing the annual group capital calculation; and (2) accept a limited filing or report.
The proposed amendments also establish criteria for when a non-reciprocal jurisdiction is considered to recognize and accept the group capital calculation as
the worldwide group capital assessment for the U.S. insurance groups that operate in that jurisdiction.

The proposed amendments to the Rules also reflect amendments to § 38.2-1330 of the Code,? regarding provisions to ensure the continuity of
essential services and functions to an insurer in receivership as well as to further clarify ownership of data and records of the insurer. The proposed
amendments to the Rules clarify that the terms of cost sharing agreements between an insurer and an affiliated entity must include terms related to the
insurer's ownership of data and records; the duty of the affiliated entity to furnish data and records in usable format in the event of seizure, conservatorship
or receivership; and the continued provision by an affiliate of essential services and systems in the event of seizure, conservatorship or receivership.

The Bureau has recommended to the Commission that the amendments to the Rules be adopted.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the proposal to amend the Rules and the recommendation of the Bureau to adopt the
amendments to the Rules, concludes that the attached amendments to the Rules should be adopted, effective November 1, 2022.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The amendments to the "Rules Governing Insurance Holding Companies," as set out at 14 VAC 5-260-30, 14 VAC 5-260-80 and
14 VAC 5-260-87 of the Virginia Administrative Code, which are attached hereto and made a part hereof, are hereby ADOPTED effective
November 1, 2022.

(2) The Bureau shall provide notice of the adopted amendments to the Rules to all carriers licensed in Virginia and to interested persons.

(3) The Commission's Office of General Counsel shall cause a copy of this Order and the amendments to the Rules to be forwarded to the
Virginia Registrar of Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations.

(4) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall make available this Order and the attached amendments on the Commission's
website: scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

(5) The Bureau shall file with the Clerk of the Commission a certificate of compliance with the notice requirements of Ordering Paragraph (2)
above.

(6) This case is dismissed.

NOTE: A copy of the attachment entitled "Rules Governing Insurance Holding Companies" is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation
Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

! See 2022 Va. Acts Ch. 113.

2 d.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00073
JULY 15, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of Repealing and Adopting Rules Governing Individual and Small Group Market Health Benefit Plans and Excepted
Benefits Policies

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

Section 12.1-13 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") provides that the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") shall have the power to
promulgate rules and regulations in the enforcement and administration of all laws within its jurisdiction, and § 38.2-223 of the Code provides that the
Commission may issue any rules and regulations necessary or appropriate for the administration and enforcement of Title 38.2 of the Code.

The rules and regulations issued by the Commission pursuant to § 38.2-223 of the Code are set forth in Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative
Code. A copy may also be found at the Commission's website: scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.
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The Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™) proposes to update its current rules regarding accident and sickness insurance following significant changes
in this area. As part of this update, the Bureau has submitted to the Commission a proposal to repeal two existing chapters and promulgate two new
chapters. Specifically, the Bureau proposes to: (a) repeal the Rules in Chapter 120 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code entitled "Rules
Governing the Implementation of the Individual Accident and Sickness Insurance Minimum Standards Act with Respect to Specified Disease Policies,"
which are set out at 14 VAC 5-120-10 through 14 VAC 5-120-100; (b) repeal the Rules in Chapter 140 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code
entitled "Rules Governing the Implementation of the Individual Accident and Sickness Insurance Minimum Standards Act," which are set out at
14 VAC 5-140-10 through 14 VAC 5-140-100; (c) promulgate new Chapter 135 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code entitled "Rules Governing
Individual and Small Group Market Health Benefit Plans," which sets forth new rules at 14 VAC 5-135-10 through 14 VAC 5-135-60; and (d) promulgate
new Chapter 141 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code entitled "Rules Governing Accident and Sickness Excepted Benefits Policies; Short-Term
Limited Duration Insurance," which sets forth new rules at 14 VAC 5-141-10 through 14 VAC 5-141-160.

The repeal of Chapters 120 and 140 as well as the adoption of Chapters 135 and 141 is necessary because of significant changes in the landscape
of regulation pertaining to individual and small group health benefit plans, excepted benefits policies and short-term limited duration insurance in the last
decade. Separate and distinct requirements for most health benefit plans now exist, and a bright line divides these types of plans and "excepted benefits"
policies (as identified and defined in the Code of Virginia as well as the federal Public Health Service Act, 42 USC § 201 et seq.). In light of these changes,
the Bureau recommends repealing outdated rules and implementing new, separate chapters that distinguish these two major categories of accident and
sickness insurance to clearly identify the requirements for each category. Furthermore, these new chapters implement the provisions of Chapters
34 (8§ 38.2-3400 et seq.) and 35 (8§ 38.2-3500 et seq.) of Title 38.2 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion that Chapter 120 and Chapter 140 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code should be
repealed and that proposed new rules outlined at Chapter 135 and Chapter 141 as submitted by the Bureau should be considered for adoption on or about
January 1, 2023.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The proposal to repeal Rules at Chapter 120 entitled "Rules Governing the Implementation of the Individual Accident and Sickness Insurance
Minimum Standards Act with Respect to Specified Disease Policies” and Chapter 140 entitled "Rules Governing the Implementation of the Individual
Accident and Sickness Insurance Minimum Standards Act," and to adopt proposed new Rules designated as Chapter 135 entitled "Rules Governing
Individual and Small Group Market Health Benefit Plans" and Chapter 141 entitled "Rules Governing Accident and Sickness Excepted Benefits Policies;
Short-Term Limited Duration Insurance,” are attached hereto and made a part hereof.

(2) All interested persons who desire to comment in support of or in opposition to, or request a hearing to consider, the repeal of Chapters 120
and 140 and the adoption of proposed Chapters 135 and 141 shall file such comments or hearing request on or before September 30, 2022, with the Clerk of
the Commission, State Corporation Commission, c/o Document Control Center, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218. Interested persons desiring to
submit comments electronically may do so by following the instructions at the Commission's website: scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information. All
comments shall refer to Case No. INS-2022-00073.

(3) If no written request for a hearing on the proposal to repeal and adopt new rules as outlined in this Order is received on or before September
30, 2022, the Commission, upon consideration of any comments submitted in support of or in opposition to the proposal, may repeal and adopt the rules as
submitted by the Bureau.

(4) The Bureau shall provide notice of the proposal to repeal and adopt the new rules to all carriers licensed in Virginia to write accident and
sickness insurance and to all interested persons.

(5) The Commission's Office of General Counsel shall cause a copy of this Order, together with the proposal to repeal and adopt new rules, to be
forwarded to the Virginia Registrar of Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations.

(6) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall make available this Order and the attached proposal on the Commission's
website: scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

(7) The Bureau shall file with the Clerk of the Commission an affidavit of compliance with the notice requirements of Ordering Paragraph
(4) above.

NOTE: A copy of the attachment entitled Chapter 120 “"Rules Governing the Implementation of the Individual Accident and Sickness Insurance Minimum
Standards Act with Respect to Specified Disease Policies (Repealed)" and Chapter 140 entitled "Rules Governing the Implementation of the Individual
Accident and Sickness Insurance Minimum Standards Act (Repealed),” and to adopt proposed new Rules designated as Chapter 135 entitled “Rules
Governing Individual and Small Group Market Health Benefit Plans" and Chapter 141 entitled "Rules Governing Accident and Sickness Excepted Benefits
Policies; Short-Term Limited Duration Insurance” is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control
Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00073
DECEMBER 8, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of Repealing and Adopting Rules Governing Individual and Small Group Market Health Benefit Plans and Excepted
Benefits Policies

ORDER REPEALING AND ADOPTING REGULATIONS

On July 15, 2022, the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) entered an Order to Take Notice proposing to update its current rules
regarding accident and sickness insurance following significant changes in this area. As part of this update, the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau") submitted to
the Commission a proposal to repeal two existing chapters and promulgate two new chapters of the Virginia Administrative Code.

Specifically, the order proposed to: (a) repeal Chapter 120 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code entitled "Rules Governing the
Implementation of the Individual Accident and Sickness Insurance Minimum Standards Act with Respect to Specified Disease Policies,” set out at
14 VAC 5-120-10 through 14 VAC 5-120-100; (b) repeal Chapter 140 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code entitled "Rules Governing the
Implementation of the Individual Accident and Sickness Insurance Minimum Standards Act," set out at 14 VAC 5-140-10 through 14 VAC 5-140-100;
(c) promulgate new Chapter 135 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code entitled "Rules Governing Individual and Small Group Market Health
Benefit Plans," which sets forth new rules at 14 VAC 5-135-10 through 14 VAC 5-135-60; and (d) promulgate new Chapter 141 of Title 14 of the Virginia
Administrative Code entitled "Rules Governing Accident and Sickness Excepted Benefits Policies; Short-Term Limited Duration Insurance,” which sets
forth new rules at 14 VAC 5-141-10 through 14 VAC 5-141-160.

The Bureau has recommended the repeal of Chapters 120 and 140 as well as the adoption of Chapters 135 and 141 as necessary revisions because
of significant changes in the regulation of individual and small group health benefit plans, excepted benefits policies, and short-term limited duration
insurance in the last decade. The Bureau has noted that separate and distinct requirements for most health benefit plans now exist, and a bright line divides
these types of plans and “excepted benefits" policies as defined in § 38.2-3431 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") as well as the federal Public Health Service
Act, 42 U.S.C. § 201 et seq. In light of these changes, the Bureau recommends repealing outdated rules and implementing new, separate chapters to clearly
identify the requirements for each category of policies.  Furthermore, proposed Chapters 135 and 141 implement the provisions of
Chapters 34 (8 38.2-3400 et seq.) and 35 (8§ 38.2-3500 et seq.) of Title 38.2 of the Code.

The Order to Take Notice and proposed rules were posted on the Commission's website, sent to all carriers licensed in Virginia to write accident
and sickness insurance and to all interested persons known to the Bureau to have an interest in life and health insurance on July 22, 2022, sent to the Virginia
Attorney General's Division of Consumer Counsel (“Consumer Counsel™), and published in the Virginia Register of Regulations on August 15, 2022.
Licensees, Consumer Counsel and other interested persons were afforded the opportunity to file written comments or request a hearing on or before
September 30, 2022.

The Bureau received six sets of comments to the proposed rules, which were filed by the following: Health Benefits Institute; Delta Dental of
Virginia; Virginia Association of Health Plans; UnitedHealthcare; American Council of Life Insurers; and William Schiffbauer on his own behalf. No
request for a hearing was filed with the Clerk of the Commission ("Clerk").

The Bureau considered the comments filed and responded to them in its Response to Comments (“"Response"), which the Bureau filed with the
Clerk on November 10, 2022. In its Response, the Bureau addressed the comments and either recommended that various sections of the proposed rules be
amended or indicated why it did not believe suggested revisions were authorized or warranted.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the proposal to repeal and adopt rules, the comments filed, and the Bureau's Response,
concludes that Chapters 120 and 140 of the Virginia Administrative Code should be repealed effective January 1, 2023, and that the proposed regulations
should be adopted by the Commission, as modified and attached hereto effective January 1, 2023. The new rules shall be applicable to any new form
submitted to the Bureau for review on or after the effective date.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Chapter 120 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code entitled "Rules Governing the Implementation of the Individual Accident and
Sickness Insurance Minimum Standards Act with Respect to Specified Disease Policies," set out at 14 VAC 5-120-10 through 14 VAC 5-120-100, and
Chapter 140 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code entitled "Rules Governing the Implementation of the Individual Accident and Sickness
Insurance Minimum Standards Act," set out at 14 VAC 5-140-10 through 14 VAC 5-140-100 are hereby REPEALED effective January 1, 2023.

(2) Chapter 135 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code entitled "Rules Governing Individual and Small Group Market Health Benefit
Plans," set out at 14 VAC 5-135-10 through 14 VAC 5-135-60, and Chapter 141 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code entitled “Rules Governing
Accident and Sickness Excepted Benefits Policies; Short-Term Limited Duration Insurance," set out at 14 VAC 5-141-10 through 14 VAC 5-141-160, as
modified and attached hereto, are hereby ADOPTED effective January 1, 2023. The new rules shall be applicable to any new form submitted to the Bureau
for review on or after the effective date.

(3) The Bureau shall provide notice of the repeal and adoption of rules to all carriers licensed in Virginia to write accident and sickness insurance
and to all persons known to the Bureau to have an interest in life and health insurance.

(4) This Order and the attached regulations shall be made available on the Commission's
website: scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

(5) The Commission's Office of General Counsel shall provide a copy of this Order and the regulations to the Virginia Registrar of Regulations
for publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations.
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(6) The Bureau shall file with the Clerk an affidavit of compliance with the notice requirements of Ordering Paragraph (3) above.
(7) This case is dismissed.

NOTE: A copy of the attachment entitled "Rules Governing Individual and Small Group Market Health Benefit Plans" is on file and may be examined at the
State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00076
AUGUST 10, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY HOMESTATE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau"), it is alleged that Berkshire Hathaway Homestate
Insurance Company ("Defendant"), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the
Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), in certain instances violated § 38.2-1906 D of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by making or issuing insurance
contracts or policies not in accordance with the rate and supplementary rate information filings that are in effect for the Defendant.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has agreed to comply with the corrective action plan outlined in
company electronic correspondence dated February 14, 2022, March 8, 2022, and July 11, 2022; has confirmed restitution was made to 242 consumers in the
amount of Fifty-seven Thousand One Hundred Eighteen Dollars and Thirty-five Cents ($57,118.35); and has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00077
AUGUST 31, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
COUNSEL TITLE, LLC,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Counsel Title, LLC ("Defendant™), duly licensed by
the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), in certain instances
violated § 55.1-1014 A of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by conducting a settlement on a Virginia property on April 29, 2022 without being registered with
the Bureau as required; § 55.1-1008 A of the Code by failing to handle funds in a fiduciary capacity as evidenced by the Bureau's investigation that revealed
four outstanding disbursements held in excess of one year and one negative file balance; and 14 VAC 5-395-30 A of the Virginia Administrative Code,
14 VAC 5-395-10 et seq., by failing to register with the Bureau in accordance with the provisions of § 55.1-1014 of the Code.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 55.1-1015 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and revoke or suspend a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.
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The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has agreed to (i) immediately re-disperse stale settlement
disbursements to their rightful owners, (ii) immediately fund all negative file balances, and (iii) cease and desist from conducting settlements on property
located in the Commonwealth of Virginia until the Defendant is registered with the Bureau as required. The Defendant has tendered to the Treasurer of
Virginia the sum of Five Hundred Dollars ($500), and has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00080
AUGUST 31, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
DONNIS COKE,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“"Bureau"”), it is alleged that Donnis Coke (“Defendant™), duly licensed by the
State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated § 38.2-1831 (1)
of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the
Commission on February 23, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated June 17, 2022 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's June 17, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially
incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00081
OCTOBER 12, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
ELIAS J. COSMA,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau"), it is alleged that ("Defendant"), duly licensed by the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated § 38.2-1809 A of the
Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to respond to Commission employees or agents during an investigation; and § 38.2-1826 (A) of the Code by failing to
report within thirty (30) calendar days to the Commission and to every insurer for which the Defendant is appointed any change in the Defendant's residence
address, email address, or name.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 3, 2022 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's May 3, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1809 (A) of the Code by failing to respond to
Commission employees or agents during an investigation; and § 38.2-1826 (A) of the Code by failing to report within thirty (30) calendar days to the
Commission and to every insurer for which the Defendant is appointed any change in the Defendant's residence address, email address, or name.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00082
AUGUST 31, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
KRISTINA RENEE GODFREY,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Kristina Renee Godfrey ("Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in California on November 5, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.
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The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated April 26, 2022, that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's April 26, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00083
AUGUST 31, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
ABDI JEAN PIERRE,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (*Bureau®), it is alleged that Abdi Jean Pierre (“Defendant™), duly licensed by
the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application
filed with the Commission on May 26, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 27, 2022 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's May 27, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially
incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.
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(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00084
SEPTEMBER 29, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
MAKIYAH MCGRUDER,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau”), it is alleged that Makiyah McGruder ("Defendant"), duly licensed by
the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application
filed with the Commission on February 5, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated June 17, 2022 that was
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau and copied to two additional addresses where the Bureau learned the Defendant might
receive mail.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's June 17, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially
incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00086
SEPTEMBER 28, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
ANDRES TORO,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Andres Toro (“"Defendant™), duly licensed by the
State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated § 38.2-1831 (1)
of the Code of Virginia ("Code™) by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the
Commission on July 8, 2020.
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The Commission is authorized by 88 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 23, 2022 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's May 23, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially
incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00087
SEPTEMBER 29, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
NICHOLAS VANVONDEREN,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Nicholas Vanvonderen ("Defendant"), duly licensed
by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (“Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application
filed with the Commission on August 27, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 27, 2022, that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's May 27, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially
incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.
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(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.
(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00089
NOVEMBER 1, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
WILLIAM BRAULT,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau alleges that William Brault ("Brault" or "Defendant"),
duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"),
violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect and untrue information in the license application filed with the
Commission on April 22, 2022; and § 38.2-1831 (9) of the Code by having been convicted of a felony.

Brault is a South Carolina resident licensed with the following line of authority: Property & Casualty.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting nor denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission. In settlement, the Defendant has waived the right to a hearing; has voluntarily surrendered
the authority to act as an insurance agent in Virginia effective September 23, 2022; and has agreed not to make any application to transact the business of
insurance in Virginia for a period of one (1) year from September 23, 2022.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendant's settlement offer pursuant to the authority granted the Commission in
§ 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant's settlement offer should be accepted.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's settlement offer is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00091
NOVEMBER 18, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
LESLIE M. FONTENOT,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau alleges that Leslie M. Fontenot ("Defendant™) duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application
or any other document filed with the Commission; and § 38.2-1831 (9) of the Code by having been convicted of a felony.

Fontenot is a Louisiana resident licensed with the following line of authority: Health.
The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist

orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.
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The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission. In settlement, the Defendant has waived the right to a hearing; has agreed to the
suspension of her license for a period of ninety (90) days effective from the entry of this order; and has agreed not to transact the business of insurance in
Virginia for a period of ninety (90) days effective from the entry of this order.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendant's settlement offer pursuant to the authority granted the Commission in
§ 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant's settlement offer should be accepted.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's settlement offer is hereby accepted.

(2) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby SUSPENDED for a period of
ninety (90) days.

(3) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID for a period of ninety (90) days.

(4) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent for a period of ninety (90) days.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.
(6) This case is dismissed.

NOTE: A copy of the Admission and Consent is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control
Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00092
OCTOBER 27, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
KODIE JEROME HERTEL,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau®), it is alleged that Kodie Jerome Hertel (“Hertel" or "Defendant"),
duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"),
violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect and untrue information in the license application filed with the
Commission on April 5, 2021.

Hertel is a New York resident licensed with the following line of authority: Personal Lines.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting nor denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission, wherein the Defendant has waived the right to a hearing; has voluntarily surrendered the
authority to act as an insurance agent in Virginia effective September 13, 2022; and has agreed not to make any application to transact the business of
insurance in Virginia for a period of one (1) year from September 13, 2022.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00094
SEPTEMBER 29, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

DALPHANI LAVONNE ROGERS,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Dalphani Lavonne Rogers (“Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application
filed with the Commission on November 11, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated June 17, 2022 that was
mailed to the Defendant's address shown in the records of the Bureau, and was also e-mailed to the Defendant's updated e-mail address on July 20, 2022.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's June 17, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially
incorrect, misleading, incomplete or untrue information in the license application filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00095
OCTOBER 28, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
WILLIAM THOMAS SUTPHIN,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that William Thomas Sutphin ("Sutphin" or
"Defendant”), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia
("Virginia"), violated § 38.2-512 A of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by making or causing or allowing to be made false or fraudulent statements or
representations on or relative to an application or any document or communication relating to the business of insurance for the purpose of obtaining a fee,
commission, money, or other benefit from an individual; § 38.2-1812.2 A 1 of the Code by failing to obtain the applicant's consent in writing regarding the
services for which the fees are charged; and 8§ 38.2-1822 of the Code by knowingly permitting an agency to act, in this Commonwealth as an agent of an
insurer licensed to transact the business of insurance in this Commonwealth without first obtaining a license in a manner and in a form prescribed by the
Commission; and § 38.2-1826 C of the Code by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any
administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction or by another governmental agency in Virginia when the Defendant failed to report
an administrative action taken against the Defendant in Virginia in April 2022.

Sutphin is a Virginia resident licensed with the following line of authority: Property & Casualty.
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The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission, wherein the Defendant has waived the right to a hearing; has voluntarily surrendered the
authority to act as an insurance agent in Virginia effective August 8, 2022; and has agreed not to make any application to transact the business of insurance
in Virginia for a period of five (5) years from August 8, 2022.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00102
OCTOBER 17, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
NATIONAL LINK LP,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that National Link LP ("Defendant™), duly licensed by
the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), in certain instances
violated § 38.2-1825 F of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to designate within thirty (30) calendar days a new licensed producer, as required, when
the Defendant lost its previous designated licensed producer; § 55.1-903 of the Code by failing to record a deed, by not disbursing settlement proceeds
within two business days of settlement, and by disbursing settlement funds prior to recordation without written instructions; § 55.1-1008 A 1 of the Code by
failing to handle funds in connection with a settlement in a fiduciary capacity by failing to deposit said funds no later than the close of the second business
day when the Defendant joined settlement disbursements on various files to a common payee; § 55.1-1008 B 2 of the Code by failing to disburse settlement
funds pursuant to a written agreement when the Defendant disbursed funds to a party not listed on the settlement statement; as well as 14 VAC 5-395-50 D
of the Commission's Rules Governing Settlement Agents of the Virginia Administrative Code, 14 VAC 5-395-10 et seq. ("Rules") by failing to comply with
the annual escheatment requirement for unclaimed property as revealed during the Bureau's review of the Defendant's Virginia escrow accounts that
identified outstanding disbursements from 2016 through 2017; and Rule 14 VAC 5-395-75 (7) by failing to appoint a designated licensed producer by the
same title insurance company as its employer settlement agent.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 55.1-1015 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and revoke or suspend a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Five Thousand
Dollars ($5,000); has agreed to provide verification to the Bureau, within 180 days from the date of this Settlement Order, that outstanding file
disbursements associated with settlements twelve (12) months and older have been reissued and negotiated with the identified owners and/or escheated to the
Virginia Department of Treasury; and has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00107
DECEMBER 5, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
CHRISTIAN MOSHI,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“"Bureau"), the Bureau alleges that Christian Moshi ("Defendant"), duly licensed
by the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§38.2-1831 (1) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect or untrue information in the license application filed with the
Commission on May 17, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated September 19, 2022 that
was mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's September 19, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the
Code by providing materially incorrect or untrue information in the license application filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00110
OCTOBER 12, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
ADAM ABDULLAH,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau®), it is alleged that Adam Abdullah ("Defendant™), duly licensed by the
State Corporation Commission (“"Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (“Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1819 (A) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to, at the time of applying for a license, pay a nonrefundable application processing fee in an
amount and in a manner prescribed by the Commission.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 31, 2022 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.
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The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's May 31, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1819 (A) of the Code by failing to, at the time of
applying for a license, pay a nonrefundable application processing fee in an amount and in a manner prescribed by the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00111
OCTOBER 14, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
TAMI DELONG,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Tami Delong (“"Defendant™), duly licensed by the
State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (“Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative
action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report administrative actions taken against the Defendant in the state
of Washington on April 9, 2021, in Indiana on June 14, 2021, in Wisconsin on November 30, 2021, in Pennsylvania on December 13, 2021, in South Dakota
on December 20, 2021, and in Wisconsin on January 19, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letters dated April 22, 2022 and
June 8, 2022, that were mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau and provided by the United States Postal
Service.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's April 22, 2022 and June 8, 2022 letters.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.
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(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00112
OCTOBER 12, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
MARIO HUMBERTO PINZON,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Mario Humberto Pinzon ("Defendant™), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in New York on November 5, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated May 27, 2022, that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's May 27, 2022, letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00113
OCTOBER 14, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

TIMOTHY FRANCIS PREM, JR,,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Timothy Francis Prem, Jr. ("Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia™), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in Nevada on March 26, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated April 26, 2022, that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's April 26, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00114
OCTOBER 28, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
SEEK INSURANCE SERVICES, INC.,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™), it is alleged that Seek Insurance Services, Inc. ("Defendant™), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia™), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in New Jersey on December 7, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.
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The Defendant has been notified of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated April 22, 2022, that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's April 22, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agency.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code by failing to report to the
Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another
jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agency is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agency.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agency in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of
this Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00115
AUGUST 31, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
ACE AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct inquiry conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau"), it is alleged that ACE American Insurance Company
("Defendant™), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia
("Virginia"), in certain instances violated § 38.2-1906 D of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by making or issuing insurance contracts or policies that were not
in accordance with the rate and supplementary rate information filings that are in effect for the insurer.

The Commission is authorized by §8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has agreed to comply with the corrective action plan outlined in
company correspondence dated June 2, 2022 and June 17, 2022, has confirmed that restitution was made to 21 consumers in the amount of Four Hundred
Forty-five Dollars ($445), has tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500), and has waived the right to a
hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00116
AUGUST 31, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

FBALLIANCE INSURANCE INC.,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct investigation performed by the Bureau of Insurance (“"Bureau"), it is alleged that FBAIlliance Insurance Inc.
("Defendant"), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia
("Virginia"), violated § 38.2-1906 A of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to file with the Commission certain rate and supplementary rate information
for use in Virginia on or before the date it became effective.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has agreed to comply with the corrective action plan outlined in
company correspondence dated May 18, 2022; has confirmed restitution was made to 466 consumers in the amount of Sixty-nine Thousand Seven Hundred
Eighty-eight Dollars and Twenty-eight Cents ($69,788.28); and has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00119
SEPTEMBER 29, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
MILLERS CAPITAL INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), it is alleged that Millers Capital Insurance Company
("Defendant™), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia
("Virginia"), in certain instances violated § 38.2-1906 A of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to file with the Commission certain rates and
supplementary rate information for use in Virginia on or before the date they become effective.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendant has agreed to comply with the corrective action plan outlined in
company correspondence dated February 8, 2022, and March 25, 2022; has confirmed that restitution was made to 2 consumers in the amount of Five
Hundred Sixty Dollars ($560); and has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.
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Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00121
NOVEMBER 17, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

PEST ELIMINATORS LLC, and MARK THOMAS FARMER,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“"Bureau"), it is alleged that Pest Eliminators LLC and Mark Thomas Farmer
(collectively, "Defendants") violated § 38.2-518 F of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by knowingly issuing a certificate of insurance that contained false
information.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendants have been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendants, without admitting or denying any violation
of Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission wherein the Defendants have tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Two
Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500), have agreed to cease and desist from future violations of § 38.2-518 F of the Code, and have waived the right to a
hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendants pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendants, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendants' offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendants in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.
(2) The Defendants shall immediately cease and desist from violating § 38.2-518 F of the Code.

(3) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00123
NOVEMBER 3, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
TIFFANY SMITH,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau™), the Bureau alleges that Tiffany Smith (*Defendant"), duly licensed
by the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1809 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing or refusing to permit the Commission or any of its employees or agents, including employees of the
Bureau, to make an examination of the Defendant's insurance records.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated July 27, 2022 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.
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The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's July 27, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1809 of the Code
by failing or refusing to permit the Commission or any of its employees or agents, including employees of the Bureau, to make an examination of the
Defendant's insurance records.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00124
OCTOBER 24, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
ALLSTATE PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct inquiry conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau has alleged that Allstate Property & Casualty
Insurance Company (“"Defendant"), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the
Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances violated § 38.2-1906 D of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by making or issuing insurance contracts or
policies that were not in accordance with the rate and supplementary rate information filings that are in effect for the insurer.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission. Through its settlement offer, the Defendant has agreed to comply with the corrective
action plan outlined in company correspondence dated July 29, 2022 and August 8, 2022, has tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Two
Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500), and has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendant's settlement offer pursuant to the authority granted the Commission in
§ 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant's settlement offer should be accepted.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's settlement offer is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00127
NOVEMBER 1, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

TRAVELERS PERSONAL INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau has alleged that Travelers Personal
Insurance Company ("Defendant™), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the
Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances violated § 38.2-1906 D of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by making or issuing an insurance contract or
policy not in accordance with the rate and supplementary rate information filings that are in effect for the company.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission. Through its settlement offer, the Defendant has agreed to comply with the corrective
action plan outlined in company correspondence dated May 2, 2022; has confirmed that restitution was made to 728 consumers in the total amount of One
Hundred Sixty-seven Thousand Four Hundred Twenty-seven Dollars and Thirty-one Cents ($167,427.31); and has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendant's settlement offer pursuant to the authority granted the Commission in
§12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
1. The Defendant's settlement offer is hereby accepted.

2. This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00129
OCTOBER 24, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

CHUBB NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY, and FEDERAL INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau has alleged that Chubb National Insurance
Company and Federal Insurance Company (collectively, "Defendants"), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the
business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances violated § 38.2-1906 D of the Code of Virginia (*Code") by making or issuing
insurance contracts or policies that were not in accordance with the rate and supplementary rate information filings that are in effect for the insurer.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendants have been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendants, without admitting or denying any violation
of Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission. Through their settlement offer, the Defendants have agreed to comply with the
corrective action plan outlined in company correspondence dated May 2, 2022, have confirmed that restitution was made to 123 consumers in the amount of
One Thousand Four Hundred Thirty-three Dollars ($1,433), and have waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendants' settlement offer pursuant to the authority granted the Commission in
§ 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendants' offer should be accepted.
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Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendants' settlement offer is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00130
OCTOBER 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
HARTFORD CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY, HARTFORD INSURANCE COMPANY OF THE MIDWEST,
TWIN CITY FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, and HARTFORD FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™), the Bureau has alleged that Hartford Casualty
Insurance Company, Hartford Insurance Company of the Midwest, Twin City Fire Insurance Company, and Hartford Fire Insurance Company (collectively,
the "Defendants"), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of
Virginia, in certain instances violated § 38.2-317 A of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by delivering or issuing an insurance policy form or endorsement
without having filed such policy forms or endorsements with the Commission and without receiving Commission approval of such policy forms or
endorsements in writing; and violated § 38.2-1906 A of the Code by failing to file with the Commission certain rates and supplementary rate information for
use in Virginia on or before the date they become effective.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendants have been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendants, without admitting or denying any violation
of Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission. Through their settlement offer, the Defendants have agreed to comply with the
corrective action plan outlined in company correspondence dated May 4, 2022, and have waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendants' settlement offer pursuant to the authority granted the Commission in
§ 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendants' settlement offer should be accepted.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendants' settlement offer is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00131
OCTOBER 26, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
BERKLEY NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct inquiry conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau has alleged that Berkley National Insurance
Company (“Defendant™), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of
Virginia, in certain instances violated § 38.2-1906 D of the Code of Virginia ("Code™) by making or issuing insurance contracts or policies that were not in
accordance with the rate and supplementary rate information filings that are in effect for the insurer.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.
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The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission. Through its settlement offer, the Defendant has agreed to comply with the corrective
action plan outlined in company correspondence dated September 19, 2022, has tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Two Thousand Five
Hundred Dollars ($2,500), and has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendant's settlement offer pursuant to the authority granted the Commission in
§ 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant's settlement offer should be accepted.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's settlement offer is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00138
OCTOBER 31, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
SADIA REDDEN,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau®), it is alleged that Sadia Redden ("Redden" or "Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report administrative actions taken against the
Defendant in Louisiana on May 5, 2022 and in Pennsylvania on May 26, 2022; § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially incorrect, misleading,
and untrue information in the license application filed with the Commission on December 23, 2021; and § 38.2-1831 (9) of the Code by having been
convicted of a felony.

Redden is a Florida resident licensed with the following line of authority: Health.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter, whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission, wherein the Defendant has waived the right to a hearing; has voluntarily surrendered the
authority to act as an insurance agent in Virginia effective September 20, 2022; and has agreed not to make any application to transact the business of
insurance in Virginia for a period of one (1) year from September 20, 2022.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the offer of settlement of the Defendant pursuant to the authority granted the
Commission in § 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the record herein, the offer of settlement of the Defendant, and the recommendation of the
Bureau, is of the opinion that the Defendant's offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The offer of the Defendant in settlement of the matter set forth herein is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00141
OCTOBER 31, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

WESTFIELD INSURANCE COMPANY and WESTFIELD NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau has alleged that Westfield Insurance
Company and Westfield National Insurance Company (collectively, "Defendants™), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") to
transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances violated § 38.2-2206 A of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by issuing
or delivering policies of motor vehicle insurance without an endorsement or provisions for uninsured or underinsured motorist insurance coverage.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendants have been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendants, without admitting or denying any violation
of Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission. Through their settlement offer, the Defendants have agreed to comply with the
corrective action plan outlined in company correspondence dated April 26, 2021, August 2, 2021 and September 6, 2022; have confirmed that restitution was
made to five consumers in the total amount of One Hundred Eight Thousand Eight Hundred Eight Dollars and One Cent ($108,808.01); have tendered to the
Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000); and have waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendants' settlement offer pursuant to the authority granted the Commission in
§ 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendants' settlement offer should be accepted.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendants' settlement offer is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00142
OCTOBER 31, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
HARTFORD INSURANCE COMPANY, PROPERTY CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY OF HARTFORD,
TRUMBULL INSURANCE COMPANY, and TWIN CITY FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau™), the Bureau has alleged that Hartford Casualty
Insurance Company, Property Casualty Insurance Company of Hartford, Trumbull Insurance Company, and Twin City Fire Insurance Company
(collectively, the "Defendants"), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the
Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances violated § 38.2-1906 D of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by making or issuing insurance contracts or
policies that were not in accordance with the rate and supplementary rate information filings that are in effect for the insurer.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendants have been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendants, without admitting or denying any violation
of Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission. Through their settlement offer, the Defendants have agreed to comply with the
corrective action plan outlined in company correspondence dated November 18, 2021, November 19, 2021, November 23, 2021, and May 13, 2022; have
confirmed that restitution was made to 414 consumers in the total amount of Thirty Thousand Thirty Dollars and Forty-eight Cents ($30,030.48); and have
waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendants' settlement offer pursuant to the authority granted the Commission in
§ 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendants' settlement offer should be accepted.
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Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendants' settlement offer is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00143
OCTOBER 31, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
CENTRAL MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau has alleged that Central Mutual Insurance
Company ("Defendant"), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of
Virginia, in certain instances violated § 38.2-1906 D of the Code of Virginia (“Code") by making or issuing insurance contracts or policies that were not in
accordance with the rate and supplementary rate information filings that are in effect for the insurer.

The Commission is authorized by §8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission. Through its settlement offer, the Defendant has agreed to comply with the corrective
action plan outlined in company correspondence dated March 4, 2022, March 14, 2022 and September 16, 2022; confirmed that restitution was made to four
consumers in the total amount of Ten Thousand Eight Hundred Fifty-one Dollars and Fifty-two Cents ($10,851.52); and has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendant's settlement offer pursuant to the authority granted the Commission in
§12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant's settlement offer should be accepted.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's settlement offer is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00146
NOVEMBER 3, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
MINDY CARPENTER,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau"), the Bureau alleges that Mindy Carpenter (“Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 (C) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in Pennsylvania July 11, 2022; § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially incorrect, misleading or untrue information in the license
application filed with the Commission on February 21, 2022; and § 38.2-1831 (9) of the Code by having been convicted of a felony.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated September 2, 2022 that
was mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.
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The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's September 2, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 (C) of the
Code by failing to report to the Commission within thirty (30) calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the
Defendant in another jurisdiction; § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially incorrect, misleading or untrue information in the license application
filed with the Commission; and § 38.2-1831 (9) of the Code by having been convicted of a felony.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00147
NOVEMBER 3, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
NICHOLAS MEYER,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau alleges that Nicholas Meyer ("Defendant"), duly licensed
by the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1819 (A) of the Code of Virginia (“Code") by failing to, at the time of applying for a license, pay a nonrefundable application processing fee in an
amount and in a manner prescribed by the Commission.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated September 19, 2022 that
was mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's September 19, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1819 (A) of the
Code by failing to, at the time of applying for a license, pay a nonrefundable application processing fee in an amount and in a manner prescribed by the
Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.
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(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00151
NOVEMBER 17, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

CHURCH MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, S.1.,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau has alleged that Church Mutual Insurance
Company, S.I. ("Defendant™), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the
Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances violated § 38.2-317 H of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to notify the Commission prior to the
effective date of the filing that the insurer is not going to accept insurance policies or endorsements filed on its behalf by its rate service organization; and
violated § 38.2-1906 D of the Code by making or issuing insurance contracts or policies that were not in accordance with the rate and supplementary rate
information filings that are in effect for the insurer.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission. Through its settlement offer, the Defendant has agreed to comply with the corrective
action plan outlined in company correspondence dated August 25, 2022 and September 1, 2022; and has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendant's settlement offer pursuant to the authority granted the Commission in
§ 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant's settlement offer should be accepted.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's settlement offer is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00152
NOVEMBER 3, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
NOVA CASUALTY COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau has alleged that Nova Casualty Company
("Defendant™), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia,
in certain instances violated § 38.2-317 H of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to notify the Commission prior to the effective date of the filing that
the insurer is not going to accept insurance policies or endorsements filed on its behalf by its rate service organization; and violated § 38.2-1906 D of the
Code by making or issuing insurance contracts or policies that were not in accordance with the rate and supplementary rate information filings that are in
effect for the insurer.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission. Through its settlement offer, the Defendant has agreed to comply with the corrective
action plan outlined in company correspondence dated September 9, 2022; and has waived the right to a hearing.
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The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendant's settlement offer pursuant to the authority granted the Commission in
§ 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant's settlement offer should be accepted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Defendant's settlement offer is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00153
NOVEMBER 1, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
FREDERICK MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau has alleged that Frederick Mutual
Insurance Company ("Defendant"), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the
Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances violated § 38.2-1906 D of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by making or issuing insurance contracts or
policies that were not in accordance with the rate and supplementary rate information filings that are in effect for the insurer.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting or denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission. Through its settlement offer, the Defendant has agreed to comply with the corrective
action plan outlined in company correspondence dated May 5, 2022 and June 17, 2022; has confirmed that restitution was made to 11 consumers in the total
amount of Two Hundred Eighty-five Dollars and Fourteen Cents ($285.14); and has waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendant's settlement offer pursuant to the authority granted the Commission in
§ 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant's settlement offer should be accepted.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's settlement offer is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00154
OCTOBER 27, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of amending Rules Governing Standards for the Content of Dwelling Property Insurance Policies and Rules Governing
Standards for the Content of Homeowners Insurance Policies

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

Section 12.1-13 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") provides that the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) shall have the power to
promulgate rules and regulations in the enforcement and administration of all laws within its jurisdiction, and § 38.2-223 of the Code provides that the
Commission may issue any rules and regulations necessary or appropriate for the administration and enforcement of Title 38.2 of the Code.
Section 38.2-2108 of the Code provides that the Commission may establish standards for the content of policies written to insure owner-occupied dwellings
issued or delivered in the Commonwealth.*

The rules and regulations issued by the Commission pursuant to §§ 38.2-223 and 38.2-2108 of the Code are set forth in Title 14 of the Virginia
Administrative Code. A copy may also be found at the Commission's website: law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title14/agency5/.

The Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau") has submitted to the Commission proposed amendments to the Rules Governing Standards for the Content of
Dwelling Property Insurance Policies (14 VAC 5-341-10 et seq.) and Rules Governing Standards for the Content of Homeowners Insurance Policies
(14 VAC 5-342-10 et seq.) ("Amended Rules").2 Specifically, and solely, the Bureau proposes changing the deadline to submit filings for compliance from
December 31, 2022 to May 1, 2023; and proposes to require compliance for policies delivered or issued for delivery in Virginia from those with effective
dates on and after July 1, 2023, to those with effective dates on and after December 31, 2023. The Bureau believes the proposed Amended Rules will
facilitate effective and efficient review and approval of filings of dwelling property and homeowners insurance policies in compliance with the
Commission's regulations.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the Bureau's proposal, is of the opinion and finds that reasonable notice of the proposed
Amended Rules should be given, interested parties should be afforded an opportunity to be heard in accordance with the Commission's Rules of Practice and
Procedure, 5 VAC 5-20-10 et seq., and the proposed Amended Rules should be considered for adoption with a proposed effective date of
December 31, 2022.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The proposed Amended Rules are attached hereto and made a part hereof.

(2) Allinterested persons who desire to comment in support of or in opposition to, or request a hearing to consider, the proposed Amended Rules
shall file such comments or hearing request on or before December 5, 2022, with the Clerk of the Commission, State Corporation Commission, c/o
Document Control Center, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218. Requests for a hearing shall state why a hearing is necessary and why the issues
cannot be adequately addressed in written comments. Interested persons desiring to submit comments electronically may do so by following the instructions
at the Commission's website: scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information. All comments shall refer to Case No. INS-2022-00154.

(3) The Bureau shall file its response to any comments filed pursuant to Ordering Paragraph (2) on or before December 7, 2022.

(4) The Bureau shall provide notice of the proposed Amended Rules to all carriers licensed in Virginia to write fire and homeowners insurance
and to all interested persons.

(5) The Commission's Office of General Counsel shall cause a copy of this Order, together with the proposed Amended Rules, to be forwarded to
the Virginia Registrar of Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations.

(6) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall make available this Order and the attached proposed Amended Rules on the
Commission's website: scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

(7) The Bureau shall file with the Clerk of the Commission a certificate of compliance with the notice requirements of Ordering Paragraph (4)
above.

NOTE: A copy of the attachment entitled “Chapter 341 and 342 Rules Governing Standards for the Content of Dwelling Property and Homeowners
Insurance™ is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300
East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

1 The Commission adopted the current Rules Governing Standards for the Content of Dwelling Property Insurance Policies (14 VAC 5-341-10 et seq.) and
Rules Governing Standards for the Content of Homeowners Insurance Policies (14 VAC 5-342-10 et seq.) effective January 1, 2022. See Commonwealth of
Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation Commission, Ex Parte: In the matter of Repealing Rules Governing Standards for the Content of Fire Insurance or Fire
Insurance in Combination with Other Coverages, Adopting New Rules Governing Standards for the Content of Dwelling Property Insurance Policies and
Adopting New Rules Governing Standards for the Content of Homeowners Insurance Policies, Case No. INS-2021-00092, 2021 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 132,
Order Repealing and Adopting Regulations (Dec. 17, 2021).

2 The Bureau proposes amendments to 14VAC5-341-10 B and 14VAC5-342-10 B, which contain identical language.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00154
DECEMBER 8, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of amending Rules Governing Standards for the Content of Dwelling Property Insurance Policies and Rules Governing
Standards for the Content of Homeowners Insurance Policies

ORDER ADOPTING REGULATIONS

On October 27, 2022, the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission™) entered an Order to Take Notice to amend rules set forth in Chapter
341 of the Virginia Administrative Code, 14 VAC 5-341-10 et seq., entitled "Rules Governing Standards for the Content of Dwelling Property Insurance
Policies," and Chapter 342 of the Virginia Administrative Code, 14 VAC 5-342-10 et seq., entitled "Rules Governing Standards for the Content of
Homeowners Insurance Policies" ("Rules").

Specifically, and solely, the Commission's Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau") proposes changing the deadline to submit filings for compliance from
December 31, 2022 to May 1, 2023; and proposes to require compliance for policies delivered or issued for delivery in Virginia from those with effective
dates on and after July 1, 2023, to those with effective dates on and after December 31, 2023.*

The Order to Take Notice and proposed amendments to the Rules were posted on the Commission's website; sent to all carriers licensed in
Virginia to write fire and homeowners insurance and to all interested persons on October 31, 2022; sent to the Office of the Virginia Attorney General's
Division of Consumer Counsel (“Consumer Counsel"); and published in the Virginia Register of Regulations on November 21, 2022. Licensees, Consumer
Counsel, and other interested parties were afforded the opportunity to file written comments and request a hearing on or before December 5, 2022.

The Bureau received four comments to the proposed amendments to the Rules, which were filed by the following: American Association of
Insurance Services; Insurance Services Office, Inc.; National Association of Mutual Insurance Companies; and American Property and Casualty Insurance
Association. The Commission received no request for a hearing.

The Bureau considered the comments filed and responded to such comments in its Response to Comments (“"Response"), filed with the Clerk of
the Commission on December 6, 2022. In its Response, the Bureau indicates why it does not believe that suggested revisions are warranted.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the proposal to amend the Rules, the comments filed, and the recommendation of the Bureau to
adopt the amendments to the Rules, concludes that the attached amendments to the Rules should be adopted, effective December 31, 2022.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The amendments to “Rules Governing Standards for the Content of Dwelling Property Insurance Policies," 14 VAC 5 341-10 et seq. of the
Virginia Administrative Code and "Rules Governing Standards for the Content of Homeowners Insurance Policies," 14 VAC 5-342-10 et seq. of the Virginia
Administrative Code, which are attached hereto and made a part hereof, are hereby ADOPTED effective December 31, 2022.

(2) The Bureau shall provide notice of the adopted amendments to the Rules to all carriers licensed in Virginia to write fire and homeowners
insurance and to all persons known to the Bureau to have an interest in fire and homeowners insurance.

(3) The Commission's Office of General Counsel shall cause a copy of this Order and the amendments to the Rules to be forwarded to the
Virginia Registrar of Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations.

(4) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall make available this Order and the attached amendments on the Commission's
website: scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

(5) The Bureau shall file with the Clerk of the Commission a certificate of compliance with the notice requirements of Ordering Paragraph (2)
above.

(6) This case is dismissed.
NOTE: A copy of the attachment entitled “Chapter 341 and 342 Rules Governing Standards for the Content of Dwelling Property and Homeowners

Insurance™ is on file and may be examined at the State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300
East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.

1 The Bureau proposed amendments to 14VAC5-341-10 B and 14VAC5-342-10 B that contain identical language.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00156
DECEMBER 22, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
BRENDAN J. LAING,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau alleges that Brendan J. Laing ("Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by providing materially incorrect, incomplete, or untrue information in the license application filed with
the Commission on July 12, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated September 19, 2022, that
was mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's September 19, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1831 (1) of the
Code by providing materially incorrect, incomplete, or untrue information in the license application filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.
(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00159
DECEMBER 8, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
AMIR ASKEW,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™), the Bureau alleges that Amir Askew (“"Defendant™), duly licensed by
the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"™), violated
§ 38.2-p1826 C of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any
administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report administrative actions taken against the
Defendant in New York on March 12, 2021 and in North Carolina on February 23, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated September 19, 2022 that
was mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.
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The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's September 19, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the
Code by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the
Defendant in another jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00160
DECEMBER 8, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
RAASHAWYN BUSH,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau™), the Bureau alleges that Raashawyn Bush ("Defendant™), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any
administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in Kansas on May 18, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated September 19, 2022 that
was mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's September 19, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the
Code by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the
Defendant in another jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.
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(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00161
DECEMBER 8, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
DARRYL GREENIDGE,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau alleges that Darryl Greenidge ("Defendant™), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia™), violated
§ 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any
administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in Illinois on February 7, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated September 26, 2022 that
was mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's September 26, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the
Code by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the
Defendant in another jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00163
DECEMBER 8, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
BEAUJOLAIS C. RODRIGUEZ,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau alleges that Beaujolais C. Rodriguez ("Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia™), violated
§ 38.2-1826 A of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days any change in the Defendant's residence
address, email address, or name; and § 38.2-1826 C of the Code by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the
matter any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken
against the Defendant in Louisiana on March 23, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated September 26, 2022 that
was mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's September 26, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 A of the
Code by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days any change in the Defendant's residence address, email address, or name; and
§ 38.2-1826 C of the Code by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action
taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00165
DECEMBER 2, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
SELECTIVE INSURANCE COMPANY OF SOUTH CAROLINA, SELECTIVE INSURANCE COMPANY OF THE SOUTHEAST,
SELECTIVE INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA, SELECTIVE WAY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendants

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on a market conduct inquiry conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau has alleged that Selective Insurance Company
of South Carolina, Selective Insurance Company of the Southeast, Selective Insurance Company of America, and Selective Way Insurance Company
(collectively, the "Defendants™), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the
Commonwealth of Virginia, in certain instances violated § 38.2-1906 D of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by making or issuing insurance contracts or
policies that were not in accordance with the rate and supplementary rate information filings that are in effect for the insurer.
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The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219 and 38.2-1040 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendants have been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendants, without admitting or denying any violation
of Virginia law, have made an offer of settlement to the Commission. Through their settlement offer, the Defendants have agreed to comply with the
corrective action plan outlined in company correspondence dated October 11, 2022; have tendered to the Treasurer of Virginia the sum of Five Thousand
Dollars ($5,000) for each of the Defendant companies for a total of Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000); and have waived the right to a hearing.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendants' settlement offer pursuant to the authority granted the Commission in
§ 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendants' settlement offer should be accepted.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendants' settlement offer is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00166
DECEMBER 9, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
DEONDRA ABRAMS,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau alleges that Deondra Abrams (“Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 A of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days any change in the Defendant's residence
address, email address, or name; and § 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially incorrect, incomplete, or untrue information in the license
application filed with the Commission on October 2, 2020.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated September 26, 2022, that
was mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's September 26, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 A of the
Code by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days any change in the Defendant's residence address, email address, or name; and
§ 38.2-1831 (1) of the Code by providing materially incorrect, incomplete, or untrue information in the license application filed with the Commission.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00167
DECEMBER 16, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
LEVI ANGEL ALMONTE,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau”), the Bureau alleges that Levi Angel Almonte (“Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia™), violated
§ 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any
administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in Florida on September 13, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated October 11, 2022 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's October 11, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the
Code by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the
Defendant in another jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00168
DECEMBER 8, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
MELISSA N. CABRERA,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau alleges that Melissa N. Cabrera ("Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia™), violated
§ 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any
administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report administrative actions taken against the
Defendant in Illinois on March 30, 2022 and in North Carolina on June 6, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.
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The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated September 26, 2022, that
was mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's September 26, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the
Code by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the
Defendant in another jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00169
DECEMBER 22, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
CLEVELAND JACKSON,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau®), the Bureau alleges that Cleveland Jackson (“Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any
administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report administrative actions taken against the
Defendant in Indiana on October 19, 2021, and in Pennsylvania on July 15, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated October 11, 2022, that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's October 11, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the
Code by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the
Defendant in another jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.
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(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.
(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00170
DECEMBER 16, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
MICHAEL LEWIS,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau"), the Bureau alleges that Michael Lewis ("Defendant"), duly licensed
by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia (“Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any
administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in South Dakota on June 16, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated October 11, 2022, that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's October 11, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the
Code by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the
Defendant in another jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00172
DECEMBER 9, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.

STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.

PAIGE LAUREN MCDERMOTT,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“"Bureau"), the Bureau alleges that Paige Lauren McDermott ("Defendant™),
duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"),
violated § 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter
any administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report an administrative action taken against the
Defendant in California on July 8, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated October 11, 2022 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's October 11, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the
Code by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the
Defendant in another jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00173
DECEMBER 16, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

V.
ANTHONY MOORE,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau alleges that Anthony Moore ("Defendant™), duly licensed
by the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission”) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any
administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report administrative actions taken against the
Defendant in Florida on September 3, 2021 and on February 8, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.
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The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated September 26, 2022 that
was mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's September 26, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the
Code by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the
Defendant in another jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00174
DECEMBER 9, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
CYNTHIA ANNE MOORE,
Defendant

SETTLEMENT ORDER

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau”), the Bureau alleges that Cynthia Anne Moore (“Moore" or
"Defendant™), duly licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia
("Virginia"), violated § 38.2-512 B of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by affixing or causing to be affixed the signature of any other person to an insurance
document without the written authorization of the person whose signature appears on such document; § 38.2-1809 of the Code by failing or refusing to
permit the Commission or any of its employees or agents, including employees of the Bureau, to make an examination of the Defendant's insurance records;
and § 38.2-1813 A of the Code by failing to handle returned premiums in a fiduciary capacity and by failing to pay the funds to the insurer, insurance
premium finance company or agent entitled to the payment.

Moore is a Virginia resident licensed with the following line of authority: Property & Casualty.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violations.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing in this matter whereupon the Defendant, without admitting nor denying any violation of
Virginia law, has made an offer of settlement to the Commission. In settlement, the Defendant has waived the right to a hearing; has voluntarily surrendered
the authority to act as an insurance agent in Virginia effective October 26, 2022; and has agreed not to make any application to transact the business of
insurance in Virginia for a period of five (5) years from October 26, 2022.

The Bureau has recommended that the Commission accept the Defendant's settlement offer pursuant to the authority granted the Commission in
§ 12.1-15 of the Code.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant's settlement offer should be accepted.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Defendant's settlement offer is hereby accepted.

(2) This case is dismissed.
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CASE NO. INS-2022-00175
DECEMBER 16, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
MILO D. PERRAULT,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau"), the Bureau alleges that Milo D. Perrault ("Defendant"), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any
administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report administrative actions taken against the
Defendant in Wisconsin on March 28, 2022, in New York on February 16, 2022, in North Carolina on August 12, 2021, in Louisiana on April 23, 2021, in
Indiana on February 4, 2021, and in Pennsylvania on July 22, 2020.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated October 11, 2022 that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's October 11, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the
Code by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the
Defendant in another jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00178
DECEMBER 22, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
RANDY LEE WILLIAMS,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau”), the Bureau alleges that Randy Lee Williams (“Defendant™), duly
licensed by the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any
administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report administrative actions taken against the
Defendant in Florida on November 18, 2021 and in New York on March 15, 2022.

The Commission is authorized by 8§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.
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The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated October 11, 2022, that was
mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's October 11, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the
Code by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the
Defendant in another jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.

(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.

(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00185
DECEMBER 22, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
NATHAN COSBY,
Defendant

ORDER REVOKING LICENSE

Based on an investigation conducted by the Bureau of Insurance (“Bureau®), the Bureau alleges that Nathan Coshy (“"Defendant"), duly licensed
by the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission™) to transact the business of insurance in the Commonwealth of Virginia ("Virginia"), violated
§ 38.2-1826 C of the Code of Virginia ("Code") by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any
administrative action taken against the Defendant in another jurisdiction when the Defendant failed to report administrative actions taken against the
Defendant in Louisiana on April 11, 2022, in Pennsylvania on March 18, 2022, in California on November 10, 2021, in Wisconsin on August 18, 2021, in
Florida on July 29, 2021, and in Texas on July 13, 2021.

The Commission is authorized by §§ 38.2-218, 38.2-219, and 38.2-1831 of the Code to impose certain monetary penalties, issue cease and desist
orders, and suspend or revoke a defendant's license upon a finding by the Commission, after notice and opportunity to be heard, that a defendant has
committed the aforesaid alleged violation.

The Defendant has been advised of the right to a hearing before the Commission in this matter by certified letter dated September 26, 2022, that
was mailed and e-mailed to the Defendant's addresses shown in the records of the Bureau.

The Defendant, having been advised in the above manner of the right to a hearing in this matter, has failed to request a hearing in response to the
Bureau's September 26, 2022 letter.

The Bureau, upon the Defendant's failure to request a hearing, has recommended that the Commission enter an order revoking the Defendant's
license to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Defendant has violated § 38.2-1826 C of the
Code by failing to report to the Commission within 30 calendar days of the final disposition of the matter any administrative action taken against the
Defendant in another jurisdiction.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The license of the Defendant to transact the business of insurance in Virginia as an insurance agent is hereby REVOKED.

(2) All appointments issued under said license are hereby VOID.

(3) The Defendant shall transact no further business in Virginia as an insurance agent.
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(4) The Defendant shall not apply to the Commission to be licensed as an insurance agent in Virginia prior to sixty (60) days from the date of this
Order.
(5) The Bureau shall notify every insurance company for which the Defendant holds an appointment to act as an insurance agent in Virginia.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00186
DECEMBER 13, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of the assessment upon certain companies and surplus lines brokers to pay the expense of the Bureau of Insurance for the
calendar year 2023

ASSESSMENT ORDER

Pursuant to 8§ 38.2-400 and 38.2-403 of the Code of Virginia (“Code"),

IT IS ORDERED that there be, and there is hereby, ASSESSED, for the calendar year 2023, upon each company and surplus lines broker
subject to Title 38.2 of the Code, except premium finance companies licensed pursuant to Chapter 47 of Title 38.2 of the Code and providers of continuing
care registered pursuant to Chapter 49 of Title 38.2 of the Code, as its just share of the expense of maintaining the Bureau of Insurance, the greater of:
(i) $300 or (ii) a sum equal to 0.00025 (0.025%) of its direct gross premium income on business done in the Commonwealth of Virginia during the 2022
calendar year.

CASE NO. INS-2022-00190
DECEMBER 28, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of amending Rules Governing Multiple Employer Welfare Arrangements and Adopting Rules Governing Self-Funded
Multiple Employer Welfare Arrangements

ORDER TO TAKE NOTICE

Section 12.1-13 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") provides that “[i]n the administration and enforcement of all laws within its jurisdiction, the
[State Corporation Commission ("Commission™)] shall have the power to promulgate rules and regulations[.]" Section 38.2-223 of the Code provides that
after notice and opportunity for all interested parties to be heard, the Commission may issue any rules and regulations necessary or appropriate for the
administration and enforcement of Title 38.2 of the Code. Section 38.2-3420 B 4 of the Code provides that the Commission may adopt regulations
applicable to self-funded multiple employer welfare arrangements ("MEWAs").

The rules and regulations issued by the Commission pursuant to § 38.2-223 of the Code are set forth in Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative
Code. A copy may be found at: law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title14/agency5/.

The Bureau of Insurance ("Bureau") has submitted to the Commission a proposal to: (1) amend the Rules in Chapter 410 of Title 14 of the
Virginia Administrative Code entitled "Rules Governing Multiple Employer Welfare Arrangements,” which are set out at 14 VAC 5-410-10 through
14 VAC 5-410-80 ("Chapter 410"); and (2) adopt new Chapter 415 of Title 14 of the Virginia Administrative Code entitled "Rules Governing Self-Funded
Multiple Employer Welfare Arrangements," which sets forth new Rules at 14 VAC 5-415-10 through 14 VAC 5-415-130 (“Chapter 415").

The amendment of Chapter 410 and the adoption of Chapter 415 are necessary to effectuate recent amendments to Chapter 34 of Title 38.2 of the
Code providing for the licensure of self-funded MEWAs by the Commission.? The proposed amendments to Chapter 410 limit that chapter's applicability to
fully insured MEWAs.® New Chapter 415 establishes the requirements for licensure as a self-funded MEWA, and “address[es] the self-funded MEWA's
financial condition, solvency requirements, and insolvency plan and its exclusion, pursuant to § 59.1-592, from the Virginia Life, Accident and Sickness
Insurance Guaranty Association established under Chapter 17 (§ 38.2-1700 et seq.)".*

L In its 2022 session, the Virginia General Assembly amended Chapter 34 of Title 38.2 of the Code to provide for licensure of self-funded MEWAs. See
2022 Va. Acts Chs. 404 and 405.

2 See 2022 Va. Acts Chs. 404 and 405.

% In its proposed amendments to Chapter 410, the Bureau proposes changing the title of that chapter to "Rules Governing Fully Insured Multiple Employer
Welfare Arrangements." (Emphasis added)

4 See § 38.2-3420 B 4 of the Code.
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NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered the Bureau's proposal and the applicable law, is of the opinion and finds that reasonable notice
of the proposal to amend Chapter 410 and adopt Chapter 415 should be given, interested parties should be afforded an opportunity to be heard in accordance
with the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure, 5 VAC 5-20-10 et seq., and the proposal to amend Chapter 410 and adopt Chapter 415 should be
considered for adoption with a proposed effective date of May 1, 2023.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The proposal to amend Rules at Chapter 410 entitled "Rules Governing Multiple Employer Welfare Arrangements" and to adopt new Rules
designated as Chapter 415 entitled "Rules Governing Self-Funded Multiple Employer Welfare Arrangements" are attached hereto and made a part hereof.

(2) All interested persons who desire to comment in support of or in opposition to, or request a hearing to consider, the proposal to amend
Chapter 410 and adopt Chapter 415 shall file such comments and/or hearing requests on or before March 1, 2023, with the Clerk of the Commission, State
Corporation Commission, c/o Document Control Center, P.O. Box 2118, Richmond, Virginia 23218. Requests for a hearing shall state why a hearing is
necessary and why the issues cannot be adequately addressed in written comments. Interested persons desiring to submit comments electronically may do so
by following the instructions at the Commission's website:  scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information. All comments shall refer to Case No.
INS-2022-00190.

(3) The Bureau shall file its response to any comments filed pursuant to Ordering Paragraph (2) on or before April 3, 2023.

(4) The Bureau shall provide notice of the proposal to amend Chapter 410 and adopt Chapter 415 to all carriers licensed in Virginia to write
accident and sickness insurance and to all persons known to the Bureau to have an interest in accident and sickness insurance.

(5) The Commission's Office of General Counsel shall cause a copy of this Order, together with the proposal to amend and adopt new rules, to be
forwarded to the Virginia Registrar of Regulations for appropriate publication in the Virginia Register of Regulations.

(6) The Commission's Division of Information Resources shall make available this Order and the attached proposal on the Commission's
website: scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

(7) The Bureau shall file with the Clerk of the Commission a certificate of compliance with the notice requirements of Ordering Paragraph (4)
above.

NOTE: A copy of the attachment entitled "Rules Governing Self-Funded Multiple Employer Welfare Arrangements” is on file and may be examined at the
State Corporation Commission, Clerk's Office, Document Control Center, Tyler Building, First Floor, 1300 East Main Street, Richmond, Virginia.
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DIVISION OF PUBLIC SERVICE TAXATION

MATTER NO. PST-2022-00004
MAY 13, 2022
IN THE MATTER OF

The Assessment of the Special Regulatory Revenue Tax on Motor Vehicle Carriers and the Virginia Pilots' Association for the Tax Year 2022

ASSESSMENT ORDER

Pursuant to Article 6 of Chapter 26 of Title 58.1 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") is required
to assess a special regulatory revenue tax on common carriers of passengers by motor vehicle carrier in the Commonwealth of Virginia and the Virginia
Pilots' Association. On June 24, 2021, the Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation sent each certificated motor vehicle carrier and the Virginia
Pilots' Association a notice that its special regulatory revenue tax payment for the Tax Year 2022 would be due June 1, 2022.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the gross receipts of each such motor vehicle
carrier and the Virginia Pilots' Association from business done within the Commonwealth of Virginia for the year ending December 31, 2021, is determined
to be the amounts as recorded in the Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation, and the special regulatory revenue tax of two tenths of one percent
of the gross receipts from January 1, 2021 to June, 30, 2021, and twenty-two hundredths of one percent of the gross receipts from July 1, 2021 to
December 31, 2021, on said common carriers and the Virginia Pilots' Association for the Tax Year 2022 should be assessed.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

1. The special regulatory revenue tax imposed by law on the gross receipts of each certificated motor vehicle carrier and the Virginia Pilots'
Association shall be assessed as prescribed by Code 8§ 58.1-2660, 58.1-2663, and 58.1-2664.

2. The special regulatory revenue tax on each certificated motor vehicle carrier and the Virginia Pilots' Association shall be paid by June 1, 2022,
in accordance with Code § 58.1-2663.

3. The certified assessments shall be located in the Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation.

MATTER NO. PST-2022-00005
MAY 13, 2022

IN THE MATTER OF
The Assessment of the Special Regulatory Revenue Tax on Telecommunications Companies for the Tax Year 2022

ASSESSMENT ORDER

Pursuant to Article 6 of Chapter 26 of Title 58.1 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") is required
to assess a special regulatory revenue tax on telephone companies covered by Code § 58.1-2660 A 3. On June 24, 2021, the Commission's Division of
Public Service Taxation sent each such telephone company a notice that its special regulatory revenue tax payment for Tax Year 2022 would be due
June 1, 2022.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the gross receipts of said telephone companies
from business done within the Commonwealth of Virginia for the year ending December 31, 2021, is determined to be the amounts as recorded in the
Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation, and a special regulatory revenue tax of two tenths of one percent of the gross receipts from
January 1, 2021 to June 30, 2021, and twenty-two hundredths of one percent of the gross receipts from July 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021, on said
companies for the Tax Year 2022 should be assessed.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

1. The special regulatory revenue tax imposed by law on the gross receipts of each applicable telephone company shall be assessed as prescribed
by Code §§ 58.1-2660, 58.1-2662.1, and 58.1-2664.

2. The special regulatory revenue tax on each telephone company shall be paid by June 1, 2022, in accordance with Code § 58.1-2663.

3. The certified assessments shall be located in the Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation.
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MATTER NO. PST-2022-00006
MAY 13, 2022
IN THE MATTER OF

The Assessment of the Special Regulatory Revenue Tax and the State License Tax on Water Corporations for the Tax Year 2022

ASSESSMENT ORDER

Pursuant to Article 6 of Chapter 26 of Title 58.1 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") is required
to assess a special regulatory revenue tax on each corporation engaged in the business of furnishing water in the Commonwealth of Virginia. On
June 24, 2021, the Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation sent water corporations in the Commonwealth of Virginia a notice that its special
regulatory revenue tax payment for Tax Year 2022 would be due June 1, 2022.

Pursuant to Article 2 of Chapter 26 of Title 58.1 of the Code, the Commission is required to assess a state license tax on each corporation engaged
in the business of furnishing water in the Commonwealth of Virginia.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the matter, is of the opinion and finds that the gross receipts of said water corporations from
business done within the Commonwealth of Virginia for the year ending December 31, 2021, is determined to be the amounts as recorded in the
Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation, and a special regulatory revenue tax of two tenths of one percent of the gross receipts from
January 1, 2021 to June 30, 2021, and twenty-two hundredths of one percent of the gross receipts from July 1, 2021 to December, 31, 2021, on such water
corporations for the Tax Year 2022 should be assessed; and that the state license tax of two percent of the gross receipts on such water corporations for the
Tax Year 2022 should be assessed.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

1. The special regulatory revenue tax imposed by law on the gross receipts of each water corporation shall be assessed as prescribed by
Code § 58.1-2660 and § 58.1-2664.

2. The special regulatory revenue tax on each water corporation shall be paid by June 1, 2022, in accordance with Code § 58.1-2663.
3. The state license tax imposed by law on the gross receipts of each water corporation shall be assessed as prescribed by Code § 58.1-2626.
4. The state license tax on each water corporation shall be paid by June 1, 2022, in accordance with Code § 58.1-2635.

5. The certified assessments shall be located in the Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation.

MATTER NO. PST-2022-00007
MAY 13, 2022

IN THE MATTER OF
The Assessment of the Special Regulatory Revenue Tax on Railroad Companies for the Tax Year 2022

ASSESSMENT ORDER

Pursuant to Article 6 of Chapter 26 of Title 58.1 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), the State Corporation Commission (*Commission") is required
to assess a special regulatory revenue tax on each non-exempt railroad company doing business in the Commonwealth of Virginia. On April 15, 2022, the
Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation sent each railroad company a notice that its special regulatory revenue tax payment for Tax Year 2022
would be due June 1, 2022.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the gross transportation receipts of each such
railroad company from business done within the Commonwealth of Virginia for the year ending December 31, 2021, is determined to be the amount as
recorded in the Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation, and the special regulatory revenue tax of eighteen hundredths of one percent of said gross
transportation receipts on said company for the Tax Year 2022 should be assessed.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

1. The special regulatory revenue tax on each non-exempt railroad company shall be assessed as prescribed by Code 8§ 58.1-2660 through
58.1-2662 and § 58.1-2664.

2. The special regulatory revenue tax on each non-exempt railroad company shall be paid by June 1, 2022, in accordance with Code § 58.1-2663.

3. The certified assessments shall be located in the Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation.
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MATTER NO. PST-2022-00008
MAY 13, 2022
IN THE MATTER OF

The Assessment of the Gross Receipt Subject to the Minimum Tax on Telecommunications Companies and Certain Electric Suppliers for the Tax
Year 2022

ASSESSMENT ORDER

Pursuant to Article 10 of Chapter 3 of Title 58.1 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") is required
to certify to the Virginia Department of Taxation for each tax year the name, address, and gross receipts for each telecommunications company that is either
organized under Virginia law or a foreign corporation having income from Virginia sources. The Commission is also required to calculate and certify to the
Virginia Department of Taxation for each tax year the name, address, and minimum tax for certain electric suppliers.

The Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation has gathered the information necessary for the Commission to comply with these statutory
directives.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the gross receipts of each said company from
business done within the Commonwealth of Virginia for the year ending December 31, 2021, is determined to be as recorded in the Commission's Division
of Public Service Taxation; that the gross receipts subject to the minimum tax on said telecommunications companies for the Tax Year 2022 should be
certified to the Virginia Department of Taxation as calculated by the Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation; and that the gross receipts and the
minimum tax thereon for said electric suppliers for the Tax Year 2022 should be certified to the Virginia Department of Taxation as calculated by the
Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

1. Pursuant to Code § 58.1-400.1, the name, address, and gross receipts for each telecommunications company, as covered herein, shall be
certified to the Virginia Department of Taxation.

2. Pursuant to Code § 58.1-400.3, the name, address, and minimum tax as calculated from the gross receipts of each electric supplier, as covered
herein, shall be certified to the Virginia Department of Taxation.

3. The certified information shall be located in the Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation.

MATTER NO. PST-2022-00009
MAY 13, 2022

IN THE MATTER OF
The Assessment of the Rolling Stock Tax on Motor Vehicle Carriers for the Tax Year 2022

ASSESSMENT ORDER

Pursuant to § 58.1-2655 B of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) is required to assess the average
value of the rolling stock used by each certificated motor vehicle carrier in the Commonwealth of Virginia in accordance with Article 5 of Chapter 26 of
Title 58.1 of the Code. The Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation has prepared an assessment of the rolling stock of the certified motor vehicle
carriers in the Commonwealth of Virginia.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the assessments should be made and that the
rolling stock tax assessed for each certificated motor vehicle carrier is due and payable by June 1, 2022.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
1. The taxes imposed by law on such rolling stock shall be assessed as prescribed by Code § 58.1-2652.
2. The rolling stock tax assessed on each certificated motor vehicle carrier shall be paid by June 1, 2022, in accordance with Code § 58.1-2652 B.

3. The rolling stock taxes collected shall be apportioned to the various cities, counties, and incorporated towns of the Commonwealth of Virginia
as prescribed by Code § 58.1-2658.

4. The certified assessments shall be located in the Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation.
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MATTER NO. PST-2022-00013
SEPTEMBER 15, 2022
IN THE MATTER OF

The assessment of Water, Heat, Light, and Power Corporations; Electric Suppliers; Pipeline Distribution Companies; and Telecommunications
Companies for the 2022 Tax Year

ASSESSMENT ORDER

Pursuant to Chapter 26 of Title 58.1 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"),! the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") is required to assess
the value of reported property subject to local taxation of each telephone, water, heat, light, and power company, pipeline distribution company, and electric
supplier doing business in the Commonwealth of Virginia. Pursuant to Code 88 58.1-2627.1 and 58.1-2628, every telephone company, every corporation
furnishing water, heat, light, and power, whether by electricity, gas, or steam, every pipeline distribution company, and every electric supplier, unless
otherwise exempted by statute, is required to report to the Commission all of its real and tangible personal property of every description in the
Commonwealth of Virginia by April 15 of each year.

Pursuant to Code § 58.1-2634, a certified copy of the assessment made pursuant to Code § 58.1-2633 shall be forwarded by the Clerk of the
Commission to the comptroller, to the president or other proper officer of each company, to the governing body of each county, city, and town wherein any
property belonging to such company is situated, and to each commissioner of the revenue. The Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation has
gathered the information necessary for the Commission to comply with these statutory directives.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the matter, is of the opinion and finds that in accordance with the applicable statutes, it
should, and hereby does, ascertain and assess, as of the beginning of the first day of January 2022, the value of the real estate and all other tangible personal
property of said companies subject to local taxation.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) A certified copy of the assessments shall be forwarded to the comptroller, to the president or other proper officer of each company, to the
governing body of each county, city, and town wherein any property belonging to such company is situated, and to each commissioner of the revenue so that
local taxes may be imposed thereon.

(2) The certified assessments shall be located in the Commission's Division of Public Service Taxation.

1 Code § 58.1-2600 et seq.
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DIVISION OF PUBLIC UTILITY REGULATION
CASE NO. PUE-2002-00654
MARCH 11, 2022

APPLICATION OF
STAND ENERGY CORPORATION

For a license to conduct business as a natural gas competitive service provider

ORDER REISSUING LICENSE

On January 28, 2022, Stand Energy Corporation (“Stand" or "Company") completed the filing of an application ("Application") with the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission™) to amend its license to conduct business a competitive service provider.! Stand requested that the Commission
amend License No. G-17A2 to include providing retail natural gas supply service to eligible governmental and residential customers throughout Virginia.® In
its Application, Stand attested that it would abide by all applicable laws of the Commonwealth and regulations of the Commission as required by
20 VAC 5-312-40 B of the Commission's Rules Governing Retail Access to Competitive Energy Services ("Retail Access Rules").*

On February 14, 2022, the Commission entered an Order for Notice and Comment (“Procedural Order") requiring the Company to serve a copy
of the Procedural Order electronically upon the utilities listed on Attachment A of the Procedural Order on or before February 18, 2022, and to file proof of
service on or before February 23, 2022. On February 15, 2022, the Company filed its proof of service.

The Procedural Order also directed any comments in the matter be filed with the Clerk of the Commission on or before February 25, 2022. On
February 25, 2022, Virginia Natural Gas, Inc., filed a notice of participation in the case. No comments were filed.

The Procedural Order further directed the Staff of the Commission ("Staff") to investigate the Application and present its findings in a report
("Report"). The Staff filed its Report on March 3, 2022, which summarized Stand's proposal and evaluated its financial condition and technical fitness.
Based on its review of the Application, Staff recommended the following:

e that the Commission require Stand to provide proof of a performance bond or other acceptable financial security instrument, made payable
to the Commonwealth of Virginia, in the amount of $25,000;°

e that Stand establish an escrow account with a Virginia financial institution to comply with the requirements in 20 VAC 5-312-90 for the
protection of any customer deposits or prepayments;®

e that Stand be required to file proof of its firm transportation and storage capacity rights at least 30 days prior to serving any essential human
needs customers, as assurance that it will be able to meet the firm delivery service requirements of those customers;’ and

e aperiodic review of the level of financial security that is commensurate with Stand's business operations in Virginia and in consideration of
any fines, penalties, or sanctions imposed by any other jurisdiction in the future.®

The Procedural Order directed Stand to file any response to the Staff's Report by March 8, 2022. Stand did not file a response to the Report.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the foregoing and of the applicable law, finds that License No. G-17A should be cancelled
and reissued as License No. G-17B to Stand Energy Corporation.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

1 A pubic version of its Application and a Motion for Protective Order was filed by the Company on January 19, 2022. On January 24, 2022, the Company
filed the registration fee. On January 28, 2022, the Company filed the confidential version of the Application to complete its amendment filing.

2 Stand is authorized, pursuant to Commission issued License No. G-17A, to provide natural gas supply service to eligible commercial and industrial
customers throughout Virginia. License G-17A was issued by the Commission on November 28, 2005.

3 Retail choice for natural gas service presently exists only in the service territories of Washington Gas Light Company and Columbia Gas of Virginia, Inc.
Access to large commercial and industrial gas customers in all gas distribution service territories has existed under Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
authority since the mid-1980s.

420 VAC 5-312-10 et seq.

® Report at 6.

61d.

"1d.
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(1) License No. G-17A, issued to Stand to provide competitive natural gas supply services to eligible commercial and industrial customers
throughout Virginia, is hereby cancelled and reissued as License No. G-17B to Stand Energy Corporation to provide natural gas supply services to eligible
commercial, industrial, governmental, and residential customers throughout Virginia.

(2) Stand shall operate under the license pursuant to the same terms and conditions as set forth in the Order Granting License entered into this
docket on November 28, 2005. This license to act as a competitive supplier of natural gas supply service remains subject to the provisions of the
Commission's Retail Access Rules, this Order, and other applicable law.

(3) Stand shall provide to Staff proof of a performance bond or other acceptable financial security instrument, made payable to the
Commonwealth of Virginia, in the amount of $25,000.

(4) Stand shall establish an escrow account with a Virginia financial institution to comply with the requirements in Retail Access Rule
20 VAC 5-312-90 for the protection of any customer deposits or payments.

(5) Stand shall file proof of its firm transportation and storage capacity rights at least 30 days prior to serving any essential human needs
customers, as assurance that it will be able to meet the firm delivery service requirements of those customers.

(6) Staff shall conduct a periodic review of the level of financial security that is commensurate with Stand's business operations in Virginia and
in consideration of any fines, penalties, or sanctions imposed by any other jurisdiction.

(7) This license is not valid authority for the provision of any product or service not identified within the license itself.

(8) This case shall remain open for consideration of any subsequent amendments or modifications to this license.

CASE NO. PUE-2003-00468
MARCH 15, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION
V.
COLUMBIA GAS OF VIRGINIA, INC.,
Defendant

ORDER APPROVING STIPULATION

On January 28, 2004, the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") entered an Order of Settlement (“Settlement Order") with Columbia
Gas of Virginia, Inc. ("CVA" or the "Company"). The Settlement Order, among other things, required the Company to "locate and mark the underground
piping which extends from the outlet side of service meters known as 'farm taps' ("Farm Taps") in response to notices of excavation received on and after
February 2, 2004."

On January 14, 2020, the Company, by counsel, filed the Motion of Columbia Gas of Virginia, Inc., to Reopen Docket and Amend Order of
Settlement ("Motion"). Therein, CVA requested the Commission, pursuant to 5 VAC 5-20-110, Motions, of the Commission's Rules of Practice and
Procedure,? to reopen the docket in the above-captioned case and to amend the Settlement Order.® The Motion requested that CVA be relieved of the
obligation set forth in undertaking paragraph (2)(b) of the Settlement Order.*

On February 5, 2020, Commission Staff (“Staff") filed its Motion for Continuance of Filing and Hearing Dates, seeking time to meet with the
Company and discuss resolution of this issue.

On March 11, 2022, a Stipulation was filed in this case, in which Staff and the Company agreed upon the following regarding the relief requested
in the Motion:

1) The Company shall create notification areas for each Farm Tap at which there is customer owned piping downstream of the meter (“Farm
Tap Notification Areas") on the VA 811 base map and upload the Geographic Information System files to the Call Center's File Transfer
Portal website within 90 days from the entry of this Order;

2) The Company will utilize positive response code 12 (Customer Owned Piping) for each ticket involving a Farm Tap located within Farm
Tap Notification Areas;

3) The Company shall install and maintain signage at each Farm Tap which indicates that customer owned piping exists downstream of the
meter;

1 Commonwealth of Virginia ex rel. State Corporation Commission v. Columbia Gas of Virginia, Inc., Case No. PUE-2003-00468, 2004 S.C.C. Ann. Rept.
376, 377, Order of Settlement (Jan. 28, 2004).

25 VAC 5-20-10 et seq.
% Motion at 1.

41d. at 3.
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4) The Company shall provide by mail, at least once annually, information to each customer who owns buried piping within Farm Tap
Notification Areas regarding the customer's obligations to mark its facilities and stating that the Company will not mark the customer

owned piping;

5) The Company shall undertake a comprehensive study of its Farm Taps and develop a report to Staff. This report shall include the
following:

a. The number of Farm Taps (as discussed in §192.740 (a)) in the Company'sVirginia system.

b. Atable including the following information for each Farm Tap for which the Company seeks relief:
i. Location (e.g. 123 A Street, etc.) or GPS coordinates;
ii. Company identifier, if available;
iii. Whether the Farm Tap is located in a High Consequence Area as defined by 49 C.F.R. § 192.903; or class 3 location.

c. The original construction and service installation records for each of the Farm Taps described in Item (b). Records should be
numbered to match the entries in the list provided in response to Item (b). These records should include, but are not limited to, tapping
cards, service cards, work orders detailing the tapping of the transmission line, the installation of metering, and the installation of any

and all buried piping associated with each location.

If the Company does not have original construction and installation records for specific Farm Taps in its system:
i. Provide a detailed explanation of any records the Company has maintained for the specific Farm Tap;
ii. For each Farm Tap identified without original records, describe actions the Company has taken to ensure the safety of these Farm
Taps; and
iii. For each Farm Tap identified without original records, the Company shall identify points of ownership and describe actions the
Company has taken or will take to obtain such records which may include safety digs, excavations to identify material type,
location, pressure regulation and over pressure protection equipment, and custody transfer points.

d. A map or maps for each transmission line, which includes the location of each of the Farm Taps discussed in Item (b).

e. A list of Notices of Excavation (VA 811) tickets that the Company has responded to for each Farm Tap described in Item (b) dating
back to January 1, 2016. The list should include, at a minimum:
i. The ticket number;
ii. The county in which the ticket was located;
iii. The work type associated with the excavation;
iv. The Company's response to the ticket;
v. Whether there was an excavation damage associated with the excavation ticket, and, if so, a description of the damage;
vi. Whether the ticket was an emergency ticket; and
vii. Whether the ticket was a 3-hour ticket.

f. A description of the general method, means, and process by which the Company has been locating the Farm Taps listed in Item (b).
This description should include, but is not limited to, whether the Farm Taps are located by Company personnel or contract locators.

g. Information regarding whether the Company has identified any of the Farm Taps listed in response to Item (b) for which there are
verifiable records from the date of installation that the end user installed, and furnished piping, and agreed to maintain this piping to
the interconnect with the Company tap and pressure regulation. Please highlight these locations on the list provided in response to
Item (b) and provide any and all supporting records labeled with the corresponding Farm Tap location.

. The type of customer contact information (e.g. phone number, email address, mailing address, etc.) that is required by the Company to
establish service.

=

i. Please provide the Company's procedures for locating locatable and difficult to locate downstream piping, for piping downstream of a
Farm Tap that CVA falils to verify it does not own.

6) The Company shall submit the requisite report to Staff within 90 days of the entry of a Commission Order accepting the settlement in this
proceeding.

7) Within twelve (12) months of the entry of a Commission Order accepting the settlement in this proceeding, the Company shall tender to
the Clerk of the Commission, with a copy to the Division, an affidavit, signed by Brent Archer, President/Chief Operations Officer,
detailing the Company's compliance with Stipulation Items (1) through (4) contained herein. Such affidavit shall reference Case No.
PUE-2003-00468.

NOW THE COMMISSION is of the opinion and finds that the Stipulation should be approved.
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Case No. PUE-2003-00468 is reopened.

(2) The Stipulation is approved.

(3) This case is continued.
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CASE NO. PUE-2004-00082
FEBRUARY 8, 2022

APPLICATION OF
UTILITY RESOURCE SOLUTIONS, L.P.

For a license to conduct business as a natural gas competitive service provider

ORDER REISSUING LICENSE

On October 22, 2004, the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) entered an Order Granting License issuing License No. G-20 to Utility
Resource Solutions, L.P. ("Utility Resource" or "Company") to conduct business as a competitive supplier of natural gas service to eligible commercial,
industrial, governmental, and residential customers in the service territories of Washington Gas Light Company ("WGL") and Columbia Gas of Virginia
("CGV") pursuant to the Commission's Rules Governing Retail Access to Competitive Energy Services ("Retail Access Rules”).!

On January 20, 2022, the Company filed a motion requesting that the Commission amend and reissue its competitive service provider license to
reflect the Company's name change to Spark Energy Gas, LLC ("Spark Energy"). In support of its motion, the Company provided documents verifying the
Company's conversion and name change.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the foregoing and of the applicable law, finds that License No. G-20 should be cancelled
and reissued as License No. G-20A to Spark Energy.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) License No. G-20, issued to Utility Resource to provide competitive natural gas supply services to eligible commercial, industrial,
governmental, and residential customers in the service territories of WGL and CGV, is hereby cancelled and reissued as License No. G-20A to Spark
Energy.

(2) Spark Energy shall operate under the license pursuant to the same terms and conditions as set forth in the Order Granting License entered into
this docket on October 22, 2004. This license to act as a competitive supplier of natural gas service remains subject to the provisions of the Commission's
Retail Access Rules, this Order, and other applicable law.

(3) This license is not valid authority for the provision of any product or service not identified within the license itself.

(4) This case shall remain open for consideration of any subsequent amendments or modifications to this license.

120 VAC 5-312-10 et seq.

CASE NO. PUE-2006-00123
JUNE 8, 2022

APPLICATION OF
LIBERTY POWER DELAWARE, LLC

For a license to be a competitive service provider of electric service

ORDER CANCELLING LICENSE

On February 6, 2007, Liberty Power Delaware, LLC (“Liberty Power" or "Company") completed the filing of an application ("Application") with
the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") for a license to conduct business as a competitive service provider for electricity pursuant to the
Commission's Rules Governing Retail Access to Competitive Energy Services, 20 VAC 5-312-10 et seq. On April 10, 2007, the Commission issued License
No. E-17 to Liberty Power.!

On March 15, 2022, a Notice of Abandonment of License (“Notice") was filed on behalf of Liberty Power stating that the Company wished to
surrender its license to conduct business as a competitive service provider of electricity. The Notice indicates that Liberty Power does not have any
customers in Virginia, and acknowledges that the Company would have to file a new application and become licensed as a competitive service provider
before it would be able to provide service to customers in Virginia in the future.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the foregoing, is of the opinion and finds that it should cancel License No. E-17, and that
this proceeding should be dismissed.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) License No. E-17 issued to Liberty Power to conduct business as a competitive service provider of electricity is hereby cancelled.

(2) This matter is dismissed.

1 See Application of Liberty Power Delaware, LLC, For a license to conduct business as a competitive service provider for electricity, Case No.
PUE-2006-00126, 2007 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 370, Order Granting License (Apr. 10, 2007).
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CASE NO. PUE-2006-00124
JANUARY 12, 2022

APPLICATION OF
LIBERTY POWER HOLDINGS, LLC

For a license to conduct business as a competitive service provider for electricity

ORDER CANCELLING LICENSE

On February 6, 2007, Liberty Power Holdings, LLC (“Liberty Power" or "Company"), completed an application with the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) for a license to be a competitive service provider for electricity pursuant to the Commission's Rules Governing Retail Access
to Competitive Energy Services, 20 VAC 5-312-10 et seq. On April 10, 2007, the Commission issued License No. E-18 to Liberty Power.!

On October 21, 2021, Liberty Power filed a letter notifying the Commission that it wished to surrender its license to conduct business as a
competitive service provider for electricity. Liberty Power has advised the Staff of the Commission that the Company does not have any customers in
Virginia.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the foregoing, is of the opinion and finds that it should cancel License No. E-18, and that
this proceeding should be dismissed.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) License No. E-18 issued to Liberty Power to conduct business as a competitive service provider for electricity is hereby cancelled.

(2) This matter is dismissed.

1 See Application of Liberty Power Holdings, LLC, For a license to conduct business as a competitive service provider for electricity, Case No.
PUE-2006-00124, 2007 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 371, Order Granting License (Apr. 10, 2007).

CASE NO. PUE-2010-00048
APRIL 21, 2022

APPLICATION OF
I.C. THOMASSON ASSOCIATES, INC.

For licenses to conduct business as an aggregator and competitive service provider of natural gas and electricity

ORDER CANCELING LICENSES

On May 24, 2010, I. C. Thomasson Associates, Inc. (“I. C. Thomasson" or "Company") completed an application (*Application") with the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission™) for licenses to conduct business as an aggregator and competitive service provider for electricity and natural gas
supply service pursuant to the Commission's Rules Governing Retail Access to Competitive Energy Services, 20 VAC 5-312-10 et seq. On July 7, 2010, the
Commission issued License Nos. E-24, G-28, and A-31 to I. C. Thomasson.

On March 25, 2022, I. C. Thomasson filed a letter (“Letter") notifying the Commission that it wished to surrender its licenses to conduct business
as an aggregator and competitive service provider of natural gas and electricity supply service. In its Letter, I. C. Thomasson indicated that it does not have
any open contracts and no longer provides aggregator services in Virginia. The Letter also stated the Company is aware that if its status changes, it would
have to file a new application and become licensed as a competitive service provider again before it would be able to provide competitive energy services to
customers in Virginia in the future.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the foregoing, is of the opinion and finds that it should cancel License Nos. E-24, G-28, and
A-31, and that this proceeding should be dismissed.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) License No. E-24 issued to I. C. Thomasson to conduct business as a competitive service provider of electricity supply service is hereby
canceled.

(2) License No. G-28 issued to I. C. Thomasson to conduct business as a competitive service provider of natural gas supply service is
hereby canceled.

(3) License No. A-31 issued to I. C. Thomasson to conduct business as an aggregator of electric and natural gas service is hereby canceled.

(4) This matter is dismissed.
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CASE NO. PUE-2010-00073
MARCH 24, 2022

APPLICATION OF
INTERSTATE GAS SUPPLY, INC. d/b/a IGS ENERGY

For a license to conduct business as a competitive service provider of natural gas

ORDER REISSUING LICENSE

On August 19, 2010, the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) granted License No. G-29 to Interstate Gas Supply, Inc., d/b/a IGS
Energy ("IGS" or "Company") to conduct business as a competitive service provider ("CSP") of natural gas service to residential and small commercial
customers in the service territories of Columbia Gas of Virginia, Inc. ("CVA") and Washington Gas Light Company ("WGL").!

On September 7, 2021, IGS filed a request for authorization to amend its natural gas CSP license. Specifically, IGS sought approval to expand its
CSP license to include large commercial and industrial customers? throughout the Commonwealth ("customer expansion request") and to include a joint
venture partner as part of IGS's license to avoid the need to create a new entity and seek a separate license.®

On December 14, 2021, the Company filed a partial withdrawal (“Partial Withdrawal"), in which the Company stated that it no longer seeks the
relief sought with regard to the joint venture request.* IGS clarified that it is not withdrawing its customer expansion request so that it may serve "all
customers throughout the Commonwealth for whom a license is needed to serve them, as opposed to only residential and small commercial customers™ and
"so that it can market to all customers in the future."®

On January 20, 2022, the Commission issued an Order with regard to the Company's customer expansion request directing IGS to "file a new
application in Case No. PUE-2010-00073, specifically describing the customer classes and service territories for which the Company desires to be
licensed."”® The Commission further directed that the application be filed in compliance with the requirements of 20 VAC 5-312-40, Licensing, of the
Commission's Rules Governing Retail Access to Competitive Energy Services ("Retail Access Rules").”

On February 10, 2022, pursuant to the Order, IGS completed the filing of an application (“Application") for a license to provide natural gas
supply service to eligible commercial, industrial, governmental, and residential customers in the service territories of CVA and WGL.® In its Application,
IGS attested that it would abide by all applicable laws of the Commonwealth and regulations of the Commission as required by 20 VAC 5-312-40 B of the
Commission's Retail Access Rules.

On February 22, 2022, the Commission issued an Order ("Procedural Order") requiring the Company to serve a copy of the Procedural Order
electronically upon interested parties on or before February 25, 2022, and to file proof of service on or before March 2, 2022. On February 23, 2022, the
Company filed its proof of service. The Procedural Order also directed any comments in the matter to be filed with the Clerk of the Commission on or
before March 8, 2022. No comments were filed.

The Procedural Order further directed Staff of the Commission ("Staff") to analyze the Application and present its findings in a report ("Report")
to be filed on or before March 11, 2022. On March 11, 2022, Staff filed its Report, which summarized the Company's Application and evaluated its
financial condition and technical fitness.

Based on its review of the Application, Staff recommended the following:

e  that the Commission grant IGS' request for an amended license to conduct business as a CSP to provide natural gas service to eligible
commercial, industrial, governmental and residential customers in the service territories of CVA and WGL;°

1 Application of Interstate Gas Supply, Inc. d/b/a IGS Energy, For a license to conduct business as a competitive service provider of natural gas, Case No.
PUE-2010-00073, 2010 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 569, Order Granting License (Aug. 19, 2010).

2 Retail choice for natural gas service continues to exist only in the service territories of WGL and CVA. Access to large commercial, industrial, and
governmental gas customers in all gas distribution service territories has existed under Federal Energy Regulatory Commission authority since the
mid-1980s.

% Request at 1.

4 Partial Withdrawal at 1-2.

51d. at 2 (quoting Request at 2 (1 4), emphases removed).

6 January 20, 2022 Order at 2.

720 VAC 5-312-10 et seq.

8 WGL's service territory collectively includes the service territory of its subsidiary, Shenandoah Gas Division of Washington Gas Light.

° Report at 7.
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e  that the Commission require IGS to provide proof of a performance bond or other acceptable financial security instrument, made
payable to the Commonwealth of Virginia, in the amount of $25,000;°

e that IGS establish an escrow account with a Virginia financial institution to comply with the requirements in 20 VAC 5-312-90 for the
protection of any customer deposits or prepayments;

e  that IGS be required to file proof of its firm transportation and storage capacity rights at least 30 days prior to serving any essential
human needs customers, as assurance that it will be able to meet the firm delivery service requirements of those customers; and*?

e aperiodic review of the level of financial security that is commensurate with IGS' business operations in Virginia and in consideration
of any fines, penalties, or sanctions imposed by any other jurisdiction in the future.*?

The Procedural Order directed IGS to file any response to the Report by March 16, 2022. On March 16, 2022, IGS filed comments
("Comments") to the Report. In its Comments, IGS objects to Staff's recommendation that the Company be required to provide proof of a performance bond
or other acceptable financial security instrument, made payable to the Commonwealth of Virginia, in the amount of $25,000. IGS also objects to the
recommendation by Staff that the Company be required to establish an escrow account with a Virginia financial institution to comply with the requirements
in 20 VAC 5-312-90 for the protection of any customer deposits or prepayments.’ IGS states that it does not intend to collect security deposits or
prepayments from customers and requests that it not be required to establish an escrow account until it actually collects deposits or prepayments, at which
time it will provide the account information to the Commission as required by 20 VAC 5-312-90.%°

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the foregoing and of the applicable law, finds that License No. G-29 should be cancelled
and reissued as License No. G-29A to IGS, subject to certain conditions. We will require IGS to provide, to Staff, proof of a performance bond or other
acceptable financial security instrument, made payable to the Commonwealth of Virginia, in the amount of $25,000. For many years, the Commission has
routinely adopted this condition on the license of competitive natural gas suppliers in Virginia.'® We agree with IGS that the Company should not be
required to establish an escrow account with a Virginia financial institution unless it begins collecting deposits or prepayments from Virginia customers, at
which time, such requirement will apply.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) License No. G-29, issued to IGS to provide competitive natural gas supply services to eligible commercial and residential customers in the
service territories of CVA and WGL, is hereby cancelled and reissued as License No. G-29A to IGS to serve eligible commercial, industrial, governmental,
and residential customers in the service territories of CVA and WGL.

(2) IGS shall operate under the license pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in this Order Reissuing License. This license to act as a
competitive supplier of natural gas supply service remains subject to the provisions of the Commission's Retail Access Rules, this Order, and other
applicable law.

(3) IGS shall provide, to Staff, proof of a performance bond or other acceptable financial security instrument, made payable to the
Commonwealth of Virginia, in the amount of $25,000.

(4) Prior to collecting deposits or prepayments from customers, I1GS shall establish an escrow account with a Virginia financial institution to
comply with the requirements in 20 VAC 5-312-90 for the protection of any customer deposits or prepayments.

(5) At least 30 days prior to serving any essential human needs customers, IGS shall provide proof to Staff of its firm transportation and storage
capacity rights as assurance that it will be able to meet the firm delivery service requirements of any essential human needs customers.

(6) Staff shall conduct a periodic review of the level of financial security that is commensurate with IGS' business operations in Virginia and in
consideration of any fines, penalties, or sanctions imposed by any other jurisdiction in the future.

(7) This license is not valid authority for the provision of any product or service not identified within the license itself.

(8) This case shall remain open for consideration of any subsequent amendments or modifications to this license.

0 d. at 6-7.

Md. at7.

2 d.

B d.

14 Comments at 1-2.

5 Comments at 2.

16 See, e.g., Application of Stand Energy Corporation, For a license to conduct business as a natural gas competitive service provider, Case No.
PUE-2002-00654, Order Reissuing License, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 220320033 (Mar. 11, 2022); Application of Palmco Energy VA, LLC, For a license to
conduct business as a natural gas competitive service provider, Case No. PUE-2016-00071, 2016 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 433 (Aug. 4, 2016); Application of

Viridian Energy, PA, LLC, For a license to conduct business as a competitive service provider for natural gas, Case No. PUE-2012-00117, 2012 S.C.C.
Ann. Rept. 521 (Nov. 16, 2012).
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CASE NO. PUE-2014-00024
APRIL 12, 2022

APPLICATION OF
ECOVA, INC.

For a license to conduct business as an electric and natural gas aggregator

ORDER REISSUING LICENSE

On March 21, 2014, Ecova, Inc. ("Ecova" or "Company") completed the filing of an application ("Application™) with the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) for a license to provide electric and natural gas aggregation service to eligible commercial, industrial, and residential
customers throughout the Commonwealth of Virginia. In its Application, Ecova attested that it would abide by all applicable laws of the Commonwealth
and regulations of the Commission as required by 20 VAC 5-312-40 B of the Commission's Rules Governing Retail Access to Competitive Energy Services
("Retail Access Rules™).!

On May 14, 2014, the Commission issued an Order Granting License to Ecova authorizing the Company, pursuant to License No. A-37, to
provide electric and natural gas aggregation services to eligible commercial, industrial, and residential customers throughout the Commonwealth of Virginia.

On January 22, 2018, the Secretary of State of Washington approved the Company's name change to ENGIE Insight Services, Inc. d/b/a ENGIE
Impact ("ENGIE").

On March 28, 2022, ENGIE filed a Motion to Amend and Reissue Electric and Natural Gas Aggregator License (*Motion™) with the Commission
requesting that License No. A-37 be amended and reissued in the name of ENGIE.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the foregoing and of the applicable law, finds that the Motion should be granted and that
License No. A-37 should be cancelled and reissued as License No. A-37A to ENGIE.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) License No. A-37, issued to Ecova to provide electric and natural gas aggregation service to eligible commercial, industrial, and residential
customers throughout the Commonwealth of Virginia, is hereby cancelled and reissued as License No. A-37A to ENGIE to provide electric and natural gas
aggregation service to eligible commercial, industrial, and residential customers throughout the Commonwealth of Virginia

(2) ENGIE shall operate under the license pursuant to the same terms and conditions as set forth in the Order Granting License entered into this
docket on May 14, 2014. This license to act as an aggregator of competitive electric and natural gas service remains subject to the provisions of the
Commission's Retail Access Rules, this Order, and other applicable law.

(3) This license is not valid authority for the provision of any product or service not identified within the license itself.

(4) This case shall remain open for consideration of any subsequent amendments or modifications to this license.

120 VAC 5-312-10 et seq.

CASE NO. PUE-2015-00132
APRIL 25, 2022

APPLICATION OF
WASHINGTON GAS LIGHT COMPANY

For approval of a revision to General Service Provision No. 14 of the Company's Virginia tariff and associated pilot program

ORDER ON RENEWAL APPLICATION

On September 10, 2021, Washington Gas Light Company ("WGL" or "Company") filed an application ("Renewal Application™) with the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission™) for approval to renew its multifamily piping pilot program ("Pilot") for an additional five years. In its Renewal
Application, WGL states that the Commission initially approved the Pilot on July 28, 2016, for a five-year period.! The Company further states that on
July 13, 2021, through an Order on Motion, the Commission granted WGL a limited extension of the Pilot and directed the Company to file its Renewal
Application for the Pilot no later than 60 days from the date of the Order on Motion.?

WGL states that under its Pilot, the Company provides a contribution to builders and developers of multifamily individually metered apartments
and condominiums to aid in offsetting costs of the installation of internal gas piping and venting for individually metered units served by natural gas if the

1 Renewal Application at 1; see also Case No. PUE-2015-00132, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 160740280, Order on Application (July 28, 2016) ("Pilot Approval
Order").

2 Renewal Application at 1; see also Case No. PUE-2015-00132, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 210720023, Order on Motion (July 13, 2021).
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project generates sufficient net revenues (on a net present value basis) to have a positive impact on existing customers.® The Company represents that the net
present value calculation is achieved through General Service Provision ("GSP") No. 14 - Economic Evaluation of Facilities Extension.* WGL further states
that the approved contribution amount is the lesser of (i) 80% of the net economic benefit calculated through GSP No. 14, or (ii) the actual documented costs
of internal piping and venting.®

The Company asserts that this approach ensures the contribution will not be greater than the customer's actual costs for internal gas piping and
venting and is capped at an amount to ensure that existing customers will receive at least 20% of the excess economic benefit of the project.® WGL states
that the customer contribution is only associated with the cost of piping and venting for the premise under consideration and is not applied to costs associated
with the procurement of natural gas appliances.” WGL further states that there is no incentive given to developers or builders if application of the tariff does
not exceed the Company's authorized return (that is, where the net present value is negative).®

WGL maintains that its proposed Pilot renewal will allow the Company to continue to provide individually metered natural gas to new customers
in an underserved market segment, collect additional information from customers to better understand the Pilot framework, and monitor new developments
in energy technologies, while at the same time exploring opportunities to address federal and state environmental policies and climate goals.®

WGL represents that the Pilot has been successful in providing natural gas service to customers for whom service was otherwise not an option
due to the high upfront costs for developers and builders.’® The Company states that existing customers have also benefitted as fixed utility costs have been
spread across a larger customer base and that WGL's Pilot activities to date have not exceeded the limits previously established by the Commission in this
case.’* Specifically, the Company states that it has enrolled 26 multifamily piping projects, comprising 4,117 units, which have generated over $1 million in
net benefits for the existing customer base.’> WGL further represents that it has identified both immediate and future potential multifamily piping projects
for the second phase of the Pilot proposed in the Renewal Application.*®

The Company proposes to report annually on the metrics (2016 Metrics") prescribed by the Commission in the Pilot Approval Order.* In
addition to the 2016 Metrics, the Company proposes to begin reporting annually on the following:

1. The natural gas appliances installed in the multifamily units.
2. Average unit square footage.

3. The Company will survey each developer of an authorized project to determine type of appliances and associated efficiency of those
appliances that would be installed in the absence of the Pilot.

4. The Company proposes to use the information in Items 1, 2, and 3 above to provide a more accurate determination of the offset of load
growth for alternative energy suppliers.

5. For each project that showed interest in participating in the Pilot but ultimately did not enroll, the Company will survey those developers in
an attempt to determine the energy solution deployed in that building as well as the ultimate reasons for forgoing participation in the Pilot.

6. The number of affordable housing units contained within each multifamily project (collectively, "2022 WGL Reporting Enhancements™).*®
On September 30, 2021, the Commission entered an Order for Notice and Comment (“Procedural Order") that, among other things, required the

Company to provide public notice of its Renewal Application; permitted interested persons to file comments on the Renewal Application, participate as
respondents in this proceeding, and request a hearing on the Renewal Application; directed the Commission's Staff ("Staff") to investigate the Renewal

3 Renewal Application, Direct Testimony of Maria Frazzini ("Frazzini Direct") at 3.
41d.

®Id. at 3-4.

61d. at 4.

" Renewal Application at 6.

81d.

°1d. at 1-2.

0d. at 2.

1 1d.; see also Pilot Approval Order and Frazzini Direct at Ex. 1.
2 Renewal Application at 7.

Bd. at 2.

14 Frazzini Direct at 12; see also Pilot Approval Order at 12-13.

15 Frazzini Direct at 12.
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Application and file a report ("Staff Report") containing its findings and recommendations;*® and provided WGL an opportunity to respond in rebuttal to the
Staff Report and any comments filed on the Renewal Application. No comments, notices of participation, or requests for hearing were filed.

On January 14, 2022, Staff filed its Staff Report. Staff did not oppose the Company's request to renew the Pilot for an additional five years, but
Staff proposed an alternative for the Commission's consideration.” Specifically, Staff asserted that the Commission could approve a limited extension of the
Pilot solely for gathering data and completing analysis of the 26 existing Pilot projects, including the 18 planned and still pending projects, without
permitting the enrollment of additional projects beyond those that are currently pending.®

Staff identified concerns related to certain information provided by WGL in its Final Report®® as well as concerns regarding potential free
ridership costs.® To address those concerns, Staff recommended various reporting requirements, in addition to or within those proposed by the Company,
should the Commission approve the Pilot extension.? Specifically, Staff recommended that the Company be directed to include the following information:

e  Anupdated study to determine the per unit annual impact on electric consumption and an estimate of the cumulative impact on annual
electric consumption, presented by electric service territory;

e The use of actual customer usage as recorded in the Company's billing system to determine the amount of added load resulting from
the Pilot;

e  Reported benefits to existing customers reflecting adjustments for actual costs and benefits once the project is completed and paid and
billing has commenced;

. Estimates of rate reductions, or reductions in system costs, to existing customers; and
. Reported benefits to existing customers adjusted for the effect of free ridership costs (collectively, "2022 Staff Refinements™).2?

Staff continued to recommend that to the extent the Company impairs contribution payments, such impairment should be borne by shareholders.?
Staff also noted that it had reviewed the ratemaking treatment of the Pilot in Case No. PUR-2021-00087%* and verified: (1) the amount of unamortized
contribution balances included in rate base was $0; and (2) the amount of the amortization expense reflected in the Company's earnings test was $23,663.%

On February 4, 2022, WGL filed its Comments on the Staff Report ("WGL Response"). In its Response, WGL requested that the Commission
accept the Staff's alternative recommendation for a limited extension of the Pilot and grant the Company approval to continue the already enrolled Pilot
projects over the next five-year period.?® The Company stated that with the continued COVID-19 uncertainty impacting multifamily unit occupancy rates, as
well as rising construction costs, it may be difficult in the near future to offer meaningful incentives to developers and builders for new projects.?” WGL
maintained that it would continue to work on the remaining enrolled Pilot projects within the parameters previously set by the Commission.?

On February 24, 2022, WGL filed a letter ("WGL Update Letter") to update the Commission on the projects currently enrolled in the Pilot, noting
the addition of one development project, Sterling Meadow, and the removal of another, Ashburn Station.?® The Company represented that even with this
replacement, the Pilot would remain at 18 enrolled, but not yet completed, projects.*

16 The Procedural Order also directed Staff to file as part of the Staff Report, any response to WGL's Final Report for the Period July 29, 2016 to
July 28, 2021.

17 Staff Report at 8.

8 1d. at 11.

1 The Final Report was filed with the Renewal Application as Frazzini Direct at Ex. 1.
2 Staff Report at 12-19, 21.

2 d. at 22.

21d. at 9, 22.

2 d. at 26.

2 See Application of Washington Gas Light Company, For an annual informational filing, Case No. PUR-2021-00087, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 210450006,
Annual Informational Filing (April 30, 2021).

% Staff Report at 26-27.

% \WGL Response at 2.

7 d.

2 |d. at 3. The Commission previously directed that "[c]ontribution payments made pursuant to the [Pilot] shall not exceed $5.25 million over the term of
the [Pilot] and [P]rogram participation shall be limited to no more than 7,000 individually metered apartments or condominium units." Pilot Approval Order
at11,12.

2 WGL Update Letter at 1-2.

0 1d. at 2.
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On March 25, 2022, Staff filed a response ("Staff Response™) to the WGL Update Letter. Staff analyzed the effects of WGL's replacing the
Ashburn Station project with the Sterling Meadow project and stated that if the Commission approved the proposed Pilot extension, then Staff does not
oppose the replacement of these projects.*

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds as follows. A five-year extension of the Pilot, limited
to the 26 enrolled Pilot projects, including the 18 projects that are planned and still pending, is approved, subject to the provisions of this Order. The
approval granted herein shall continue for a period of five years from the date of this Order.

In approving the Company's initial Pilot for a five-year period, the Commission found that subject to certain size and spending limitations and
reporting requirements, the initial Pilot was in the public interest pursuant to 20 VAC 5-303-60 of the Commission's Rules Governing Utility Promotional
Allowances, 20 VAC 5-303-10 et seq.®? Specifically, we required that the initial Pilot be limited to no more than 7,000 individually metered apartments or
condominium units at a total cost cap of $5.25 million over five years and directed WGL to report on the 2016 Metrics.** We find that these size and
spending limitations shall remain in effect, subject to the additional limitation that the Company shall not enroll additional projects beyond the 18 projects
that are currently pending. In addition, the Commission finds that WGL shall report annually on the 2016 Metrics and the 2022 WGL Reporting
Enhancements, subject to the 2022 Staff Refinements. Subject to these requirements, we find that extension of the Pilot is in the public interest pursuant to
20 VAC 5-303-60.

Finally, determination of the ratemaking treatment of any impairments may be addressed in a future rate proceeding. The Commission's approval
of the Pilot extension shall have no ratemaking implications. Specifically, the approval in this case shall not guarantee the recovery of any costs directly or
indirectly related to the Pilot.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) An extension of the Pilot is approved and shall continue for a period of five (5) years from the date of this Order.

(2) Contribution payments made pursuant to the Pilot shall not exceed $5.25 million over the term of the Pilot, and Pilot participation shall be
limited to no more than 7,000 individually metered apartments or condominium units. These size and spending limits are subject to the further limitation
that the Company shall not enroll additional projects beyond the 18 projects that are currently pending.

(3) Forthwith, the Company shall file applicable tariffs to implement the Pilot extension with the Clerk of the Commission and shall submit the
same to the Commission's Divisions of Public Utility Regulation and Utility Accounting and Finance.

(4) The Company shall report annually on the 2016 Metrics and the 2022 WGL Reporting Enhancements, subject to the 2022 Staff Refinements.
(5) Determination of the ratemaking treatment of impairments may be addressed in a future rate proceeding. The Commission's approval of the
Pilot extension shall have no ratemaking implications. Specifically, the approval in this case does not guarantee the recovery of any costs directly or

indirectly related to the Pilot.

(6) This case is continued.

31 Staff Response at 2.

%2 pilot Approval Order at 11. 20 VAC 5-303-60 provides, in part, the following: "Notwithstanding any of the provisions of this chapter, the Commission
may authorize an otherwise prohibited promotional allowance program if the Commission finds that it is in the public interest."

3 pPilot Approval Order at 11, 12.

CASE NO. PUE-2015-00132
MAY 16, 2022

APPLICATION OF
WASHINGTON GAS LIGHT COMPANY

For approval of a revision to General Service Provision No. 14 of the Company's Virginia tariff and associated pilot program

ORDER GRANTING RECONSIDERATION

On April 25, 2022, the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission™) entered an Order on Renewal Application in this docket. On
May 13, 2022, Washington Gas Light Company (“Company") filed a Petition for Clarification and Reconsideration (“Petition").

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration hereof, grants reconsideration for the purpose of continuing jurisdiction over this matter and
considering the Petition; schedules additional pleadings attendant to the Petition; and suspends the Order on Renewal Application.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) Reconsideration is granted for the purpose of continuing jurisdiction over this matter and considering the Petition.
(2) Pending the Commission's consideration of the Petition, the Order on Renewal Application is suspended.

(3) The Company may continue the Multi-Family Piping Pilot in the interim, pending a Commission decision on the Company's Petition.
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(4) On or before June 3, 2022, the Commission's Staff may file any response to the Petition.
(5) On or before June 17, 2022, the Company may file a reply to any Commission Staff response.
(6) This matter is continued.
CASE NO. PUE-2015-00132
JULY 13, 2022

APPLICATION OF
WASHINGTON GAS LIGHT COMPANY

For approval of a revision to General Service Provision No. 14 of the Company's Virginia tariff and associated pilot program

ORDER ON RECONSIDERATION

On April 25, 2022, the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) entered an Order on Renewal Application ("April 25 Order") in this
docket. On May 13, 2022, Washington Gas Light Company ("Company") filed a Petition for Clarification and Reconsideration (“Petition") concerning
certain additional reporting on the Company's Multi-family Piping Pilot ("MFPP") required by Ordering Paragraph (4) of the April 25 Order. On
May 16, 2022, the Commission granted reconsideration for the purpose of continuing jurisdiction over this matter and considering the Petition. The
Commission also scheduled additional pleadings attendant to the Petition and suspended the April 25 Order. The Commission's Staff ("Staff") filed a
Response to the Petition on June 3, 2022, and the Company filed a Reply on June 17, 2022.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration hereof, is of the opinion and finds that the additional reporting requirements required by
Ordering Paragraph (4) of the April 25 Order shall remain in place subject to the conditions provided herein. To the extent the Company is unable to gather
the data needed to make the determination(s) required by those additional reporting requirements, then the Company shall, at the time the report is made:
(i) acknowledge its inability to gather such data, with an explanation of why the data cannot be gathered; and (ii) explain what steps the Company has taken
to develop an estimate in the absence of such data, or explain why no such estimate can be developed. The Commission urges the Company and Staff to
collaborate where they can to determine the data, assumptions, and methodologies that are responsive to each reporting item, that are attainable, and that will
provide the most useful information to the Commission to evaluate the MFPP.

As to the requirement to report estimates of rate reductions, or reductions in system costs, to existing customers, the Company has clarified that
adding over 4,000 customers to its system allows it to spread fixed costs over a larger base of customers, thereby "keeping rates lower than they would be
without the [MFPP] program." Though the Company has stated that it does not track costs attributable to one program,? the Commission expects the
Company to provide, at a minimum in future reporting, a comparison of then-current rates based on the number of customers with and without the MFPP.
The Company also shall work with Staff to determine how to develop and provide, through reporting: (i) an estimate of any capital additions (e.g., main or
other system investments to meet additional peak load) and (ii) any effects on its purchased gas cost rates that result from the addition of MFPP customers.®

Additionally, with respect to "[t]he requirement to report benefits to existing customers reflecting adjustments for actual costs and benefits once a
project is complete, paid, and billing has commenced,"* the Company explains that, among other things, it would require "at least 24 months from
installation completion to obtain a more complete representation of actual usage in order to properly evaluate the revenues, and to derive a reasonable
assessment of the benefits to existing customers."®> The Commission finds that the Company shall submit one supplemental report that provides data on the
actual usage associated with customers added through all MFPP projects; such report shall be due 30 months from the date of the last payment made to
MFPP participants.® The Company states that it would like to collaborate and align with Staff on the methodology and updated assumptions that would be
part of evaluating a project retroactively;’ the Commission encourages such collaboration so that the supplemental report can provide meaningful data and
analysis.

Accordingly, IT IS SO ORDERED and this case is continued.

! Reply at 4 (emphasis in original removed).

21d.

3 See Staff Report at 15-16.

4 Reply at 2 (citing Staff Response at 2).

51d. at 3.

& The Company shall notify Staff, within 30 days of its occurrence, that the Company has made the last payment to MFPP participants.

"Reply at 3.
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CASE NO. PUR-2017-00143
MAY 12, 2022

APPLICATION OF
VIRGINIA ELECTRIC AND POWER COMPANY

For approval and certification of electric transmission facilities: 1dylwood-Tysons 230 kV single circuit underground transmission line, Tysons
Substation rebuild and related transmission facilities

ORDER GRANTING MOTION FOR EXTENSION
OF CONSTRUCTION AND IN-SERVICE DATE

On November 8, 2017, Virginia Electric and Power Company (“Dominion™ or "Company") filed an application and supporting documents for
State Corporation Commission ("Commission") approval to, among other things: (i) construct a new single circuit 230 kV underground transmission line,
designated 230 kV ldylwood-Tysons Line #2175, to run approximately 4.3 miles from the Company's existing Idylwood Substation to the Company's
existing Tysons Substation, with the project located entirely in Fairfax County; (ii) rebuild the Tysons Substation using Gas Insulated Substation ("GIS")
equipment to accommodate a six-breaker 230 kV ring bus within the existing property boundaries; (iii) install new Gas Insulated Line terminal equipment at
Idylwood Substation for the new Line #2175 installation; and (iv) perform relay work at the Reston Substation (collectively, "Project").

On September 5, 2018, the Commission issued its Final Order in this matter (“Final Order"),® which, among other things, authorized the
Company to construct and operate the Project subject to the findings and conditions of the Final Order, and specified the in-service date for the Project.
Ordering Paragraph (8) of the Final Order provided: "The Project approved herein must be constructed and in service by June 30, 2022. The Company,
however, is granted leave to apply for an extension for good cause shown."?

On April 4, 2022, Dominion moved the Commission to extend the date for completing and energizing the Project from June 30, 2022 to
December 31, 2023 ("Motion™). The Motion states that the Company reasonably believed at the time the Final Order was issued that a June 2022 in-service
date would allow sufficient time to construct and energize the Project, subject to outage scheduling.® However, since receiving approval of the Project, the
Company states that it has encountered several unexpected setbacks that have resulted in delays to the Project schedule and increased conceptual cost
estimates.*

Among the multiple reasons given for the requested extension, the Company cites the following developments and events that have occurred
following Commission approval: (i) delays attributable to Virginia Department of Transportation (“VVDOT") imposed horizontal directional drilling (*"HDD")
requirements;® (i) delays in obtaining pre-construction permits from VDOT to perform geotechnical work;® (iii) delays in obtaining Fairfax County noise
waivers;’ delays attributable to community outreach to homeowners' associations, additional local government outreach, and community outreach regarding
a detour to the Washington & Old Dominion Trail;® and (iv) delays related to VDOT permits and approvals regarding the Maintenance of Traffic plan.®

The Company also states that the delays have increased Project costs by approximately $77.3 million,* including, among other things:
(i) increases in costs of engineering, materials, site preparation work, and underground line work;*! (ii) increase in Project scope due to the change in drill
method as required by VDOT?? (iii) increased costs due to VDOT permitting requirements necessitating extensive civil nighttime work?3; (iv) added costs
to re-route the Washington & Old Dominion Trail;** and (v) added costs due to VDOT-imposed requirements to monitor the HDD drill.™> The Company

1 Application of Virginia Electric and Power Company, For approval and certification of electric transmission facilities: 1dylwood-Tysons 230 kV single
circuit underground transmission line, Tysons Substation rebuild and related transmission facilities, Case No. PUR-2017-00143, 2018 S.C.C. Ann. Rept.
291, Final Order (Sept. 5, 2018).

22018 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. at 295.

% Motion at 3.

41d. at 3-4.

°1d.

®1d. at 4.

"1d.

81d. at 5.

°1d.

0 d. at 6.

1d. at 4.

21d. at 5.

B d.

#1d.

B d.
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states that Project costs will increase further due to delays to the Company's Idylwood Substation Rebuild Project. Due to these delays, the Company asserts
that it will have to connect Line #2175 to a temporary location within the Idylwood Substation.'® The Company also states that higher than anticipated
vendor bids have contributed to the higher cost for the Project.’’

The Company asserts that it believes the requested extension will provide sufficient time to complete the construction of the Project, and it asserts
that this delay will not prejudice Staff or any party to this proceeding.*® Further, the Company states that the granting of the requested extension will not
lead to any known North American Electric Reliability Corporation violations.*

No responses to the Motion were filed.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Company has established good cause to
extend the current deadline for completing and energizing the Project from June 30, 2022 to December 31, 2023.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) This case is reopened for the limited purpose of considering the Motion.

(2) The deadline for completing and energizing the Project established under the Final Order herein is hereby extended from June 30, 2022 to
December 31, 2023.

(3) This matter is dismissed.

% 1d. at 6.
71d. at 4, 6.
81d. at 6.

¥ 4.

CASE NO. PUR-2018-00054
APRIL 15, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter concerning the implementation by Appalachian Power Company d/b/a American Electric Power-Virginia of reductions in
rates for generation and distribution services pursuant to Enactment Clause Nos. 6 and 7 of Senate Bill 966

ORDER DENYING MOTION

During its 2018 Session, the Virginia General Assembly enacted Senate Bill 966, which in part directed the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") to implement adjustments in the rates for generation and distribution services of incumbent electric utilities, including Appalachian Power
Company ("APCo" or "Company"), to reflect the actual annual reductions in corporate income taxes to be paid by the utilities pursuant to the provisions of
the federal Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017.

On September 11, 2018, the Commission issued an Order Establishing Further Proceedings in this case, which established a procedural schedule
and directed APCo to file certain information to enable the Commission to implement adjustments in APCo's rates for generation and distribution services in
accordance with the requirements of Senate Bill 966. On March 8, 2019, the Commission issued a Final Order. Among other things, we found in the Final
Order that: (i) APCo's unprotected accumulated deferred federal income taxes ("EDIT") balance should be $93.57 million; and (ii) the unprotected EDIT
balance should be amortized over a three-year period and implemented through the Company's Tax Rate Reduction Rider ("Rider T.R.R.").2 In its Final
Order, the Commission also dismissed this proceeding from its docket of active cases.®

12018 Va. ch. 296.
2 See Final Order at 3-4.

%1d. at 5.
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On March 22, 2022, APCo filed a motion to reopen this proceeding for the limited purpose of accepting a revised tariff page for the Company's
Rider T.R.R. to reflect the end of the three-year amortization of the Company's unprotected EDIT ("Motion").* APCo states that as of the end of the
three-year amortization period on April 1, 2022, it expects to have approximately $25 million in unprotected EDIT remaining on its books, which is
comprised of approximately $907,000 that will remain of the original $93.57 million of unprotected EDIT discussed in the March 18, 2019 Final Order, as
well as approximately $24 million in additional unprotected EDIT that the Company recognized on its books following the filing of its final tax return for
2017.5 APCo proposes to keep the balance of unprotected EDIT that remains as of April 1, 2022 in a regulatory liability, and states this regulatory liability
can be addressed by the Commission in a future rate review proceeding.® APCo asserts that additional months of credit under Rider T.R.R. would likely
exceed the $907,000 balance that remains of the originally approved $93.57 million of unprotected EDIT, and that the tariff should therefore be revised to
eliminate this credit.” The Company also seeks expedited consideration of its Motion.®

On March 24, 2022, the Commission issued an Order Expediting Response and Reply, in which we provided interested persons and Commission
Staff ("Staff") an opportunity to file responses to the Motion on an expedited basis. On March 30, 2022, Staff filed a response recommending the
Commission deny the Motion and direct APCo to continue to provide a credit to customers through Rider T.R.R. until the balance of unprotected EDIT is
returned to customers ("Staff Response").® Staff acknowledges in its Staff Response that it would likely be impossible for APCo to return the exact amount
of unprotected EDIT, and therefore asserts APCo should continue the credits until such time as the Company anticipates that providing an additional month
of credits under Rider T.R.R would exceed the remaining balance of unprotected EDIT.?® At that time, for any dollars that have not been credited back to
customers, Staff states it would not oppose APCo treating this much smaller balance as a regulatory liability.'* As such, Staff recommends that the last
paragraph of APCo's tariff for Rider T.R.R. be stricken and the following language be inserted:

The PRFs shall remain in effect until either (i) the total remaining balance of unprotected EDIT has been credited to customers, or
(ii) the estimated credit for the following month exceeds the remaining balance of unprotected EDIT, whichever comes first. At that
time, the PRF will be set to zero and any remaining unprotected EDIT balance shall be placed in a regulatory liability and shall be
addressed by the Commission in an appropriate future rate review proceeding.*?

On March 31, 2021, respondents the Office of the Attorney General, Division of Consumer Counsel, the Old Dominion Committee for Fair
Utility Rates, and the VML/VACo APCo Steering Committee filed a joint response opposing the Motion (*Joint Response™). The respondents oppose
APCo's proposal to keep the additional $25 million in unprotected EDIT in a regulatory liability until a future rate review proceeding and seek to have the
entire balance of unprotected EDIT credited back to APCo's customers before Rider T.R.R. is sunset.’* The respondents further oppose the Motion in so far
as it deprives parties from analyzing and confirming the accuracy of the Company's calculation of the amount of remaining unprotected EDIT.*

On April 5, 2022, APCo filed a reply ("Reply"). In its Reply, APCo states that "it does not oppose revising Rider T.R.R. as proposed by the Staff
and continuing to credit customers as the Staff recommends. The Company finds Staff's proposal to be reasonable and will allow the Company to return the
unprotected EDIT without over-crediting customers and without the need to further move the Commission to revise the tariff."'> APCo estimates that it will
have returned the remaining unprotected EDIT in around 9.6 months, which would be approximately January 1, 2023.2¢ APCo also states that it will provide
any necessary information in its upcoming triennial review proceeding to allow Staff and any other parties to review its compliance with the Commission's
Order on its Motion."”

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, finds as follows. We agree that customers would be best served by continuing
the current credit in Rider T.R.R. until the remaining $25 million of unprotected EDIT has been returned to customers, as continuing the credit would more
expeditiously return the money to customers as compared to holding the funds in a regulatory liability. We further agree that it would very unlikely for
APCo to return the exact $25 million of unprotected EDIT and therefore find that APCo should continue the credits until such time as the Company

4 See Motion at 1, 3-6.

51d. at 5. The Company's final tax return was not finalized at the time the calculations in the Final Order were made. 1d.
61d. at 6.

71d. at 5.

81d. at 1, 6-7.

® Staff Response at 1.

01d. at 6.

.

121d. at 7-8. Staff also notes that approving the above tariff language would prevent APCo from having to seek additional tariff changes once the remaining
unprotected EDIT balance has been credited to customers. See id. at 7.

13 Joint Response at 4-5.
41d. at 5.

5 Reply at 2.

% 4.

7d. at 3.
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anticipates that providing an additional month of credits under Rider T.R.R would exceed the remaining balance of unprotected EDIT. At that time, any
dollars that have not been credited back to customers shall be treated as a regulatory liability. We therefore find that APCo's tariff language for Rider T.R.R.
shall be amended as set forth in the Staff Response.® Finally, we direct APCo to provide in its upcoming triennial review proceeding any necessary
information to allow Staff and any other parties to review the Company's calculations of unprotected EDIT and the Company's compliance with this Order.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) APCo's Motion is denied as set forth herein.

(2) The Company forthwith shall file a revised Rider T.R.R. and supporting workpapers with the Clerk of the Commission and with the
Commission's Divisions of Public Utility Regulation and Utility Accounting and Finance, as is necessary to comply with the directives set forth in this

Order.  The Clerk of the Commission shall retain such filings for public inspection in person and on the Commission's website:
scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

(3) This case is dismissed.

18 See Staff Response at 7-8. We concur that by adopting this language APCo does not need to seek additional tariff changes in this docket to end the tariff
once the remaining unprotected EDIT balance has been credited to customers.

CASE NO. PUR-2020-00015
AUGUST 22, 2022

APPLICATION OF
APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY

For a 2020 triennial review of its base rates, terms and conditions pursuant to § 56-585.1 of the Code of Virginia

ORDER _INITIATING REMAND PROCEEDINGS

On November 24, 2020, the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) issued a Final Order in this docket.
On March 26, 2021, the Commission issued an Order on Reconsideration.

On August 18, 2022, the Supreme Court of Virginia issued an opinion that affirmed in part and reversed in part certain contested rulings in this
matter, and that remanded the case for further proceedings consistent with the Court's opinion.*

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration hereof, initiates proceedings on remand as set forth below.

(1) On or before September 23, 2022, the participants that previously submitted an earnings test and going forward revenue requirement may
each submit a revised earnings test and going forward revenue requirement for the Rate Year beginning January 1, 2021. Such shall be based on the
established evidentiary record in this case and the participant's stated positions in this proceeding on going-forward adjustments as of the date of the Order
on Reconsideration. The proposed revenue requirements shall reflect the Court's rulings in the above-referenced opinion and shall be based on the 9.20%
return on equity approved in the Final Order. Each participant's filing shall include brief testimony (including a one-page summary) with supporting
schedules, explaining the changes necessary to reflect the participant's proposed revised revenue requirement.

(2) On or before September 23, 2022, Appalachian Power Company (“Appalachian" or "Company") shall file proposed interim rates for (a) base
rates going forward, and (b) a rider designed to collect revenues not collected from January 1, 2021, through September 30, 2022. The Company shall
implement such interim rates beginning October 1, 2022. The interim rates shall be subject to Commission review and potential refund, and may be adjusted
by further Commission order(s) in these remand proceedings.

(3) On or before September 23, 2022, the Company, the Commission's Staff, and any party choosing to participate in these remand proceedings
shall submit a combined issues matrix on the outstanding disputed going-forward issues as of the close of the evidentiary record in the underlying case,
adjusted for the rulings in the Court's opinion. No new positions shall be submitted regarding earnings test adjustments, going-forward accounting
adjustments, or rate design.

(4) These remand proceedings are limited to conducting a going-forward rate year review in accordance with the Court's directive. Accordingly,
no further information is to be filed on the earnings tests reviewed and ruled upon in the underlying proceedings and subsequent appeal, with the exception
of adjustments necessary to incorporate the Court's rulings and calculate the going-forward revenue requirement.

Accordingly, IT IS SO ORDERED, and this matter is continued pending further order of the Commission.

1 Supreme Court of Virginia Record Nos. 210391 and 210634,
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CASE NO. PUR-2020-00015
DECEMBER 21, 2022

APPLICATION OF
APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY

For a 2020 triennial review of its base rates, terms and conditions pursuant to § 56-585.1 of the Code of Virginia

ORDER ON REMAND

On March 31, 2020, Appalachian Power Company ("APCo" or "Company") initiated the instant docket by filing its “triennial review" application
for the years 2017-2019 ("Application"). Pursuant to Code § 56-585.1 A 8, the "Commission's final order regarding such triennial review shall be entered
not more than eight months after the date of filing."

On November 24, 2020, after a full evidentiary proceeding on APCo's triennial review Application, the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) issued a Final Order in this docket.

On November 25, 2020, APCo filed a Notice of Appeal of the Final Order.

On December 14, 2020, APCo filed a Petition for Reconsideration of the Final Order, and the Office of the Attorney General, Division of
Consumer Counsel ("Consumer Counsel") filed a Petition for Reconsideration, Clarification, and Rehearing.

On December 15, 2020, Consumer Counsel filed a Notice of Appeal of the Final Order.
On March 26, 2021, the Commission issued an Order on Reconsideration.
On April 2, 2021, Consumer Counsel filed an updated Notice of Appeal. APCo filed an updated Notice of Appeal on April 5, 2021.

On August 18, 2022, the Supreme Court of Virginia issued an opinion that affirmed in part and reversed in part certain contested rulings in this
matter, and that remanded the case for further proceedings consistent with the Court's opinion.*

On August 22, 2022, the Commission issued an Order Initiating Remand Proceedings, which directed as follows:

(1) On or before September 23, 2022, the participants that previously submitted an earnings test and going-forward revenue requirement may
each submit a revised earnings test and going-forward revenue requirement for the Rate Year beginning January 1, 2021. Such shall be based on
the established evidentiary record in this case and the participant's stated positions in this proceeding on going-forward adjustments as of the date
of the Order on Reconsideration. The proposed revenue requirements shall reflect the Court's rulings in the above-referenced opinion and shall
be based on the 9.20% return on equity approved in the Final Order. Each participant's filing shall include brief testimony (including a one-page
summary) with supporting schedules, explaining the changes necessary to reflect the participant's proposed revised revenue requirement.

(2) On or before September 23, 2022, [APCo] shall file proposed interim rates for (a) base rates going forward, and (b) a rider designed to collect
revenues not collected from January 1, 2021, through September 30, 2022. The Company shall implement such interim rates beginning
October 1, 2022. The interim rates shall be subject to Commission review and potential refund, and may be adjusted by further Commission
order(s) in these remand proceedings.

(3) On or before September 23, 2022, the Company, the Commission's Staff, and any party choosing to participate in these remand proceedings
shall submit a combined issues matrix on the outstanding disputed going-forward issues as of the close of the evidentiary record in the underlying
case, adjusted for the rulings in the Court's opinion. No new positions shall be submitted regarding earnings test adjustments, going-forward
accounting adjustments, or rate design.

(4) These remand proceedings are limited to conducting a going-forward rate year review in accordance with the Court's directive. Accordingly,
no further information is to be filed on the earnings tests reviewed and ruled upon in the underlying proceedings and subsequent appeal, with the
exception of adjustments necessary to incorporate the Court's rulings and calculate the going-forward revenue requirement.

On September 23, 2022, the Company, the Staff of the Commission ("Staff""), and Consumer Counsel each filed revised going-forward revenue
requirements, along with supporting testimony. In addition, the Company, Consumer Counsel, Staff, VML/VACo APCo Steering Committee
("VML/VAC0"), and Old Dominion Committee for Fair Utility Rates ("Committee") filed a combined issues matrix setting forth the participants' positions
on the issues remanded to the Commission by the Court.

On September 30, 2022, the Commission issued an Order assigning this matter to a Hearing Examiner as follows:

[The] Hearing Examiner [shall] conduct further proceedings in this matter, including preparation of a report containing the Hearing
Examiner's findings and recommendations. These proceedings shall be limited to a going-forward rate year review in accordance with
the Court's directive. No evidence is to be considered on the earnings tests reviewed and ruled upon in the underlying proceedings and
subsequent appeal, apart from adjustments necessary to incorporate the Court's rulings and calculate the going-forward revenue
requirement.?

 Appalachian Power Co. v. State Corp. Comm'n, __ Va. ___, 876 S.E.2d 349 (2022).

2 Order at 2.
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On November 2, 2022, Commission Hearing Examiner D. Mathias Roussy, Jr., convened an evidentiary hearing on remand. The Hearing
Examiner issued his Report in this matter on November 17, 2022, and on November 28, 2022, issued an Errata thereto (collectively, "Report").

On December 1, 2022, comments on the Report were filed by: APCo; Consumer Counsel; VML/VACo; the Committee; Virginia Poverty Law
Center ("VPLC"); Appalachian Voices; and Staff.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds as follows.®

Hearing Examiner's Report

After analyzing the law and weighing the evidence — and providing a thorough and detailed analysis thereof — the Hearing Examiner made the
following recommendations:*

Accordingly, | RECOMMEND the Commission enter an order that:
1. FINDS the Company earned a 7.945% combined rate of return on common equity for the 2017-2019 triennial review period;

2. APPROVES a going-forward revenue requirement increase of $28.4 million for APCo's base generation and distribution rates, which
includes deferred recovery of the statutory regulatory asset amortized over three years;

3. DIRECTS APCo to file revised tariffs reflecting a $28.4 million going-forward revenue requirement increase for base generation and
distribution rates;

4. GRANTS conditional approval of a revised Rider R.C.R. that: (a) reflects a $28.4 million going-forward base rate revenue requirement
increase; (b) removes from its actual revenue baseline any revenues from January 1, 2021, through January 22, 2021; (c) updates the estimate of
September 2022 revenues to actual revenues for the actual revenue baseline; and (d) includes tariff language indicating that Rider R.C.R.
automatically resets to zero upon reaching the amount targeted by the rider;

5. CONDITIONS approval of the revised Rider R.C.R. on a requirement for the Company to impute all Rider R.C.R. revenues into the 2021
and 2022 earnings test; and/or MAINTAINS the revised Rider R.C.R. as an interim rate subject to refund until the Commission has completed the
earnings test in the upcoming triennial review;

6. DIRECTS customer refunds of base rate and Rider R.C.R. recoveries from interim rates exceeding the revised tariff rates approved by
the Commission; and

7. DIRECTS Staff to ensure the revised rates filed by APCo comply with this order, including verification of the Rider R.C.R. calculations
and the underlying actual revenues.

Upon consideration of this matter, the Commission concludes that the Hearing Examiner's rulings, findings, and recommendations are supported
by law and the evidence, have a rational basis, and are adopted herein.® In addition, the Commission further discusses below its findings for purposes of this
remand proceeding.

Triennial Review Proceeding

As part of the triennial review proceeding, the Commission was required to determine the Company's reasonable earned return for the 2017-2019
historical three-year period. To do this, the Commission must approve reasonable costs for 2017-2019.% If the Commission finds that APCo's revenues
during that period were insufficient to recover reasonable costs by a statutorily-prescribed amount, then the statute requires a going-forward rate increase as
necessary for the purposes stated therein.” As dictated by this statutory scheme, in the triennial review proceeding the Commission received evidence and
argument on both historical (2017-2019) and future (for purposes of setting going-forward rates, if necessary) revenues and expenses.

Commission
APCo's historical expenses for 2019 included an asset impairment charge of $88.3 million for power plant closures in 2015. The Commission

found that this asset impairment expense was unreasonable.® As a result of this finding, the Company had sufficient revenues to recover its reasonable costs
under the statute. Thus, the Final Order did not include findings necessary to approve a change in rates on a going-forward basis.

% The Commission has fully considered the evidence and arguments in the record. See also Board of Supervisors of Loudoun County v. State Corp. Comm'n,
292 Va. 444, 454 n.10 (2016) ("We note that even in the absence of this representation by the Commission, pursuant to our governing standard of review, the
Commission's decision comes to us with a presumption that it considered all of the evidence of record.") (citation omitted).

4 Report at 26 (emphases in original).

5 See Report. In so doing, the Commission has made a factual finding on each going-forward rate issue.

6 Final Order at 2-4.

7Id. at 3; Code § 56-585.1 A 8 a.

8 Final Order at 5-12; Order on Reconsideration at 6-19. See also Remand Tr. at 1287 (Consumer Counsel); Consumer Counsel's Remand Comments at 1

("Consumer Counsel's witness described this accounting maneuver to be 'unconscionable’ in the context of its effects on customers' cost-of-service.")
(citation omitted).
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APCo

APCo appealed the Commission's decision to the Supreme Court of Virginia. On appeal, the Company did not contest the Commission's
conclusion that the $88.3 million asset impairment cost was unreasonable. Rather, APCo claimed that the General Assembly has removed the Commission's
authority to reject this asset impairment charge, even if it is unreasonable.’

Supreme Court of Virginia

The Court, in turn, did not find that the $88.3 million asset impairment cost was reasonable. Rather, the Court agreed with the Company and held
that Code § 56-585.1 A 8 removes the Commission's authority to protect customers from an unreasonable asset impairment cost in this instance.

In other words, as discussed by the Hearing Examiner, the Court found that the statute required the Commission to accept this charge as part of
the 2017-2019 triennial review proceeding, regardless of whether it was reasonable.!* The Hearing Examiner further noted that the Court understood this
outcome and its potential impact on rates.'2

In sum, the Court found the Commission made an error of law in denying this charge and remanded the case to the Commission "for further
proceedings consistent with this opinion."

Remand Proceeding

As a result, the purpose of this remand proceeding is for the Commission to revise its final decision for APCo's 2017-2019 triennial review in a
manner that faithfully implements the statutory requirements, given that the Commission's rejection of the $88.3 million asset impairment cost has been
declared improper by the Court as a matter of law.

In this regard, it is uncontested that the Court's reversal of the Commission's finding lowers APCo's earned return for 2017-2019 such that the
Commission "shall order increases to the utility's rates necessary to provide the opportunity to fully recover the costs of providing the utility's services and
to earn not less than such fair combined rate of return, using the most recently ended 12-month test period as the basis for determining the amount of the rate
increase necessary."*

Implementation

As discussed above, the Commission is required to implement the Court's partial reversal for purposes of APCo's 2017-2019 triennial review
proceeding, which requires approval of the $88.3 million asset impairment cost. If the Commission had not rejected this cost, the Final Order — issued
within the statutory deadline therefor — would have included findings on contested ratemaking issues necessary to establish new rates on a going-forward
basis in accordance with the statute. Furthermore, those findings would have been based on the fully litigated record developed during the triennial review
proceeding for that very purpose.

That is precisely what we have done herein. The purpose of the instant remand is to correct the legal error as held by the Court, not to relitigate
issues that have already been fully litigated for the 2017-2019 triennial review. Thus, in correcting the legal error on remand, the Commission has
reasonably rejected requests to reopen the record for purposes of relitigating contested going-forward ratemaking issues, which all parties already had a full
opportunity to litigate in the triennial review proceeding. Similarly, the Commission has also reasonably rejected requests to include new evidence that came
into being after the statutory timeframe for the 2017-2019 triennial review proceeding.

Next, as recommended by the Hearing Examiner, the Commission has also ordered additional requirements herein (including Rider R.C.R.),
which are necessary to implement the resulting rate increase in a manner that reasonably effectuates the outcome that would have occurred if such rate
increase had been approved during the statutorily prescribed timeframe of the 2017-2019 triennial review proceeding. The Commission concludes that the
Court would not consider this outcome to be illegal "retroactive ratemaking." Quite to the contrary, it is necessary to correct the legal error as mandated by
the Court.*

° See, e.g., Appalachian Power Co., _ Va.at ___, 876 S.E.2d at 357, 359.

©d,  Vaat__ 876 S.E.2d at 359-360, 365.

11 Report at 1 n.1.

12d. at 1 n.2 (quoting Appalachian Power Co., ___ Va.at__, 876 S.E.2d at 372 (Mims, S.J., and Powell, J., dissenting) ("The majority's holding also takes
away the Commission's ability to protect rate payers from potentially unreasonable accounting practices that will result in rate increases. Now that [APCo]
will be permitted to allocate all the asset impairment costs for the retired units in 2019, [APCo]'s earnings for the triennial review period will be lowered to
such an extent that the Commission will be required to conduct a going-forward rate case and [APCo] will be entitled to raise its rates.").

13 Appalachian Power Co., ___ Va.at___, 876 S.E.2d at 370.

14 Code § 56-585.1 A 8 a (emphases added). See also Report at 8.

5 The Commission also rejects claims that this may violate notice requirements. Rather, as explained by the Hearing Examiner, the "total revenues that

APCo proposes on remand are less than the total revenues that the noticed rates proposed by the Application would have produced over the relevant period."”
Report at 23.
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Finally in this regard, and consistent with the approach above, the Commission agrees with the Hearing Examiner that if the instant rate increase
was included in the Final Order, it would have been made effective 60 days thereafter (i.e., January 23, 2021), and that such date shall be utilized for
calculating the revenue increase approved herein.® In addition, as also discussed by the Hearing Examiner, the Commission finds that to prevent potential
double-recovery (among other things): (1) the Company shall impute all Rider R.C.R. revenues into the 2021 and 2022 earnings test; (2) Rider R.C.R. shall
remain subject to refund until the Commission has completed the earnings test for 2021 and 2022; and (3) the Company shall modify the Rider R.C.R. tariff
to provide that it automatically resets to zero upon reaching the amount targeted by such rider.*’

Rate Increase

Consumer Counsel, VML/VACo, the Committee, VPLC, and Appalachian Voices all expressed serious concerns about further raising customers'
rates, especially given the other rate increases APCo's customers have recently experienced under various statutory rate mechanisms.*®* The Commission
shares these concerns about the very real impacts these rate increases have on APCo's customers. Indeed, as explained above, the Commission's rejection of
an unreasonable asset impairment cost in the initial triennial review proceeding had the direct result of avoiding a further rate increase.

Finally, the rate increase requested by APCo on remand has been in effect on an interim basis, subject to refund, since October 1, 2022.1° Those
rates reflect APCo's requested rate increase, following the Supreme Court remand,? of $40.6 million on an annual basis effective January 1, 2021.2* Based
on the Commission's findings herein (on issues for which the Commission still retains discretion), this annual rate increase has been reduced to
$28.4 million.2 As a result, the instant Order on Remand necessitates that APCo refund amounts previously recovered on an interim basis in excess of this
approval.® Compared to APCo's original request of $65 million, the instant Order on Remand reduces the annual base rate increase by more than 50%.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Commission adopts the Hearing Examiner's findings and recommendations as set forth herein.

(2) The Hearing Examiner's recommendations, set forth herein, are hereby ordered.

(3) The Company shall forthwith file revised tariffs and terms and conditions of service and supporting workpapers with the Clerk of the
Commission and with the Commission's Divisions of Public Utility Regulation and Utility Accounting and Finance, as necessary to comply with the

directives and findings set forth in this Order on Remand. The Clerk of the Commission shall retain such filing for public inspection in person and on the
Commission's website: scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

(4) The Company shall recalculate, using the rates and charges approved herein, each bill it rendered that used, in whole or in part, the rates and
charges that took effect on an interim basis and subject to refund on October 1, 2022, and where application of the new rates results in a reduced bill, refund
the difference with interest (as set out below) within ninety (90) days of the issuance of this Order on Remand.

(5) Interest upon the ordered refunds shall be computed from the date payments of monthly bills were due to the date each refund is made at the
average prime rate for each calendar quarter, compounded quarterly, using the average prime rate values published in the Federal Reserve Bulletin or in the
Federal Reserve's Selected Interest Rates (Statistical Release H. 15) for the three (3) months of the preceding calendar quarter.

(6) The refunds ordered herein may be credited to the current customers' accounts. Refunds to former customers shall be made by check or
pre-paid credit card mailed to the last known address of such customers when the refund amount is $1 or more. The Company may offset the credit or
refund to the extent of any undisputed outstanding balance for the current or former customer. No offset shall be permitted against any disputed portion of
an outstanding balance. The Company may retain refunds to former customers when such refund is less than $1; however, such refunds shall be made
promptly upon request. All unclaimed refunds shall be subject to Code § 55.1-2512.

(7) Within sixty (60) days of completing the refunds ordered herein, the Company shall deliver to the Commission's Divisions of Public Utility
Regulation and Utility Accounting and Finance a report showing that all refunds have been made pursuant to this Final Order and detailing the costs incurred
in effecting such refunds and the accounts charged.

(8) The Company shall bear all costs incurred in effecting the refunds ordered herein.

(9) This matter is dismissed.

16 1d. at 23-24. To the extent argued that this conflicts with the Commission's Order Initiating Remand Proceedings, we have explicitly adopted the Hearing
Examiner's findings and recommendation thereon.

171d. at 24-25.

18 See, e.g., Remand Tr. at 1287, 1270, 1278, 1273, and 1276, respectively.

1% Report at 21.

2 In the Application, as originally filed, APCo requested a base rate increase of $65 million. Ex. 1 (Application) at 9.

2 Report at 4. The interim rates include both a going-forward rate increase commencing October 1, 2022, of $40.6 million, plus Rider R.C.R. for recovery
of uncollected revenues from January 1, 2021, to September 30, 2022, which is an additional $54.1 million an annual basis. Ex. R135 (Castle) at 2. Rider
R.C.R. will be in effect for 16 months commencing October 1, 2022.

22 Report at 26.

2 The Company may implement this refund as proposed. See, e.g., Ex. R135 (Castle) at 4.
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CASE NO. PUR-2020-00027
JUNE 30, 2022

APPLICATION OF
SUNWAVE USA HOLDINGS, INC.

For a license to conduct business as a competitive service provider of electricity supply and natural gas supply

ORDER CANCELLING LICENSES

On February 11, 2020, Sunwave USA Holdings, Inc. ("Sunwave" or "Company") filed an application with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") for a license to conduct business as a competitive service provider of electricity supply service pursuant to § 56-587 of the Code of Virginia
("Electricity Application™). Sunwave, contemporaneous to the Electricity Application, filed an application for a license to do business as a competitive
service provider of natural gas supply service pursuant to § 56-235.8 of the Code of Virginia ("Natural Gas Application").

On March 16, 2020, the Commission entered an Order for Notice and Comment ("Procedural Order") which ordered the Electricity Application
and Natural Gas Application to be treated as one (collectively "Application™ hereafter) proceeding under Case No. PUR-2020-00027. The Procedural Order
closed Case No. PUR-2020-00026. On April 14, 2020, the Commission issued License Nos. E-42 and G-55 to Sunwave.!

On June 23, 2022, Commission Staff ("Staff") received a letter ("Letter") notifying the Commission that Sunwave wished to surrender its licenses
to conduct business as a competitive service provider of electricity supply and natural gas supply. In its Letter, Sunwave indicated that it does not have
electricity supply or natural gas supply customers in Virginia. The Letter also acknowledged the Company would have to file a new application and become
licensed as a competitive service provider before it would be able to provide competitive energy services to customers in Virginia in the future.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the foregoing, is of the opinion and finds that it should cancel License Nos. E-42 and G-55
and that this proceeding should be dismissed.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) License No. E-42 issued to Sunwave to conduct business as a competitive service provider of electricity supply service is hereby cancelled.
(2) License No. G-55 issued to Sunwave to conduct business as a competitive service provider of natural gas supply service is here by cancelled.

(3) This matter is dismissed.

1 See Application of Sunwave USA Holdings, Inc., For a license to conduct business as a competitive service provider of electricity supply and natural gas
supply, Case No. PUR-2020-00027, 2020 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 445-446, Order Granting License (Apr. 14, 2020).

CASE NO. PUR-2020-00082
APRIL 1, 2022

APPLICATION OF
INTL FCSTONE FINANCIAL INC.

For a license to conduct business as an aggregator of electricity supply service

ORDER REISSUING LICENSE

On July 29, 2020, the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) entered an Order Granting License and issuing License No. A-107 to INTL
FCStone Financial Inc. ("INTL" or "Company"), for authority to provide electricity aggregation services to eligible commercial, industrial, and
governmental customers in the service territory of Virginia Electric and Power Company d/b/a Dominion Energy Virginia ("DEV"), pursuant to the
Commission's Rules Governing Retail Access to Competitive Energy Services ("Retail Access Rules™).

On March 30, 2021, the Company filed a letter notifying the Commission of the Company's name change to StoneX Financial Inc. ("StoneX").
In support of its letter, the Company provided documents verifying the Company's legal name change.?

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the foregoing and of the applicable law, finds that License No. A-107, issued to INTL,
should be cancelled and reissued as License No. A-107A in the name of StoneX.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) License No. A-107, issued in the name of INTL FCStone Financial Inc., to provide competitive electricity aggregation services to eligible

commercial, industrial, and governmental customers in the service territory of DEV, is hereby cancelled and reissued as License No. A-107A, in the name of
StoneX Financial Inc.

120 VAC 5-312-10 et seq.

2 See Company's Letter Notifying Commission of Name Change at 2.
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(2) StoneX shall operate under this license pursuant to the same terms and conditions as set forth in the Order Granting License entered into this
docket on July 29, 2020. This license to act as a competitive electricity aggregation services remains subject to the provisions of the Commission's Retail
Access Rules, this Order, and other applicable law.

(3) This license is valid authority only for the entity named herein and any additional name or other corporate changes shall require further
Commission approval.

(4) This license is not valid authority for the provision of any product or service not identified within the license itself.

(5) This case shall remain open for consideration of any subsequent amendments or modifications to this license.

CASE NO. PUR-2020-00110
AUGUST 30, 2022

APPLICATION OF
KENTUCKY UTILITIES COMPANY D/B/A OLD DOMINION POWER COMPANY

For approval and certification of electric transmission facilities under Va. Code § 56-46.1 and the Utility Facilities Act, Va. Code
§ 56-265.1, et seq.

ORDER GRANTING MOTION FOR EXTENSION
OF CONSTRUCTION AND IN-SERVICE DATE

On June 3, 2020, Kentucky Utilities Company d/b/a Old Dominion Power Company (“Company") filed with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) an application ("Application") for approval and certificates of public convenience and necessity for structure replacements on three 161
kilovolt ("kV") transmission lines within the Company's existing rights-of-way ("ROWSs") in Lee and Wise Counties, Virginia. The Company sought to
replace certain wood structures with galvanized steel structures on three separate 161 kV transmission circuits, entirely within its existing ROW ("Rebuild
Project").

On November 10, 2020, the Commission issued its Final Order in this matter ("Final Order"),® which, among other things, authorized the
Company to construct and operate the Rebuild Project subject to the findings and conditions of the Final Order, and specified the in-service date for the
Rebuild Project. Ordering Paragraph (6) of the Final Order provided: "The Rebuild Project approved herein must be constructed and in service by October
31, 2022. No later than 90 days before the in-service date approved herein, except for good cause shown, the Company is granted leave to apply, and to
provide the basis, for any extension request."2

On July 29, 2022, the Company moved the Commission to extend the date for completing and energizing the Dorchester to Pocket North line
component of the Rebuild Project from October 31, 2022, to December 31, 2024 ("Motion™). The Company states that as part of the Virginia Department of
Environmental Quality's ("DEQ") stormwater permitting, the DEQ has required mitigation or the acquisition of phosphorous credits.* The Company also
asserts that the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and the DEQ may require a Joint Permit Application for wetland impacts based on the timing of the DEQ
stormwater permit.* The Company states that the completion of the permitting process is expected to take at least another 12 months.®

In its Application, the Company represented that on the Dorchester to Pocket North line, it would be replacing 89 wood structures and repairing
22 structures. The Company now states that it expects to find some of the 22 structures scheduled for repair will need to be replaced, but the impact of this
on the estimated cost of the Rebuild Project is minimal.

No responses to the Motion were filed.
NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Company has established good cause to

extend the current deadline for completing and energizing the Dorchester to Pocket North line component of the Rebuild Project from October 31, 2022, to
December 31, 2024.

1 Application of Kentucky Utilities Company, For approval and certification of electric transmission facilities: under Va. Code § 56-46.1 and the Utility
Facilities Act, Va. Code § 56-265.1, Case No. PUR-2020-00110, 2020 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 545, Final Order (Nov. 10, 2020).

21d.
3 Motion at 2.
41d.

®Id.
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Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) This case is reopened for the limited purpose of considering the Motion.

(2) The deadline for completing and energizing the Dorchester to Pocket North line component of the Rebuild Project established under the Final
Order herein is hereby extended from October 31, 2022, to December 31, 2024.

(3) This matter is dismissed.

CASE NO. PUR-2020-00124
OCTOBER 13, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of establishing regulations for a multi-family shared solar program pursuant to § 56-585.1:12 of the Code of Virginia
FINAL ORDER

In 2020, the Virginia General Assembly enacted legislation, later codified as Code § 56-585.1:12, which among other things required the State
Corporation Commission ("Commission"), by regulation, to establish the Multi-Family Shared Solar Program ("MFSS Program™ or "Program™).* Through
this Program, eligible customers of investor-owned utilities, whose customers live in multi-family dwellings (e.g., an apartment complex), have the
opportunity to participate in shared solar projects.?

Generally speaking, a multi-family customer would purchase one or more subscriptions to a solar facility that qualifies as a "shared solar facility."
In return, participating customers would receive credit on their utility bill by "multiplying the subscriber's portion of the kilowatt-hour [("kWh")] electricity
production from the shared solar facility by ... the effective retail rate of the customer's rate class, which shall be inclusive of all supply charges, delivery
charges, demand charges, fixed charges, and any applicable riders or other charges to the customer."?

The Commission established the Program by adopting the Rules Governing Multi-Family Shared Solar Program ("MFSS Rules") on
December 23, 2020.*

One utility participating in the Program is Virginia Electric and Power Company d/b/a Dominion Energy Virginia (“"Dominion™ or "Company").
On June 29, 2021, the Commission issued an Order in this docket that, in part, set the initial bill credit rate for the Program at 11.765¢/kWh for Dominion
and required Dominion to file "one (1) original document containing any revised tariff provisions necessary to implement” the MFSS Rules.® Dominion
filed multiple documents and workpapers, including revised tariff provisions labeled as Schedule Multi-Family Shared Solar and Schedule Subscriber
Organization — Multi-Family Shared Solar on June 30, 2021, in an effort to comply with the Commission's December 23, 2020 Order and incorporate the bill
credit rate set by the Commission's June 29, 2021 Order.

By letter filed on July 15, 2021, the Commission's Division of Public Utility Regulation (“Division") rejected Dominion's proposed tariff sheets
as submitted because they contained administrative charges. According to the Division, the Commission itself must "determine the need for and amount of
any appropriate administrative charge" in accordance with MFSS Rule 80 A.* The Division stated that because the Commission has not determined the need
for and amount of any administrative charge applicable to the Program, it was “improper on Dominion's part to include such charges without any prior
petition for Commission acceptance and approval."” The Division rejected Dominion's tariff sheets.®

On September 1, 2021, Dominion filed a petition (“Petition") with the Commission requesting that the Commission: (1) specifically approve, as
a component of its tariff sheets, the Company's proposed administrative charge; and (2) collectively accept and approve the Company's tariff sheets.®

12020 Va. Acts chs. 1187, 1188, 1189, 1237.

2 Code §8 56-585.1:12 A, C.

% Code §8 56-585.1:12 C, D.

4 Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation Commission, Ex Parte: In the matter of establishing regulations for a multi-family shared solar
program pursuant to § 56-585.1:12 of the Code of Virginia, Case No. PUR-2020-00124, 2020 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 571, Order Adopting Rules (Dec. 23, 2020)
("December 23, 2020 Order"). See also Code § 56-585.1:12 B.

> Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation Commission, Ex Parte: In the matter of establishing regulations for a multi-family shared solar
program pursuant to § 56-585.1:12 of the Code of Virginia, Case No. PUR-2020-00124, Order at 5 (June 29, 2021) ("June 29, 2021 Order").

& Letter from David R. Eichenlaub, Deputy Director, Division of Public Utility Regulation, State Corporation Commission, dated July 15, 2021, to Timothy
D. Patterson, Esquire, McGuireWoods LLP, filed in Case No. PUR-2020-00124 at 1.

71d.
81d. at 2.

% Ex. 3 (Petition) at 3.
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On September 29, 2021, the Commission issued an Order for Notice and Comment that, among other things, required Dominion to provide public
notice of its proposed administrative charges; provided interested persons an opportunity to file comments on the proposed administrative charges, file a
notice of participation as a respondent, and request that a hearing be convened; directed the Commission's Staff (“Staff") to investigate the proposed
administrative charges and present its findings and recommendations in a report; and assigned a Hearing Examiner to rule on any discovery matters that arise
during the course of this proceeding. On October 14, 2021, the Commission issued a Correcting Order in response to an Errata Filing by Dominion,
correcting certain figures included in the Order for Notice and Comment.

Notices of Participation, Comments and Requests for Hearing were filed by: the Coalition for Community Solar Access and the Chesapeake
Solar and Storage Association ("CCSA-CHESSA"); Appalachian Voices; and Direct Energy Business, LLC and Direct Energy Services, LLC ("Direct
Energy"). On December 15, 2021, Staff filed its report. On December 29, 2021, Dominion filed Response Comments.

On January 14, 2022, the Commission issued an Order assigning this matter to a Hearing Examiner to conduct further proceedings on Dominion's
request for approval of its proposed administrative charge.

The Hearing Examiner conducted an evidentiary hearing on this matter on March 25 and 28, 2022, including the receipt of the testimony of 17
public witnesses and the receipt of evidence from the Company, Staff, and respondents.

On May 9, 2022, the Report of A. Ann Berkebile, Senior Hearing Examiner (“Report"), was issued. The Report provided an extensive review of
the law, facts, and positions of all participants, and included the Hearing Examiner's findings and recommendations. Comments on the Report were
subsequently filed by Dominion, CCSA-CHESSA, Appalachian Voices, and Direct Energy.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds as follows.

Code of Virginia

Code § 56-585.1:12 E provides in part as follows (emphases added):
E. The Commission shall establish by regulation a multi-family shared solar program by January 1, 2021, and shall require
each investor-owned utility to file any tariffs, agreements, or forms necessary for implementation of the program. Any rule
or utility implementation filings approved by the Commission shall:

*hk

7. Allow the investor-owned utilities to recover reasonable costs of administering the program;

As recognized by the Hearing Examiner, Dominion and the respondents disagree as to the types of costs that properly fall within "administering
the program" as referenced immediately above. In general, Dominion asserts that such costs include costs of providing electric services that would normally
be incurred to serve such customers (such as transmission and distribution delivery charges), whereas respondents assert that such costs are limited to
additional costs that arise as a result of, or are directly related to, the Multi-Family Program.*

Code § 56-585.1:12 does not define, or list costs falling within, "administering the program." Thus, turning to the dictionary, "administer" is
defined as: "1 a (1) : to manage the affairs of ... (2) : to direct or superintend the execution, use, or conduct of...."*? Because, like the Hearing Examiner,
we find that the dictionary definition does not appear to definitively answer this question, we next turn to another tenet of statutory construction.

Specifically, there are two statutes devoted to the subject matter of shared solar programs in Title 56: the instant Code § 56-585.1:12; and
Code § 56-594.3. Code § 56-585.1:12 allows customers living in multi-family dwellings to subscribe to a portion of a shared solar facility that is located on
the premises of, or adjacent to, the multi-family customer.’* Code § 56-594.3 allows any customer to subscribe to a portion of a shared solar facility located
anywhere within the utility's service territory.** These two statutes are similarly structured and include many similar-type provisions.

For purposes of this analysis, both statutes expressly allow the utility "to recover reasonable costs of administering the program."*® Yet,
notwithstanding the similarities between the two statutes, there is at least one glaring difference. Code § 56-594.3 separately addresses the additional
recovery of costs of providing electric service (e.g., transmission and distribution delivery costs) that, in the instant case, Dominion seeks to characterize as
costs of "administering the program." Specifically, in addition to “costs of administering the program,” Code § 56-594.3 also allows the Commission to
require subscribing customers to pay "a fair share of the costs of providing electric services" and to "minimize the costs shifted to customers not in a shared
solar program."® Code § 56-585.1:12 simply does not contain an analogous provision.

10 Numerous public comments were also received by the Commission in this matter.
11 See, e.g., Report at 40-42.

12 Webster's Third New International Dictionary 27 (2002).

% Code § 56-585.1:12 A.

14 Code § 56-594.3 A.

15 Code §8§ 56-585.1:12 E 7 and 56-594.3 F 9.

16 Code § 56-594.3 D.
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The Commission must presume that this difference was intentional.}” Indeed, in implementing Code § 56-594.3, the Commission required
subscribing customers to pay a fair share of the system infrastructure costs of providing electric service.** The Commission, however, did not include these
costs of providing electric service as "costs of administering the program." Rather, the Commission required subscribing customers thereunder to pay for
these costs based on the express — and separately delineated — authority in that statute "to ensure subscribing customers pay a fair share of the costs of
providing electric services."® Again, Code § 56-585.1:12 does not include any such similar authority.?

Accordingly, the Commission finds that the "reasonable costs of administering the program™ under Code § 56-585.1:12 E 7 do not include the
electric system infrastructure charges sought by Dominion for inclusion therein.

Reasonable Costs of Administering the Program

Schedule MFSS

Dominion will incur program billing costs that arise as a result of the Program. For example, the Company will need to interface with subscriber
organizations for purposes of coordinating subscribing customers, data transfer, and bill credit determination, as well as preparing separate customer bills
specifically for subscribing customers.2* Dominion currently will have to perform these administrative tasks on a manual basis, and in consultation with its
billing department estimates that these monthly administrative tasks will take fifteen (15) minutes for each subscribing customer.?? In addition, because
Dominion does not expect the time required for these tasks to be dependent upon subscription size, the Company proposes a flat fee for this purpose.?? As a
result, based on the Company's hourly rate for business performance analysts — i.e., the employees currently performing billing functions and that would
perform this administrative function, as well — the monthly Program Billing Charge would be $13.40.

The Commission finds that a $13.40 Program Billing Charge for Schedule MFSS is reasonable based on the evidence provided by the Company.
We likewise find that it is reasonable for Dominion not to have an automated billing system in place for the Program at this time. Because this statutory
Program is new and yet to be implemented, the specific data configuration and computer information platform necessary has yet to be developed. Moreover,
Dominion is currently developing a new company-wide customer information platform (“CIP"), which is expected to be in-service by mid-2023, and will
investigate including the Program as part thereof.?* Accordingly, Dominion shall report on the status of this process in its next MFSS Program-related
update and propose any changes (or establish why no changes should be made) to the Program Billing Charge.?

In addition, MFSS Program customers cannot bypass statutorily non-bypassable charges without a concomitant statutory exemption. Thus, as
recommended by the Hearing Examiner, the Commission also finds that the Company must bill subscribing customers for Non-Bypassable Charges
(calculated by multiplying the subscribing customer's monthly usage by appropriate Non-Bypassable Charges) as set forth in Staff Alternative A.%

Schedule SO-MSS

Dominion also proposes a subscriber organization Administrative Charge to be included in Schedule SO-MSS, which is a companion schedule
established under any non-residential, non-lighting rate schedule (e.g., Schedule GS-1, Schedule GS-2, Schedule GS-3, Schedule GS-4). This
Administrative Charge includes a one-time set-up charge and monthly charges related to meter reading and processing and program administration. The
Commission adopts the reasoning, findings, and recommendations set forth in the Report and approves the subscriber organization Administrative Charge as
recommended by the Hearing Examiner.?

17 Zinone v. Lee's Crossing Homeowners Ass'n, 282 Va. 330, 337 (2011) ("Moreover, when the General Assembly has used specific language in one
instance, but omits that language or uses different language when addressing a similar subject elsewhere in the Code, we must presume that the difference in
the choice of language was intentional.") (citations omitted).

18 Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation Commission, Ex Parte: In the matter of establishing regulations for a shared solar program
pursuant to § 56-594.3 of the Code of Virginia, Case No. PUR-2020-00125, Final Order (July 7, 2022).

91d. at 5-6.

2 |n addition, we conclude that the statutory construction herein does not conflict with the Commission's adoption of the MFSS Rules. Moreover, to the
extent any particular rule is deemed otherwise, we note that a Commission rule obviously cannot re-write or supersede a statute.

2 See, e.g., Ex. 4 (Trexler Direct) at 10-11.

22 See, e.g., id. at 11, Schedule 4; Tr. 171-173.

2 See, e.g., id. at 11.

% See, e.g., id.; Tr. 197.

% |n addition, because it was raised in Appalachian Voices' comments on the Report, the Commission confirms it has found that Dominion met its burden to
establish that the Program Billing Charge approved herein is reasonable, and that such burden has not been shifted to the respondents for this purpose. See,

e.g., Appalachian Voices' Comments at 7.

% See, e.g., Report at 58. As also recommended by the Hearing Examiner, the Commission finds that low-income customers should retain any applicable
exemptions from non-bypassable charges and directs Dominion to make necessary adjustments to reflect that exemption. See, e.g., id.; Tr. 192.

7 See, e.g., Report at 56-57.
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Compliance Filing

The Company forthwith shall file revised tariffs, terms and conditions of service and supporting workpapers with the Clerk of the Commission
and submit the same to the Commission's Divisions of Public Utility Regulation and Utility Accounting and Finance, as is necessary to comply with the
directives set forth in this Final Order. The Clerk of the Commission shall retain such filings for public inspection in person and on the Commission's
website: scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

Accordingly, IT IS SO ORDERED, and this matter is DISMISSED.

CASE NO. PUR-2020-00124
NOVEMBER 3, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of establishing regulations for a multi-family shared solar program pursuant to § 56-585.1:12 of the Code of Virginia

ORDER GRANTING RECONSIDERATION

On October 13, 2022, the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") issued a Final Order in this docket. On November 2, 2022, Virginia
Electric and Power Company filed a Petition for Limited Clarification or Reconsideration.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration hereof, grants reconsideration for the purpose of continuing jurisdiction over this matter. The
Final Order is hereby suspended pending the Commission's reconsideration of the Final Order.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) Reconsideration is granted for the purpose of continuing jurisdiction over this matter.
(2) Pending the Commission's reconsideration, the Final Order is hereby suspended.

(3) This matter is continued generally.

CASE NO. PUR-2020-00124
NOVEMBER 17, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, ex rel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of establishing regulations for a multi-family shared solar program pursuant to § 56-585.1:12 of the Code of Virginia

ORDER ESTABLISHING BILL CREDIT RATE

On December 23, 2020, the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) issued its Order Adopting Rules in this docket to govern
multi-family shared solar programs to be offered by Virginia Electric and Power Company d/b/a Dominion Energy Virginia ("Dominion™) and Kentucky
Utilities Company d/b/a Old Dominion Power Company ("KU-ODP"). Among other things, the Order Adopting Rules provided that, pursuant to
§56-585.1:12 D of the Code of Virginia ("Code") the Commission would by separate order calculate and publish the applicable bill credit rate for
multi-family shared solar customers.*

On June 29, 2021, the Commission entered an order setting the initial bill credit rate for the multifamily shared solar program to 11.765 cents per
kilowatt-hour ("¢/kWh") for Dominion and 11.328 ¢/kWh for KU-ODP.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, finds that the bill credit rate should be reset to 11.446 ¢/kWh for Dominion and
12.463 ¢/kWh for KU-ODP.2 This bill credit rate shall be effective from the date of this order through June 30, 2023.

Accordingly, IT IS SO ORDERED, and this case is continued.

! Order Adopting Rules at 9.

2 Dominion's most recent FERC Form 1 for Virginia customers reports residential sales of 29,391,561,000 kwh and residential revenues of $3,364,051,957.
KU-ODP's FERC Form 1 for Virginia customers reports residential sales of 339,892,000 kWh and residential revenues of $42,360,226.
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CASE NO. PUR-2020-00124
NOVEMBER 17, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of establishing regulations for a multi-family shared solar program pursuant to § 56-585.1:12 of the Code of Virginia

ORDER ON RECONSIDERATION

On October 13, 2022, the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) issued a Final Order in this docket. On November 2, 2022, Virginia
Electric and Power Company filed a Petition for Limited Clarification or Reconsideration. In its Petition, the Company sought clarification regarding the bill
credit rate applicable to its forthcoming compliance filing, as the existing bill credit rate was established on June 29, 2021, and the Commission's rules
promulgated in this docket state that the bill credit rate would be established annually.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration hereof, finds that clarification of the Final Order in this proceeding is appropriate. Concurrent
with this order, the Commission is issuing an order resetting the bill credit rate, effective through June 30, 2023. The Company is directed to use the new
bill credit rate in its compliance filing in this proceeding.

Accordingly, IT IS SO ORDERED, the Final Order is no longer suspended, and this case is continued.

CASE NO. PUR-2020-00125
JULY 7, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of establishing regulations for a shared solar program pursuant to § 56-594.3 of the Code of Virginia
EINAL ORDER

During its 2020 Session, the Virginia General Assembly enacted Chapters 1238 (HB 1634) and 1264 (SB 629) of the 2020 Virginia Acts of
Assembly. These Acts of Assembly amend the Code of Virginia ("Code™) by adding a section numbered 56-594.3, effective July 1, 2020. Code § 56-594.3
requires that by January 1, 2021, the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") establish by regulation a program affording customers of Virginia
Electric and Power Company d/b/a Dominion Energy Virginia ("Dominion™) the opportunity to participate in a shared solar program (“Shared Solar
Program" or "Program™).! Pursuant to Code § 56-594.3 E, the Commission must approve a Shared Solar Program of 150 megawatts with a minimum
requirement of 30 percent low-income customers as defined in Code § 56-594.3 A. Also under the Program, each subscriber will pay a minimum bill to
Dominion and receive a bill credit based on the subscriber's customer class.? The Commission must establish the minimum bill, which may be modified
over time, and must set the bill credit rate annually.® Dominion must file any tariffs, agreements, or forms necessary to implement the Program within 60
days of its full implementation of a new customer information platform or by July 1, 2023, whichever occurs first.*

On December 23, 2020, the Commission issued its Order Adopting Rules in this docket, in which the Commission adopted the Rules Governing
Shared Solar Program, 20 VAC 5-340-10 et seq. ("Rules").> The Order Adopting Rules required Dominion to file a minimum bill proposal (“"Proposal™) in
this docket.5 Further, the Order Adopting Rules noted that, pursuant to 20 VAC 5-340-80, the Commission would convene a proceeding to consider any
monthly administrative charge and the components of the minimum bill to be applied by Dominion pursuant to the Rules.”

Dominion filed its Proposal on March 1, 2021, as directed. On March 18, 2021, the Commission issued an Order directing Dominion to file
supplemental information on this Proposal and address various items specified by the Order. On April 1, 2021, Dominion filed supplemental information on
its Proposal. On April 14, 2021, the Commission issued an Order for Notice and Comment, which provided interested persons the opportunity to file
comments or request a hearing on Dominion's Proposal.

! Under this Program, Dominion will provide a bill credit for the proportional output of a shared solar facility attributable to a utility customer that is a
subscriber to a shared solar facility. See Code § 56-594.3 B.

2 Code § 56-594.3 C.

% Code § 56-594.3 C and D.

4 Code § 56-594.3 F.

® On December 30, 2020, the Commission issued a Correcting Order to correct a scribal error on page 13 of Attachment A to the Order Adopting Rules.
6 1d. at 12, Ordering Paragraph (7).

"Seeid. at 3, n.2.
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Pursuant to the Order for Notice and Comment, the Coalition for Community Solar Access ("CCSA") together with the Chesapeake Solar &
Storage Association ("CHESSA™); the Virginia Department of Mines, Minerals and Energy ("DMME");® Senator Scott A. Surovell and Delegate Jay Jones
("Legislator Commenters"); and Mr. Jay Epstein filed comments. In addition to their comments, CCSA and CHESSA together with other entities,” DMME,
and the Legislator Commenters requested an evidentiary hearing. The Staff filed a reply to the Proposal on May 14, 2021, and on May 21, 2021, Dominion
filed a reply in which it supported the requests for an evidentiary hearing on the Proposal.

On July 23, 2021, the Commission issued an Order for Notice and Hearing that assigned this case to a Hearing Examiner to conduct further
proceedings, including a hearing, to: (1) establish a minimum bill for Dominion; and (2) consider the methodology to be used to establish the bill credit rate,
and the resulting bill credit for each customer class produced by this methodology, for the Shared Solar Program. The Order for Notice and Hearing directed
Dominion to file testimony in support of its Proposal on these two issues.

CCSA, Appalachian Voices, and Culpeper County filed notices of participation. On November 18, 2021, the evidentiary hearing was convened,
as scheduled. Dominion, CCSA, Appalachian Voices and Staff participated in the hearing. On January 13, 2022, Dominion, CCSA, Appalachian Voices,
and Staff filed their post-hearing briefs.

On February 16, 2022, Hearing Examiner D. Mathias Roussy, Jr. filed his Report ("Report"). The Hearing Examiner made the following
recommendations:

(1) Approve Dominion's proposed bill credit rate for the Shared Solar Program, which would result in an initial bill credit rate of 11.765¢/kWh
for residential customers, 7.120¢/kWh for commercial customers, and 5.901¢/kWh for industrial customers;

(2) Approve Staff Alternative B as the minimum bill for the Shared Solar Program, which results in a minimum bill of $55.10 for a residential
customer with 1,000 kWh of usage and a 1,000 kWh shared solar subscription; and

(3) Approve the use of Dominion's fuel factor for the recovery of Shared Solar Program costs associated with low-income customers, if the
Commission decides to provide guidance on cost recovery in this case.*

Dominion, CCSA and Appalachian Voices filed responses to the Hearing Examiner's Report. Staff filed a letter indicating that it did not oppose
the findings and recommendations in the Report.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds as follows.

As an initial matter, the Commission adopts the Hearing Examiner's finding that the fuel factor is a reasonable mechanism for the recovery of
Shared Solar Program costs associated with low-income customers.

The Commission also adopts the bill credit rates recommended by the Hearing Examiner.?? As required by statute, "[e]ach [customer] class's
applicable [bill] credit rate shall be calculated by the Commission annually by dividing revenues to the class by sales, measured in kilowatt-hours, to that
class to yield a bill credit rate for the class ($/kWh)."® Because the volumetric bill credit rates reflect generation, transmission, and distribution revenues,
such credit "will approach the retail rates that customers pay."** In this manner, the statute results in a bill credit that generally offsets the full costs typically
included in the customer's bill.*>

As to the minimum bill, the Commission finds that such shall reflect both fixed and volumetric costs. The fixed costs shall include the Customer
Charge and the Administrative Charge. The volumetric costs shall include: (1) Statutorily Non-Bypassable Generation Charges; (2) Base Distribution
Charges; (3) Distribution RAC Charges; (4) Base Transmission Charges; and (5) Transmission RAC Charges.’® The Commission, having considered the
record and the Commission's promulgated rules for implementing this statute, finds that these costs fall within the authority delegated to the Commission in
Code § 56-594.3. For example, the above costs fall within those that “the Commission deems relevant to ensure subscribing customers pay a fair share of
the costs of providing electric services."*

8 DMME is now the Virginia Department of Energy.

® This Joint Hearing Request was filed by CCSA, CHESSA, Vote Solar, GRID Alternatives Mid-Atlantic, Local Energy Alliance Program, Virginia Poverty
Law Center, Solar United Neighbors, Southern Environmental Law Center, Appalachian Voices, Sierra Club, and Virginia Advanced Energy Economy.

1% Report at 61.

1 See, e.g., Report at 59.

12 See, e.g., id. at 30-33, 61.
2 Code § 56-594.3 C.

14 Report at 33.

5 For example, if a customer subscribes to 1,000 kwWh of shared solar per month, and then consumes 1,000 kWh in a month, the bill credit will be
approximately the same as the customer's normal total bill amount. See, e.g., Ex. 9.

16 See, e.g., Report at 24 (for table listing charge types and amounts).
17 Code § 56-594.3 D. In addition, the Commission approves the costs above for the minimum bill after having also considered the other requirements in

Code § 56-594.3, including but not limited to "[r]easonably allow[ing] for the creation of shared solar facilities." Code § 56-594.3 F. The Commission finds
that these other requirements do not prohibit the inclusion of costs that fall within the specific minimum bill authority in Code § 56-594.3 D.
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Next, the Commission adopts the Hearing Examiner's finding that the structure of Dominion's minimum bill proposal satisfies the requirements of
Code § 56-594.3. As explained by the Hearing Examiner, this structure does not result in double recovery and, as required by statute, results in "an amount
determined by the Commission under [Code § 56-594.3 D] that subscribers are required to, at a minimum, pay on their utility bill each month after
accounting for any bill credits."'® We also agree with the Hearing Examiner that this is "potentially confusing because of Dominion's terminology"*° and,
thus, warrants further explanation.

Specifically, the Commission has found that the amount a subscriber shall be required to pay Dominion is calculated as follows:
[total bill] - [total bill credit for the amount of the kWh shared solar subscription] + [costs identified in the above paragraph (i.e., Customer and
Administrative Charges, and the volumetric transmission and distribution costs for the amount of the kWh shared solar subscription)]. This calculation
results in a minimum bill that reasonably excludes the utility's generation costs for the amount of the kWh shared solar subscription. In this manner, the
Commission has established, pursuant to its delegated discretion under this statute, a minimum bill that reasonably includes costs the Commission deems
relevant to ensure subscribing customers pay a fair share of the generation, transmission, distribution, and fixed costs of providing electric service.?

Finally, the Commission makes the additional legal findings necessary for implementation of the instant order, including: (1) low income
customers are statutorily exempt from the entire minimum bill; (2) Shared Solar Program Customers cannot bypass statutorily non-bypassable charges
without a concomitant statutory exemption; (3) the plain language of Code § 56-594.3 D is not limited to incremental costs (i.e., it may include an existing
cost if the Commission finds that such satisfies a provision of the statute);?* and (4) the statute does not require the minimum bill to be a fixed amount
regardless of a customer's usage or subscription amounts.?

The Company forthwith shall file revised tariffs, terms and conditions of service and supporting workpapers with the Clerk of the Commission
and submit the same to the Commission's Divisions of Public Utility Regulation and Utility Accounting and Finance, as is necessary to comply with the
directives set forth in this Order. The Clerk of the Commission shall retain such filings for public inspection in person and on the Commission's website:
scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED and this matter is DISMISSED.

8 Code § 56-594.3 A. See, e.g., Report at 39-41, 42-43.

® Report at 43.

2 As required by statute, this also effectuates the statutory requirement that "[aJny amount of the bill credit that exceeds the subscriber's monthly bill, minus
the minimum bill, shall be carried over and applied to the next month's bill." Code § 56-594.3 B 1. That is, if the customer's shared solar kWh subscription
is greater than the customer's actual usage such that the bill credit exceeds the fair share of costs the Commission has determined such customer must pay,
then the excess is carried over as a credit to the next month's bill. See, e.g., Ex. 9.

21 Moreover, to the extent parties to this case have argued that Code § 56-594.3 D has been limited to incremental costs by the Commission's rules (a position
that the Commission does not adopt), we note that a Commission rule obviously cannot re-write or supersede a statute.

22 See, e.g., Report at 39, 38-39, 43-46, and 41-42, respectively.

CASE NO. PUR-2020-00125
JULY 27, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of establishing regulations for a shared solar program pursuant to § 56-594.3 of the Code of Virginia

ORDER GRANTING RECONSIDERATION

On July 7, 2022, the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") issued a Final Order in this docket. On July 26, 2022, the Coalition for
Community Solar Access and Appalachian Voices filed a Joint Petition for Reconsideration and Clarification.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration hereof, grants reconsideration for the purpose of continuing jurisdiction over this matter. The
Final Order is hereby suspended pending the Commission's reconsideration of the Final Order.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) Reconsideration is granted for the purpose of continuing jurisdiction over this matter.
(2) Pending the Commission's reconsideration, the Final Order is hereby suspended.

(3) This matter is continued generally.
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CASE NO. PUR-2020-00125
OCTOBER 13, 2022

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA, exrel.
STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

Ex Parte: In the matter of establishing regulations for a shared solar program pursuant to § 56-594.3 of the Code of Virginia

ORDER ON RECONSIDERATION

On July 7, 2022, the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") issued a Final Order in this docket. On July 26, 2022, the Coalition for
Community Solar Access and Appalachian Voices (“Joint Petitioners”) filed a Joint Petition for Reconsideration and Clarification (“Petition for
Reconsideration™). On July 27, 2022, the Commission issued an Order Granting Reconsideration, which granted reconsideration for the purpose of
continuing jurisdiction over this matter and suspended the Final Order pending the Commission's reconsideration thereof.

On August 8, 2022, the Commission issued an Order for Additional Pleadings. On August 26, 2022, Virginia Electric and Power Company d/b/a
Dominion Energy Virginia ("Dominion") filed a response. On September 9, 2022, Joint Petitioners filed a reply.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds as follows.

Shared Solar Program

This case implements Code § 56-594.3, which requires the Commission to establish a program affording customers of Dominion the opportunity
to participate in a shared solar program ("Shared Solar Program”).! The Shared Solar Program allows a retail customer of Dominion to subscribe to a
portion of the kilowatt-hour ("kWh") electricity production of a solar facility that does not directly serve that customer.?

Petition for Reconsideration

Joint Petitioners "respectfully request the Commission enter an order that:

. [1] Reconsiders Staff Alternative Option B for the minimum bill and instead approves CCSA's minimum bill proposal or Staff
Alternative Option A;

e  [2] Directs Dominion to ensure that customer bills include line items for each of the three billing components (total bill, total bill
credit, and minimum bill), so that customers will see how their shared solar bill credits and the minimum bill are applied on their bill;

. [3] Clarifies that low-income customers are statutorily exempt from the entire minimum bill, including charges that would otherwise
be non-bypassable;

e [4] Clarifies that the minimum bill structure applies to commercial and industrial customers;
e  [5] Clarifies that there are no demand-based charges in the minimum bill costs for commercial and industrial customers; and

e  [6] Approves the recommendations and proposals included in the September 2021 Staff Update and Shared Solar Working Group
Report."

[1] Minimum Bill
As to the minimum bill, Code § 56-594.3 D directs as follows (emphases added):

D. The Commission shall establish a minimum bill, which shall include the costs of all utility infrastructure and services
used to provide electric service and administrative costs of the shared solar program. The Commission may modify the
minimum bill over time. In establishing the minimum bill, the Commission shall (i) consider further costs the Commission
deems relevant to ensure subscribing customers pay a fair share of the costs of providing electric services and
(ii) minimize the costs shifted to customers not in a shared solar program. Low-income customers shall be exempt from
the minimum bill.

Joint Petitioners assert that the minimum bill established in the Final Order must be reconsidered because "[t]he Commission's determination on
the minimum bill is not supported by the evidence."* Joint Petitioners state that "[a]lthough Dominion and [Commission] Staff raise the specter of cost
shifts, neither party conducted any studies or presented any evidence to identify or quantify such alleged cost shifting under the Shared Solar Program,"® and
that "[t]here is simply no record evidence to quantify the cost shift alleged by Dominion, which Commission Staff accepted as true without any

! See, e.g., Final Order at 1.

2 See, e.g., Code § 56-594.3 B 1.

% Petition for Reconsideration at 8-9.
41d. at 1.

5 1d. (citations omitted) (emphases added).
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accompanying analysis."®  Based on this allegation, Joint Petitioners further claim that the Commission violated the "requirement [in
20 VAC 5-340-80(A)(2)] that any costs included in the minimum bill 'be just and reasonable based on evidence provided by the parties to the evidentiary
hearing process.™”

Contrary to Joint Petitioners' characterization, and as reflected in the Final Order, the Commission did not rely on any alleged cost shifts in
establishing the minimum bill. Rather, the components of the minimum bill resulted from the Commission's express implementation of the directive in Code
8§ 56-594.3 D (i) to "consider further costs the Commission deems relevant to ensure subscribing customers pay a fair share of the costs of providing electric
services."

Specifically, Dominion still incurs costs to deliver electric service to a shared solar customer for the amount of that customer's shared solar
subscription.® Thus, to ensure a subscribing customer pays a fair share of the costs of providing electric service, the Commission deemed relevant — and
included for purposes of the minimum bill — the specific customer, distribution, and transmission costs currently built into rates to serve that retail
customer.!® Furthermore, in this manner the Commission has also ensured that a shared solar customer does not pay Dominion for generation for which the
customer has paid the shared solar facility.**

Joint Petitioners also assert that the minimum bill "would prevent creation of a workable Shared Solar Program that is available for all customer
classes, which violates [Code § 56-594.3 F(1)-(2)]."*? In this regard, Code § 56-594.3 F states as follows (emphases added):

The Commission shall establish by regulation a shared solar program that complies with the provisions of subsections B, C,
D, and E by January 1, 2021, and shall require each utility to file any tariffs, agreements, or forms necessary for
implementation of the program within 60 days of the utility's full implementation of a new customer information platform
or by July 1, 2023, whichever occurs first. Any rule or utility implementation filings approved by the Commission shall:

1. Reasonably allow for the creation of shared solar facilities;
2. Allow all customer classes to participate in the program; ....

The Commission expressly considered this statutory provision, as well, and concluded that it does not prevent the Commission from exercising its
delegated discretion under the requirements of Code § 56-594.3 D.** The Commission continues to find that establishing a minimum bill herein in
compliance with the directives of Code § 56-594.3 D has "reasonably" allowed for the creation of shared solar facilities. Joint Petitioners assert that the
minimum bill approved by the Commission will make the creation of shared solar facilities much more difficult compared to their proposed minimum bill
(or Staff Alternative A). The Commission concludes, however, that those difficulties — which if they occur would stem from ensuring that shared solar
customers pay a fair share of the costs of providing electric service — are not unreasonable.**

Accordingly, the Commission has herein applied Code 88 56-594.3 D and F in a manner that gives effect to each statutory provision. If,
however, it is deemed that the minimum bill determined pursuant to the directives of Code § 56-594.3 D does not, as a factual matter, “[r]easonably allow
for the creation of shared solar facilities" or "[a]llow all customer classes to participate in the program” under Code § 56-594.3 F,'> the Commission
concludes — as a legal matter — that Code § 56-594.3 D is controlling in determining the minimum bill. This is because while Code § 56-594.3 F speaks
generally to "[a]ny rule or utility implementation filings," Code § 56-594.3 D speaks specifically to "establishing the minimum bill."6

& Joint Petitioners' Reply at 3 (emphases added).
71d. at 2 (emphasis in original).

8 In addition, no party asserts that the minimum bill components required herein under Code § 56-594.3 D (i) fail to minimize costs shifted under Code
§ 56-594.3 D (ii).

° See, e.g., Report at 53 ("There is no doubt that Shared Solar Program customers will continue to rely extensively on the infrastructure and services that
Dominion currently uses to serve them."); Ex. 2 (Trexler Direct) at 8, 10 (“Participants will still rely on utility services that carry considerable costs that all
utility customers are required to pay." ... "The Delivery Charges component captures the costs of utilizing Company transmission and distribution
infrastructure to deliver electricity to customers.").

10 See, e.g., Final Order at 5-6.

1 See, e.g., id. at 6.

12 petition for Reconsideration at 2.

13 See, e.g., Final Order at 5n.17.

14 Similarly, the Commission continues to find that the minimum bill allows all customer classes to participate in the Shared Solar Program. Code
§ 56-594.3 F(2).

15 Such as on the Supreme Court of Virginia's review of the Commission's decision.

16 See, e.g., Conger v. Barrett, 280 Va. 627, 631 (2010) ("[W]hen two statutes do conflict, and one statute speaks to a subject generally and another deals
with an element of that subject specifically, the more specific statute is controlling.") (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).
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Finally, as explained in the Final Order, the monthly amount a subscriber pays to Dominion is calculated as follows: [(1) total bill] — [(2) total bill
credit for the amount of the kWh shared solar subscription] + [(3) customer and administrative Charges, and the volumetric transmission and distribution
costs for the amount of the kWh shared solar subscription)].}” Joint Petitioners oppose recognizing the amount of the shared solar subscription in this
manner.’* The Commission, however, continues to find that this calculation is necessary to ensure that the amount ultimately paid by the subscribing
customer to Dominion reasonably reflects a fair share of the costs of providing electric services.

This is textually illustrated by further explaining each of the three components in the above equation. First, the total bill reflects all of Dominion's
tariff charges (e.g., for generation, transmission, and distribution) applied to the customer's actual usage. Second, the total bill credit (i.e., the amount that is
deducted from the customer's bill) is statutorily designed to offset the full costs typically included in the customer's bill (i.e., those same tariff charges for
generation, transmission, and distribution) applied to the amount of the customer's shared solar subscription.’® Because the full offset in the second factor is
applied to the subscription amount, the third factor in the equation must likewise be applied to the amount of the customer's shared solar subscription. As
numerically illustrated below, this is necessary in order for the algebra to be accurate; that is, in order to result in the subscribing customer paying for (i) the
amount of generation provided to that customer by Dominion, and (ii) the transmission and distribution costs for the actual amount of electricity delivered to
that customer.

This can be further explained with a numeric example. Simplified for purposes of illustration, this example assumes: (a) the customer's shared
solar subscription is 1,000 kWh; (b) Dominion's total tariff charges are 10¢/kWh; and (c) the 10¢/kWh is comprised of 6¢ for generation and 4¢ for
transmission and distribution. If the customer's actual usage is 1,200 kWh, the amount the subscriber pays to Dominion is calculated as follows:
[(1) 1,200 x 10¢, or $120] — [(2) 1,000 x 10¢, or $100] + [(3) 1,000 x 4¢, or $40] = $60. In this way, the customer has only paid for the $60 of services
actually provided by Dominion; that is, the customer has paid for 200 kWh of generation (200 x 6¢, or $12), plus 1,200 kWh of transmission and distribution
(1,200 x 4¢ = $48), for a total of $60.2° As a result, and contrary to Joint Petitioners' allegation, using the subscription amount in this manner ultimately
results in the subscribing customer paying transmission and distribution costs for the actual amount of electricity delivered to that customer by Dominion.

[2] Customer Bill Line ltems

The Commission continues to find — especially in light of the particularly complex nature of Code § 56-594.3 (see, e.g., discussion above) — that
total bill, total bill credit, and minimum bill calculations need not be reflected as separate line items on subscribers' bills.

[3] Low-Income Customers

The Petition for Reconsideration asks the Commission to clarify “that low-income customers are statutorily exempt from the entire minimum bill,
including charges that would otherwise be non-bypassable."? In this regard, the Commission notes that Code § 56-585.5 F addresses non-bypassable
charges. As noted above, however, Code § 56-594.3 D speaks specifically to the minimum bill for purposes of the Shared Solar Program. For purposes of
low-income customers, the final sentence in Code § 56-594.3 D directs as follows: "Low-income customers shall be exempt from the minimum bill."

Because Code § 56-594.3 D speaks specifically to exempting low-income customers from the minimum bill, the Final Order likewise directed
that "low-income customers are statutorily exempt from the entire minimum bill."?2 In other words, because low-income customers are statutorily exempt
from the minimum bill, such subscribing customers necessarily will not pay any charges included in that bill, including any non-bypassable charges.

[4] [5] Commercial and Industrial Customers

As directed by Code § 56-594.3 F(2), all customer classes are allowed to participate in the Shared Solar Program; this necessarily includes
commercial and industrial customer classes. As ordered by the Commission (and discussed above), the subscribing customer's minimum bill includes
volumetric charges that reflect the distribution and transmission costs currently built into the applicable tariff rates for purposes of serving that retail
customer;? this, likewise, necessarily includes commercial and industrial customers.

The Final Order, like the Hearing Examiner's Report ("Report"), used the residential class to illustrate the volumetric distribution and
transmission components of the minimum bill.>* For the residential class, the charges for these components in the applicable tariffs are already presented on
a volumetric basis. For non-residential classes, however, certain charges for these components in the applicable tariffs are not volumetric. Accordingly, for
purposes of the volumetric portion of the minimum bill, the non-volumetric components of the applicable tariff rates for non-residential classes must be
converted to volumetric charges.”®

17 Final Order at 6.

18 petition for Reconsideration at 4-5.

19 See, e.g., Final Order at 4-5; Code § 56-594.3 C.

2 Under this same illustration, if the customer's actual usage is less than the shared solar subscription, the amount ultimately paid to Dominion will still
reflect the transmission and distribution costs for the actual kwWh consumption due to the generation credit for the difference between the subscribed and
actual generation usage.

2 petition for Reconsideration at 8.

22 Final Order at 6 (emphasis added).

2 See, e.g., id. at 5-6.

% See, e.g., id. at 5 n.16.

% See, e.g., Dominion's Response at 12-13.
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[6] Shared Solar Working Group

Rule 20 VAC 5-340-100 provides that "[t]he Commission shall initiate a stakeholder process including low-income community representatives
and community solar providers to facilitate low-income customer and low-income service organization participation in the program." That process, after
significant efforts and meetings on this matter among numerous interested stakeholders, resulted in the Low Income Stakeholder Working Group Report on
the Virginia Shared Solar and Multi-Family Shared Solar Programs (2020-2021) ("Working Group Report").2

The Commission supports the "Recommendation(s)" presented in the Working Group Report for purposes of implementing shared solar at this
time. At this nascent stage in the development of shared solar programs, however, the Commission will not adopt amendments regarding low-income
participation to its promulgated shared solar rules. Rather, as implementation proceeds pursuant to the recommendations in the Working Group Report, the
instant docket shall remain open to further address, as necessary, any additional delineation or other modifications attendant to low-income qualification and
verification.

Accordingly, IT IS SO ORDERED, the Final Order is no longer suspended, and this matter is CONTINUED.

% See Staff Update (Sep. 30, 2021).

CASE NO. PUR-2020-00197
MARCH 7, 2022

PETITION OF
VIRGINIA ELECTRIC AND POWER COMPANY

For approval of broadband capacity pilot projects pursuant to § 56-585.1:9 of the Code of Virginia, and for approval of a rate adjustment clause,
designated Rider RBB, under § 56-585.1 A 6 of the Code of Virginia

ORDER GRANTING MOTION

On October 1, 2020, Virginia Electric and Power Company ("Dominion" or "Company") filed a petition (“Petition") with the State Corporation
Commission ("Commission™) pursuant to § 56-585.1:9 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") and Code § 56-585.1 A 6 for (i) approval of pilot programs to make
available and provide broadband capacity to unserved areas in Surry County ("Surry Pilot™), Botetourt County (“"Botetourt Pilot"), and the Northern Neck
region of Virginia (collectively, the "Pilot Projects"); and (ii) establishment of a rate adjustment clause for the Surry Pilot and the Botetourt Pilot, designated
Rider RBB, for the rate year commencing August 1, 2021, through July 31, 2022.*

On March 25, 2021, the Commission issued its Order Approving Broadband Pilot Projects, which among other things, approved the Pilot Projects
for an initial period of six years.?

On June 9, 2021, the Commission issued its Final Order in this proceeding which, among other things, approved Rider RBB effective for usage
on and after August 1, 2021, and ordered the Company to file an application to revise Rider RBB on or after September 2, 2021.°

On February 25, 2022, the Company filed a Motion of Virginia Electric and Power Company to Extend Currently Approved Rider RBB
("Motion"). In support of its Motion, the Company states that the promulgation of new rate case rules ("New Rate Case Rules") which became effective
January 1, 2021, increased the amount and type of information required for a prudency determination.* The Company further states that it has taken
additional time to gather and develop the information required by the New Rate Case Rules, but that it expects to have the necessary information by
April 2022.° Dominion therefore desires to delay the filing of its revised Rider RBB until April 2022. To facilitate this delay, the Motion seeks to continue
the currently approved rate of Rider RBB until November 30, 2022.5 The Motion states that the anticipated effective date for the upcoming revision to Rider
RBB will be December 1, 2022 (for a rate year of December 1, 2022 through November 30, 2023) or, consistent with the Company's request for billing
purposes in other cases to implement riders, the first day of the month which is at least fifteen days following the date of any Commission order approving
the riders.” The Company further states that any over- or under-recovery of costs during the extension of the 2021 Rate Year until November would be
addressed through the deferral and true-up provision for Rider RBB.®

The Company represents that it contacted the Commission Staff ("Staff") and that Staff does not object to the relief sought in the Motion.®

1 Ex. 3 (Petition) at 1.

2 Order Approving Broadband Pilot Projects at 7.
% Final Order at 5.

4 Motion at 2.

®1d.

61d. at 3.

"1d.

81d.

°Id.
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NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that this case should be reopened for
the limited purpose of considering the Motion; the Company's Motion should be granted; and this case should be dismissed.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) This case is reopened for the limited purpose of considering the Motion.

(2) The Company's Motion is hereby granted.

(3) Rider RBB shall be effective at the level previously approved in this proceeding through November 30, 2022.

(4) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. PUR-2021-00047
JANUARY 28, 2022

PETITION OF
APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY

For revision of a rate adjustment clause pursuant to § 56-585.1 A 6 of the Code of Virginia with respect to the Dresden Generating Plant
EINAL ORDER

On June 1, 2021, Appalachian Power Company ("APCo" or "Company") filed a petition ("Petition") with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") pursuant to § 56-585.1 A 6 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), for approval to recover costs associated with APCo's Dresden Generating
Plant through its generation rate adjustment clause ("G-RAC").! Specifically, APCo proposed an annual revenue requirement of $28.5 million to be
collected over the 18 months following implementation of the revised G-RAC.?

In support of its request, the Company stated that this total revenue requirement is composed of: (i) an actual under-recovery of $1 million of the
Company's G-RAC costs for the period ended March 31, 2021; (ii) the projected under-recovery of $0.3 million for the period of April 1, 2021, through
April 30, 2022; and (iii) the projected base annual revenue requirement of $27.66 million for the period of May 1, 2022, through April 30, 2023.2 The
Company proposed to recover the revenue requirement in two separate factors: one to reflect the base annual revenue requirement of $27.66 million and one
to reflect the annualized under-recovery amount of $0.87 million,* resulting in a total annual revenue requirement of $28.5 million.> APCo requested
approval to implement the proposed G-RAC on and after May 1, 2022, and to recover the requested revenue requirement over 18 months, consistent with its
request in this Petition to file its next G-RAC Petition in 18 months.® The Company asserted that if approved, the proposed revenue requirement would
result in a minimal increase of $0.08 to the monthly bill of a residential customer using 1,000 kilowatt hours of electricity per month when compared to rates
effective May 1, 2021."

On June 28, 2021, the Commission issued an Order for Notice and Hearing that, among other things, scheduled a public hearing on the Petition;
required APCo to publish notice of its Petition; gave interested persons the opportunity to comment on, or participate in, the proceeding; directed the
Commission Staff ("Staff") to investigate the Petition and file testimony describing the results of that investigation; and appointed a Hearing Examiner to
conduct all further proceedings in this matter on behalf of the Commission.

The Old Dominion Committee for Fair Utility Rates filed a Notice of Participation in this matter. No comments on the Petition were filed by any
interested persons.

Pursuant to the Commission's Order for Notice and Hearing, Staff filed its testimony on October 5, 2021. On October 12, 2021, the Company
filed a letter stating that it would not be filing rebuttal testimony.

On November 4, 2021, APCo filed supplemental testimony on the Petition revising the proposed revenue requirement. On November 10, 2021,
Staff filed supplemental testimony in response to APCo's supplemental filing, in which Staff recommended a revised proposed revenue requirement of
$27,850,607.

On November 12, 2021, the Hearing Examiner, by ruling, cancelled the public witness component of the scheduled hearing on APCa's Petition
after no one signed up to testify as a public witness. The evidentiary hearing was held on November 17, 2021. APCo and Staff participated in the hearing.

1Ex. 2 (Petition) at 1.

21d. at 5.

31d.

4 This is the annualized amount of the actual under-recovery of $1 million and the projected under-recovery of $0.3 million.
5 Ex. 2 (Petition) at 5.

61d.

1d.
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On November 22, 2021, the Report of D. Mathias Roussy, Jr., Hearing Examiner ("Report"), was filed. In his Report, the Hearing Examiner
found that:
(1) The projected G-RAC rate year revenue requirement, which is uncontested, is $27,850,607;

(2) APCo's request to consolidate its G-RAC true-up rates and G-RAC base rates into one set of combined tariff rates is
reasonable; and

(3) APCo's request for an 18-month filing interval is reasonable.®
The Hearing Examiner also recommended the Commission enter an order that:

(1) Approves, for recovery through G-RAC rates during the rate year commencing May 1, 2022, an updated G-RAC total revenue
requirement of $27,850,607;

(2) Approves the G-RAC tariff rate consolidation recommended [in the Report];

(3) Approves APCo's request to file its next G-RAC petition no later than November 30, 2022;
(4) Adopts the findings and recommendations of [the] Report; and

(5) Dismisses this case from the Commission's docket of active cases.’

On December 7, 2021, APCo filed a letter stating that it would not file comments on the Report. On December 10, 2021, Staff filed comments in
support of the Report.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the findings and recommendations in the Report
should be adopted and that a rate year revenue requirement of $27,850,607 should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The findings and recommendations of the Report hereby are adopted.

(2) APCo's G-RAC is approved as set forth herein with a total rate year revenue requirement of $27,850,607.

(3) Pursuant to Code § 56-585.1 A 7, the Company may implement the G-RAC rate, as approved herein, for service rendered on and after 60
days from the date of this Final Order. Alternatively, as requested by the Company, APCo may implement the G-RAC, as approved herein, for service
rendered on and after May 1, 2022.

(4) The Company shall file its next G-RAC petition on or before November 30, 2022.

(5) The Company forthwith shall file a revised consolidated G-RAC and supporting workpapers with the Clerk of the Commission and with the
Commission's Divisions of Public Utility Regulation and Utility Accounting and Finance, as is necessary to comply with the directives set forth in this Final

Order. The Clerk of the Commission shall retain such filings for public inspection in person and on the Commission's website: scc.virginia.gov/case.

(6) This case is dismissed.

8 Report at 10.

°Id.

CASE NO. PUR-2021-00049
FEBRUARY 15, 2022

APPLICATION OF
APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY

For approval and certification of the Reusens to New London 138 kV Rebuild Project under Title 56 of the Code of Virginia
EINAL ORDER
On April 30, 2021, pursuant to § 56-46.1 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") and the Utility Facilities Act, Code 8 56-265.1 et seq., Appalachian
Power Company ("APCo" or "Company") filed an application and supporting documents with the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) for

approval and certification to construct, own, operate, and maintain the Reusens to New London 138 kilovolt ("kV") Rebuild Project, to be located in Bedford
and Campbell Counties, Virginia, and the City of Lynchburg, Virginia ("Application").
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Specifically, APCo seeks approval to construct and operate: (a) an approximately 11.6-mile long rebuild of the Reusens-Altavista 138 kV
transmission line between the Company's Reusens Substation and the New London Substation; (b) associated improvements at the Company's Brush Tavern
Substation in Campbell County, Virginia; and (c) the removal of two structures and replacement with one structure on the Reusens-South Lynchburg 138 kV
transmission line where it crosses the Reusens-Altavista 138 kV transmission line in order to co-locate the two transmission lines onto one new structure at
the point of intersection (collectively, the "Project™).

According to the Application, the Project will rebuild 70-year-old infrastructure due to the infrastructure's inability to meet current National
Electrical Safety Code standards and due to the infrastructure's inadequate lightning protection and age-related deterioration.? The Company further asserts
that the Project would address the combination of risk, condition, and performance of the infrastructure in order to maintain reliability of the existing
transmission network that serves customers in the region.

According to the Application, all portions of the right-of-way ("ROW") for the Project are subject to existing easements. The Company further
states that a small minority of the existing easement agreements contain some special provisions, such as those limiting the type of the structures permitted
(e.g., wood versus steel), and the Company intends to address those situations through the acquisition of supplemental easements.*

APCo states that the desired in-service date is December 15, 2023, with an estimated construction time of 18 months.® The Company further
states that the estimated total cost of the Project is approximately $39.8 million with approximately $38.1 million in transmission line-related costs and
approximately $1.7 million for substation-related costs.®

On May 28, 2021, the Commission issued an Order for Notice and Hearing (“Procedural Order"), which, among other things, docketed the
proceeding; directed the Company to provide notice of its Application to the public; provided interested persons the opportunity to comment on the
Application or to participate as a respondent in this proceeding; scheduled public hearings; and directed the Commission's Staff (“Staff") to investigate the
Application and to file testimony containing Staff's findings and recommendations. No notices of participation were filed in this proceeding.

As also discussed in the Procedural Order, Staff requested the Department of Environmental Quality ("DEQ") to coordinate an environmental
review of the Project by the appropriate agencies and to provide a report on the review. On July 20, 2021, DEQ filed its report ("DEQ Report"), which
included a Wetlands Impact Consultation. The DEQ Report provides general recommendations for the Commission's consideration that are in addition to
any requirements of federal, state, or local law. Specifically, the DEQ Report contains the following Summary of Recommendations regarding the Project.
According to the DEQ Report, the Company should:

e Conduct an on-site delineation of all wetlands and stream crossings within the project area with verification by the U.S. Army Corps of
Engineers, using accepted methods and procedures, and follow DEQ's recommendations to avoid and minimize impacts to wetlands and
streams;

o Reduce solid waste at the source, reuse it and recycle it to the maximum extent practicable;

o Coordinate with the Department of Conservation and Recreation's Division of Natural Heritage on its recommendations for minimizing
impacts to the aquatic ecosystem, an invasive species inventory, restoration and maintenance practices, forest fragmentation reduction, and
project updates;

e Coordinate with the Virginia Outdoors Foundation ("VVOF") regarding its recommendations to coordinate on mitigation options, including
alternative structure types and modifications to tower materials;

e Coordinate with the Department of Historic Resources regarding its recommendations to protect historic and archaeological resources;
e Coordinate with the Virginia Department of Health, as necessary, regarding its recommendations to protect water supplies;

e Follow the principles and practices of pollution prevention to the maximum extent practicable;

e Limit the use of pesticides and herbicides to the extent practicable;

e Coordinate with the Virginia Department of Transportation regarding its recommendations to minimize impacts to the transportation
system; and

e Coordinate with the Virginia Department of Forestry regarding its recommendations to mitigate impacts if trees or forest vegetation need to
be removed, converted or otherwise impacted.”

1Ex. 2 (Application) at 1.

2 Ex. 2 (Application) at Response to Guidelines, p. 1.
31d.

41d. at 22.

51d. at 10.

61d. at 11.

" Ex. 12 (DEQ Report) at 6-7.
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On September 17, 2021, Staff filed testimony along with an attached report ("Staff Report") summarizing the results of its investigation of
APCo's Application. Staff concluded that APCo has reasonably demonstrated the need for the proposed Project.® Staff therefore did not oppose the issuance
of the certificates of public convenience and necessity ("CPCN") requested in the Company's Application.®

On October 1, 2021, the Company filed its rebuttal testimony containing its response to certain recommendations in the DEQ Report. In its
rebuttal testimony, APCo stated that it did not agree with the recommendation of the VOF attached to the DEQ Report that the Company reconsider its
proposed structure types on lands where the project rebuild right-of-way will intersect with the three VOF open-space easements, including modifying the
materials to mimic the wood color of the existing H-frame structures.

Due to the ongoing public health issues related to the spread of COVID-19, the evidentiary hearing was convened virtually, with no party present
in the Commission's courtroom, on October 20, 2021. The Company and Staff participated at the hearing.

On November 8, 2021, the Report of D. Mathias Roussy, Jr., Hearing Examiner ("Report") was issued. In the Report, the Hearing Examiner
found:

e  The proposed Project, a rebuild of APCo's electric transmission lines between its Reusens Substation and New London Substation and
associated work, is needed to address aging infrastructure and maintain transmission system reliability;

e The Project would make extensive use of existing right-of-way;

e The Project - which will use dulled structures and non-specular conductors - would avoid or reasonably minimize adverse impact on
the scenic assets, historic districts, and environment of the area concerned;

e  The unopposed recommendations in the DEQ Report should be adopted by the Commission as conditions of approval;

e  APCo should be required to obtain all necessary environmental permits and approvals that are needed to construct and operate the
Project;

e The Project would support economic development; and
e Any adverse impacts from the Project would not be disproportionate on environmental justice communities.**

The Hearing Examiner recommended that the Commission enter an order that adopts the findings in the Report, authorizes the Company to
construct and operate the Project, subject to the findings and conditions recommended in the Report, issues appropriate CPCNs for the Project, and dismisses
this case from the Commission's docket of active cases.'?

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the public convenience and necessity require that
the Company construct the Project. The Commission finds that CPCNs authorizing the Project should be issued subject to certain findings and conditions
contained herein.

Applicable Law
The statutory scheme governing the Company's Application is found in several chapters of Title 56 of the Code.

Code § 56-265.2 A 1 provides that "it shall be unlawful for any public utility to construct . . . facilities for use in public utility service . . . without
first having obtained a certificate from the Commission that the public convenience and necessity require the exercise of such right or privilege."

Code § 56-46.1 further directs the Commission to consider several factors when reviewing the Company's Application. Subsection A of the
statute provides that:

Whenever the Commission is required to approve the construction of any electrical utility facility, it shall give
consideration to the effect of that facility on the environment and establish such conditions as may be desirable or
necessary to minimize adverse environmental impact ... . In every proceeding under this subsection, the Commission
shall receive and give consideration to all reports that relate to the proposed facility by state agencies concerned with
environmental protection; and if requested by any county or municipality in which the facility is proposed to be built, to
local comprehensive plans that have been adopted . . . . Additionally, the Commission (a) shall consider the effect of the
proposed facility on economic development within the Commonwealth, including but not limited to furtherance of the
economic and job creation objectives of the Commonwealth Clean Energy Policy set forth in § 67-101.1, and (b) shall
consider any improvements in service reliability that may result from the construction of such facility.

8 Ex. 11 (de Leon Direct) at Staff Report, p. 21.
° 1d. at Staff Report, p. 22.

10 Ex. 13 (McMillen Rebuttal) at 2-3.

1 Report at 24.

121d. No participant filed comments opposing the findings and recommendations set forth in the Report.
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Code § 56-46.1 B further provides that "[a]s a condition to approval the Commission shall determine that the line is needed and that the corridor
or route chosen for the line will avoid or reasonably minimize adverse impact to the greatest extent reasonably practicable on the scenic assets, historic
resources recorded with the Department of Historic Resources, and environment of the area concerned.”

The Code further requires that the Commission consider existing ROW easements when siting transmission lines. Code § 56-46.1 C provides
that "[i]n any hearing the public service company shall provide adequate evidence that existing rights-of-way cannot adequately serve the needs of the
company.” In addition, Code § 56-259 C provides that "[p]rior to acquiring any easement of right-of-way, public service corporations will consider the
feasibility of locating such facilities on, over, or under existing easements of rights-of-way."

Public Convenience and Necessity

APCo represents that the Project is necessary to replace aging infrastructure due to the infrastructure's inability to meet current National Electrical
Safety Code standards and due to the infrastructure's inadequate lightning protection and age-related deterioration.® Based on information provided by the
Company, Staff agreed with APCo that the Project is needed to ensure reliable service.* The Commission finds that the Company's proposed Project is
needed to replace aging infrastructure, thereby enabling the Company to maintain the overall long-term reliability of its transmission system.

Economic Development

The Commission has considered the effect of the Project on economic development in the Commonwealth and finds that the evidence in this case
demonstrates that the Project will support continued reliable bulk electric power delivery, thereby supporting economic growth in the Commonwealth,
including in Bedford County, Campbell County, and the City of Lynchburg, Virginia.*®

Rights-of-Way and Routing

APCo has adequately considered usage of existing ROW. The Project, as proposed, would make extensive use of existing ROW, with a limited
amount of additional ROW required.®

Impact on Scenic Assets and Historic Districts

As noted above, the Project would make extensive use of existing ROW already owned and maintained by APCo. The Commission finds that
such construction will avoid or reasonably minimize adverse impacts to the greatest extent reasonably practicable on the scenic assets, historic resources
recorded with the Virginia Department of Historic Resources, and environment of the area concerned, as required by Code § 56-46.1 B, subject to the
recommendations provided in the following section.

Environmental Impact

Pursuant to Code § 56-46.1 A and B, the Commission is required to consider the Project's impact on the environment and to establish such
conditions as may be desirable or necessary to minimize adverse environmental impacts. The statute further provides, among other things, that the
Commission shall receive and give consideration to all reports that relate to the Project by state agencies concerned with environmental protection.

The Commission finds that there are no adverse environmental impacts that would prevent the construction or operation of the Project. This
finding is supported by the DEQ Report, as nothing therein suggests that the Project should not be constructed. The Commission finds that as a condition of
approval herein, the Applicants must comply with DEQ's recommendations as provided in the DEQ Report with the following exception.

The Company does not agree with one recommendation found in the DEQ Report. Specifically, the Company disagrees with the
recommendation of the VOF to consider alternative structure types for those structures located in proximity to the VOF easements.’” We agree with the
Hearing Examiner that monopoles with a dulled finish will more effectively minimize visual impacts for the single-circuit portion of the Project.®

13 See Ex. 2 (Application) at Response to Guidelines, p. 1.

14 EX. 11 (de Leodn Direct) at Staff Report, p. 21.

15 See id. at Staff Report, p. 20.

1 The limited amount of new ROW is to accommodate the consensual relocation of structure away from a golf course's greens and fairways and to
reconfigure the Project's transition from double-circuit to single circuit, which will result in one less structure on a property with a VOF easement. See
Report at 20.

1 Ex. 13 (McMillen Rebuttal) at 2-3.

18 Report at 23.
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Environmental Justice

The Virginia Environmental Justice Act sets forth that "[i]t is the policy of the Commonwealth to promote environmental justice and ensure that
it is carried out throughout the Commonwealth, with a focus on environmental justice communities and fenceline communities."*® As previously recognized
by the Commission, the Commonwealth's policy on environmental justice is broad, including "the fair treatment and meaningful involvement of every
person, regardless of race, color, national origin, income, faith, or disability, regarding the development, implementation, or enforcement of any
environmental law, regulation, or policy."?

APCo asserted that the Project will be constructed using existing ROW, which has been in place for more than 70 years and will not be relocated
to other communities not already affected by the transmission line.*

We agree with the Hearing Examiner that any adverse impacts from the Project would not be disproportionate on environmental justice
communities.??

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) APCo is authorized to construct and operate the Project as proposed in its Application, subject to the findings and conditions imposed herein.

(2) Pursuant to Code 88 56-46.1, 56-265.2, and related provisions of Title 56 of the Code, the Company's request for approval of the necessary
CPCNs to construct and operate the Project is granted as provided for herein, subject to the requirements set forth herein.

(3) Pursuant to the Utility Facilities Act, Code § 56-265.1 et seq., the Commission issues the following CPCNs to APCo:

Certificate No. ET-APCO-BED-2022-A which authorizes Appalachian Power Company under the Utility Facilities Act to
operate certificated transmission lines and facilities in Bedford County, all as shown on the detailed map attached to the
Certificate, and to construct and operate facilities as authorized in Case No. PUR-2021-00049; Certificate No.
ET-APCO-BED-2022-A cancels Certificate No. ET-26j issued to Appalachian Power Company on December 19, 1994, in Case
No. PUE-1994-00044.

Certificate No. ET-APCO-CAM-2022-A which authorizes Appalachian Power Company under the Utility Facilities Act to
operate certificated transmission lines and facilities in Campbell County and the City of Lynchburg, all as shown on the detailed
map attached to the Certificate, and to construct and operate facilities as authorized in Case No. PUR-2021-00049; Certificate No.
ET-APCO-CAM-2022-A cancels Certificate No. ET-APCO-CAM-2021-A issued to Appalachian Power Company on
September 9, 2021, in Case No. PUR-2021-00001.

(4) Within thirty (30) days from the date of this Final Order, the Company shall provide to the Commission's Division of Public Utility
Regulation an electronic map for each Certificate Number that shows the routing of the transmission lines approved herein. Maps shall be submitted to
Michael Cizenski, Deputy Director, Division of Public Utility Regulation, mike.cizenski@scc.virginia.gov.

(5) Upon receiving the maps directed in Ordering Paragraph (4), the Commission's Division of Public Utility Regulation forthwith shall provide
the Company copies of the CPCN issued in Ordering Paragraph (3) with the maps attached.

(6) The Project approved herein must be constructed and in service by December 15, 2023. No later than 90 days before the in-service date
approved herein, except for good cause shown, the Company is granted leave to apply, and to provide the basis, for any extension request.

(7) This matter is dismissed.

19 Code § 2.2-235.

2 Code § 2.2-234. See also, e.g., Application of Appalachian Power Company, For approval and certification of the Central Virginia Transmission
Reliability Project under Title 56 of the Code of Virginia, Case No. PUR-2021-00001, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 210920108, Final Order at 14 (Sept. 9, 2021);
Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation Commission, Ex Parte: Establishing 2020 RPS Proceeding for Virginia Electric and Power Company,
Case No. PUR-2020-00134, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 210440236, Final Order at 25 (Apr. 30, 2021); Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation
Commission, In re: Virginia Electric and Power Company's Integrated Resource Plan filing pursuant to Va. Code § 56-597 et seq., Case No.
PUR-2020-00035, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 210210007, Final Order at 14-15 (Feb. 1, 2021).

2L Ex. 10 (Pardis Direct) at 5-6.

2 Report at 23.
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CASE NO. PUR-2021-00054
MARCH 11, 2022

APPLICATION OF
SHENANDOAH VALLEY ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE

For a general increase in electric rates
FINAL ORDER

On March 16, 2021, pursuant to 88 56-231.33, 56-231.34, 56-236, 56-238, and 56-585.3 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), ("SVEC" or
"Cooperative") filed an application ("Application") with the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") for approval of a general increase in electric
rates.!

SVEC requests a 2.43% increase in its overall jurisdictional sales revenue, which SVEC projects will generate an increase in total jurisdictional
sales revenue of $5.3 million.2 The Cooperative represents that this increase will allow it to pay expenses, service debt, fund capital additions, and meet the
financial goals established by SVEC's Board of Directors.®* SVEC states that the proposed increase would produce total rate year* jurisdictional margins of
$13.4 million and a 2.35x jurisdictional Times Interest Earned Ratio ("TIER").®

On April 5, 2021, the Commission entered an Order for Notice and Hearing, which among other things, docketed the Application; established a
procedural schedule; provided avenues for participation in the case; scheduled an evidentiary hearing; and appointed a Hearing Examiner to conduct all
further proceedings in this matter.

Notices of participation were filed by Solar United Neighbors of Virginia ("SUN-VA") and the Board of Supervisors of Frederick County,
Virginia ("Frederick County™). Multiple comments on the Application also were received from individuals and organizations.

On July 28, 2021, SUN-VA filed the Direct Testimony of Karl R. Rabago. On September 1, 2021, the Commission's Staff ("Staff") filed the
Direct Testimony of Madhu S. Mangalam, Edward R. Kaufman and Kelli B. Gravely. On September 15, 2021, SVEC filed its rebuttal testimony.

On September 23, 2021, SVEC filed a Motion in Limine, requesting that the Commission strike certain portions of SUN-VA Witness Karl R.
Rabago's testimony and certain exhibits as hearsay ("Challenged Testimony™).” On September 28, 2021, SVEC, Frederick County and Staff filed a Joint
Motion to Approve Partial Stipulation ("Joint Motion") with an attached Partial Stipulation.?

On October 6, 2021, the Senior Hearing Examiner convened an evidentiary hearing, as scheduled, by virtual means with no party present in the
Commission's courtroom. The Cooperative, SUN-VA, Frederick County, and Staff participated in the evidentiary hearing. Nine public witnesses testified at
the hearing.

On December 2, 2021, the Report of A. Ann Berkebile, Senior Hearing Examiner ("Report™), was filed. In her Report, the Senior Hearing
Examiner first addressed and denied the Motion in Limine, finding that "the Challenged Testimony reaches the unique 'substantive probative effect' threshold
for admission in the context of this legislative proceeding as contemplated by Rule 190 of the Rules of Practice."® The Senior Hearing Examiner also found
that "the concerns raised by SVEC go to the overall weight that should be afforded to the Challenged Testimony and do not warrant its exclusion."*°

1 On July 29, 2021, the Senior Hearing Examiner approved SVEC's unopposed Motion for Leave to Amend Application, wherein the Cooperative
represented that the Filing Schedule 5A contained an error regarding its Church Service Schedule (Schedule C-13) and sought leave to file corrected clean
and redlined versions of the Church Service Schedule.

2 Ex. 1 (Application) at 11, Sch. 15K. The proposed increase comprises a $6,066,200 increase in distribution revenues, a $609,189 decrease in base power
supply revenues and a $131,863 decrease in miscellaneous revenues. Id. at Sch. 3.

%1d. at 5.

4 SVEC states that the rate year is calendar year 2022. Id.

51d. The Cooperative clarifies that it is not requesting that the Commission set a TIER of 2.35x and adjust its proposed rates to that TIER. SVEC requests
that the Commission approve the rates as proposed, provided that the resulting TIER is within a reasonable rate that would normally be recommended for

electric distribution cooperatives in Virginia. Id. at 6.

6 The Order for Notice and Hearing also allowed SVEC to implement its proposed rates for bills rendered on and after January 1, 2022, on an interim basis
and subject to refund with interest. SVEC has not implemented its proposed rates as of the date of this Order.

" SVEC's Motion in Limine at 1. See also, id. at 3-4.
8 Ex. 9 (Partial Stipulation) at 1-3.
° Report at 38. See also, id. at 48.

d. at 38.
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The Senior Hearing Examiner next addressed the Partial Stipulation filed by the Cooperative, Frederick County and Staff.!* Based on the case
record, the Senior Hearing Examiner concluded that "the undisputed conclusions agreed to in the Partial Stipulation are fair, reasonable, in the public
interest, comply with the statutory provisions . . ., and should be approved by the Commission."*? The following are the provisions recommended for
approval by the Senior Hearing Examiner:*®

(1) a revenue increase of $5,325,148 is necessary for SVEC to achieve a reasonable TIER in the range of 2.00 to 2.50x and
should be approved; (2) SVEC's proposed revenue apportionment is reasonable and should be approved; (3) the
Cooperative's proposed demand charge for Schedule C-13 is reasonable and should be approved; (4) SVEC's proposed
seasonal [Power Supply Service] rates in Schedules A-13, C-13, B-13, and LP-13 are reasonable and should be approved;
(5) the proposed decreases to facilities charge rates in SVEC's Terms and Conditions of service are reasonable and should
be approved; (6) SVEC's proposed Schedule SSR-1 (the Cooperative's proposed community solar subscription rider) is
reasonable and should be approved as proposed in the Application; (7) SVEC's proposed addition of Schedule AS-1 to pass
through the costs of purchasing power from an alternative supplier to [Old Dominion Electric Cooperative] is reasonable
and should be approved; and (8) SVEC's proposal to withdraw its Seasonal Residential Schedule S-7 should be approved.

Finally, the Senior Hearing Examiner addressed the two remaining substantive issues: SVEC's Residential BCC and Residential Demand Charge;
the Senior Hearing Examiner recommended that the Commission approve both charges.™

On December 10, 2021, SVEC, SUN-VA, Frederick County and Staff each filed their respective comments/exceptions to the Senior Hearing
Examiner's Report.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the matter, is of the opinion and finds that the findings and recommendations of the Senior
Hearing Examiner should be adopted in part as discussed further herein.

First, the Commission agrees with the Senior Hearing Examiner that based on this case record, the provisions agreed upon by the case
participants in the Partial Stipulation are fair, reasonable, in the public interest, and comply with the applicable statutory provisions.'> We approve these
provisions.

We next consider the issue of the proposed increase in the Residential BCC from $25 to $30 per month. The Senior Hearing Examiner found
that: (i) the increase is supported by the Cooperative's class cost of service study, as verified by Staff's; (ii) the proposed charge exceeds the Virginia
cooperative average but is not wholly out of line with the fixed charges of other Virginia cooperatives'’; and (iii) there is significant statutory discretion
afforded to cooperative boards authorizing their implementation of monthly fixed customer charges, and this statutory discretion supports the Commission's
approval of SVEC's Residential BCC proposal.'®

1 1d. at 44. As noted by the Senior Hearing Examiner, SVEC's proposed increase to its Residential Basic Customer Charge ("BCC") and its proposed
addition of a residential demand charge remained in conflict and were not included in the Partial Stipulation. Id. at 45.

21, at 44-45.

3 1d. at 44 (internal citations omitted).
1% 1d. at 48.

151d. at 44-45.

16 1d. at 45, citing Ex. 15 (Gravely Direct) at 8 (and noting Frederick County's agreement (Ex. 9 at 2)): "Staff concluded such [class cost of service] study
reasonably approximates the costs of serving the Cooperative's varying rate classes."

See also, id. at 45-46: The Senior Hearing Examiner noted that “[n]o case participant submitted an alternative [class cost of service] study for the
Commission's consideration” and further, was unpersuaded by SUN-VA's arguments that the Cooperative should have used a different cost classification
methodology limiting the assignment of customer costs only to costs associated with directly connecting customers to the grid (and excluding all costs
associated with the Cooperative's primary system and transformers), finding that such an approach ignores the reality that to have electric service, a
residential customer's meter and service facilities must be connected to a transformer and the Cooperative's primary distribution system.

171d. at 45. The Senior Hearing Examiner also pointed to evidence that SVEC's class cost of service study actually supports a BCC slightly exceeding $32.
Id., citing Tr. 116 and SVEC Post Hearing Brief (filed Nov. 12, 2021) at 9.

81d. at 46.
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In comments on the Senior Hearing Examiner's Report, both Frederick County and SUN-VA continued to urge rejection of the BCC that SVEC
proposed and that the Report recommended the Commission adopt.’® Among other reasons, these parties claim that the BCC is too high for some customers
and should be based on a different cost allocation methodology, and that a high BCC does not encourage conservation of electricity or investments in energy
efficiency and distributed solar.2 Though not unmindful of these concerns, the Commission adopts the Senior Hearing Examiner's findings and
recommendations as to the Residential BCC.?* Based on this record, the Commission finds SVEC's class cost of service study, which supports a BCC
increase to $30, is reasonable.? This methodology has been implemented by numerous Virginia cooperatives and has been previously accepted by the
Commission.?? Moreover, the Staff analyzed SVEC's class cost of service study and concluded that it reasonably approximates the costs of serving the
Cooperative's varying rate classes.?*

The second contested issue in this case is SVEC's proposed Residential Demand Charge of $0.10 per kilowatt ("kW") to the distribution portion
of the tariff.?> SVEC states that it has deployed metering technology that can meter demand for all customers, that it is researching available metering
technology, and that it plans to install new Advanced Metering Infrastructure ("AMI") metering in the future that will be capable of recording demands on an
hourly basis or even at 15-minute intervals.?® SVEC states that, "[a]s an added feature, SVEC is including a proposed incremental off-peak demand charge
also set at $0.10 per kW."#

The Senior Hearing Examiner found reasonable SVEC's proposal to introduce the Residential Demand Charge of $0.10/kW to the volumetric
portion of residential customer rates.?? She noted that the proposed amount of such charge is so low that it undoubtedly under-represents customer-related
demand costs and that the record reflects a sufficient cost basis for the residential demand charge's approval.?® She further determined that SVEC's plan to
implement the Residential Demand Charge as a mechanism for educating members while moving toward its ultimate goal of enhancing the demand price
structure, after the implementation of AMI, is reasonable.®® She observed that the Commission recently approved similar residential demand charges in other
cooperative cases.’! She concluded that the proposed Residential Demand Charge is adequately supported by the record and should be approved by the
Commission.*

19 Frederick County Comments at 1-2; SUN-VA Comments at 1-11, 13.
2 Frederick County Comments at 1-2; SUN-VA Comments at 3-4, 9-11.

2 Report at 46. The Commission does not at this time specifically adopt the Senior Hearing Examiner's finding that the statutory discretion afforded to
cooperative boards authorizing their implementation of monthly fixed customer charges supports the Commission's approval of SVEC's Residential BCC
proposal. Nor does the Commission make any findings related to SUN-VA's assertion that the Senior Hearing Examiner erred in concluding that Code
§ 56-585.3 A is relevant to this case. SUN-VA Comments at 7-8.

2 |d. at 45-46.

2 1d. at 45, citing Application of Southside Electric Cooperative for a general increase in electric rates, Case No. PUR-2019-00090, 2020 S.C.C. Ann. Rep.
278. See also SVEC Post Hearing Brief at 11-15 (filed Nov. 12, 2021).

24 Ex. 15 (Gravely Direct) at 6-8; Report at 25-26.

% Ex. 7 (Gaines Direct) at 26. This demand charge also would apply to the church class. 1d. at 25; Ex. 1 (Application) at 6. SVEC testified that its proposed
demand charge is "designed to shift the recovery of a portion of its demand-related fixed distribution costs from the distribution energy charge to the new
demand charge." Report at 46 (citing Ex. 7 (Gaines Direct) at 25).

% Ex. 7 (Gaines Direct) at 26.

2 1d. at 31. SVEC further explained its proposal vis-a-vis the Residential Demand Charge as follows:
The Cooperative's currently installed meters are capable of registering maximum monthly demand, but not on a
time differentiated basis. Therefore, the Cooperative will apply the demand charge for "All kW of Billing
Demand" upon approval and based on the customer's Billing Demand as defined which would be the maximum
registered demand each month. The Cooperative will not apply the Incremental Off-Peak Billing Demand
Charge until metering capable of registering on and off-peak billing demand is installed.

Ex. 15 (Gravely Direct) at Attachment KG-1 p. 3. The Cooperative stated that it plans to gradually introduce a differential between the charges for Billing

Demand and the charges for Incremental Off-Peak Billing Demand. SVEC explained:
Application of the Incremental Off-Peak [Billing] Demand Charge before there is a differential will have no
effect on a customer's bill . . . . After there is a rate differential, it will not cause an increase [in] any customer's
bill. However, it could decrease a customer's bill relative to billing without new metering. Moreover, it will
provide the on- and off-peak price signal the Cooperative is seeking.

Id.

28 Report at 47.
2.
0 q.
3.

2.
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In comments on the Report, SUN-VA continued to object to implementation of this new charge, claiming that it defies principles of cost
causation and does not provide for any meaningful load reduction.® Commenters also took issue with the implementation of a residential demand charge.3*

The Commission declines at this time to approve the request for a Residential Demand Charge based on the record of this case. We note that, at
present, SVEC does not have the capability to fully implement the demand charge as it proposes.® Specifically, without AMI meters, the Cooperative
cannot implement the off-peak billing demand component with a differential.*® This decision is without prejudice for the Cooperative to renew such a
request in the future.

Finally, we note that the Senior Hearing Examiner thoroughly considered the Motion in Limine, and the Commission agrees with the Report's
findings and recommendations thereon. The Senior Hearing Examiner also recommended that the Commission authorize SVEC's implementation of its new
rates and charges (on a non-interim basis) effective for bills rendered on or after March 1, 2022, consistent with SVEC's updated request.®” Similarly, the
Commission finds that SVEC should implement its new rates and charges (on a non-interim basis) effective for bills rendered as soon as reasonably
practicable.

The Commission realizes that the ongoing COVID-19 public health issues have had negative economic effects that impact all utility customers.
We are sensitive to the effects of rate increases, especially in times such as these. The Commission, however, must follow the laws applicable to any rate
case, as well as the findings of fact supported by the evidence in the record. This is what we have done herein.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The findings and recommendations of the December 2, 2021 Report are adopted in part as set forth herein.

(2) The Joint Motion filed by SVEC, Frederick County and Staff is granted, and the Partial Stipulation is approved.

(3) SVEC's Motion in Limine is denied, and the contested evidence hereby is admitted into the record of this case.

(4) SVEC's revised rates shall be effective as soon as reasonably practicable.

(5) Within thirty (30) days of the issuance of this Final Order, the Cooperative shall file revised tariffs, schedules, and terms and conditions of
service that reflect the rates and charges approved herein and their effective date.

(6) This case is dismissed.

% SUN-VA Comments at 11-12.
3 Report at 2-6.
% See Ex. 15 (Gravely Direct) at Attachment KG-1 p. 3; Tr. 117-119, 205-206.
% Tr. 118-119, 201, 205-206. See also, Ex. 15 (Gravely Direct) at Attachment KG-1 p. 3.
3" Report at 47-48.
CASE NO. PUR-2021-00054
MARCH 28, 2022

APPLICATION OF
SHENANDOAH VALLEY ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE

For a general increase in electric rates

ORDER GRANTING RECONSIDERATION

On March 11, 2022, the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") issued a Final Order in this docket. On March 22, 2022, Shenandoah
Valley Electric Cooperative (“"Cooperative") filed a Petition for Reconsideration and Motion for Suspension of Final Order ("Petition").

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration hereof, grants reconsideration for the purpose of continuing jurisdiction over this matter and
considering the Petition, and schedules additional pleadings attendant to the Petition. The Final Order is hereby suspended pending the Commission's
consideration of the Petition.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Reconsideration is granted for the purpose of continuing jurisdiction over this matter and considering the Petition.

(2) Pending the Commission's consideration of the Petition, the Final Order is suspended.

(3) Respondents and Commission Staff may file any responses to the Petition on or before April 8, 2022.

(4) The Cooperative may file a reply to the above response(s) on or before April 15, 2022.

(5) This matter is continued generally.
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CASE NO. PUR-2021-00054
MAY 5, 2022

APPLICATION OF
SHENANDOAH VALLEY ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE

For a general increase in electric rates

ORDER ON RECONSIDERATION

On March 11, 2022, the State Corporation Commission (“"Commission") issued a Final Order in this case, wherein Shenandoah Valley Electric
Cooperative ("SVEC" or "Cooperative") had filed an application ("Application") for approval of a general increase in electric rates. On March 22, 2022, the
Cooperative filed a Petition for Reconsideration and Motion for Suspension of Final Order ("Petition for Reconsideration™).

On March 28, 2022, the Commission entered an Order Granting Reconsideration, in which the Commission suspended the Final Order and
granted reconsideration for the purpose of continuing jurisdiction over this matter and considering the Petition for Reconsideration. The Commission also
set deadlines for responses and reply to the Petition for Reconsideration. On April 8, 2022, Commission Staff ("Staff") and Solar United Neighbors of
Virginia ("SUN-VA") each filed a response. On April 15, 2022, SVEC filed a reply ("Reply").

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that: the Final Order is clarified and modified as set
forth herein; and, otherwise, SVEC's request for reconsideration is denied.

Initially, SVEC misconstrues the Commission's finding as to the proposed Residential Demand Charge. Contrary to SVEC's suggestion, the
Commission did not find that SVEC is unable to implement "All kW of Billing Demand" at this time.! Rather, the Commission's denial of the Residential
Demand Charge is based on the finding that SVEC does not have the capability — at the present — "to fully implement" all aspects of the proposed demand
charge.? Specifically, the Commission found that SVEC does not have the capability at this time to implement time-of-use demand charges in order to
currently effectuate the Incremental Off-Peak Billing Demand Charge component of the proposed demand charge. Indeed, SVEC acknowledges as much in
its Reply.®

SVEC also suggests that the Commission erred by rejecting a demand charge for residential customers while at the same time approving a
demand charge for church service customers.* The Final Order, however, cited the explanation of SVEC's witness that the proposed residential demand
charge "also would apply to the church class."> Accordingly, the Commission clarifies that its denial of the demand charge likewise applies to both
residential and church service customers; to the extent such finding needs to be made expressly, the Final Order is hereby so modified.

Next, SVEC also alleges that the Commission erred because a residential demand charge was previously approved for Craig-Botetourt Electric
Cooperative ("CBEC").® As discussed by SUN-VA, this is not error. The Commission's finding herein is based upon — and supported by — the distinct
record in the instant proceeding.” Furthermore, the stipulation as approved by the Commission in the CBEC proceeding (containing the residential demand
charge) expressly directs it shall not serve as precedent in any future case.®

1 See, e.g., SVEC's Reply at 7-9.
2 Final Order at 8. See also SVEC's Petition for Reconsideration at 4 and SVEC's Reply at 3.
% See, e.g., SVEC's Reply at 7-9 (citing Tr. at 205-206). Per SVEC witness Rogers on cross-examination from counsel for SUN-VA:

Q. "...Ijust want to confirm with you today or right now, the Cooperative doesn’t currently have these meters in place to
take advantage of the demand charge; is that correct?"

A. "Not of the time of use demand charges...."
4 SVEC's Petition for Reconsideration at 7-8 and SVEC's Reply at 4-5.
® Final Order at 6 n.25.
® See, e.g., SVEC's Petition for Reconsideration at 8-10.

7 See, e.g., SUN-VA's Response at 5 ("The Commission’s decision to decline to approve SVEC's demand charge was properly based on the evidence in this
case.") (emphasis in original).

8 See, e.g., id. at 4-5 (quoting from the approved CBEC stipulation that it "represents a compromise for the purposes of settlement in this case only and shall
not be regarded as a precedent with respect to any ratemaking or any other principle in any future rate case™).



226
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

In addition, SVEC asks the Commission to, "in the alternative, amend its Final Order to approve only the 'All kW of Billing Demand' component
of the Residential Demand Charge.”® The Commission, however, has already in effect denied this request in the Final Order, when we denied approval of
the entire residential demand charge because SVEC does not have the existing capability to fully implement all aspects thereof as explained above.
Moreover, to the extent that SVEC's instant request "in the alternative" is different from the relief sought in its Application, the Commission hereby
exercises its discretion not to consider such on reconsideration.

Finally, SVEC and Staff are correct that: (1) the Commission approved a total revenue increase of $5,325,148 as set forth in the Partial
Stipulation; and (2) because there is no distribution demand charge for residential customers, $952,015 of the approved residential distribution revenue
requirement shall be recovered through the residential distribution energy charge.!* Similarly, $14,354 of the revenue increase that was previously associated
with the proposed church service demand charge shall be recovered through the church service distribution energy charge.?

Accordingly, IT IS SO ORDERED, the Final Order is no longer suspended, and this case is DISMISSED.

® See, e.g., SVEC's Reply at 15.

10 See, e.g., Wal-Mart Stores East, LP v. State Corp. Comm'n, 299 Va. 57, 76-77 (2020) ("That is not a request to reconsider a prior decision. It is a request
to consider for the first time something the movant had never before specifically sought. ... [TThe Commission did not abuse its discretion in denying
Walmart's motion to reconsider."). See also SUN-VA's Response at 6.

1 See, e.g., SVEC's Petition for Reconsideration at 14, Staff's Response at 3-4, and SVEC's Reply at 14-15.

12 See, e.g., Ex. 1 (Application), Sch. 15B at 2.

CASE NO. PUR-2021-00063
FEBRUARY 7, 2022

APPLICATION OF
SHENANDOAH TELEPHONE COMPANY, SHENANDOAH TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY,
SHENANDOAH CABLE TELEVISION, LLC, and SHENTEL MANAGEMENT COMPANY

For approval of a Services Agreement under Chapter 4 of Title 56 of the Code of Virginia

ORDER GRANTING APPROVAL

On November 24, 2021, Shenandoah Telephone Company (“"Shenandoah"), Shenandoah Telecommunications Company ("ShenCom"),
Shenandoah Cable Television, LLC ("SCT"), and ShenTel Management Company ("SMC") (collectively, "Applicants"),® filed an application
("Application) with the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) for approval of a new management services agreement ("New MSA") under
Chapter 4 of Title 56 of the Code of Virginia ("Code").2 The Applicants are currently operating under a Commission order dated November 18, 2021
("November 18 Order"), which granted interim authority to operate under the current MSA pending a final order in this case.®

Under the New MSA, SMC will provide Shenandoah with eight categories of general and administrative services: (1) management services;
(2) accounting services; (3) human resources services; (4) legal services; (5) information technology services; (6) inventory and facility management
services; (7) sales & marketing services; and (8) customer service support services. SMC will also provide Shenandoah with operations (network and
maintenance) services, which include the provision and management of operational support, network planning, engineering, and field operations teams to
maintain the network in an operational state.

In addition, SCT will provide Shenandoah with floor space within its owned or leased buildings on an as needed basis. Given the limited nature
of Shenandoah's current needs, SCT and Shenandoah agree that the space will be provided without charge until such time as Shenandoah requires more
space. No rental service charges will be assessed without prior Commission approval.

SMC will charge Shenandoah for the New MSA services (collectively, "Services") via an annual management fee, which will be calculated by
multiplying SMC's annual corporate overhead costs by a revenue allocation factor (Shenandoah's proportion of ShenCom's annual total consolidated
revenue), using the most recently available annual audited financial statements. The Applicants represent that SMC will provide all Services to Shenandoah
at cost without a profit component.*

The New MSA contains additional provisions for a cash management plan ("CMP") and consolidated tax allocation agreement (“Tax
Agreement™) between the Applicants.

1 Shenandoah Mobile, LLC, and Shenandoah Personal Communications, LLC, are also considered parties to the Application and have provided the
statutorily required verifications as they participate in the tax sharing arrangement and cash management arrangement under the management services
agreement.

2 Code § 56-76 et seq.

3 See Joint Petition of Shenandoah Telephone Company and Shenandoah Cable Television, LLC, For approval of affiliate transactions under Chapter 4 of
Title 56 of the Code of Virginia, Case No. PUR-2021-00063, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 211160050, Order (Nov. 18, 2021).

4 See Application, Attachment A, at 4.
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NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter and having been advised by the Commission Staff (“Staff") through Staff's
action brief and having considered the Applicants' comments thereon, is of the opinion and finds that the New MSA is in the public interest and is approved
subject to the requirements listed in the Appendix attached to this order. We specifically find that the CMP and Tax Agreement are part of the New MSA
and are subject to the approval granted in this case. The interim authority granted in the November 18 Order is cancelled as of the effective date of this
order.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The Petitioners hereby are granted approval of the New MSA subject to the requirements listed in the Appendix attached to this order.
(2) The interim authority granted in the November 18 Order is cancelled.
(3) This case is dismissed.
APPENDIX
1) The cash management plan and tax allocation agreement are part of the New MSA and are subject to the approval granted in this case.

2) The Commission's approval of the New MSA shall extend for five years from the effective date of the order granting approval in this case. If
Shenandoah wishes to continue the New MSA beyond that date, separate approval shall be required.

3) The Commission's approval shall have no accounting or ratemaking implications.

4) The Commission's approval shall be limited to the specific Services identified and described in the New MSA. If Shenandoah wishes to
receive Services not specifically identified and described in the New MSA, separate approval shall be required.

5) Separate Commission approval shall be required for Shenandoah to receive Services from the Service Company through the engagement of
any unidentified third-party affiliates under the New MSA.

6) Shenandoah shall be required to maintain records, available to Staff upon request, demonstrating that the Services it receives from SMC are
cost beneficial to Virginia ratepayers. For all Services received by Shenandoah where a market may exist, Shenandoah shall investigate whether comparable
market prices are available and, if they exist, Shenandoah shall compare the market price to cost and pay the lower of cost or market to SMC. Records of
such investigations and comparisons shall be available to Staff upon request. Shenandoah shall bear the burden of proving, in any rate proceeding, that all
Services received and paid for by Shenandoah are priced at the lower of cost or market where a market for such services exists.

7) The approval granted in this case shall not preclude the Commission from exercising its authority under Code § 56-76 et seq. hereafter.
8) Separate Commission approval shall be required for any changes in the terms and conditions of the New MSA.

9) The Commission shall reserve the right to examine the books and records of Shenandoah and any affiliate in connection with the approval
granted in this case, whether or not such affiliate is regulated by this Commission.

10) Shenandoah shall file a copy of the approved and executed New MSA within 60 days after the effective date of the order granting approval
in this case, subject to administrative extension by the Director of the Division of Utility Accounting and Finance ("UAF Director").

11) Shenandoah shall include all transactions associated with the New MSA in its Annual Report of Affiliate Transactions ("ARAT") submitted
to the UAF Director on May 1 of each year, subject to administrative extension by the UAF Director. The ARAT shall:
(a) List the case number in which the New MSA was approved;
(b) List Shenandoah, the affiliate(s), and the Service(s) received; and
(c) Include schedule(s) in Excel electronic spreadsheet format with formulas intact, listing the prior year's Commission approved Services
received by month, type of service, USOA account, and dollar amount (as the transactions are recorded in Shenandoah's books).

CASE NO. PUR-2021-00066
FEBRUARY 18, 2022

PETITION OF
APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY

For a prudency review, pursuant to § 56-585.1:4 H of the Code of Virginia, with respect to the purchase of the Amherst Solar Facility
FINAL ORDER

On November 18, 2021, Appalachian Power Company ("APCo" or "Company"), pursuant to § 56-585.1:4 H of the Code of Virginia ("Code"),
filed a petition ("Petition™) with the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) for a prudency determination with respect to the Company's proposed
purchase and sale agreement with SAE Solar LLC ("SAE Solar") (a project company that is a subsidiary of SolAmerica Energy, LLC ("SolAmerica")) for a
4.875 megawatt ("MW") solar facility to be located in Amherst County, Virginia (“Facility"). The Commission's final order is required by Code
§ 56-585.1:4 H to be entered by the Commission not more than three months after the date of such filing.
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The Company states that to comply with the Grid Transformation and Security Act ("GTSA™)! and the Virginia Clean Economy Act ("VCEA"),2
the Company must construct or acquire generating capacity utilizing energy from sunlight or onshore wind.® Specifically, the GTSA requires APCo to
construct or acquire generation facilities of not less than 200 MW of solar generation by July 1, 2028. The VCEA requires APCo to petition the Commission
for approval "to construct, acquire, or enter into agreements to purchase the energy, capacity, and environmental attributes of 600 MW of generating capacity
using energy derived from sunlight or onshore wind," of which 200 MW must be petitioned for by December 31, 2023.4

The Company further states that it issued a request for proposals, and as a result the Company pursued the Facility, which is a 4.875 MW, fixed
tilt design, photovoltaic solar facility in Amherst County, Virginia.> The Company states the Facility will be located in a sparsely populated, wooded area,
and the panels will largely be obscured by vegetation on all sides.® The Company further states the Facility will be interconnected to the Company's
distribution system at 12.4 kilovolts.”

According to the Petition, the developer of the Facility submitted its notice of intent to construct the Facility with the Department of
Environmental Quality on January 26, 2021, and its notice of intent to construct the Facility with the Commission on September 29, 2021. APCo states that
should the Commission grant this Petition and the subsequent request to purchase and operate the Facility, it is expected to be operational by 2023.2 The
Company further states that it will acquire SAE Solar from SolAmerica when the Facility is at the point of mechanical completion, thereby preserving tax
benefits for APCo's use.®

In sum, the Company requests in its Petition that the Commission: (1) find that the acquisition of the Facility is prudent, and (2) grant any such
other relief as deemed just and proper.*

On December 7, 2021, the Commission issued an Order for Notice and Comment that, among other things, docketed the Petition; required APCo
to provide public notice of its Petition; provided for interested persons to have an opportunity to comment on the Petition, file a notice of participation as a
respondent, or request that a hearing be convened; directed the Commission's Staff ("Staff") to investigate the Petition and present its findings and
recommendations in a report ("Staff Report"); and appointed a Hearing Examiner to rule on any discovery matters that might arise during the course of this
proceeding.

Notices of participation were filed by the Office of the Attorney General's Division of Consumer Counsel ("Consumer Counsel") and the
VML/VaCo APCo Steering Committee ("Committee”).)! On January 21, 2022, Consumer Counsel filed comments on the Petition. On January 28, 2022,
the Staff filed its Staff Report. On February 4, 2022, APCo filed rebuttal testimony. Also on February 4, 2022, SolAmerica filed a Motion to Intervene and
Submit Comments Out of Time.?? No party requested that the Commission convene a hearing on the Petition.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds as follows.

Applicable Law

APCo filed the instant Petition, as it is permitted under Code § 56-585.1:4 H, which states as follows:

A utility may elect to petition the Commission, outside of a triennial review proceeding conducted pursuant to § 56-585.1,
at any time for a prudency determination with respect to the construction or purchase by the utility of one or more solar or
wind generation facilities located in the Commonwealth or off the Commonwealth's Atlantic Shoreline or the purchase by
the utility of energy, capacity, and environmental attributes from solar or wind facilities owned by persons other than the
utility. The Commission's final order regarding any such petition shall be entered by the Commission not more than three
months after the date of the filing of such petition.

12018 Va. Acts ch. 296 (SB 966).

22020 Va. Acts chs. 1193, 1194 (HB 1526 and SB 851, respectively). See also Code § 56-585.5 D 1.

% Petition at 2-3.

4 Code § 56-585.5D 1 a.

® Petition at 3.

b1d.

"1d.

81d. at 3-4.

°1d. at 4.

0 d. at 8-9.

1 On February 9, 2022, the Committee filed a motion to withdraw its notice of participation. That motion is hereby granted.
12 Consumer Counsel filed a response opposing SolAmerica's request for late intervention as a party, and SolAmerica filed a reply thereto. The Commission

finds that SolAmerica's Motion is granted in part and denied in part. SolAmerica's motion to intervene out of time is denied; however, the late filed
comments out of time are accepted into the record in this proceeding.
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Enactment Clause 21 of the GTSA provides in part that:

[O]n or before July 1, 2028, subject to the approval of [Commission], a Phase | Utility,*® as that term is defined in
subdivision A 1 of § 56-585.1 of the Code of Virginia, shall construct or acquire a generation facility or facilities utilizing
energy derived from sunlight with an aggregate capacity of not less than 200 megawatts located in the Commonwealth,
which utility-owned generation facility or facilities is in the public interest as is set forth in this act.**

Code § 56-585.5 D 1 a further requires, by December 31, 2023, that APCo petition the Commission "for necessary approvals to construct,
acquire, or enter into agreements to purchase the energy, capacity, and environmental attributes of at least 200 megawatts of generating capacity located in
the Commonwealth using energy derived from sunlight or onshore wind." Code § 56-585.5 C further establishes a renewable portfolio standard program
("RPS Program™) and directs APCo to “procure and retire Renewable Energy Certificates ("RECs") originating from renewable energy standard eligible
sources." The RPS Program requirements are "a percentage of the total electric energy sold in the previous calendar year" based on a statutorily prescribed
schedule.

Finally, the General Assembly has mandated that utility purchases such as the Facility are in the "public interest:"
Prior to January 1, 2024, (i) the construction or purchase by a public utility of one or more solar or wind generation
facilities located in the Commonwealth or off the Commonwealth's Atlantic shoreline, each having a rated capacity of at
least one megawatt and having in the aggregate a rated capacity that does not exceed 5,000 megawatts, or (ii) the purchase
by a public utility of energy, capacity, and environmental attributes from solar facilities described in clause (i) owned by

persons other than a public utility is in the public interest, and the Commission shall so find if required to make a finding
regarding whether such construction or purchase is in the public interest.'®

Evidence of Prudency
The record in this case relevant to the factual question of prudency includes the following:
e  The Facility was pursued as a part of a competitive request for proposals (“"RFP") issued by the Company on January 22, 2020, to
comply with Enactment Clause 21 of the GTSA. The RFP received multiple bids from which the Company short-listed three projects,

two of which subsequently withdrew, prompting the Company to only pursue the Amherst Facility;®

e As the Company will be purchasing the Facility at the point of mechanical completion, the developer bears the risk of construction
costs;Y’

e The Facility will be constructed using a known and proven technology;®

e  The Facility has a positive net present value ("NPV") to customers compared to market costs based on the Company's economic
analysis;*

e  The Facility is cost beneficial to customers over the lifetime of the project even if the benefits of the social cost of carbon and avoided
REC costs are omitted;?

e APCo has a need for the Facility to comply with Enactment Clause 21 of the GTSA;#
e The Facility will assist APCo in complying with Code § 56-585.5 D 1 A;%

e Beginning in 2023, the Facility will produce RECs that that can be used to comply with Code § 56-585.5 C;%

13 APCo is a Phase | utility.

142018 Va. Acts ch. 296.

15 Code § 56-585.1:4 A (emphasis added). See also Code § 56-585.1:1 G.

16 Direct Testimony of Company witness William K. Castle ("Castle Direct") at 5; Staff Report at 3.
7 Castle Direct at 4.

% 1d. at 6.

19 Petition at 4-5.

2 Staff Report (See February 8, 2022 errata filing) at 8.

2! Castle Direct at 3.

2,

2 Petition at 3-4; Castle Direct at 7.
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e The Facility will provide direct and indirect economic benefits to the communities in which it will be located;? and

. Based on the Company's EJSCREEN, the Facility will not disproportionately affect environmental justice communities or fenceline
communities.®

Prudency

The Commission has considered the entire record.?® The Staff Report did not take issue with the Company's economic analysis and stated that
"the record in this proceeding could support a finding of prudence for the Amherst Facility."? The Commission concludes that the record in this proceeding
supports a finding that the Amherst Facility is prudent. The finding of prudence in this matter is supported by, among other things and as cited above, the
following:

(1) The Facility was pursued as part of a competitive RFP;

(2) The Facility provides a positive NPV to customers;

(3) The Facility is competitive with market costs;

(4) The Facility will not disproportionately affect environmental justice communities or fenceline communities; and

(5) The Facility will aid in the Company's compliance with multiple applicable legal requirements, including Enactment Clause 21 of the GTSA,
Code § 56-585.5 C and Code § 56-585.5 D 1 A.

Cost Allocation

We find that a determination of prudency in this proceeding does not require the adoption of a cost allocation methodology or resolution of the
cost allocation-related issues raised by parties.?® The Commission also finds that the determination of prudency herein likewise does not require a finding on
how the Facility's benefits will flow to Virginia customers.? Rather, we find that ratemaking issues, including those related to cost allocation and benefits,
can be reasonably addressed when APCo seeks cost recovery for the Facility.

Finally, we decline to merge the instant request for a prudence determination into APCo's pending RPS Plan case as requested by Consumer
Counsel.® We find sufficient evidence in the record to determine the prudency of the proposed Facility at this time under applicable law, as discussed
herein.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT the Petition is approved as set forth herein, and this matter is dismissed.

24 petition at 5; Caste Direct at 7.

% Staff Report at 11.

% See also Board of Supervisors of Loudoun County v. State Corp. Comm'n, 292 Va. 444, 454 n.10 (2016) ("We note that even in the absence of this
representation by the Commission, pursuant to our governing standard of review, the Commission's decision comes to us with a presumption that it
considered all of the evidence of record.") (citation omitted).

27 Staff Report at 8 (See February 8, 2022 errata filing), 11.

2 This is consistent with the Commission's determination in a previous prudency determination under Code § 56-585.1:4 H. See Petition of Virginia Electric
and Power Company, For a prudency determination with respect to the Westmoreland Solar Power Purchase Agreement pursuant to § 56-585.1:4 F of the
Code of Virginia, Case No. PUR-2019-00133, 2019 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 495, 498 (Nov. 6, 2019).

2 Consumer Counsel comments at 10.

% |d. (citing pending Case No. PUR-2021-00206).

CASE NO. PUR-2021-00066
MARCH 9, 2022

PETITION OF
APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY

For a prudency review, pursuant to § 56-585.1:4 H of the Code of Virginia, with respect to the purchase of the Amherst Solar Facility

ORDER GRANTING RECONSIDERATION

On February 18, 2022, the State Corporation Commission (“Commission") issued a Final Order in this docket. On March 7, 2022, the Office of
the Attorney General's Division of Consumer Counsel (“Consumer Counsel”) filed its Objection to Hearing Examiner's Ruling and Request for
Reconsideration ("Petition for Reconsideration™).t

! Though labeled a "request,” Consumer Counsel states it is making its filing pursuant to 5 VAC 5-20-220 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and
Procedure, 5 VAC 5-20-10 et seq. This rule pertains to petitions for rehearing or reconsideration, and we treat the “request™ as a "petition" under this rule.
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NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration hereof, grants reconsideration for the purpose of continuing jurisdiction over this matter and
considering the Petition for Reconsideration. The Final Order is hereby suspended pending the Commission's reconsideration.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Reconsideration is granted for the purpose of continuing jurisdiction over this matter and considering the Petition for Reconsideration.

(2) Pending the Commission's reconsideration, the Final Order is suspended.

(3) Appalachian Power Company and Staff may file a response to the Petition for Reconsideration on or before March 16, 2022.

(4) Consumer Counsel may file any reply on or before March 22, 2022.

(5) This matter is continued generally.

CASE NO. PUR-2021-00066
APRIL 5, 2022

PETITION OF
APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY

For a prudency review, pursuant to § 56-585.1:4 H of the Code of Virginia, with respect to the purchase of the Amherst Solar Facility
ORDER

On February 18, 2022, the State Corporation Commission (*Commission™) issued a Final Order in this docket. On March 7, 2022, the Office of
the Attorney General's Division of Consumer Counsel (“Consumer Counsel") filed its Objection to Hearing Examiner's Ruling and Request for
Reconsideration ("Petition for Reconsideration™)?, in which Consumer Counsel objected to a ruling that its February 1, 2022 Motion for Ruling on
Confidentiality of Information (*Motion for Ruling") was untimely.

On March 9, 2022, the Commission issued an Order Granting Reconsideration that granted reconsideration for the purpose of continuing
jurisdiction over this matter and considering the Petition for Reconsideration; suspended the Final Order pending the Commission's reconsideration; and
provided an opportunity to file responses and a reply to the Petition for Reconsideration.

On March 24, 2022, the Commission issued an Order remanding this proceeding to the hearing examiner for purposes of making a recommended
determination regarding the confidentiality of the information challenged by Consumer Counsel in its February 1, 2022 Motion for Ruling.

On March 28, 2022, Appalachian Power Company ("APCo") filed its Motion for Clarification seeking clarification that the Commission's
March 24, 2022 Order does not affect the February 18, 2022 Final Order's prudency determination and that development of the Amherst Facility may
immediately commence.

On April 1, 2022, Consumer Counsel filed its Motion for Leave to Withdraw Motion for Ruling and Response to Appalachian Power Company's
Motion for Clarification ("Motion for Leave to Withdraw") in which Consumer Counsel asks that the Commission grant Consumer Counsel leave to
withdraw the Motion for Ruling, reinstate the suspended Final Order, and dismiss this proceeding. Later that same day, APCo filed a response to Consumer
Counsel's Motion for Leave to Withdraw noting, among other things, that APCo does not oppose the Motion for Leave to Withdraw.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, finds Consumer Counsel's Motion for Leave to Withdraw should be granted.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Consumer Counsel's Motion for Leave to Withdraw is granted without prejudice.

(2) APCo's Motion for Clarification is denied as moot.

(3) The Commission's February 18, 2022 Final Order is no longer suspended.

(4) This case is dismissed.

! Though labeled a "request,” Consumer Counsel states it is making its filing pursuant to 5 VAC 5-20-220 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and
Procedure, 5 VAC 5-20-10 et seq. This rule pertains to petitions for rehearing or reconsideration, and we treat the “request™ as a "petition" under this rule.
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CASE NO. PUR-2021-00082
APRIL 29, 2022

APPLICATION OF
VIRGINIA ELECTRIC AND POWER COMPANY

For approval and certification of electric transmission facilities: Elmont-Ladysmith 500 kV Transmission Line #574 Rebuild and Related
Projects

EINAL ORDER

On April 27, 2021, Virginia Electric and Power Company ("Dominion" or "Company") filed with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) an application ("Application™) for approval and certification to construct and operate electric transmission facilities in Hanover and Caroline
Counties, Virginia. Dominion filed its Application pursuant to §56-46.1 of the Code of Virginia ("Code") and the Utility Facilities Act,
Code § 56-265.1 et seq.

Through its Application, Dominion seeks (i) to rebuild approximately 26.2 miles of 500 kV Line #574 on single circuit steel structures between
Elmont Switching Station and Ladysmith Switching Station with dulled galvanized steel structures that can support a 500 kilovolt ("kV") circuit with an
underbuild that permits installation of a future 230 kV circuit; (ii) the removal of one single circuit 500 kV galvanized steel lattice tower supporting existing
Line #568 (Ladysmith - Possum Point) at Ladysmith, which will be replaced with two single circuit 500 kV dulled galvanized steel lattice towers; and (iii) to
complete work at EImont and Ladysmith Switching Stations to support the new line rating (collectively, the "Rebuild Projects").

Dominion states that the Rebuild Projects are necessary to maintain the structural integrity and reliability of its transmission system in compliance
with mandatory North American Electric Reliability Corporation ("NERC") reliability standards.? The Company further states that the Rebuild Projects will
replace aging infrastructure that is at the end of its service life.?

The Company's desired in-service date for the Rebuild Projects is December 31, 2025. The Company represents that the estimated conceptual
cost of the Rebuild Projects (in 2021 dollars) is approximately $92.2 million, which includes approximately $80.8 million for transmission-related work and
$11.4 million for substation-related work.®

Dominion represents that, given the availability of existing right-of-way ("ROW"), the statutory preference given to the use of existing ROW, and
because of the additional costs and environmental impacts that would be associated with the acquisition of and construction on new ROW, the Company
considered no alternate routes requiring new ROW for the Rebuild Projects.®

On May 26, 2021, the Commission issued an Order for Notice and Hearing ("Procedural Order") that, among other things, docketed the
Application; established a procedural schedule; directed Dominion to provide notice of its Application to the public; provided interested persons an
opportunity to comment on the Application or participate in the proceeding as a respondent by filing a notice of participation; scheduled an evidentiary
hearing; directed the Staff of the Commission ("Staff") to investigate the Application and file testimony and exhibits containing its findings and
recommendations thereon; and appointed a Hearing Examiner to conduct all further proceedings in this matter. No comments or notices of participation
were filed in this proceeding.

As also discussed in the Procedural Order, Staff requested the Department of Environmental Quality ("DEQ") to coordinate an environmental
review of the Rebuild Projects by the appropriate agencies and to provide a report on the review. On July 1, 2021, DEQ filed its report ("DEQ Report™),
which included a Wetlands Impact Consultation prepared by DEQ. The DEQ Report provides general recommendations for the Commission's consideration
that are in addition to any requirements of federal, state, or local law. Specifically, the DEQ Report contains a Summary of Recommendations regarding the
Rebuild Projects. According to the DEQ Report, the Company should:

e Follow DEQ recommendations including the avoidance and minimization of impacts to wetlands and streams;

e  Take all reasonable precautions to limit emissions of oxides of nitrogen and volatile organic compounds, principally by
controlling or limiting the burning of fossil fuels;

o Reduce solid waste at the source, reuse it and recycle it to the maximum extent practicable, and follow DEQ's recommendations
to manage waste, as applicable;

e Coordinate with the Department of Conservation and Recreation ("DCR") on the development and implementation of an
invasive species plan to be included as part of the maintenance practices for the ROW;

1 Ex. 2 (Application) at 2.
21d.
41d.

41d. at 3. Dominion requests that the Commission enter a final order by September 30, 2022, for the Company to begin construction by January 3, 2023, and
complete construction by December 31, 2025. Id. at 3.

51d. at 3-4.

61d. at 4.
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e Coordinate with DCR for updates to the Biotics Data System database during the final design stage of engineering and upon any
major modifications of the project construction to avoid and minimize impacts to natural heritage resources;

e Coordinate with the Department of Wildlife Resources ("DWR") should instream work resulting in temporary or permanent
impacts to Threatened and Endangered Species Water and Anadromous Fish Use Areas;

e Coordinate with DWR as necessary regarding the general protection of wildlife resources;

e Coordinate with the Virginia Outdoors Foundation ("VOF") on minimizing the impacts of the replacement structures on VOF
open space easements in the vicinity of the Rebuild Projects;

e Employ best management practices and Spill Prevention and Control Countermeasures and other measures as appropriate for the
protection of water supply sources;

o Follow the principles and practices of pollution prevention to the extent practicable; and
e Limit the use of pesticides and herbicides to the extent practicable.”

On November 1, 2021, Staff filed testimony along with an attached report ("Staff Report™) summarizing the results of its investigation of
Dominion's Application. Staff concluded that Dominion has reasonably demonstrated that rebuilding 500 kV Line #574 between Elmont and Ladysmith is
needed to maintain the overall reliability of the Company's transmission system, and that the proposed route, using existing ROW, reasonably minimizes
impacts to environmental, historic, and scenic resources.® Staff therefore did not oppose the issuance of the certificate of public convenience and necessity
("CPCN") for the 500 kV Line requested in the Company's Application.® Staff, however, was not able to verify the need for the Company's proposed tower
design that would be capable of carrying both a 500 kV and 230 kV line ("5-2 Structures") to support a future 230 kV underbuild based on the information
provided by the Company.X® Staff did not take a position relative to the use of the 5-2 Structures in this case.'*

On November 15, 2021, the Company filed its rebuttal testimony. In its rebuttal testimony, Dominion requested that the Commission reject
certain recommendations in the DEQ Report.*? Specifically, Dominion requested that the Commission reject: (i) DCR's recommendation for the Company
to coordinate with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Services to ensure compliance with protected species legislation; (ii) DCR's recommendation for the Company
to develop and implement an invasive species plan to be included as part of the maintenance practices for the ROW; (iii) DWR's recommendation for the
Company to coordinate with agency staff on any permanent or temporary impacts to Threatened and Endangered Species Water and Confirmed Anadromous
Fish Use Areas; (iv) DWR's recommendations related to significant tree removal or tree clearing activities outside of certain seasons; and (v) DEQ's
recommendation for the Company to consider the development of an effective environmental management system ("EMS").2

Due to the ongoing public health issues related to the spread of COVID-19, the evidentiary hearing was convened virtually, with no party present
in the Commission's courtroom, on December 8, 2021.2 The Company and Staff participated at the hearing.

On February 9, 2022, the Report of D. Mathias Roussy, Jr., Hearing Examiner (“Report") was issued. In the Report, the Hearing Examiner
found:

1. A transmission project to rebuild Line #574 and partially rebuild Line #568 is needed to address aging infrastructure and maintain
transmission system reliability;

2. The Rebuild Projects would maximize the use of existing ROW;

3. The Rebuild Projects, which will use dulled structures, would avoid or reasonably minimize adverse impact to the greatest extent
reasonably practicable on the scenic assets, historic districts, and environment of the area concerned,;

4. The unopposed recommendations in the DEQ Report should be adopted by the Commission as conditions of approval;

5. Dominion should coordinate with DWR to create appropriate construction restrictions in the event significant clearing activities occur and
songbird nesting colonies are found during a Company survey of the Rebuild Projects' area;

7 Ex. 13 (DEQ Report) at 6-7.

8 Ex. 11 (Malik Direct) at Staff Report, p.21.
°1d. at 22.

104,

.

12 Ex. 14 (Studebaker Rebuttal) at 2-3.

B d.

14 A public witness hearing was scheduled to be held telephonically on December 7, 2021, but was canceled after no public witnesses signed up to testify.
See Hearing Examiner's Ruling filed December 6, 2021.
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6. Dominion should mark and call out on erosion and sediment control plans any well's location within 1,000 feet of the Rebuild Projects'
site;

7. The Rebuild Projects do not appear to adversely impact any goals established by the Virginia Environmental Justice Act ("VEJA");!®
8. The Rebuild Projects would support economic development;

9. The Application does not propose the construction of a 230 kV line, but does propose structures with an underbuild component that would
be capable of carrying a future 230 kV line;

10. Compared to using single-circuit 500 kV structures, Dominion's proposal to use 5-2 Structures capable of carrying a 500 kV and 230 kV
line increases the cost of the Rebuild Projects, from approximately $71.9 million to $92.2 million, and increases the average proposed
structure height, from approximately 136 feet to 146 feet;

11. The record indicates that there may be a future need for a 230 kV line between the EImont and Ladysmith Stations;

12. A more proactive approach to transmission infrastructure, as proposed with the 5-2 Structures, risks unnecessary upfront costs, while a
more conservative approach risks back-end costs that could have been avoided with upfront investment; and

13. The customer risk associated with unnecessary upfront costs could be mitigated by approving 500 kV single-circuit structures for the
Rebuild Projects unless the Company agrees to bear the incremental cost of 5-2 structures until the need for 230 kV is established in the
future.'

The Hearing Examiner recommended that the Commission enter an order that adopts the findings and recommendations in the Report, authorizes the
Company to construct and operate the Rebuild Projects using single-circuit structures, subject to the findings and conditions recommended in the Report,
issues appropriate CPCNs for the Rebuild Projects, and dismisses this case from the Commission's docket of active cases.'’

On March 2, 2022, Dominion filed comments on the Report. In its comments, the Company requested that the Commission (i) adopt Findings
and Recommendations Nos. 1-12 from the Report, without modification; (ii) grant approval of the Rebuild Projects, including the proposed 5-2 Structures to
support a future 230 kV line, and its associated costs; (iii) reject Finding and Recommendation No. 13 from the Report recommending that the Company
bear the incremental costs of the 5-2 Structures until the need for the 230 kV is established in the future; and (iv) grant such other relief as deemed
appropriate.®

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the public convenience and necessity requires the
construction of the Rebuild Projects. The Commission finds that a CPCN authorizing the Rebuild Projects should be issued subject to certain findings and
conditions contained herein.

Applicable Law

The statutory scheme governing the Company's Application is found in several chapters of Title 56 of the Code.

Section 56-265.2 A 1 of the Code provides that "it shall be unlawful for any public utility to construct . . . facilities for use in public utility
service . . . without first having obtained a certificate from the Commission that the public convenience and necessity require the exercise of such right or
privilege."

Section 56-46.1 of the Code further directs the Commission to consider several factors when reviewing the Company's Application.
Subsection A of the statute provides that:

Whenever the Commission is required to approve the construction of any electrical utility facility, it shall give
consideration to the effect of that facility on the environment and establish such conditions as may be desirable or
necessary to minimize adverse environmental impact ... . In every proceeding under this subsection, the Commission
shall receive and give consideration to all reports that relate to the proposed facility by state agencies concerned with
environmental protection; and if requested by any county or municipality in which the facility is proposed to be built, to
local comprehensive plans that have been adopted . . . . Additionally, the Commission (a) shall consider the effect of the
proposed facility on economic development within the Commonwealth, including but not limited to furtherance of the
economic and job creation objectives of the Commonwealth Clean Energy Policy set forth in § 67-101.1, and (b) shall
consider any improvements in service reliability that may result from the construction of such facility.

Section 56-46.1 B of the Code further provides that "[a]s a condition to approval the Commission shall determine that the line is needed and that
the corridor or route chosen for the line will avoid or reasonably minimize adverse impact to the greatest extent reasonably practicable on the scenic assets,
historic resources recorded with the Department of Historic Resources, and environment of the area concerned."”

15 Code § 2.2-234 et seq.
16 Report at 34-35.
71d. at 35-36.

18 Dominion Comments at 20.
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The Code further requires that the Commission consider existing ROW easements when siting transmission lines. Section 56-46.1 C of the Code
provides that "[i]n any hearing the public service company shall provide adequate evidence that existing rights-of-way cannot adequately serve the needs of
the company." In addition, § 56-259 C of the Code provides that “[p]rior to acquiring any easement of right-of-way, public service corporations will
consider the feasibility of locating such facilities on, over, or under existing easements of rights-of-way."

Public Convenience and Necessity

The Company states the proposed Rebuild Projects are needed to replace aging infrastructure at the end of its service life in order to comply with
mandatory NERC Standards for transmission facilities, PJIM Reliability Standards, the Company's Transmission Planning Criteria, and to maintain the
long-term reliability of the Company's transmission system.’® Based on information provided by the Company, Staff concluded that the Company had
reasonably demonstrated that rebuilding the 500 kV Line #574 is needed for the overall reliability of the Company's transmission system.?’ The Commission
agrees with the Hearing Examiner that the Company's project to rebuild Line #574 is needed to address aging infrastructure and maintain transmission
system reliability.?

Based on the unique facts and circumstances of this case, the Commission further approves the 5-2 Structures as proposed by the Company.??
Evidence supporting approval of the taller 5-2 Structures in this case includes, but is not limited to:

e  System stability issues have been identified twice in the past five years due to the transmission system's configuration and the large
amount of generation located on the 230 kV system in the Rebuild Projects' area;

. Generation projects are active in the PJM queue that, if constructed, would interconnect within five buses of the Elmont and
Ladysmith Stations, which together with the stability issues, lead Dominion to conclude a 230 kV line between Elmont and Ladysmith
will likely be needed.?*

e The earliest projected in-service date for one of these queued projects is June 2023.%°

e While the identified need for upgrades could go away as PJM clears its study backlog and as projects in queue withdraw, 1,200
generation projects in the regional queues have not yet begun the study process.?

. If the Commission approves the Rebuild Project using single-circuit structures, the only options for adding a new 230 kV circuit
between the Ladysmith and Elmont Stations would be: (1) to wreck and rebuild the Rebuild Project; or (2) use new ROW in an
adjacent corridor.?’

e  Although not fully analyzed as part of the case, a 230 kV line in a new ROW would involve temporary and permanent environmental
impacts.?

Economic Development

The Commission has considered the effect of the Rebuild Projects on economic development in the Commonwealth and finds that the Rebuild
Projects will maintain transmission system reliability, thereby supporting economic development, by replacing aging transmission line infrastructure.?®

Rights-of-Way and Routing

Dominion has adequately considered usage of existing ROW. The Rebuild Project, as proposed, would be constructed on existing ROW.*

19 See Ex. 2 (Application Appendix) at 2.

2 Ex. 10 (Malik Direct) at Staff Report, p.21.
21 Report at 34.

22 Similar requests made in the future will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis based on the record developed in those proceedings.
2 Report at 28; Ex 2 (Appendix) at 5-6.

2 Report at 28.

% d. at 29.

%d. at 32.

2d. at 14.

2 d. at 25 n.157.

2 d. at 24.

% Ex. 2 (Application) at 2.
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Impact on Scenic Assets and Historic Districts

As noted above, the Rebuild Projects would be constructed on existing ROW already owned and maintained by Dominion. The Commission
finds that such construction will avoid or reasonably minimize adverse impacts to the greatest extent reasonably practicable on the scenic assets, historic
resources recorded with DHR, and environment of the area concerned, as required by 8§ 56-46.1 B of the Code, subject to the recommendations provided in
the following section.

Environmental Impact

Pursuant to § 56-46.1 A and B of the Code, the Commission is required to consider the Rebuild Projects' impact on the environment and to
establish such conditions as may be desirable or necessary to minimize adverse environmental impacts. The statute further provides, among other things,
that the Commission shall receive and give consideration to all reports that relate to the Rebuild Projects by state agencies concerned with environmental
protection.

The Commission finds that there are no adverse environmental impacts that would prevent the construction or operation of the Rebuild Projects.
This finding is supported by the DEQ Report, as nothing therein suggests that the Rebuild Projects should not be constructed.

There are, however, recommendations in the DEQ Report for the Commission's consideration. The Company filed a response opposing five of
these recommendations.

Dominion requests that the Commission reject the recommendation by the DCR to coordinate with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service to ensure
compliance with protected species legislation along with the DWR's recommendation to coordinate with the National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration on potential project impacts on the Atlantic sturgeon. The Company asserts that these recommendations are unnecessary as there will be no
in-stream work conducted for the Rebuild Projects.®! We agree with the Hearing Examiner that the above recommendations are unnecessary due to lack of
instream work and that Dominion is required to obtain all necessary environmental approvals to construct the Rebuild Projects.

Dominion requests that the Commission reject the recommendation by DCR related to the development and implementation of an invasive
species management plan.®* The Company asserts this recommendation is unnecessary because it "already has a comprehensive [Integrated Vegetation
Management Plan] in place that addresses invasive species, the development and implementation of a separate invasive species plan, including an invasive
species inventory."** The Commission agrees with the Hearing Examiner that this recommendation should be rejected.*

Dominion requests that the Commission reject DWR's recommendation for the Company to adhere to time of year restrictions while conducting
significant tree removal and ground clearing activities outside of the primary songbird nesting season from March 15 through June 30 for any year.*® The
Commission agrees with the Hearing Examiner that this recommendation should be rejected.*” The Commission finds that the Company shall conduct a
survey in the event significant clearing activities are required during the primary songbird nesting season and coordinate with DWR to create appropriate
construction restrictions if songbird nesting colonies are found.

Dominion requests that the Commission reject the DEQ's recommendation for the Company to consider the development of an effective EMS as
unnecessarily duplicative.®® The Company asserts that it "already has a comprehensive EMS Manual in place that ensures the Company is committed to
complying with environmental laws and regulations, reducing risk, minimizing adverse environmental impacts, setting environmental goals, and achieving
improvements in its environmental performance . . . ."* We find that Dominion's existing EMS achieves the purpose of this recommendation.*® The
Commission agrees with the Hearing Examiner that the DEQ's recommendation for the Company to develop an EMS should be rejected.

Dominion also offered clarifications to certain DEQ recommendations. In response to the Virginia Department of Health, Office of Drinking
Water ("VDH ODW") recommendation that the Company field mark wells that are within 1,000 feet of the Rebuild Project site in order to protect them from
accidental damage during construction, the Company asserts that it proposed an alternative method of well protection to VDHD ODW. The Company
asserts that VDH ODW found this alternative method reasonable and acceptable.*

31 Ex. 14 (Studebaker Rebuttal) at 3, 5.

%2 Report at 23.

33 Ex. 14 (Studebaker Rebuttal) at 3-4.

%1d. at 4.

% Report at 23.

% Ex. 14 (Studebaker Rebuttal) at 6.

37 Report at 23.

3 Ex. 14 (Studebaker Rebuittal) at 7.

% d.

40 The Commission has previously made a similar finding in prior proceedings. See, e.g., Application of Virginia Electric and Power Company, For
approval and certification of electric transmission facilities: Allied-Chesterfield 230 kV Transmission Line #2049 Partial Rebuild Project, Case No.

PUR-2020-00239, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 210330038, Final Order at 8 (Mar. 23, 2021).

4 Ex. 14 (Studebaker Rebuttal) at 7-8.
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Environmental Justice

The VEJA sets forth that "[i]t is the policy of the Commonwealth to promote environmental justice and ensure that it is carried out throughout the
Commonwealth, with a focus on environmental justice communities and fenceline communities."*? As previously recognized by the Commission, the
Commonwealth's policy on environmental justice is broad, including "the fair treatment and meaningful involvement of every person, regardless of race,
color, national origin, income, faith, or disability, regarding the development, implementation, or enforcement of any environmental law, regulation, or
policy."®

We agree with the Hearing Examiner that the Rebuild Projects do not appear to adversely impact the goals established by the VEJA.*
Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Dominion is authorized to construct and operate the Rebuild Projects as proposed in its Application, subject to the findings and conditions
imposed herein.

(2) Pursuant to 88 56-46.1, 56-265.2, and related provisions of Title 56 of the Code, the Company's request for approval of the necessary CPCNs
to construct and operate the Rebuild Projects is granted as provided for herein, subject to the requirements set forth herein.

(3) Pursuant to the Utility Facilities Act, § 56-265.1 et seq. of the Code, the Commission issues the following CPCNs to Dominion:

Certificate No. ET-DEV-CLN-2022-A which authorizes Virginia Electric and Power Company under the Utility Facilities Act to
operate certificated transmission lines and facilities in Caroline County, all as shown on the detailed map attached to the Certificate,
and to construct and operate facilities as authorized in Case No. PUR-2021-00082; Certificate No. ET-DEV-CLN-2022-A cancels
Certificate No. ET-DEV-CLN-2021-A issued to Virginia Electric and Power Company on February 11, 2021, in Case No.
PUR-2020-00080.

Certificate No. ET-DEV-HAN-2022-A which authorizes Virginia Electric and Power Company under the Utility Facilities Act to
operate certificated transmission lines and facilities in Hanover County, all as shown on the detailed map attached to the Certificate,
and to construct and operate facilities as authorized in Case No. PUR-2021-00082; Certificate No. ET-DEV-HAN-2022-A cancels
Certificate No. ET-85I issued to Virginia Electric and Power Company on December 22, 2014 in Case No. PUE-2014-00047.

(4) Within thirty (30) days from the date of this Final Order, the Company shall provide to the Commission's Division of Public Utility
Regulation an electronic map for each Certificate Number that shows the routing of the transmission lines approved herein. Maps shall be submitted to
Michael Cizenski, Deputy Director, Division of Public Utility Regulation, mike.cizenski@scc.virginia.gov.

(5) Upon receiving the maps directed in Ordering Paragraph (4), the Commission's Division of Public Utility Regulation forthwith shall provide
the Company copies of the CPCN issued in Ordering Paragraph (3) with the maps attached.

(6) The Rebuild Project approved herein must be constructed and in service by December 31, 2025. No later than 90 days before the in-service
date approved herein, except for good cause shown, the Company is granted leave to apply, and to provide the basis, for any extension request.

(7) This matter is dismissed.

42 Code § 2.2-235.

43 Code § 2.2-234. See also, e.g., Application of Appalachian Power Company, For approval and certification of the Central Virginia Transmission
Reliability Project under Title 56 of the Code of Virginia, Case No. PUR-2021 00001, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 210920108, Final Order at 14 (Sept. 9, 2021).

4 Report at 24.

CASE NO. PUR-2021-00083
MAY 13, 2022

PETITION OF
VIRGINIA ELECTRIC AND POWER COMPANY

For approval of a rate adjustment clause, designated Rider GT, under § 56-585.1 A 6 of the Code of Virginia
FINAL ORDER

On August 13, 2021, Virginia Electric and Power Company ("Dominion” or "Company") filed with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission") a petition ("Petition") for approval of a rate adjustment clause ("RAC"), designated Rider GT, pursuant to § 56-585.1 A 6 ("Subsection A
6") of the Code of Virginia ("Code") and the Commission's Rules Governing Utility Rate Case Applications and Annual Informational Filings of Investor-
Owned Electric Utilities, 20 VAC 5-204-5 et seq. Through its Petition, the Company seeks to recover projected and actual costs related to electric
distribution grid transformation projects that the Commission has approved as part of the Company's grid transformation plan ("GT Plan").*

1 Ex. 2 (Petition) at 1.
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In Case Nos. PUR-2018-00100% and PUR-2019-00154,% the Commission approved Dominion's GT Plan investments related to eleven projects in
years 2019, 2020, and 2021 ("Phase I").* Through its Petition, the Company seeks cost recovery for ten of these Phase | projects through a new RAC
designated Rider GT.® The projects include: (1) mainfeeder hardening, (2) targeted corridor improvement, (3) voltage island mitigation, (4) hosting capacity
analysis, (5) the Locks Campus Microgrid, (6) physical security, (7) the Smart Charging Infrastructure Pilot Program, (8) telecommunications, (9) cyber
security, and (10) customer education.®

On September 15, 2021, the Commission entered an Order for Notice and Hearing, which, among other things: established a procedural
schedule; required the Company to provide public notice of its Petition; afforded interested persons an opportunity to participate or file comments on the
Company's Petition; directed Commission Staff ("Staff") to investigate the Petition and file testimony and exhibits; scheduled a hearing to receive public
witness testimony; scheduled a public evidentiary hearing; and assigned the case to a Hearing Examiner to conduct all further proceedings in this matter on
behalf of the Commission and file a final report.

A notice of participation was filed by the Office of the Attorney General, Division of Consumer Counsel (“Consumer Counsel™) on
December 7, 2021. On February 22, 2022, Staff filed the testimonies and exhibits of its witnesses. On March 8, 2022, the Company filed rebuttal testimony.

On March 22, 2022, a hearing was convened to receive public witness testimony on the Company's Petition.” The evidentiary portion of the
hearing was held on March 23, 2022. Counsel for Dominion, Consumer Counsel, and Staff appeared at the hearing. Post-hearing briefs were subsequently
filed by Dominion, Consumer Counsel, and Staff on April 19, 2022. On April 26, 2022, the Senior Hearing Examiner filed the Report of Michael D.
Thomas, Senior Hearing Examiner ("Report™). On May 4, 2022, each participant in this case filed comments on the Report.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, adopts the findings and recommendations set forth in the Report, as discussed
herein.

The Commission has analyzed the Petition in accordance with the statutory standards applicable to this matter. In the 2018 and 2019 GT Plan
Final Orders, the Commission found that each approved project qualified as "electric grid transformation project” under Code § 56-576, as amended by the
Grid Transformation and Security Act ("GTSA").2 The Commission further found the costs associated therewith to be reasonable and prudent up to
maximum levels of investment (“'cost caps”), as identified in the 2018 and 2019 GT Plan Final Orders. Accordingly, the Commission finds Dominion may
recover such costs though a RAC as permitted by Subsection A 6 and that Rider GT should be approved for such recovery.

Incremental Costs of the Locks Campus Microgrid and Physical Security Projects

In approving the Phase | GT Plan projects, the Commission found that costs in excess of the cost caps "must be proven by Dominion in a future
proceeding to be reasonable and prudent before recovery thereof from ratepayers shall be permitted.”® While eight of the ten projects for which the
Company seeks cost recovery through Rider GT are progressing within the previously-approved cost caps, the Company has reported that two of the ten
projects—the Locks Campus Microgrid and physical security—have projected costs in excess of such cost caps.® The Company seeks approval herein of
these incremental costs and for recovery through Rider GT, arguing that these two projects remain reasonable and prudent to pursue at the higher cost.'*

Staff concluded that approval of the incremental costs for the Phase | Locks Campus Microgrid'? and physical security'® projects remains
consistent with the Commission's prior determination that these projects are reasonable and prudent.* We agree. We find that the Company has proven that
the projects remain reasonable and prudent with the addition of the incremental costs in excess of the cost caps. Accordingly, we find, under the facts of this
case, that the incremental costs for these two projects are reasonable and prudent and therefore appropriate for recovery through Rider GT.

2 Petition of Virginia Electric and Power Company, For approval of a plan for electric distribution grid transformation projects pursuant to § 56-585.1 A 6
of the Code of Virginia, Case No. PUR-2018-00100, 2019 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 234, Final Order (Jan. 17, 2019) ("2018 GT Plan Final Order").

3 Petition of Virginia Electric and Power Company, For approval of plan for electric distribution grid transformation projects pursuant to § 56-585.1 A 6 of
the Code of Virginia, and for approval of an addition to the terms and conditions applicable to electric service, Case No. PUR-2019-00154, 2020 S.C.C.
Ann. Rept. 318, Final Order (Mar. 26, 2020) (*2019 GT Plan Final Order").

4 EX. 2 (Petition) at 4.

°1d.

b 1d. Recovery of costs associated with the eleventh project approved as part of Phase I—the customer information platform—is not being sought by the
Company through this proceeding. Id.

" One public witness appeared at the hearing to testify. Tr. 4-5.

82018 Va. Acts ch. 296.

®2019 GT Plan Final Order, 2020 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 327.

10 Ex. 2 (Petition) at 5.

1 1d.; Ex. 3 (Johnson Direct) at 14, 16.

12 The incremental costs of the Locks Campus Microgrid are approximately $5.1 million. Ex. 3 (Johnson Direct) at Schedule 1.

13 The incremental costs of the Phase | physical security project are approximately $1.4 million. Ex. 3 (Johnson Direct) at Schedule 1; Ex. 8 (Cizenski
Direct) at Attachment 1 (Company's Response to Staff Interrogatory 5-33).

14 Ex. 8 (Cizenski Direct) at 7, 10.
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Cost Allocation Methodology

Two cost allocation methodologies for Rider GT were presented to the Commission in this proceeding. The Company bases its proposed cost
allocation methodology on a project-specific approach, wherein each individual Rider GT project is evaluated and then weighted in accordance with the
contribution of the costs of each project to the overall revenue requirement.’® Staff took no position on the Company's proposal, but presented an alternative
cost allocation methodology based on the premise that the GT Plan is intended to benefit the entire distribution system, in part, by enhancing reliability.

Regarding the Company's proposed cost allocation methodology, Consumer Counsel asserted that the costs of two Phase | projects—
telecommunications and cyber security—should be allocated to North Carolina customers, in addition to Virginia customers.’” In support of their assertion,
Consumer Counsel argues that these two projects benefit the reliability of the Company's entire distribution system; therefore, it would be more appropriate
to allocate those costs to both the Company's Virginia and North Carolina customers.’® In the Report, the Senior Hearing Examiner found that the Phase |
telecommunications and cyber security projects were constructed to serve Virginia customers; though some North Carolina customers may benefit from GT
Plan projects implemented in Virginia, this does not mean that the costs are incurred on behalf of those North Carolina customers.*

We find that the cost allocation methodology proposed by the Company is reasonable and supported by the evidence in the record.?’. Among
other things, the Company's proposed methodology provides flexibility to accommodate the multi-project nature of the GT Plan and assign the costs
associated therewith to the appropriate customer classes. We further find that, based on the record developed in this proceeding, the Company has
reasonably allocated the costs of the Phase | telecommunications and cyber security projects to its Virginia customers.?* We therefore approve the
Company's cost allocation methodology, as proposed, for Rider GT. We note, however, that our approval of the Company's methodology in this initial Rider
GT proceeding does not foreclose our consideration of an alternative cost allocation methodology in future proceedings and is without prejudice to either
Staff's or Consumer Counsel's proposals. We hereby direct the Company to continue evaluating its GT Plan projects to ensure that costs continue to be
appropriately allocated to Virginia customers.?

Rate Design

The Company proposes to utilize demand billing for non-residential Rate Schedules GS-2, GS-2T, GS-3, 6, 6TS, 8, 10, and GS-4 (Primary).
The Company further proposes the use of distribution demand units for billing Rider GT for these rate schedules.?* Staff did not oppose these proposals.?®
We approve the Company's use of demand-based billing determinants for Rate Schedules GS-2, GS-2T, GS-3, 6, 8, 10, and GS-4 (Primary).?

Revenue Requirement

Staff and the Company agree that the Rider GT revenue requirement would be $59.8 million if the Commission adopts the Company's cost
allocation methodology, as we have done herein.?” This amount would, however, exceed the amount publicly noticed by the Company of $55.527 million
for the Rate Year. We therefore will approve a revenue requirement of $55.527 million for Rider GT for the Rate Year.

15 Ex. 11 (Miller Rebuttal) at 2.

16 Ex. 7 (Blevins Direct) at 10-12; Tr. 82 (Blevins). Staff asserted that its proposal more closely matches the methodology approved by the Commission for
Rider U, Case No. PUE-2015-00114. Staff Post-Hearing Brief at 12-13.

17 Consumer Counsel Post-Hearing Brief at 7-14.
18 In this proceeding, the Company proposes to allocate the costs of one Phase | project—the hosting capacity analysis—to both Virginia and North Carolina
customers. Ex. 5 (Miller Direct) at 6. Consumer Counsel argues that the telecommunications and cyber security projects should be treated similarly as these

two projects will have system-wide benefits that are not limited to the Virginia side of the distribution system. Comments of Consumer Counsel at 7-8.

19 Report at 20, citing Tr. at 63, 92 (Miller). The Company noted that its cost allocation proposal is based on the nature of the costs (i.e., the customers on
whose behalf they were incurred not the nature of the benefits).

2 In making this finding, and contrary to Consumer Counsel's claim, the Commission has not shifted the burden onto Consumer Counsel but, rather, finds
that the Company has met its burden in this proceeding on cost allocation issues.

2d.

2 As cited by Consumer Counsel, the Company, in discussing the allocation of the Phase | hosting capacity project costs in part to North Carolina
customers, has represented that it "will evaluate projects each year to determine if any other projects contain costs whose recovery should include some
allocation to North Carolina customers." Ex. 5 (Miller Direct) at 6.

B Ex. 5 (Miller Direct) at 16-17.

2d.

% Ex. 7 (Blevins Direct) at 16-17.

% The Company also proposed to modify certain tariff language in non-residential Rate Schedules 6, 6TS, 8, and 10 to clarify the applicability of
demand-based rates in distribution-related riders, such as Rider GT. Ex. 5 (Miller Direct) at 18. Staff did not oppose the approval of such revisions to these
Rate Schedules. Staff Post-Hearing Brief at 15. We find that the Company's proposal to modify tariff language in Rate Schedules 6, 6TS, 8, and 10 is

reasonable and should be approved.

2T EX. 10 (Lee Rebuttal) at 3; Tr. 71 (Armstrong).
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In approving this request for a RAC, the Commission notes its awareness of the ongoing COVID-19 public health issues, which have had
negative economic effects that impact all utility customers. We are sensitive to the effects of rate increases, especially in times such as these. The
Commission, however, must follow the laws applicable to any rate case, as well as the findings of fact supported by the evidence in the record. This is what
we have done herein.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Rider GT, with a revenue requirement in the amount of $55.527 million, shall become effective for service rendered on and after
June 1, 2022.

(2) The Company forthwith shall file the Rider GT tariff and supporting workpapers, and any other necessary tariff revisions, with the Clerk of
the Commission and with the Commission's Divisions of Public Utility Regulation and Utility Accounting and Finance, as necessary to comply with the
directives set forth in this Final Order. The Clerk of the Commission shall retain such filing for public inspection in person and on the Commission's
website: scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

(3) On or before September 1, 2022, the Company shall file an application to revise Rider GT effective June 1, 2023.

(4) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. PUR-2021-00083
MAY 19, 2022

APPLICATION OF
VIRGINIA ELECTRIC AND POWER COMPANY

For approval of a rate adjustment clause, designated Rider GT, under § 56-585.1 A 6 of the Code of Virginia

ORDER NUNC PRO TUNC

On May 13, 2022, the Commission issued a Final Order in this matter. Among other things, page 6 of the Final Order lists specific rate schedules
for which the Commission approved the Company's use of demand-based billing determinants. Due to a clerical error, Schedule 6TS was inadvertently
omitted from that list of rate schedules.

Accordingly, the Commission finds the Final Order should be corrected to include Schedule 6TS in such list, nunc pro tunc.

Accordingly, IT IS SO ORDERED.

CASE NO. PUR-2021-00085
OCTOBER 7, 2022

APPLICATION OF AXTON SOLAR, LLC

For certificates of public convenience and necessity for a nominal 201.1 megawatt solar generating facility located in Henry and Pittsylvania
Counties

EINAL ORDER

On March 31, 2022, Axton Solar, LLC ("Axton Solar" or "Company"), filed with the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) an
amended application for approval to construct and operate a nominal 201.1 megawatt ("MW") solar generating facility in Henry and Pittsylvania Counties,
Virginia ("Amended Application™).! Axton filed its Amended Application pursuant to §§ 56-46.1 and 56-580 D of the Code of Virginia ("Code") and the
Commission's Filing Requirements in Support of Applications for Authority to Construct and Operate an Electric Generating Facility.?

Axton Solar seeks to construct a solar generating facility, totaling up to 201.1 MW (the "Solar Generating Facility"). In addition, Axton Solar
seeks to construct the necessary interconnection facilities (“Interconnection Facilities"), consisting of underground 34.5 kilovolt ("kV") collector lines, a
collector substation ("Collector Substation™), a 138 kV switching station ("Switching Station"), and a 138 kV generation-tie line ("Gen-Tie Line") (the "Solar
Generating Facility" and the "Interconnection Facilities" are collectively referred to as the "Project”). Axton Solar states that construction is scheduled to
begin for the Project in January 2023, and commercial operation is anticipated in December 2023.3

1 Axton Solar filed its initial application on April 28, 2021. Axton Solar subsequently amended its initial application to address certain changes in its
proposal.

220 VAC 5-302-10 et seq.

3 Ex. 2 (Amended Application) at Appendix 2, pp. 2-3.
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According to Axton Solar, the Project would be constructed on approximately 3,000 acres in western Pittsylvania County and eastern Henry
County, of which approximately 1,218 acres will be used for the Solar Generating Facility.* The Project is located in a rural area on land consisting
primarily of cleared forest and timber land and agricultural land.> The Pittsylvania County portion of the Project consists of approximately 1,398 acres of
privately-owned property, approximately 748 acres of which would be disturbed to develop the Project.® The Henry County portion of the Project consists
of approximately 1,642 acres of privately-owned property, of which approximately 565 acres would be used for the Project.” The Project also includes
right-of-way ("ROW") easements contained within the footprint of the Project which are necessary to connect the non-contiguous parcels.®

Axton Solar states that the Project will use photovoltaic ("PV") electric generation system technology producing solar energy, including inverters
and an on-site Collector Substation.® The Project will have a rated generation capacity of 201.1 MW and would consist of approximately 421,652 PV
modules fitted on single axis solar trackers.'®

According to the Company, the Project would operate, at a minimum, for the life of a long-term power purchase agreement ("PPA").}t The
Company states that the initial term of the PPA for the Project is anticipated to be 15 years with additional terms possible.?? The Company represents that
the lifespan of the Project equipment is estimated to be 40 years.*® According to Axton Solar, the Project would interconnect with the American Electric
Power transmission system via a new Switching Station cut into the Axton to Danville No. 1 138 kV circuit.!4

Axton Solar asserts that "there will be minimal environmental impacts associated with the Project."'> Axton Solar further asserts that it "will
comply with all necessary conditions imposed by the regulatory agencies with regulatory responsibilities for all environmental aspects of the Project to
ensure protection of public health and the environment."6

Axton Solar asserts that, as required by § 56-580 D of the Code, the Project is not contrary to the public interest.*” Further, the Company asserts
that the Project will promote the public interest by providing economic benefits to Pittsylvania and Henry Counties and the surrounding area.'® Axton Solar
represents that the Project will have no material adverse effect on the reliability of electric service provided by any regulated public utility and that only
relatively minor upgrades to the electric transmission system are required as a result of the Project.*

Axton Solar states that it is not a regulated utility, so the business risk associated with the Project will be borne solely by the Company, with no
impact on the rates paid by the ratepayers in Virginia.® The Company further states that the Project will enhance the competitive market for wholesale
electricity in the region by offering generation that will not be owned by an incumbent electric utility, minimize any adverse environmental impacts, and
advance the goals of the Commonwealth by increasing in-state energy production to meet in-state demand with renewable generation sources.?

41d. at 2.

® EX. 3 (Lopez Direct) at 3.
6 Ex. 2 (Amended Application) at 3.
"1d. at 2.

81d. at 4.

°1d. at 5.

0 d. at 5-6.

1d. at 9.

24,

Bd.

#1d. at 7.

®1d. at 9.

% 1d.

71d. at 11.

8 1d.

¥d.

21,

2 EX. 3 (Lopez Direct) at 8-9.
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On April 15, 2022, the Senior Hearing Examiner entered a procedural ruling in this proceeding, which, among other things, directed Axton Solar
to provide notice of its Amended Application, provided interested persons the opportunity to comment or participate in the proceeding, directed the Staff to
investigate the Amended Application, and scheduled an evidentiary hearing. Henry County filed a notice of participation on June 7, 2022.2

Staff requested the Department of Environmental Quality ("DEQ") to coordinate an environmental review of the Project by the appropriate
agencies and to provide a report on the review. On June 2, 2022, DEQ filed its report ("DEQ Report"), which included a Wetlands Impact Consultation
prepared by DEQ.? The DEQ Report provides general recommendations for the Commission's consideration that are in addition to any requirements of
federal, state, or local law. Specifically, the DEQ Report contains the following Summary of Recommendations regarding the Project. According to the
DEQ Report, the Company should:

1. Follow DEQ's general recommendations concerning potential surface water impacts.

2. Reduce solid waste at the source, reuse it and recycle it to the maximum extent practicable, as applicable.

3. Coordinate with the Department of Conservation and Recreation's Division of Natural Heritage to obtain an update on natural heritage
information if the scope of the Project changes and/or six months has passed before it is utilized and regarding its recommendations related

to invasive species management, native species planting, and minimizing fragmentation.

4. Coordinate with the Department of Wildlife Resources regarding its recommendation to follow the Solar Energy Facility Guidance, as
applicable, as well as the recommendations to protect the Northern Long-eared Bat species.

5. Coordinate with the Department of Historic Resources ("DHR") regarding its comments related to the Phase 1 Architectural Survey and
Phase 1 Archaeological Survey, including justification for un-surveyed portions of the Project, and the need for impacts assessment on some
of the identified resources.

6. Coordinate with the local Virginia Department of Transportation Residency office to develop an appropriate work zone plan for the Project.

7. Coordinate with the Department of Health regarding its recommendations to protect public drinking water sources and water utility
infrastructure.

o]

. Contact the Virginia Outdoors Foundation, as necessary, regarding its recommendation to coordinate further if the Project area changes or if
the Project does not begin within 24 months.

9. Follow the principles and practices of pollution prevention to the maximum extent practicable.
10. Limit the use of pesticides and herbicides to the extent practicable.

11. Coordinate with the Department of Forestry ("DOF") regarding its recommendation to develop specific plans to avoid, mitigate, or offset
impacts on forests.?*

On June 29, 2022, Staff filed the testimony of two witnesses and an accompanying Staff Report. Staff concluded that the Amended Application
supports a finding that the Solar Generating Facility and the Interconnection Facilities, if constructed as proposed, would have no material adverse effect on
the reliability of electric service provided by any regulated utility in the Commonwealth and are not otherwise contrary to the public interest.?®

On July 11, 2022, the Company filed rebuttal testimony. In its rebuttal testimony, the Company responded to DOF's comments in the DEQ
Report regarding impacts of the Project on local forests.?® Axton Solar confirmed that it avoided approximately 23% of potential impacts to Very High or
Outstanding Conservation Value timber by reconfiguring the Project within the boundaries and scope of the design.?’ The Company also addressed feedback
from DHR and provided DHR with a revised Phase 1 Archaeological Survey.?®

22 In its notice of participation, Henry County stated, among other things, that its interest in this proceeding is to protect the health and welfare of residents
and landowners in Henry County and specifically to ensure that the construction and operation of all solar dependent electrical generation facilities within
the borders of Henry County are consistent with all land use ordinances, zoning ordinances, and other ordinances adopted by the Henry County Board of
Supervisors and interpreted and enforced by the Henry County Planning Commission and the Henry County Board of Zoning Appeals. Henry County
requests that, if any certificate of public convenience and necessity is issued, it be issued with the contingency that no facility may be constructed or operated
without the issuance of, and complete compliance with, a Special Use Permit pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Henry County Code of Ordinances.

2 EX. 7 (DEQ Report).

2 EX. 7 (DEQ Report) at 5-6.

% Ex. 5 (Ricketts Direct) at 13; Ex. 6 (deLedn Direct) at Staff Report, p. 17.

% EX. 4 (Lopez Rebuttal) at 5-7. The Company noted that it also received additional scoping comments from DOF on July 6, 2022.

27 1d. Axton Solar also confirmed that it will maintain existing vegetation that provides buffering for the reconfigured Project and stated that it will plant
additional buffer to screen the Project. Id. at 7.

2 d. at 8-9.
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The Senior Hearing Examiner convened the evidentiary hearing on August 2, 2022.2° Axton Solar and Staff participated at the hearing.>® The
Commission received eight written comments concerning the Amended Application. At the hearing, the Company addressed concerns raised in written
comments and confirmed, among other things, that the Company is working with Henry and Pittsylvania Counties regarding permitting and
decommissioning plans.®

On August 22, 2022, the Report of Michael D. Thomas, Senior Hearing Examiner (“Report") was issued. In his Report, the Senior Hearing
Examiner recommended that the Commission authorize the Company to construct and operate the Project, subject to the findings, recommendations, and
conditions included in the Report. The Senior Hearing Examiner specifically recommends that the Commission should issue three certificates of public
convenience and necessity ("CPCN") for the Project, which should include: a CPCN for the Solar Generating Facility; a CPCN for the 34.5 kV collector
lines; and a CPCN for the Collector Substation, 138 kV Gen-Tie Line, and the Switching Station.*

Axton Solar and Staff filed comments supporting the findings and recommendations set forth in the Report.

NOW THE COMMISSION, having considered this matter, is of the opinion and finds as follows:

Code of Virginia
Section 56-580 D of the Code provides in part:

The Commission shall permit the construction and operation of electrical generating facilities in Virginia upon a finding
that such generating facility and associated facilities (i) will have no material adverse effect upon reliability of electric
service provided by any regulated public utility, . .. and (iii) are not otherwise contrary to the public interest.

Further, with regard to generating facilities, § 56-580 D of the Code directs that "the Commission shall give consideration to the effect of the
facility and associated facilities on the environment and establish such conditions as may be desirable or necessary to minimize adverse environmental
impact as provided in § 56-46.1 . ..." Section 56-46.1 A of the Code provides in part:

Whenever the Commission is required to approve the construction of any electrical utility facility, it shall give
consideration to the effect of that facility on the environment and establish such conditions as may be desirable or
necessary to minimize adverse environmental impact. . . . In every proceeding under this subsection, the Commission shall
receive and give consideration to all reports that relate to the proposed facility by state agencies concerned with
environmental protection; and if requested by any county or municipality in which the facility is proposed to be built, to
local comprehensive plans that have been adopted pursuant to Article 3 (§ 15.2-2223 et seq.) of Chapter 22 of Title 15.2.

Subsection 56-46.1 A also provides:

In order to avoid duplication of governmental activities, any valid permit or approval required for an electric generating
plant and associated facilities issued or granted by a federal, state or local governmental entity charged by law with
responsibility for issuing permits or approvals regulating environmental impact and mitigation of adverse environmental
impact or for other specific public interest issues such as building codes, transportation plans, and public safety, whether
such permit or approval is granted prior to or after the Commission's decision, shall be deemed to satisfy the requirements
of this section with respect to all matters that (i) are governed by the permit or approval or (ii) are within the authority of,
and were considered by, the governmental entity in issuing such permit or approval, and the Commission shall impose no
additional conditions with respect to such matters.

Section 56-580 D of the Code contains language that is nearly identical to the language set forth in Code § 56-46.1 A.

The Code also directs the Commission to consider the effect of a proposed project on economic development in Virginia. Section 56-46.1 A of
the Code states in part:

Additionally, the Commission (a) shall consider the effect of the proposed facility on economic development within the
Commonwealth, including but not limited to furtherance of the economic and job creation objectives of the
Commonwealth Clean Energy Policy set forth in § 45.2-1706.1, and (b) shall consider any improvements in service
reliability that may result from the construction of such facility.

Similarly, § 56-596 A of the Code provides that "[i]n all relevant proceedings pursuant to [the Virginia Electric Utility Regulation] Act, the
Commission shall take into consideration, among other things, the goal of economic development in the Commonwealth.”

As relates to transmission facilities, Section 56-46.1 B of the Code states in part:
[N]o electrical transmission line of 138 kilovolts or more shall be constructed unless the State Corporation Commission

shall, after at least 30 days' advance notice by (i) publication in a newspaper or newspapers of general circulation in the
counties and municipalities through which the line is proposed to be built, (ii) written notice to the governing body of each

2 The public witness hearing scheduled for August 1, 2022, was cancelled because no one signed up to testify.
% The Senior Hearing Examiner excused Henry County from participating at the hearing at the County's request. Tr. 7.
31 Axton Solar also presented testimony at the hearing to answer additional questions from the Senior Hearing Examiner.

%2 Report at 1, n.1 and 25.
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such county and municipality, and (iii) causing to be sent a copy of the notice by first class mail to all owners of property
within the route of the proposed line, as indicated on the map or sketch of the route filed with the Commission, which
requirement shall be satisfied by mailing the notice to such persons at such addresses as are indicated in the land books
maintained by the commissioner of revenue, director of finance or treasurer of the county or municipality, approve such
line. Such notices shall include a written description of the proposed route the line is to follow, as well as a map or sketch
of the route including a digital geographic information system (GIS) map provided by the public utility showing the
location of the proposed route. The Commission shall make GIS maps provided under this subsection available to the
public on the Commission's website.

As a condition to approval the Commission shall determine that the line is needed and that the corridor or route chosen for
the line will avoid or reasonably minimize adverse impact to the greatest extent reasonably practicable on the scenic assets,
historic resources recorded with the Department of Historic Resources, and environment of the area concerned.

In addition, Code § 56-265.2 A provides in part:

[17t shall be unlawful for any public utility to construct, enlarge or acquire, by lease or otherwise, any facilities for use in
public utility service, except ordinary extensions or improvements in the usual course of business, without first having
obtained a certificate from the Commission that the public convenience and necessity require the exercise of such right or
privilege . . . . The certificate for overhead electrical transmission lines of 138 kilovolts or more shall be issued by the
Commission only after compliance with the provisions of § 56-46.1.

Reliability

We agree with the Senior Hearing Examiner and find that this Project will have no material adverse effect on the reliability of electric service
provided by any regulated utility in Virginia.®® The Senior Hearing Examiner noted that the Project has undergone an electric reliability analysis under
PIJM's** process for generator interconnection to interconnect with PIM's and Appalachian Power Company's transmission systems.** The Company
included with its Amended Application the PIM Generation Interconnection System Impact Study Report showing that the Project would have no material
adverse effect upon the reliability of electric service provided by a regulated utility, contingent upon the construction of the identified upgrades.®*® We
therefore condition the three CPCNs granted to Axton Solar herein on the Company's payment of the cost of the required upgrades.

Rights-of-Way/Routing

The Project includes ROW easements contained within the footprint of the Project which are necessary to connect the non-contiguous parcels.>”
We agree with the Senior Hearing Examiner that the record supports, among other things, a finding that: (i) the Gen-Tie Line is needed to connect the
Collector Substation with the Switching Station; (ii) the Gen-Tie Line will be approximately 0.01-mile in length and will run directly between the Collector
Substation and the Switching Station; (iii) the Gen-Tie Line will cross a parcel of land that is subject to an existing purchase option, as well as an easement
for the entire ROW; and (iv) the Gen-Tie Line likely will not have a material adverse impact on any scenic assets, historic resources, or the environment.

Economic Development

We further agree with the Senior Hearing Examiner and find that the Project will have a positive impact on economic development in Henry and
Pittsylvania Counties, and the Commonwealth generally.®* The Project is estimated to create approximately 350 temporary construction jobs in Henry and
Pittsylvania Counties, and the surrounding area, and is anticipated to support 1 to 3 full time jobs once the Project is operational .’ In addition, the Project
will result in direct and indirect spending from local merchants and will increase the tax base in Henry and Pittsylvania Counties and the Commonwealth.*!

33 Report at 19.

3 PJM Interconnection, LLC.

% Report at 18. As part of the PIM interconnection process, electric reliability studies were performed to analyze the impact of the Project on the PIM
system and to identify required upgrades that would mitigate any potential adverse impacts related to the interconnection. 1d. Under PIM's Open Access
Transmission Tariff, Axton Solar is obligated to pay the full cost of any required upgrades. 1d.; Ex. 6 (deLedn Direct) at Staff Report, p. 12.

% Ex. 2 (Amended Application) at Exhibit E.

57 1d. at 4; Ex. 6 (deLeon Direct) at Staff Report, p. 9.

3 Report at 19-20.

¥ 1d. at 20.

40 See Ex. 3 (Lopez Direct) at 7; Report at 20.

41 Report at 20.
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Environmental Impact

The statutes direct that the Commission "shall give consideration to the effect of that facility on the environment and establish such conditions as
may be desirable or necessary to minimize adverse environmental impact."*? As noted above, DEQ coordinated an environmental review of the Project and
submitted a DEQ Report that, among other things, sets forth recommendations for the Project.*®

We agree with the Senior Hearing Examiner that Axton Solar reasonably responded to the comments of DOF and DHR included in the DEQ
Report.** We further agree that the 11 recommendations included in the DEQ Report should be included as conditions in the CPCNs issued, and also that the
Company should be required to obtain all environmental permits and approvals that are necessary to construct and operate the Project.> Accordingly, the
CPCNs granted herein are conditioned upon Axton Solar obtaining all such permits and approvals.

Local Permits

We agree with the Senior Hearing Examiner that the Company should be required to obtain from Henry County any Special Use Permit required
for the entire Project area located in that County pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Henry County Code of Ordinances.”® The CPCNs granted herein are
conditioned on the Company obtaining all necessary permits, including any such permit required by Henry County.

Environmental Justice

The Company submitted an Environmental Justice Project Review with its Amended Application.#” The analysis concluded that the Project is not
anticipated to have any significant impact on low-income communities, fenceline communities, and/or communities of color near the Project area.*® We
agree with the Senior Hearing Examiner that the Company reasonably considered the requirements of the Virginia Environmental Justice Act® in its
Amended Application.®

Public Interest

We agree with the Senior Hearing Examiner and find that the Solar Generating Facility and Interconnection Facilities are not otherwise contrary
to the public interest, provided that the conditions identified by the Senior Hearing Examiner are placed on the CPCNs granted.>!

Among other things, the record in this case establishes that: (i) the Project will provide economic benefits to Henry and Pittsylvania Counties and
the surrounding area in terms of temporary and permanent employment, increased local property taxes, and increasing the overall tax base in the
Commonwealth; (ii) the Project requires no additional fuel or fuel transportation; (iii) the Project will be constructed and operated in a manner that
minimizes any adverse environmental impact; (iv) Axton Solar bears the entire business risk for developing and operating the Project; (v) the Project will
enhance the competitive market for wholesale electricity in Virginia by offering generation that is not owned by an incumbent electric utility; (vi) the Project
promotes the goals set out in the Virginia Energy Plan and Virginia Clean Economy Act; (vii) the Project can help reduce Virginia's reliance on imported
energy while achieving growth in renewable generation; and (viii) the Project may attract other business development in Virginia.>

Sunset Provision
The Senior Hearing Examiner recommended, and we agree, that Axton Solar's CPCNs should be conditioned on a five-year sunset provision.>

Consequently, the CPCNs granted herein shall expire five years from the date of this Final Order if Project construction has not commenced.>* Axton Solar
may subsequently petition the Commission for an extension of this sunset provision for good cause shown.

42 Code §56-46.1 A. See also Code § 56-580 D (stating that "the Commission shall give consideration to the effect of the facility and associated facilities on
the environment and establish such conditions as may be desirable or necessary to minimize adverse environmental impact as provided in § 56-46.1 . . .").

43 Ex. 7 (DEQ Report) at 5-6.
4 Report at 24.

4 1d. at 24-25. Axton Solar also noted its support for the Senior Hearing Examiner's recommendation that Axton be required to obtain all necessary
environmental permits and approvals. Comments of Axton Solar, LLC on the Hearing Examiner's Report at 1-2.

6 Report at 25.

47 Ex. 2 (Amended Application) at Exhibit D, pp. 116-53.

8 1d. at p. 33; Report at 22-23.

49 Code § 2.2-234 et seq.

% See Report at 23.

S11d. at 19, 24-25.

52 1d. at 19; Ex. 2 (Amended Application) at Appendix 1, pp. 8-9; Ex. 3 (Lopez Direct) at 8-9; Ex. 5 (Ricketts Direct) at 12-13.

%3 Report at 23-24, 25. Staff recommended that a sunset provision of five years from the date of a final order be attached to any CPCN issued in this case.
Ex. 5 (Ricketts Direct) at 13-14. Axton Solar did not object to a five-year sunset provision. Ex. 4 (Lopez Rebuttal) at 3-4.

% Report at 23-24, 25.
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Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Subject to the findings and requirements set forth in this Final Order, Axton Solar is granted the following CPCNs to construct and operate
the Project:
e  Axton Solar, LLC: Generation Certificate No. EG-AXTN-HRY/PIT-2022-A

. Axton Solar, LLC: Distribution Certificate No. ED-AXTN-HRY/PIT-2022-A
. Axton Solar, LLC: Transmission Certificate No. ET-AXTN-HRY/PIT-2022-A

(2) The Company shall forthwith work with Staff to file electronic maps of the Solar Generating Facility and Interconnection Facilities for
certification. The electronic maps shall include the boundaries of the Solar Generating Facility; the utility point of interconnection; county designations;
geographic identifiers (road names, waterways, etc.); and the Global Positioning System coordinates of the Solar Generating Facility. The electronic maps
shall be submitted to Michael Cizenski, Deputy Director, Division of Public Utility Regulation, by email at mike.cizenski@scc.virginia.gov.

(3) The Company shall file copies of all Project-related Construction Service Agreements and Interconnection Service Agreements with the
Commission within 60 days after execution of such agreements.

(4) The Company shall file for amended CPCNs from the Commission if there is a change in the proposed route of the Interconnection Facilities.

(5) Should the Company experience any changes in corporate ownership prior to the commercial operations date of the Project, it shall advise the
Commission's Division of Public Utility Regulation forthwith.

(6) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. PUR-2021-00090
APRIL 15, 2022

PETITION OF
VIRGINIA-AMERICAN WATER COMPANY

For authority to acquire utility assets at fair market value pursuant to the Utility Transfers Act, Va. Code § 56-88 et seqg. and
20 VAC 5-210-10 et eq. and for a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity pursuant to the Utility Facilities Act, Va. Code § 56-265.3

EINAL ORDER

On June 24, 2021, Virginia-American Water Company (“"VAWC" or "Company") filed with the State Corporation Commission ("Commission")
a petition ("Petition™)! (i) for authority to acquire utility assets at fair market value ("FMV") pursuant to the Utility Transfers Act? and the Commission's
Rules for Water or Wastewater Utility Applications Seeking Fair Valuation of Acquisitions of Municipal Water or Wastewater Systems,® and (ii) for
amendment of VAWC's certificate of public convenience and necessity ("CPCN") pursuant to Code § 56-265.3.%

Through its Petition, the Company seeks to purchase the Town of Waverly's ("Waverly") water system ("Waverly System") for the lesser of $2.5
million or the FMV, so long as the FMV is more than $1.9 million.> Per VAWC, upon approval by the Commission, the Company will "acquire
substantially all of the assets that constitute or are used in furtherance of the water treatment facilities and distribution system owned and operated by

[Waverly]."®

According to the Petition, the Waverly System is old, in need of repair and, as a result of various expansions, has a number of dead-end lines
which have created reliability problems.” VAWC states that the Company (including its predecessors) has over 100 years of water system operation
experience® and can provide, among other things, water research and compliance efforts, dedicated enterprise-wide water quality teams, customer service,
and around-the-clock emergency response seven days a week.®

! The "Petition," as used herein, encompasses the Company's supplements filed July 28 and August 10, 2021, as discussed further infra.
2 Section 56-88 et seq. of the Code of Virginia ("Code").

320 VAC 5-210-10 et seq. ("FMV Rules").

4 Ex. 2 (Petition) at 1.

51d. at 5.

61d. at 1.

71d. at 2-3.

81d. at 3.

°1d. at 3-4.
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VAWC states that all of the assets that constitute the Waverly System are currently used and useful and are intended to remain that way following
the Company's acquisition.’® The Asset Purchase Agreement dictates that VAWC will purchase the Waverly System assets at the lesser of $2.5 million or
the FMV of the water system as determined under Virginia law and the FMV Rules,*! so long as the FMV of the system is more than $1.9 million.}? VAWC
requests that the Commission determine that the Company's initial rate base for the acquired water system be set as prescribed in 20 VAC 5-210-30 B.** The
Company also states that VAWC will maintain the current rates for Waverly's legacy customers' water service for two years, after which the Company
anticipates proposing to move rates for the Waverly System toward the Company's Hopewell District consolidated rate structure.!* VAWC currently
estimates rates for Waverly customers are anticipated to increase approximately 30% for most customers over the five-year period following closing of the
transaction.’

In addition to VAWC's asset transfer request pursuant to Code § 56-89,¢ the Company requests amendment of its CPCN, Certificate No. W-328,
pursuant to Code § 56-265.3 D, to include the Waverly System.*’

On July 8, 2021, the Commission's Staff ("Staff") filed in this docket a Deficiency Letter pursuant to FMV Rule 20 C, notifying VAWC of
numerous deficiencies in the Company's filing.® On July 28 and August 10, 2021, VAWC supplemented its Petition. On August 11, 2021, the Staff filed a
Response Letter notifying the Company that the supplements cured the previously identified deficiencies and that the Staff considered the Company's case to
now be filed pursuant to the FMV Rules.

On August 25, 2021, the Commission issued an Order for Notice and Hearing in this case that, among other things, docketed the Petition;
scheduled a public hearing on the Petition; required VAWC to publish notice of its Petition; gave interested persons the opportunity to comment on, or
participate in, the case; and appointed a Hearing Examiner to conduct all further proceedings in this matter on behalf of the Commission.*®

The Commission did not receive any written comments in this case. On November 5, 2021, Aqua Virginia, Inc. ("Aqua"), filed the Motion of
Aqua Virginia, Inc., to Accept Late-Filed Notice of Participation and accompanying Notice of Participation.?’ No other notices of participation were filed.
On January 11, 2022, Staff filed testimony. On February 1, 2022, the Company filed rebuttal testimony.

On February 17, 2022, VAWC and Staff filed a Joint Motion to Accept Stipulation (*Joint Motion") with an attached Stipulation. Aqua, the only
respondent in the case, was not a signatory to the Stipulation, but did not object to the Stipulation.?* The proposed Stipulation provided in relevant part that:

(1) The record supports approval of [VAWC's] acquisition of the [Waverly System] pursuant to Chapter 5 of Title 56 of the Code of
Virginia.

(2) [VAWC] and the Staff stipulate to a [FMV] of the Waverly System of $2,150,000. Such resolution shall have no precedential
value with regard to the weighting of appraisals.

(3) The rate base for the Waverly System will consist of the FMV stipulated to in Paragraph (2) plus the final costs, as provided in
20VAC5-210-30 B, incurred in connection with the acquisition of the Waverly System. To the extent the final purchase price
paid by [VAWC] for the Waverly System exceeds the FMV stipulated to in Paragraph (2), any additional amount paid above such
FMV will not be included in rate base.

(4) AWC, Commission Staff and other interested stakeholders will hold a roundtable to discuss, without limitation: (1) the inclusion
of any cost studies, including Replacement Cost New Less Depreciation studies, and how they will be presented in future FMV
applications; and (2) the number of customers (and how a customer is defined) that will result in the applicant utilizing separate
consultants for the required engineering report and appraisal.

0 1d. at 4. VAWC notes that only Well No. 1, which was previously decommissioned in place, will not be used by the Company, and no value has been
assigned to Well No. 1 in the transaction. Id.

11 Code § 56-90.2 ("FMV Statute™) and 20 VAC 5-210-10 et seq.
12 Ex, 2 (Petition) at 5.

3B d.

141d. at 6, Attached Exhibit B at 2.

15 1d., Attached Exhibit B at 2-3.

% 1d. at 6.

1d. at7

18 per 20 VAC 5-210-20 C, "An application filed pursuant to this chapter shall not be deemed filed pursuant to Chapter 5 (§ 56-88 et seq.) of Title 56 of the
Code of Virginia unless it is in full compliance with this chapter.”

1 VVAWC filed Proof of Service on October 15, 2021.
2 Aqua's Motion was subsequently granted by the Chief Hearing Examiner. Report of Alexander F. Skirpan, Jr., Chief Hearing Examiner ("Report™) at 2.

2 Report at 20; Tr. 9-11.



248
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STATE CORPORATION COMMISSION

(5) [VAWC] will charge all unmetered jurisdictional customers served by the Waverly System the applicable minimum charge under
the Town's current rates until such time as a meter is installed for that customer.

(6) [VAWC] will include any unmetered non-jurisdictional customers in future jurisdictional cost of service studies.
(7) [VAWC] will discontinue both the fixed and volumetric out-of-town premiums as of the date of transfer.

(8) Itis in the public interest to amend [VAWC's] Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity No. W-328 to include the Waverly
System.

(9) The Stipulating Participants agree this Stipulation represents a compromise for purposes of settlement of this case and for
resolution of the issues raised in this proceeding and has no precedential effect to any party's position in future cases. None of the
signatories to this Stipulation necessarily agree with the treatment of any particular item, any procedure followed, or the resolution
of any particular issue in agreement to this Stipulation other than as specified herein, except that the Stipulating Participants agree
that the resolution of the issues herein, taken as a whole, and the disposition of all other matters set forth in this Stipulation are in
the public interest. This Stipulation is conditioned upon and subject to acceptance by the Commission and is non-severable and of
no force and may not be used for any other purpose unless accepted in its entirety by the Commission. . 22

On February 22, 2022, the Chief Hearing Examiner convened an evidentiary hearing, as scheduled, by virtual means, due to the ongoing public
health issues related to the spread of the coronavirus, or COVID-19, with no party present in the Commission's courtroom. The Company, Aqua, and Staff
participated in the evidentiary hearing. No public witnesses appeared to testify at the hearing.?®

On March 3, 2022, the Chief Hearing Examiner filed his Report in this matter. In his Report, the Chief Hearing Examiner found that, based on
the resolution of issues by stipulation and the lack of any objection thereto, the Joint Motion to Accept Stipulation should be granted, and the Stipulation
should be approved by the Commission.?* Accordingly, the Chief Hearing Examiner recommended that the Commission enter an Order that adopts the
findings in the Report and dismisses the case.?

On March 10, 2022, VAWC filed its letter serving as comments to the Report supporting the recommendation to approve the Stipulation and
requesting the Commission issue an order in this proceeding expeditiously to provide the Company the necessary approvals so that it may proceed with the
acquisition of the Waverly water system as soon as possible.?®

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of the matter, is of the opinion and finds that the findings and recommendations of the Chief
Hearing Examiner should be adopted. Subject to the requirements of the Stipulation, we find that the proposed transfer meets the statutory standard under
the Utility Transfers Act and the FMV Statute, consistent with the provisions of the FMV Rules. We further find that the Stipulation is just, reasonable and
in the public interest, and should be approved.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) The findings and recommendations set forth in the Report are hereby adopted.

(2) The Stipulation is hereby approved.

(3) Pursuant to Code 8§ 56-89, 56-90.2 and 56-265.3, and subject to each of the requirements outlined in the Stipulation, VAWC is hereby
granted approval of the transfer of all of Waverly's assets required to provide water production and distribution service in and around the Town of Waverly,

Sussex County, Virginia.

(4) VAWC's Certificate No. W-328, which authorizes VAWC to operate in the Cities of Hopewell and Alexandria, the Counties of Essex, King
William, Northumberland, Lancaster, Prince William, and Westmoreland, and portions of Prince George County, Virginia is hereby cancelled.

(5) VAWC is granted an amended certificate (Certificate No. W-328a) authorizing it to operate in the Town of Waverly, Virginia, in addition to
the Cities of Hopewell and Alexandria, the Counties of Essex, King William, Northumberland, Lancaster, Prince William, and Westmoreland, and portions
of Prince George County, Virginia, subject to the provisions of this Order and all applicable provisions of the Code.

(6) To the extent not already in place, VAWC shall obtain and maintain all permits, certifications, and licenses to operate the Wavery System,
including permits from the Virginia Department of Health and the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality.

(7) Within ninety (90) days of completing the transfer of assets, VAWC shall file a Report of Action with the Commission, including the date of
the transfer and the actual total consideration (including the purchase price and a list of the assumed liabilities, if any).

(8) In such Report of Action, VAWC shall provide a list by account and amount reflecting: (1) the allocation of the FMV; (2) final costs, as
provided in 20 VAC 5-210-30-B, incurred in connection with the acquisition of the Waverly System; and (3) amounts paid in excess of FMV.

22 Ex. 13 (Stipulation) at 1-3.
2 Report at 2.

2 Report at 25.

.

% \VAWC letter dated March 10, 2022, at 1.
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(9) The Commission's asset and certification transfer approvals are contingent upon the closure of the Wavery Water System sale pursuant to the
terms and conditions ("Terms") of the agreement reviewed by this Commission and the resulting Stipulation thereon. No changes to the Terms shall be
made before or at closing, without prior Commission approval.

(10) VAWC shall file a map to include the Town of Waverly, in Sussex County, Virginia with the Commission's Division of Public Utility
Regulation within thirty (30) days from the date of this Final Order.

(11) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. PUR-2021-00090
MAY 5, 2022

PETITION OF
VIRGINIA-AMERICAN WATER COMPANY

For authority to acquire utility assets at fair market value pursuant to the Utility Transfers Act, Va. Code § 56-88 et seq. and
20 VAC 5-210-10 et seq. and for a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity pursuant to the Utility Facilities Act, Va. Code § 56-265.3

ORDER GRANTING RECONSIDERATION

On April 15, 2022, the State Corporation Commission ("Commission") issued a Final Order in this docket. On May 2, 2022, the Company filed a
Request for Clarification, Approval, and Expedited Consideration ("Request").

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration hereof, grants reconsideration for the purpose of continuing jurisdiction over this matter and
considering the Request. The Final Order is hereby suspended pending the Commission's consideration of the Request.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) Reconsideration is granted for the purpose of continuing jurisdiction over this matter and considering the Request.
(2) Pending the Commission's reconsideration, the Final Order is suspended.

(3) This matter is continued generally.

! Though labeled a "request” and filed pursuant to 5 VAC 5-20-110, the Request asks the Commission to clarify its Final Order, or, alternatively, to grant
additional approvals. Request at 3-4. Accordingly, the Commission will treat the "request™ as a "petition" pursuant to 5 VAC 5-20-220.

CASE NO. PUR-2021-00090
MAY 10, 2022

PETITION OF
VIRGINIA-AMERICAN WATER COMPANY

For authority to acquire utility assets at fair market value pursuant to the Utility Transfers Act, Va. Code § 56-88 et seq. and
20 VAC 5-210-10 et seq. and for a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity pursuant to the Utility Facilities Act, Va. Code § 56-265.3

CLARIFYING AND CORRECTING ORDER

On April 15, 2022, the State Corporation Commission ("Commission™) issued a Final Order in this case approving the application of
Virginia-American Water Company (“VAWC" or "Company") to acquire utility assets at fair market value ("FMV") pursuant to Code § 56-88 et seq.,
subject to a Stipulation filed herein and certain conditions set forth in the Final Order. On May 2, 2022, the Company filed a Request for Clarification,
Approval and Expedited Consideration ("Request”). On May 5, 2022, the Commission issued an Order Granting Reconsideration for the purpose of
maintaining jurisdiction over this matter and suspended the Final Order.
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The Request seeks, among other things, clarification that the Final Order "allows the Company to proceed with the acquisition of the water
system of the Town of Waverly ("Waverly System") as contemplated in the Stipulation without seeking additional Commission approval of amendments to
the Asset Purchase Agreement ("APA") between [VAWC] and the Town of Waverly ("Waverly™) . . . that may be required to close the transaction.” In
support of its Request, VAWC notes that Ordering Paragraph (9) of the Final Order states in part that "[n]o changes to the Terms [of the APA] shall be made
before or at closing, without prior Commission approval."> VAWC explains that the Stipulation agreed to a FMV for the Waverly System of $2,150,000.°
In addition, VAWC states that under the Stipulation, the rate base for the Waverly System would consist of the stipulated FMV plus the final costs, as
provided in 20VAC5-210-30 B, and that "[t]o the extent the final purchase price paid by [VAWC] for the Waverly System exceeds the FMV stipulated . . .
any additional amount paid above such FMW will not be included in rate base."*

According to the Company, in order to finalize and close on the APA, amendments to the consideration term will be necessary to permit the final
purchase price to exceed the FMV agreed to in the Stipulation for purposes of resolving this proceeding.® Although the difference between the final
purchase price and the stipulated FMV was contemplated in the Stipulation and approved in the Final Order without change,® in light of the Ordering
Paragraph (9) restrictions on APA changes, VAWC seeks clarification that it can make the necessary amendments to the APA's consideration term.”

VAWC further requests clarification that it can make any other "non-material™ changes that may become necessary without requesting additional
approval from the Commission.® To this end and after consultation with Commission Staff ("Staff"), VAWC has proposed that the Company provide Staff,
up to three business days prior to closing, the opportunity to review any additional amendments to the APA, and should such amendments raise no objection
with Staff, the Company would then be permitted to make these amendments and proceed to closing without further review by the Commission.® Should
Staff have concerns with any such proposed amendments, the parties would provide the amendments to the Commission for consideration.°

The Request represents that Staff does not oppose the relief set forth in the Request and that Aqua Virginia takes no position on the Request.*

It has further come to the attention of the Commission that Ordering Paragraph (5) of the Final Order, which describes VAWC's amended
certificated area should be corrected to include reference to VAWC's provision of service to customers of the Waverly System in Sussex County.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the Request should be granted and that Ordering
Paragraphs (5) and (9) should be clarified and corrected as set forth below.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) Ordering Paragraph (5) of the Final Order is removed and replaced with the following:

VAWC is granted an amended certificate (Certificate No. W-328a) authorizing it to operate and furnish water service in the Town of
Waverly and portions of Sussex County, Virginia, in addition to the Cities of Hopewell and Alexandria, the Counties of Essex, King
William, Northumberland, Lancaster, Prince William, Westmoreland, and portions of Prince George County, Virginia, subject to the
provisions of this Order and all applicable provisions of the Code.

(2) Ordering Paragraph (9) of the Final Order is removed and replaced with the following:

The Commission's asset and certification transfer approvals are contingent upon the closure of the Waverly Water System sale
pursuant to the terms and conditions ("Terms") of the agreement reviewed by this Commission and the resulting Stipulation thereon.
No changes to the Terms shall be made before or at closing, without prior Commission approval, other than amendments to the
consideration term necessary to permit the final purchase price to exceed the FMV agreed to in the Stipulation. As provided in the
Stipulation, however, such excess shall not be included in VAWC's rate base.

In addition, to the extent that non-material changes to the Terms become necessary prior to closing, VAWC shall provide Staff, up to
three (3) business days prior to closing, the opportunity to review any proposed amendments to the APA. Should Staff have concerns
with any such proposed amendments, VAWC shall seek Commission approval of the amendments. VAWC shall include an itemized
list of all APA changes in the Report of Action required by Ordering Paragraph (8) of the Commission's Final Order.

! Request at 1.

21d. at 2; Final Order at 8.

% Request at 2.

41d. at 3.

S1d.

® Final Order at 6.

7 See First Amendment to the Asset Purchase Agreement, Attachment 1 to the Request.
8 Request at 3-4.

°1d. at 4.

0q.

1. at 5.
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(3) All other provisions of the Final Order shall remain in full force and effect.
(4) The Final Order is no longer suspended.

(5) This case is dismissed.

CASE NO. PUR-2021-00093
NOVEMBER 29, 2022

APPLICATION OF
MASSANUTTEN PUBLIC SERVICE CORPORATION CASE NO. PUR-2021-00093

Annual Informational Filing for 2020

APPLICATION OF
MASSANUTTEN PUBLIC SERVICE CORPORATION CASE NO. PUR-2022-00069

Annual Informational Filing for 2021
EINAL ORDER

On February 1, 2022, Massanutten Public Service Corporation (“Massanutten™ or "Company") filed its Annual Informational Filing ("AIF") for
the test year ending December 31, 2020 ("2020 AIF").! On May 3, 2022, Massanutten filed its AIF for the test year ending December 31, 2021
(2021 AIF™).

On July 21, 2022, the Staff of the Commission ("Staff") filed its Report ("Staff Report") on Massanutten's 2020 and 2021 AlFs. The Staff Report
states that the Company's Schedule 15 reflects regulatory assets totaling $6,778 in its 2020 AIF, and $37,666 in its 2021 AIF, all of which relate to
COVID-19 cost deferrals.? Because the Company has a regulatory asset on the books, Staff conducted its own earnings test analysis. With respect to the
2020 AIF, Staff found that the Company's earnings test returns on equity ("ROE") were below the 9.25% authorized ROE benchmark for each of water and
sewer operations. Accordingly, Staff does not recommend a write-off of the of the COVID-19 regulatory asset as part of the 2020 AIF.?

With respect to the 2021 AIF, Staff's analysis showed the Company's 2021 earnings test ROE was 16.06% for the sewer operations, which is
above the 9.25% benchmark ROE. Staff recommends write-off of the full $18,601 COVID-19 regulatory asset associated with the sewer operations.*
According to Staff, after such write-off, the earned ROE is 15.56% for the sewer operations.> Based on Staff's analysis, the Company's 2021 earnings test
ROE for the water operations was below 9.25% and the Staff recommends no write-off of the COVID-19 regulatory asset associated with the water
operations.® Other than the write-off of the COVID-19 regulatory asset associated with the sewer operations, Staff recommends no additional action
regarding rates at this time.”

On September 19, 2022, Massanutten filed a response to the Staff Report opposing Staff's recommended write-off.

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that Massanutten shall write off the $18,601
COVID-19 regulatory asset associated with the sewer operations as recommended in the Staff Report. The Commission has previously explained that:

A regulatory asset is a deferral of a current period cost amortized over an extended period of time for ratemaking and booking
purposes. Generally, a prudently incurred cost may be deferred and amortized only when a regulated entity incurs unusually large or
nonrecurring costs that could cause the company's financial results to be materially and negatively affected if such costs were
currently expensed. The Commission applies the earnings test to determine whether regulatory assets have been recovered more
quickly than anticipated or whether they should continue to be deferred and amortized on a company's books.?

1 Massanutten originally submitted its 2020 AIF on May 7, 2021, but subsequently filed a motion requesting a stay of consideration of its 2020 AIF in light
of a rate case pending at that time, which was granted by the Commission. Order Granting Motion for Stay (May 28, 2021). See also Application of
Massanutten Public Service Corporation, For an expedited increase in water and sewer rates, Case No. PUR-2020-00039, 2021 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 196,
Final Order (Nov. 3, 2021).

2 Staff Report at 5.

31d. at 10.

41d.

°1d.

é1d.

"1d.

8 Application of Roanoke Gas Company, For an annual informational filing, Case No. PUE990881, 2000 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 484, 485, Final Order
(July 12, 2000).
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We agree with Staff that the Company's going-forward adjustments are not appropriate in a historical earnings test analysis and reject the
Company's arguments to the contrary.® Adjustments in an earnings test are generally limited and typically made for the purpose of stating per books test
year results on a regulatory basis.*°

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Massanutten shall write off the $18,601 COVID-19 regulatory asset as of the end of the 2021 AIF associated with the sewer operations as
recommended in the Staff Report.

(2) These matters are dismissed.

® Staff Report at 9; Massanutten Comments at 2-3.

10 See, e.g., 20 VAC 5-201-95, Schedules 9, 11, 12, and 14 of the Commission's Rules Governing Utility Rate Applications and Annual Informational Filings
of Investor-owned Gas and Water Utilities, 20 VAC 5-201-10 et seq.; 20 VAC 5-201-90, Instructions for Schedule 16: Detail of Regulatory Accounting
Adjustments ("Each regulatory accounting adjustment shall be fully explained in the description column of this schedule. Regulatory accounting
adjustments shall adjust from a financial accounting basis to a regulatory accounting basis. Adjustments to reflect going-forward operations shall not be
included on this schedule.").

CASE NO. PUR-2021-00100
FEBRUARY 8, 2022

APPLICATION OF
VIRGINIA ELECTRIC AND POWER COMPANY

For approval and certification of electric transmission facilities: Beaumeade-Belmont 230 kV Transmission Line #227 Reconductor and Partial
Rebuild

EINAL ORDER

On May 20, 2021, Virginia Electric and Power Company d/b/a Dominion Energy Virginia ("Dominion” or "Company") filed with the State
Corporation Commission (“"Commission™) an application for approval and certification of electric transmission facilities in Loudoun County, Virginia
("Application"). Dominion filed the Application pursuant to §56-46.1 of the Code of Virginia ("Code™) and the Utility Facilities Act, Code
§ 56-265.1 et seq.

Dominion seeks approval of both a reconductor project ("Reconductor Project") and a partial rebuild project (collectively, the "Project").!
Specifically, Dominion seeks to (i) reconductor approximately 6.7 miles of the Company's networked overhead 230 kilovolt ("kV") transmission Line #227
between its existing Beaumeade and Belmont Substations, using 2-768.2 ACSS/TW/HS conductor, designed for a maximum operating temperature of 250
degrees Celsius and a minimum summer transfer capacity of 1573 MVA,; (ii) uprate the line terminal equipment at Beaumeade and Belmont Substations to
4000 Amp standards by replacing line switches, line leads, wave traps, breakers, breaker switches, and bus segments as needed; (iii) uprate line switches at
the Company's Ashburn Substation and Northern Virginia Electric Cooperative's Cochran Mill Delivery Point, which are intermediate stations tapped from
Line #227, to 4000 Amps; (iv) remove an idle 230 kV conductor between Structures #227/182-188; and (v) within the 6.7-mile Reconductor Project, remove
five double circuit 230 kV weathering steel lattice towers (Structures #227/182-186) supporting 0.76 mile of the existing Line #227 and an idle 230 kV
conductor, which will be replaced with four double circuit and two single circuit 230 kV galvanized steel poles.?

Dominion states that the Project is necessary to maintain the reliability of its transmission system and resolve potential criteria violations of
mandatory North American Electric Reliability Corporation ("NERC") Reliability Standards.® The Company further states that the Project will replace aging
infrastructure that is at the end of its service life.*

The Company states that the desired in-service date for the Project is December 31,2023.° The Company represents that the estimated
conceptual cost of the Project (in 2021 dollars) is approximately $15.1 million, which includes approximately $11.3 million for transmission-related work
and $3.8 million for substation-related work.®

Dominion represents that given the availability of existing right-of-way ("ROW") and the statutory preference given to the use of existing ROW,
and because of the additional costs and environmental impacts that would be associated with the acquisition and construction of new ROW, the Company
considered no alternate routes requiring new ROW for the Project.”

1 Ex. 2 (Application) at 2.
21d.

41d.

4 1d. at Appendix p. i.
°1d. at 4.

6 1d. at 4-5.

"1d. at 5.
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On June 14, 2021, the Commission issued an Order for Notice and Hearing (“Procedural Order") which, among other things, docketed the
Application; established a procedural schedule; directed Dominion to provide notice of its Application to the public; provided interested persons an
opportunity to comment on the Application or participate in the proceeding as a respondent by filing a notice of participation; scheduled public witness and
evidentiary hearings; directed the Commission's Staff ("Staff") to investigate the Application and file testimony and exhibits containing its findings and
recommendations thereon; and appointed a Hearing Examiner to conduct all further proceedings in this matter. No comments or notices of participation
were filed.

As also directed in the Procedural Order, Staff requested the Department of Environmental Quality ("DEQ") to coordinate an environmental
review of the Project by the appropriate agencies and to provide a report on the review. On August 12, 2021, the Commission received the report filed by
DEQ ("DEQ Report"), which included a Wetlands Impact Consultation prepared by DEQ. The DEQ Report provides general recommendations for the
Commission's consideration that are in addition to any requirements of federal, state, or local law. According to the DEQ Report, the Company should:

1. Follow DEQ recommendations including the avoidance and minimization of impacts to wetlands and streams.

2. Take all reasonable precautions to limit emissions of oxides of nitrogen and volatile organic compounds, principally by
controlling or limiting the burning of fossil fuels.

3. Evaluate DEQ's database of pollution complaint cases to establish the exact location, nature and extent of the identified
petroleum release site and its potential to impact the Project.

4. Reduce solid waste at the source, reuse it and recycle it to the maximum extent practicable, and follow DEQ's recommendations
to manage waste, as applicable.

5. Coordinate with the Department of Conservation and Recreation ("DCR") regarding an inventory for populations of diabase
glade rare plant species.

6. Coordinate with DCR regarding the development of an invasive species plan to be included as part of the maintenance practices
for the right-of-way.

7. Coordinate with DCR for updates to the Biotics Data System database during the final design stage of engineering and upon any
major modifications of the Project construction to avoid and minimize impacts to natural heritage resources.

8. Contact the Department of Wildlife Resources ("DWR") on any additional coordination regarding the protection of the green
floater mussel, if instream work becomes necessary.

9. Coordinate with DWR regarding its general recommendations to protect wildlife resources.

10. Coordinate with the Virginia Outdoors Foundation ("VVOF") on minimizing the impacts of the replacement structures on VOF
open space easements in the vicinity of the Project.

11. Employ best management practices, spill prevention and control countermeasures, and other measures as appropriate for the
protection of water supply sources.

12. Follow the principles and practices of pollution prevention to the extent practicable.
13. Limit the use of pesticides and herbicides to the extent practicable.?

On October 8, 2021, Staff filed testimony along with an attached report (“Staff Report") summarizing the results of its investigation of
Dominion's Application. Staff concluded that Dominion has reasonably demonstrated the need for the proposed Project.® Staff therefore did not oppose the
issuance of the certificate of public convenience and necessity ("CPCN") requested in the Company's Application.*®

On October 27, 2021, the Company filed rebuttal testimony. In its rebuttal testimony, Dominion sought to clarify four recommendations in the
DEQ Report and requested that the Commission reject three other recommendations.**

Due to the ongoing public health concerns related to the spread of COVID-19, a hearing for the receipt of testimony from public witnesses was
scheduled to be held telephonically on November 9, 2021, but was subsequently canceled when no one signed up to testify as a public witness.'> The
evidentiary hearing was convened virtually, with no party present in the Commission's courtroom, on November 10, 2021. The Company and Staff
participated at the hearing.

8 Ex. 8 (DEQ Report) at 5-6.

® Ex. 7 (Dodson Direct) at Staff Report p. 21.

104,

11 Ex. 9 (Carr Rebuttal) at 3; Ex. 10 (Studebaker Rebuttal) at 3.

27Ty, 5.
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On December 3, 2021, the Report of Michael D. Thomas, Senior Hearing Examiner (“Report") was issued. In the Report, the Senior Hearing
Examiner found: (i) the record supports the need for the Project to meet NERC reliability standards and to support continued economic growth in the area;
(ii) the Project will use existing right-of-way to the maximum extent practicable; (iii) the Project will have no material adverse impact on scenic,
environmental, or historic resources; (iv) the Company reasonably addressed the permitting and/or routing comments submitted in the DEQ Report by VOF
regarding visual impacts from the new pole structures, and the Virginia Department of Transportation ("VDOT") regarding permit requirements; (v) the
Company reasonably addressed environmental permitting and/or coordination in the DEQ Report by DCR regarding the development of an invasive species
plan, DCR regarding an inventory of rare tree and plant species, DWR regarding its general recommendation to protect wildlife resources, DEQ regarding
the evaluation of a petroleum release site in close proximity to the Project, and DEQ's general comment to consider the development of an effective
Environmental Management System ("EMS"); (vi) DEQ recommendations Nos. 1, 2, 4, 7, 8, 11, 12 and 13 in the DEQ Report are desirable or necessary to
minimize adverse environmental impact associated with the Project; (vii) the Company reasonably addressed DEQ recommendations Nos. 3, 5, 6, 9, and 10
and these recommendations should be rejected as unnecessary; (viii) the Company reasonably considered the requirements of the Virginia Environmental
Justice Act ("VEJA™");® (ix) the Project does not represent a hazard to public health or safety; (x) the Company's decision not to consider any alternate routes
for the Project was reasonable; and (xi) the Company reasonably addressed the potential impact of the Project on aviation resources.’* The Senior Hearing
Examiner recommended that the Commission adopt the findings and recommendations in the Report, issue a CPCN to the Company to construct and operate
the Project, and dismiss the case.’®

On December 10, 2021, the Company filed its comments to the Report in which the Company stated that it supports the Report's finding and
recommendations and requested that the Commission adopt the report and approve the Application.®

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the public convenience and necessity requires the
construction of the Project. The Commission finds that a CPCN authorizing the Project should be issued subject to certain findings and conditions contained
herein.

Applicable Law

The statutory scheme governing the Company's Application is found in several chapters of Title 56 of the Code.

Section 56-265.2 A 1 of the Code provides that "it shall be unlawful for any public utility to construct . . . facilities for use in public utility service
... without first having obtained a certificate from the Commission that the public convenience and necessity require the exercise of such right or privilege."

Section 56-46.1 of the Code further directs the Commission to consider several factors when reviewing the Company's Application.
Subsection A of the statute provides that:

Whenever the Commission is required to approve the construction of any electrical utility facility, it shall give consideration to
the effect of that facility on the environment and establish such conditions as may be desirable or necessary to minimize
adverse environmental impact. . . . In every proceeding under this subsection, the Commission shall receive and give
consideration to all reports that relate to the proposed facility by state agencies concerned with environmental protection; and if
requested by any county or municipality in which the facility is proposed to be built, to local comprehensive plans that have
been adopted . . . . Additionally, the Commission (a) shall consider the effect of the proposed facility on economic
development within the Commonwealth, including but not limited to furtherance of the economic and job creation objectives of
the Commonwealth Clean Energy Policy set forth in § 67-101.1, and (b) shall consider any improvements in service reliability
that may result from the construction of such facility.

Section 56-46.1 B of the Code further provides that "[a]s a condition to approval the Commission shall determine that the line is needed and that
the corridor or route chosen for the line will avoid or reasonably minimize adverse impact to the greatest extent reasonably practicable on the scenic assets,
historic resources recorded with the Department of Historic Resources, and environment of the area concerned.”

The Code further requires that the Commission consider existing ROW easements when siting transmission lines. Section 56-46.1 C of the Code
provides that "[i]n any hearing the public service company shall provide adequate evidence that existing rights-of-way cannot adequately serve the needs of
the company." In addition, § 56-259 C of the Code provides that “[p]rior to acquiring any easement of right-of-way, public service corporations will
consider the feasibility of locating such facilities on, over, or under existing easements of rights-of-way."

Public Convenience and Necessity

Dominion represents that the Project is necessary in order to resolve potential criteria violations of mandatory NERC Reliability Standards by
increasing transmission capacity, and to maintain reliable service in Loudoun County, Virginia.'” Based on information provided by the Company, Staff
agreed with Dominion that the Project is needed to resolve potential reliability criteria violations identified by the Company and PJM Interconnection,
L.L.C.*®* The Commission finds that the Company has adequately demonstrated that load growth in the area supports the need for the Project and that the
Project is needed to maintain reliable service in Loudoun County, Virginia.

13 Code § 2.2-234 through -235.

14 Report at 16-17.

¥ d. at 17.

16 Comments at 3. No participant filed comments opposing the findings and recommendations set forth in the Report.
17 See Ex. 2 (Application) at 2.

18 Ex. 7 (Dodson Direct) at Staff Report pp. 6-7.
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Economic Development

The Commission has considered the effect of the Project on economic development in the Commonwealth and finds that the evidence in this case
demonstrates that the Project will maintain reliable service and support overall growth in Loudoun County, Virginia.'®

Rights-of-Way and Routing

Dominion has adequately considered usage of existing ROW. The Project, as proposed, would be constructed on existing ROW, with no
additional ROW required.?’

Impact on Scenic Assets and Historic Districts

As noted above, the Project would be constructed on existing ROW already owned and maintained by Dominion. The Commission finds that
such construction will avoid or reasonably minimize adverse impacts to the greatest extent reasonably practicable on the scenic assets, historic resources
recorded with the Virginia Department of Historic Resources, and environment of the area concerned, as required by § 56-46.1 B of the Code, subject to the
recommendations provided in the following section.

Environmental Impact

Pursuant to § 56-46.1 A and B of the Code, the Commission is required to consider the Project's impact on the environment and to establish such
conditions as may be desirable or necessary to minimize adverse environmental impacts. The statute further provides, among other things, that the
Commission shall receive and give consideration to all reports that relate to the Project by state agencies concerned with environmental protection.

The Commission finds that there are no adverse environmental impacts that would prevent the construction or operation of the Project. This
finding is supported by the DEQ Report, as nothing therein suggests that the Project should not be constructed.

There are, however, recommendations included in the DEQ Report for the Commission's consideration. The Company filed a response opposing
three of these recommendations.

First, Dominion requests that the Commission reject the recommendation by DCR related to development and implementation of an invasive
species management plan.?* The Company asserts that it "already has a robust Integrated Vegetation Management Plan . . . in place that utilizes mechanical,
chemical, and cultural methods for controlling vegetation, including invasive species."? It therefore states that the development and implementation of a
separate invasive species plan is unnecessary.?® The Commission agrees with the Hearing Examiner that the invasive species plan recommended by DCR is
duplicative of the Company's Integrated Vegetation Management Plan and therefore is unnecessary.

Second, Dominion requests that the Commission reject the recommendation by DWR to conduct significant tree removal and ground-clearing
activities outside of the primary songbird nesting season.?> Dominion states that it does not expect any ground clearing activities to be "significant” since the
Project would be constructed within existing, cleared ROW.?® However, the Company agrees to survey the relevant area for songbird nesting colonies if any
significant clearing occurs during nesting season and to coordinate with DWR if any colonies are found.?” We direct the Company to conduct songbird
surveying and coordinate with DWR for the implementation of construction limitations to avoid or reasonably minimize adverse impacts to the greatest
extent reasonably practicable if significant ground clearing is required within a particular area during the construction of the Project.?®

9 See id. at Report p. 16.

2 See Ex. 2 (Application) at 5; Ex. 7 (Dodson Direct) at Staff Report p. 15.

2 EX. 10 (Studebaker Rebuittal) at 3.

2 d.

2 d. at 3-4.

2 The Company has requested, and the Commission has approved, rejection of a comparable DEQ recommendation in similar circumstances in several prior
proceedings. See, e.g., Application of Virginia Electric and Power Company, For approval and certification of electric facilities: Loudoun-Ox 230 kV
Transmission Line Partial Rebuild Projects, Case No. PUR-2019-00128, 2020 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 306, 309, Final Order (June 2, 2020); Application of
Virginia Electric and Power Company, For approval and certification of electric transmission facilities: Lockridge 230 kV Line Loop and Lockridge
Substation, Case No. PUR-2019-00215, 2020 S.C.C. Ann. Rept. 391, Final Order (Oct. 1, 2020).

% Ex. 10 (Studebaker Rebuttal) at 3, 5.

%d. at 5.

2 d.

2 The Commission has previously made a similar finding in in prior proceedings. See, e.g., Application of Virginia Electric and Power Company, For
approval and certification of electric facilities: Loudoun-Ox 230 kV Transmission Line Partial Rebuild Projects, Case No. PUR-2019-00128, 2020 S.C.C.
Ann. Rept. 306, 310, Final Order (June 2, 2020); Application of Virginia Electric and Power Company, For approval and certification of electric

transmission facilities: Allied-Chesterfield 230 kV Transmission Line #2049 Partial Rebuild Project, Case No. PUR-2020-00239, Doc. Con. Cen. No.
210330038, Final Order at 7-8 (Mar. 23, 2021).
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Third, Dominion asks the Commission to reject the recommendation by DEQ to consider development of an effective EMS.?® The Company
asserts that it "already has a comprehensive EMS Manual in place that ensures the Company is committed to complying with environmental laws and
regulations, reducing risk, minimizing adverse environmental impacts, setting environmental goals, and achieving improvements in its environmental
performance . .. ."* The Company finds the DEQ recommendation to develop an effective EMS to therefore be unnecessary and duplicative.®* We find that
Dominion's existing EMS achieves the purpose of this recommendation.

Dominion also offered clarifications to certain DEQ recommendations. In response to the recommendation that the Company further evaluate the
potential impacts of identified petroleum release sites in close proximity to the Project, Dominion states that the pollution complaint ("PC") number of
concern was only open for a short duration, over twenty years ago, and it is reasonable to assume that the release was limited to only soil.** Dominion
asserts the portion of the Project where the PC is located will have little to no ground disturbing activities, and therefore exposure to any potentially
contaminated soil will be minimal to none.** Dominion therefore does not expect the PC will have a negative impact on the Project.*® We direct the
Company to coordinate with DEQ to avoid or reasonably minimize adverse impacts to the greatest extent reasonably practicable if contaminated soil
associated with the petroleum release highlighted in the DEQ Report is identified.%

In response to the recommendations by DCR to avoid, or conduct an inventory of, certain documented, rare species in the Project area to evaluate
potential impacts, Dominion states it will do its best to avoid the documented rare resources during its removal of danger trees and overall construction of the
Project.®” We find the Company's assurances to be reasonable.

In response to VOF's recommendation that any replacement structures and associated project components should have less of a presence on the
landscape or mimic existing towers, Dominion states that it has reached out to VOF to discuss its recommendation and has provided additional information
to VOF regarding the Project.®® We direct Dominion to continue to coordinate with VOF to address any outstanding concerns regarding the Project's
potential visual impacts.*

Next, in response to certain recommendations by VDOT's project review and comment resolution form, which was attached to the DEQ Report,
Dominion states that it has reached out to VDOT to provide additional information and insight about the route permitting process for electric transmission
projects.* We direct Dominion to continue to coordinate with VDOT to address any outstanding concerns about the route permitting process.

Finally, Dominion shall be required to obtain all necessary environmental permits and approvals that are needed to construct and operate the
Project.

2 EX. 10 (Studebaker Rebuttal) at 3, 6.

% 1d. at 6.

3 d.

32 The Commission has previously made a similar finding in in prior proceedings. See, e.g., Application of Virginia Electric and Power Company, For
approval and certification of electric transmission facilities: Allied-Chesterfield 230 kV Transmission Line #2049 Partial Rebuild Project, Case No.
PUR-2020-00239, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 210330038, Final Order at 8 (Mar. 23, 2021).

3 EX. 10 (Studebaker Rebuttal) at 6-7.

#1d. at 7.

®1d.

% The Commission has previously made a similar finding in in prior proceedings. See, e.g., Application of Virginia Electric and Power Company, For
approval and certification of electric transmission facilities: 230 kV Lines #2113 and #2154 Transmission Line Rebuilds and Related Projects, Case No.
PUR-2021-00010, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 210930053, Final Order at 10-11 (Sept. 15, 2021).

37 Ex. 10 (Studebaker Rebuttal) at 7-8. More specifically, Dominion agrees to provide its construction team with information about the rare plant species of
concern prior to the commencement of construction activities and agrees to coordinate with DCR if the species of concern is found within the Project area.
The Company also agrees to do its best to avoid the documented rare state tree in the Project area. 1d.

% Ex. 9 (Carr Rebuttal) at 3-5.

% The Commission has previously made a similar finding in in prior proceedings. See, e.g., Application of Virginia Electric and Power Company, For
approval and certification of electric transmission facilities: 230 kV Lines #2113 and #2154 Transmission Line Rebuilds and Related Projects, Case No.
PUR-2021-00010, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 210930053, Final Order at 10-11 (Sept. 15, 2021).

40 Ex. 9 (Carr Rebuttal) at 3, 6. The Company asserts that it commits to obtaining all required permits from VDOT prior to starting construction of the
proposed Project. Id. at 6.
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Environmental Justice

The VEJA sets forth that "[i]t is the policy of the Commonwealth to promote environmental justice and ensure that it is carried out throughout the
Commonwealth, with a focus on environmental justice communities and fenceline communities."** As previously recognized by the Commission, the
Commonwealth's policy on environmental justice is broad, including "the fair treatment and meaningful involvement of every person, regardless of race,
color, national origin, income, faith, or disability, regarding the development, implementation, or enforcement of any environmental law, regulation, or
policy."#?

We agree with the Hearing Examiner that the Company reasonably considered the requirements of the VEJA.** We direct Dominion to continue
to engage environmental justice communities and others affected by the Project in a manner that allows them to meaningfully participate in the Project
development and approval process.*

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

(1) Dominion is authorized to construct and operate the Project as proposed in its Application, subject to the findings and conditions imposed
herein.

(2) Pursuant to 88 56-46.1, 56-265.2, and related provisions of Title 56 of the Code, the Company's request for approval of the necessary CPCN
to construct and operate the Project is granted as provided for herein, subject to the requirements set forth herein.

(3) Pursuant to the Utility Facilities Act, § 56-265.1 et seq. of the Code, the Commission issues the following CPCN to Dominion:

Certificate No. ET-DEV-LDN-2022-A which authorizes Virginia Electric and Power Company under the Utility Facilities Act
to operate certificated transmission lines and facilities in Loudoun County, all as shown on the detailed map attached to the
Certificate, and to construct and operate facilities as authorized in Case No. PUR-2021-00100; Certificate No.
ET-DEV-LDN-2022-A cancels Certificate No. ET-91ae issued to Virginia Electric and Power Company on October 1, 2020 in
Case No. PUR-2019-00215.

(4) Within thirty (30) days from the date of this Final Order, the Company shall provide to the Commission's Division of Public Utility
Regulation an electronic map for each Certificate Number that shows the routing of the transmission lines approved herein. Maps shall be submitted to
Michael Cizenski, Deputy Director, Division of Public Utility Regulation, mike.cizenski@scc.virginia.gov.

(5) Upon receiving the maps directed in Ordering Paragraph (4), the Commission's Division of Public Utility Regulation forthwith shall provide
the Company copies of the CPCN issued in Ordering Paragraph (3) with the maps attached.

(6) The Project approved herein must be constructed and in service by December 31, 2023. No later than 90 days before the in-service date
approved herein, for good cause shown, the Company is granted leave to apply, and to provide the basis, for any extension request.

(7) This matter is dismissed.

4 Code § 2.2-235.

42 Code § 2.2-234. See also, e.g., Application of Appalachian Power Company, For approval and certification of the Central Virginia Transmission
Reliability Project under Title 56 of the Code of Virginia, Case No. PUR-2021-00001, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 210920108, Final Order at 14 (Sept. 9, 2021);
Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation Commission, Ex Parte: Establishing 2020 RPS Proceeding for Virginia Electric and Power Company,
Case No. PUR-2020-00134, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 210440236, Final Order at 25 (Apr. 30, 2021); Commonwealth of Virginia, ex rel. State Corporation
Commission, In re: Virginia Electric and Power Company's Integrated Resource Plan filing pursuant to Va. Code § 56-597 et seq., Case No.
PUR-2020-00035, Doc. Con. Cen. No. 210210007, Final Order at 14-15 (Feb. 1, 2021).

43 Report at 15, 17.

4 1d. at 15; Ex. 2 (Application), Appendix at 128.
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CASE NO. PUR-2021-00110
MARCH 9, 2022

APPLICATION OF
VIRGINIA ELECTRIC AND POWER COMPANY

For revision of a rate adjustment clause: Rider U, new underground distribution facilities, for the rate year commencing April 1, 2022
FINAL ORDER

On June 8, 2021, Virginia Electric and Power Company ("Dominion" or "Company") filed with the State Corporation Commission
("Commission™) an annual update of the Company's rate adjustment clause, Rider U ("Application™) pursuant to § 56-585.1 A 6 ("Subsection A 6") of the
Code of Virginia ("Code").! Through its Application, the Company seeks to recover costs associated with its Strategic Underground Program ("SUP").?

The Company asserts that Subsection A 6 provides that the replacement of any subset of a utility's existing overhead distribution tap lines that
have, in the aggregate, an average of nine or more total unplanned outage events-per-mile over a preceding 10-year period with new underground facilities in
order to improve electric service reliability is in the public interest.> The Company further states that Subsection A 6 provides that these conversions are
deemed to provide local and system-wide benefits and to be cost beneficial, and that the costs associated with such new underground facilities are deemed to
be reasonably and prudently incurred.* Moreover, the Company asserts Subsection A 6 mandates that the Commission approve recovery of such costs so
long as the aggregated costs associated with the replacement of overhead distribution tap lines with underground facilities do not exceed an average cost per
customer undergrounded of $20,000, including customers served directly by or down line of the tap lines proposed for conversion, exclusive of financing
costs, and an average cost per mile of $750,000, exclusive of financing costs.®

In addition to an annual update associated with the previously approved phases of the SUP, the Company seeks cost recovery for phase six
("Phase Six") of the SUP, designed to convert an additional 295 miles of overhead tap lines to underground facilities at a capital investment of approximately
$173 million, with an average cost per mile of $586,326 and an average cost per customer undergrounded of $7,068.° Dominion states that its actual
expenditures for Phase Six incurred through March 31, 2021, are $57.5 million, and projected expenditures for the period April 1, 2021, through
March 31, 2022, are approximately $115.4 million.” The Company is requesting to recover the costs of Phase Six through Rider U for only those projects
that will be completed prior to April 1, 2022.2

In this proceeding, Dominion has asked the Commission to approve Rider U for the rate year beginning April 1, 2022, and ending
March 31, 2023 (2022 Rate Year").® The two components of the proposed total revenue requirement for the 2022 Rate Year are the Projected Cost
Recovery Factor and the Actual Cost True-Up Factor.®®

The Company states that the revenue requirement associated with the costs of the previously approved SUP phases totals $61.181 million, which
includes a Projected Cost Recovery Factor of $59.637 million, and an Actual Cost True-up Factor of $1.545 million.}* The Company also states that the
Projected Cost Recovery Factor revenue requirement for Phase Six costs totals $34.698 million.!2 In total, the Company seeks approval of revised Rider U
with an associated revenue requirement in the amount of $95.879 million for the 2022 Rate Year.**

1 0On June 23, 2021, pursuant to 5 VAC 5-20-160 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, 5 VAC 5-20-10 et seq., the Commission's Staff
("Staff") filed a Memorandum of Completeness/Incompleteness stating that, upon granting the requested waiver, the Application was complete as of
June 21, 2021, and that the Commission's final order in this matter is statutorily due in nine (9) months, or by March 21, 2022. See Code § 56-585.1 A 8.
2Ex. 2 (Application) at 1.

%1d. at 3. The Company also asserts that Subsection A 6 continues to limit the annual incremental increase in investment level pursuant to a petition under
clause (iv) of Subsection A 6 to five percent of the Company's distribution rate base. 1d. at 2-3.

41d. at 3.

°1d.

b1d. at 1, 4.

71d. at 4.

81d.

°1d. at 5.

0 d.

1 Ex. 5 (Lecky Direct) at 13. The Company states that it is proposing to true-up Phases One through Four. Id.
2 d.

13 1d.; Ex. 2 (Application) at 6.
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If the proposed Rider U revenue requirement for the 2022 Rate Year is approved, the impact on customer bills would depend on the customer's
rate schedule and usage. According to Dominion, implementation of its proposed Rider U on April 1, 2022, would increase the bill of a residential customer
using 1,000 kilowatt hours per month by approximately $0.39.2* Dominion indicates it has calculated the proposed Rider U rates in accordance with the
same methodology as used for rates approved by the Commission in the most recent Rider U proceeding, Case No. PUR-2020-00096.%

On June 28, 2021, the Commission issued an Order for Notice and Hearing in this case that, among other things, docketed the Application;
scheduled a public hearing on the Application; required Dominion to publish notice of its Application; gave interested persons the opportunity to comment
on, or participate in, the case; and appointed a Hearing Examiner to conduct all further proceedings in this matter on behalf of the Commission.

The Commission did not receive any written comments in this case. On October 28, 2021, the Office of the Attorney General's Division of
Consumer Counsel ("Consumer Counsel") filed a notice of participation in the case. On December 22, 2021, Staff filed testimony. On January 5, 2022, the
Company filed rebuttal testimony.

Due to the ongoing public health issues related to the spread of the virus that causes COVID-19, a telephonic public witness hearing was
scheduled for January 19, 2022, but was canceled because no public witness signed up to testify at the hearing.!® The evidentiary hearing was convened
virtually, with no party present in the Commission's courtroom, on January 20, 2022." The Company, Consumer Counsel, and Staff participated at the
hearing.!®

On February 4, 2022, the Hearing Examiner issued his Report. In his Report, the Hearing Examiner recommended that the Commission enter an
order that (1) adopts the findings and recommendations set forth in the Report; (2) approves Phase Six of the SUP; (3) approves a total Rider U revenue
requirement of $94.95 million, consisting of a Projected Cost Recovery Factor of $95.31 million, $60.30 million for previously approved phases and $35.01
million for Phase Six, and an Actual Cost True-Up Factor of ($0.36) million for the 2022 Rate Year; and (4) dismisses this case from the Commission's
docket of active cases.’

Staff and the Company filed comments supporting the Report's findings and recommendations.?’ Consumer Counsel filed comments noting that
it did not object to the Report's recommended revenue requirement and took no position on the Report's findings regarding SUP performance metrics.?

NOW THE COMMISSION, upon consideration of this matter, is of the opinion and finds that the findings and recommendations set forth in
the Hearing Examiner's Report should be adopted. The Commission finds that Phase Six of the SUP should be approved. The Commission further finds that
a total revenue requirement of $94.95 million for the 2022 Rate Year, consisting of a Projected Cost Recovery Factor of $95.31 million and an Actual Cost
True-Up Factor of ($0.36) million, should be approved for Rider U. In approving this request for an increase in Rider U, the Commission notes its
awareness of the ongoing COVID-19 public health issues, which have had negative economic effects that impact all utility customers. We are sensitive to
the effects of rate increases, especially in times such as these. The Commission, however, must follow the law applicable to any rate case, as well as the
findings of fact supported by the evidence in the record. This is what we have done herein.

Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
(1) The findings and recommendations set forth in the Report are hereby adopted.
(2) Phase Six of the SUP is hereby approved.

(3) Rider U, as approved herein with an updated revenue requirement in the amount of $94.95 million, shall become effective for service
rendered on and after April 1, 2022.

(4) The Company forthwith shall file a revised Rider U and supporting workpapers with the Clerk of the Commission and shall submit the same
to the Commission's Divisions of Public Utility Regulation and Utility Accounting and Finance, as is necessary to comply with the directives set forth in this
Final Order. The Clerk of the Commission shall retain such filings for public inspection in person and on the Commission's website:
scc.virginia.gov/pages/Case-Information.

(5) On or before June 30, 2022, the Company shall file an application to revise Rider U effective April 1, 2023.

(6) This case is continued.

14 EX. 2 (Application) at 6-7; Ex. 6 (Miller Direct) at 9.

5 EX. 2 (Application) at 6.

16 Report of Michael D. Thomas, Senior Hearing Examiner ("Report") at 4.
d.

8 1d.

¥ 1d. at 14-15.

20 See Staff Comments at 1; Dominion Comments at 1.

2L Consumer Counsel Comments at 2.
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CASE NO. PUR-2021-00111
FEBRUARY 10, 2022

APPLICATION OF
VIRGINIA ELECTRIC AND POWER COMPANY

For revision of rate adjustment clause: Rider B, Biomass conversions of the Altavista, Hopewell, and Southampton Power Stations for the rate
year commencing April 1, 2022

EINAL ORDER

On June 8, 2021, Virginia Electric and Power Company d/b/a Dominion Energy Virginia ("Dominion" or "Company"), pursuant to
§ 56-585.1 A 6 of the Code of Virginia ("Code"), filed with the State Corporation Commission (“Commission™) an annual update of the Company's rate
adjustment clause, Rider B ("Application").! Through its Application, the Company seeks to recover costs associated with the major unit conversions of the
Altavista, Hopewell, and Southampton Power Stations from coal-burning generation facilities into renewable biomass generation facilities.? In this
proceeding, Dominion has asked the Commission to approve Rider B for the rate year beginning April 1, 2022, and ending March 31, 2023 (2022 Rate
Year").?

On June 28, 2021, the Commission issued an Order for Notice and Hearing in this case that, among other things, docketed the Application;
scheduled a public hearing on the Application; required Dominion to publish notice of its Application; gave interested persons the opportunity to comment
on, or participate in, the case; and appointed a Hearing Examiner to conduct all further proceedings in this matter on behalf of the Commission.

A notice of participation was filed by the Office of the Attorney General's Division of Consumer Counsel (*Consumer Counsel"). Staff filed
testimony on October 20, 2021.* On November 3, 2021, Dominion filed its letter in lieu of rebuttal testimony stating that the Company agrees with the
revenue requirement updates presented in Staff's pre-filed testimony, resulting in a recommended revenue requirement of $16.74 million.®> Further, the
Company stated it agrees with Staff that the Commission has historically limited the revenue requirement to the amounts that were originally requested and
noticed to the public and, as such, does not oppose the Commission approving a revenue requirement of $15,500,000 for the Rate Year and incorporating the
excess $1.24 million in a future Rider B Actual Cost True-Up Factor.® The Commission did not receive written comments from any interested person
regarding the Application.

Due to the ongoing public health issues related to the spread of the coronavirus, the evidentiary hearing was convened virtually, with no party
present in the Commission's courtroom, on November 18, 2021. No public witnesses appeared to testify at the hearing. The Company, Staff, and Consumer
Counsel participated at the hearing.”

On December 8, 2021, Hearing Examiner Mary Beth Adams issued her Report ("Report"). As stated in the Report,

In this case, Staff and [Dominion] have resolved all the issues raised in prefiled testimony. Both Staff and [Dominion]
support Staff's total Rider B revenue requirement of $16.74 million. Because this revenue requirement exceeds the revenue
requirement noticed by the Company, Consumer Counsel, Sta